FS990010 (M01039)

Reducing campylobacter cross-contamination during poultry processing

Final Technical Report

(FINAL Report last revised 24.03.2017)

Janet Corry ¹, Frieda Jørgensen ², Graham Purnell ³, Christian James ³, Raquel Pinho ¹ & Steve J. James ³

¹ Division of Farm Animal Science (DFAS), Department of Clinical Veterinary Science (DCVS), University of Bristol, Churchill Building, Langford, North Somerset, BS40 5DU.

² Health Protection Agency, Foodborne Zoonoses Unit (FZU), University of Bristol, Churchill Building, Langford, North Somerset, BS40 5DU

³ Food Refrigeration & Process Engineering Research Centre (FRPERC) Grimsby Institute, Nuns Corner, Grimsby, North East Lincolnshire, DN34 5BQ (Formerly; University of Bristol, Churchill Building, Langford, North Somerset, BS40 5DU)

© Crown Copyright 2017

This report has been produced by The University of Bristol under a contract placed by the Food Standards Agency (the Agency). The views expressed herein are not necessarily those of the Agency. The University of Bristol warrants that all reasonable skill and care has been used in preparing this report. Notwithstanding this warranty, The University of Bristol shall not be under any liability for loss of profit, business, revenues or any special indirect or consequential damage of any nature whatsoever or loss of anticipated saving or for any increased costs sustained by the client or his or her servants or agents arising in any way whether directly or indirectly as a result of reliance on this report or of any error or defect in this report.



1 Layman's summary

Approximately 70% of raw poultry-meat in the UK is contaminated by Campylobacter bacteria, which cause high numbers of gastrointestinal infections in the human population. Chickens frequently become colonised with these bacteria during the rearing period, but they do not cause disease in the birds. Campylobacters are transferred to the carcasses during slaughter and processing. Campylobacters are common in the farm environment and in wild birdsand, despite high standards of hygiene, it is very difficult to prevent the birds that are raised in broiler houses being colonised during rearing.Furthermore, free-range and organic chickens almost invariably acquire campylobacters from the environment.

This project studied how Campylobacters are transferred from live birds to carcasses, and what might be done to reduce or prevent this occurrence. A survey of five chicken, two turkey, and one duck slaughterlines indicated that the processing systems were highly automated and similar to each other. There were several points in the lines where contamination of the carcass takes place – particularly the 'scald' tank, the plucking machine and the eviscerating machine. Poultry plants have been designed to process high numbers of birds as rapidly and cheaply as possible. Cleaning and disinfection is generally effective, but cannot be done without stopping production for several hours. Even so, almost as soon as processing resumes, the processing equipment becomes recontaminated.

Completely redesigning the slaughterline would be impractical, so the project team concentrated on finding method(s) that could be used by modifying existing processing lines. Treatments during the process (e.g. by adding disinfectants to the scald water) would not prevent contamination later in the process, so a physical or chemical treatment immediately before the carcasses were chilled was chosen as the most practicable intervention. An extensive literature survey was carried out, and various chemicals that had previously been suggested by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) as suitable for this purpose were identified. These chemicals were tested using a spray rig to treat naturally-contaminated carcasses taken straight off the production line. The substances tested were acidified sodium chlorite (ASC), chlorine dioxide (CD), peroxyacetic acid (PAA) and tri-sodium phosphate (TSP) solutions. Their effect was compared with steam treatment, which had already been investigated by the research team in a previous Food Standards Agency (FSA) project. None of the treatments eliminated Campylobacter entirely, but some reduced numbers on the breast- and neck-skin by about 90%. The most effective agents were ASC and TSP, which both had a similar effect to steam. Rinsing them off after application reduced their effect significantly. Spraying with water alone was not effective, neither was a 'flail washer' present in two of the five chicken-processing plants.

Plants process up to 10 flocks of birds (often each comprising 10 or 20,000 birds) in a day, and it has been suggested that it would be beneficial to process Campylobacter negative (C-) flocks before Campylobacter positive (C+) flocks in order to avoid cross-contamination. Problems with doing this include determining whether a flock is C+ or C- before it arrives at the plant. Several plants were visited where the neck-skins of C- flocks, that were processed after C+ flocks, were examined for numbers of Campylobacters. This was to see how much carry-over (cross contamination) occurred. After the first 100 or so carcasses, the carry-over was very low.

This project concluded that some reduction in numbers of Campylobacters on poultry-meat could be made by improvements in the processing line. This could be achieved by reducing contacts between carcasses and machinery, or by introducing more water sprays to clean machinery and carcasses before the bacteria attach firmly to the meat or the processing surface...

However, the most effective way to reduce numbers of Campylobacters on poultry meat would be to treat carcasses at the end of the process line. This could be done either with a hot water dip, with steam, or by spraying with a chemical such as ASC.

Information from this project was used to assist in the development of an on-line tool to assist poultry-processing companies and enforcement officers improve the hygiene in poultry plants.

2 Executive Summary

This project was carried out to help the FSA meet its objective of reducing Campylobacter contamination in poultry.

The key scientific objectives of the project were to:

- 1. Identify a 'typical' poultry processing system and any features present in current lines that are not typical but are likely to influence contamination.
- 2. Quantify and identify the main contamination paths in current processing.
- 3. Develop methods for reducing contamination and cross-contamination.
- 4. Evaluate various intervention steps for reducing contamination and crosscontamination.
- 5. Identify the key scientific data that could be used to develop a best practice guide.

Data from this project was regularly fed into FSA Project M01045 (Evaluation of data generated by meat plants for current HACCP verification purposes and future slaughterhouse hygiene purposes).

Our results were as follows:

2.1 Objective 1: Identify a 'typical' poultry processing system and any features present in current lines that are not typical but are likely to influence contamination

Six chicken, two turkey and one duck processing lines were surveyed and a report written. In each case the project team followed the production line from lairage to portion cutting, and then interviewed production and management staff. The information gained was used to inform continuing studies of current industrial practice and allow targeting of more detailed experimental evaluative measurements. The results from all chicken plants were further combined into an anonymous description of a 'typical' UK chicken processing plant. There were deemed to be too few turkey and duck plants to form a representative sample. Where applicable the 'typical' chicken plant was contrasted to the turkey and duck lines. The survey also included an assessment of hygiene, disinfection and cleaning regimes, on which a separate report was written. The effectiveness of the most commonly-used commercial disinfectants was tested against a panel of Campylobacter isolates and other bacteria.

The abattoir survey revealed that the techniques used in all chicken processing plants were similar, and that the cleaning and disinfection methods were effective against campylobacters. However, because poultry processing is highly mechanised and is conducted at speeds up to 12,000 carcasses per hour, effective cleaning and disinfection cannot be carried out between flocks, only between shifts – overnight or over the weekend. Also, cross-contamination between adjacent carcasses on the line is unavoidable, and occurs via the machinery and also by direct contact.

2.2 Objective 2: Quantify and identify the main contamination paths in current processing

Extent of cross-contamination from Campylobacrer-positive to Campylobacter-negative (C+ to C-) carcasses. This was first investigated by examining neck skins and caecal contents taken at random from all flocks- processed over a number of days - in two poultry processing plants. The caecal contents were examined to determinewhether the flocks were C+ or C-.

The neck flaps from C- flocks processed after C+ flocks were then examined for numbers of Campylobacters. Numbers of Campylobacters on neck flaps from some C+ flocks were also determined for comparison. Results showed that numbers on the vast majority of neck flaps from C- flocks were <25 cfu g⁻¹, (160/170 were <25 cfu g⁻¹, seven between 25 and 99 cfu g⁻¹ and three between 100 and 999 cfu g⁻¹). By comparison, the numbers from neck flaps from C+ flocks were significantly higher (of 105 examined, two (2%) contained <25, ten (9.5%) between 25 and 99, 49 (46.5%) between 100 and 999 and 43 (42%) 1000 or more).

A further investigation was carried out to determine whether the first few carcasses from the C-flocks carried higher numbers of campylobacters than those observed in the previous survey. The experiment was therefore repeated, taking five neck skins from the first ~100 carcasses processed, five from carcasses ~500-600 and five from carcasses ~5000-5100 of all flocks processed over several days and from two different poultry plants. Four C- flocks processed after C+ flocks were identified and the numbers of campylobacters per g neck skin compared with those obtained from carcasses at the same points during processing of C+ flocks. After the first ~100 carcasses, almost all the carcasses from C- flocks had <25 cfu campylobacters g⁻¹ neck skin, while numbers on neck flaps of carcasses from C+ flocks remained high throughout 28/56 (50%) exceeding 100 cfu g⁻¹, and 10/56 (18%) exceeding 1000 cfu g⁻¹.

Numbers of *Campylobacter* spp. transferred from Campylobacter positive chickens to their carcasses during processing. Visits were made by a team of eight to chicken processing plants on five occasions. Ten samples of necks or neck skins were taken at each of six points on the line during the processing of four flocks at each visit, and numbers of campylobacters, Enterobacteriaceae capable of multiplying at 41.5° C, and pseudomonads were enumerated. Enterobacteriaceae were included as indicators of Campylobacter contamination, as they were found in similar numbers in the intestine, and not all flocks were colonised with Campylobacters. Pseudomonads were an index of contamination that occurred from the processing environment. They are also important spoilage bacteria and thus affect shelf-life. Most carcass contamination with *Campylobacter* spp. and Enterobacteriaceae was detected after scalding with little obvious increase after plucking, or after evisceration. Contamination with Pseudomonads increased steadily all down the line after scalding.

In order to clarify which process was the most important source of carcass contamination with Campylobacters, batches of chicken carcasses were removed from the line immediately after plucking and dipped in water at 80°C for 20 seconds before replacement on the evisceration line. Control carcasses (processed normally) were taken after evisceration, as well as carcasses that had been decontaminated with hot water after plucking. All were sampled by examination of neck flaps or necks as well as the carcass rinse method. Results showed that plucking and evisceration contributed to a similar degree to numbers of *Campylobacter* spp. and Enterobacteriaceae on the fully processed carcasses.

2.3 Objective 3: Develop methods for reducing contamination and cross contamination

Brain-storming sessions and discussions were held in order to identify the methods most likely to be successful in reducing numbers of Campylobacters on carcasses from Campylobacter-positive (C+) and Campylobacter-negative (C-) flocks.

With C+ flocks the problem is to try to minimise transfer to the finished carcass, of Campylobacters present in high numbers in the intestinal contents and on the feathers of the birds. Practical investigations in processing plants showed that similar proportions of contamination was occurring at two main points - during the scald and pluck stage, and

subsequently during the evisceration steps. It was therefore concluded that in order to significantly reduce the numbers of Campylobacters reaching the carcasses during scalding and plucking would be of little benefit if subsequent processing steps during evisceration contributed a similar numbers. A better system for scalding and plucking and/or cleaning and disinfection all along the line between flocks might be effective in reducing cross-contamination from C+ to C- flocks. However, the studies conducted under Objective 2 showed that there was little cross-contamination from C+ to C- flocks beyond the first few hundred carcasses.

The other clear possibility was to investigate the effect of end-product treatment of the fullyprocessed carcasses, either immediately before, during or after chilling. The possibilities were to use physical (e.g. steam at atmospheric pressure or dipping in hot water) or chemical (e.g. chlorine, chlorine dioxide, acidified sodium chlorite, ozone, trisodium phosphate, mixtures of peroxy acids).

2.4 Objective 4: Evaluate various intervention steps for reducing contamination and cross-contamination

Cross-contamination from Campylobacter positive to Campylobacter-negative carcasses only occurred on the first few hundred carcasses, and in relatively low numbers. Cleaning and disinfection of the machinery between flocks would reduce cross-contamination to a negligible level, but would not be practicable, and would have no effect on carcasses from Campylobacter-positive flocks.

The plucking and subsequent evisceration process both contribute significantly to the numbers of Campylobacters on carcasses, but decontamination of carcasses immediately post pluck did not result in clearly lower numbers of Campylobacters when examined after evisceration. This indicated that evisceration negated the beneficial effect of post-pluck decontamination. The most effective measure would therefore be to use a physical or chemical treatment immediately before chilling. Heat treatment using steam or hot water had previously been found to reduce numbers of Campylobacters significantly on the outside of poultry carcasses (Corry *et al.*, 2007; James *et al.*, 2007) so several chemicals were evaluated. Investigations were carried out as far as possible on naturally-contaminated carcasses during normal production, taken off the line before chilling and used as soon as possible and treated in laboratory experiments using a specially-constructed rig. The effect of spraying acidified sodium chlorite (ASC), chlorine dioxide (CD), peroxyacetic acid (PAA) and tri-sodium phosphate (TSP) solutions on naturally occurring *Campylobacter*, Enterobacteriaceae and *Pseudomonas* spp. on the breast and neck skin of chicken carcasses was compared.

For analysis, the results were subdivided into six microbe-type/skin-location combinations with each subdivision ranked by: a) cfu remaining after treatment, b) mean reductions, and c) the proportional change in numbers of samples below the limit of detection (LoD).

The three groups of bacteria responded similarly to the chemicals applied. *Campylobacter* spp. were no more susceptible than the other two groups. No single chemical treatment gave the best effect across all subdivisions and ranking methods. Generally, ASC and TSP performed better than PAA with CD and water washing alone having little effect. A 30 seconds chemical treatment was usually more effective than a 15 second treatment. Where only a short (15 second) spray time was possible, ASC was the most effective. If longer treatments were possible, TSP was the most effective choice. Rinsing with water after treatment with chemicals reduced the effectiveness of the chemicals.

2.5 Objective 5: Identify the key scientific data that could be used to develop a best practice guide

The research team collaborated with the team, led by Dr Michael Hutchison, working on FSA Project number MO1045 "Evaluation of data generated by meat plants for current HACCP verification purposes and future slaughterhouse hygiene purposes" (FSA MO1045 Report, 2008). Part of the work carried out in this project identified hazards to product integrity for each stage of processing for each of the four meat species (cattle, sheep, pigs and poultry) processed in the UK. Each identified hazard had a basis that was backed by work undertaken by independent third parties and which had been peer reviewed. This data was used during the development of an on-line best practice guide with a scoring system that rewarded good and best processing practices and could be used by abattoir staff and/or inspection officers to evaluate particular slaughter processes. The system asked a series of questions concerning the processing practices, and scored the answers depending on the perceived influence on the hygienic quality of the meat product. The MO1039 research team assisted with the provision of project outputs prior to publication. In addition, the MO10239 project team evaluated published information concerning poultry and pig processing and donated technical expertise by helping score the relative weights assigned to each step in the slaughter line.

Contents

| 1 | La | ayman's summary | 2 |
|--------------|------|---|------|
| 2 | E | xecutive Summary | 4 |
| 2.1 lines | tha | Objective 1: Identify a 'typical' poultry processing system and any features present in current at are not typical but are likely to influence contamination | 4 |
| 2.2 | | Objective 2: Quantify and identify the main contamination paths in current processing | 4 |
| 2.3 | | Objective 3: Develop methods for reducing contamination and cross contamination | 5 |
| 2.4 | | Objective 4: Evaluate various intervention steps for reducing contamination and cross- | |
| conta | ami | nation | 6 |
| 2.5 | - | Objective 5: Identify the key scientific data that could be used to develop a best practice guide. | 7 |
| 3 | In | troduction | .12 |
| 4 | St | rvey of UK poultry processing lines | .15 |
| 4.1 | | Survey method | . 15 |
| 4.2 | | Survey results | .15 |
| 4. | 2.1 | General | . 16 |
| 4. | 2.2 | Machines | .16 |
| 4. | 2.3 | Process Line | .16 |
| 4.3 | | Conclusions | . 18 |
| 5 | R | eview of scientific literature | .20 |
| 5.1 | | Role of processing steps | . 20 |
| 5.2 | | Physical interventions | . 24 |
| 5. | 2.1 | Cloacal plugging | . 24 |
| 5. | 2.2 | Dry heat | . 25 |
| 5. | 2.3 | Drying during chilling | . 25 |
| 5. | 2.4 | Freezing, crust-freezing, frozen storage | . 25 |
| 5. | 2.5 | Microwaves | . 25 |
| 5. | 2.6 | Infra red | . 25 |
| 5. | 2.7 | Water (cold/hot water) | . 26 |
| 5. | 2.8 | Steam | . 27 |
| 5. | 2.9 | Ultrasound | . 28 |
| 5. | 2.10 |) Ultra-violet light | . 28 |
| 5. | 2.11 | Other novel physical techniques | . 29 |
| 5.3 | | Chemical interventions | . 29 |
| 5. | 3.1 | Safety | . 36 |
| 5. | 3.2 | Costs | . 37 |
| 5.4 | | Effectiveness of interventions | .37 |
| 5.5 | | Conclusions | . 38 |
| 6 | R | eview of commercial disinfectants | 40 |

| 6.1 | Cleaning and Disinfection and environmental testing in 8 poultry plants | |
|-------------|--|----|
| 6.1.1 | Plant 1 - Chickens (20-Dec-2005 and 18-Aug-2006) | |
| 6.1.2 | Plant 2 - Chickens (23-Nov-2005) | 41 |
| 6.1.3 | Plant 3 - Chickens (22-Aug-2006) | 41 |
| 6.1.4 | Plant 4 - Chickens (09-March-2006) | |
| 6.1.5 | Plant 5 - Chickens (09-Jun-2006) | |
| 6.1.6 | 5 Plant 6 - Turkeys (08-Jun-2006) | 44 |
| 6.1.7 | Plant 7 - Turkeys (15-Jun-2006) | 44 |
| 6.1.8 | B Plant 8 - Ducks (07-Jun-2006)) | 45 |
| 6.2 | Results of microbiological testing | 45 |
| 6.2.1 | Plant 4 – Chickens (09-Jun-2006) | 45 |
| 6.2.2 | Plant 5 – Chickens (09-Jun-2006) | 45 |
| 6.2.3 | B Plant 6 – Turkeys (08-Jun-2006) | 45 |
| 6.2.4 | Plant 7 – Turkeys (15-Jun-2006) | 45 |
| 6.2.5 | 5 Plant 8 – Ducks (07-Jun-2006) | 46 |
| 6.3 | Summary of abattoir survey results | 46 |
| 6.4 | Disinfectant resistance of isolates of <i>Pseudomonas</i> and campylobacter | 46 |
| 7 C Camp | Contamination routes: Contamination from Campylobacter-positive to ylobacter-negative carcasses – directly and via processing equipment | 49 |
| 7.1 | Materials and methods | 49 |
| 7.1.1 | Part 1 | |
| 7.1.2 | 2 Part 2 | |
| 7.2 | Results | 50 |
| 7.2.1 | Part 1 | 50 |
| 7.2.2 | 2 Part 2 | 51 |
| 8 (| Contamination routes: Numbers of <i>Campylobacter</i> spp. transferred from | 54 |
| 8 1 | Materials and methods | 54 |
| 811 | Processing plants and flocks | 54 |
| 810 | 2 Detection of campylobacters | |
| 813 | B Detection of Enterobacteriaceae | 54 |
| 814 | Sampling of caecal contents and necks or neck skins | 54 |
| 814 | 5 Analysis of results | |
| 8.2 | Results | |
| 8.2.1 | Investigation of contamination levels in relation to levels in caeca | |
| 8.2.2 | 2 Investigation of contamination levels along the processing line | |
| 8.2.3 | Investigation of Campylobacter contamination between plucking and final wash | |
| 8.3 | Discussion | 64 |

| 8.4 | С | onclusions | 66 | | |
|-------|-------------|--|-------|--|--|
| 9 | Ran | ked assessment of alternative/novel methods/processes | 67 | | |
| 9.1 | Ν | ew Interventions | 67 | | |
| 9.1 | .1 | Location | 67 | | |
| 9.1 | .2 | Treatment | 67 | | |
| 9.2 | P | rocess or Equipment Measures | 68 | | |
| 9.2 | 2.1 | Major developments or changes | 68 | | |
| 9.2 | 2.2 | Minor changes to existing processes. | 70 | | |
| 9.3 | Ir | itial evaluation and selection of possible approaches | 71 | | |
| 9.3 | 3.1 | High priority investigation areas | 71 | | |
| 9.3 | 3.2 | Medium priority investigation areas | 72 | | |
| 9.3 | 3.3 | Low priority investigation areas | 73 | | |
| 10 | Eva | luation of intervention methods | 75 | | |
| 10.1 | Μ | aterials and methods | 75 | | |
| 10 | .1.1 | Equipment | 75 | | |
| 10 | .1.2 | Chemical treatments | 78 | | |
| 10 | .1.3 | Chicken carcasses | 80 | | |
| 10 | .1.4 | Sampling and enumeration of Campylobacter spp., Enterobacteriaceae and Pseudomonas spp | 80 | | |
| 10 | .1.5 | Statistical analysis | 81 | | |
| 10.2 | R | esults | 81 | | |
| 10 | .2.1 | Overall Initial Anti-Microbial Efficacy Analysis | 81 | | |
| 10.3 | R | esults: Evaluation by Carcass Part / Organism | 93 | | |
| 10 | .3.1 | Campylobacter on breast skin (see Table 17) | 93 | | |
| 10 | .3.2 | Campylobacter on neck skin (see Table 18) | 97 | | |
| 10 | .3.3 | Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin (see Table 19) | . 100 | | |
| 10 | .3.4 | Enterobacteriaceae on neck skin (see Table 20) | . 103 | | |
| 10 | .3.5 | Pseudomonads on breast skin (see Table 21) | . 106 | | |
| 10 | .3.6 | Pseudomonads on neck skin (see Table 22) | . 109 | | |
| 10.4 | T | rends within Results | .112 | | |
| 10 | .4.1 | Summary of treatment duration effects | . 112 | | |
| 10 | .4.2 | Summary of rinsing effects. | . 118 | | |
| 10 | .4.3 | Summary of chemical action time (dwell) effects. | . 119 | | |
| 10 | .4.4 | Conclusions from experimental work | . 120 | | |
| 11 | Inve | estigation to see whether a flail washer reduced Campylobacter contaminatio | n | | |
| of ch | nicke | en carcasses in Plant number 4 | 122 | | |
| 11.1 | Μ | lethods | .122 | | |
| 11.2 | 1.2 Results | | | | |
| 11.3 | D | iscussion and Conclusions | .123 | | |

| 12 | Recommendations for a best practice guide on-line | 25 |
|---------------|--|-----|
| 13 | Overall project conclusions12 | 26 |
| 13.1 lines | Objective 1: Identify a 'typical' poultry processing system and any features present in current that are not typical but are likely to influence contamination | .26 |
| 13.2 | Objective 2: Quantify and identify the main contamination paths in current processing1 | .26 |
| 13.3 | Objective 3: Develop methods of reducing contamination and cross-contamination1 | .27 |
| 13.4 conta | Objective 4: Evaluate various intervention steps for reducing contamination and cross- amination1 | .28 |
| 13.5 | Objective 5: Identify the key scientific data that could be used to develop a best practice guide 1 | .29 |
| 14 | References1 | 30 |
| 15 | Project publications1 | 56 |
| 15.1 | Published papers1 | .56 |
| 15.2 | Poster papers1 | .56 |
| 16 | Glossary1 | 57 |

3 Introduction

Campylobacter spp. are the most common cause of bacterial foodborne enteritis the UK and in most other developed countries (Lawson *et al.*, 1999; Friedman *et al.*, 2000; HPA, 2005). Raw poultry meat has been implicated as a major source of human infection, due to cross-contamination in the kitchen to other foods eaten without further cooking, undercooking and probably direct hand-to-mouth transfer during food preparation (Cogan *et al.*, 1999; Redmond *et al.*, 2004). Fifty-six per cent of chilled chicken carcasses at retail in the UK in 2001 were contaminated (FSA, 2003), while similar studies in Wales in 2002 found 71% positive (Meldrum *et al.*, 2004) and UK-wide in 2014-2015 found 73% positive, of which 19% contained >1000 cfu *Campylobacter* spp. per gram neck skin (Public Health England, 2015).

Improved biosecurity during the raising of housed broiler poultry is reducing the proportion of Campylobacter infected (C+) flocks reaching the slaughterhouse (Bull et al., 2006; Dr A. Thomas, personal communication). However, it is difficult to check the Campylobacter status of flocks on-farm in order to schedule the slaughter of Campylobacter-negative (C-) flocks earlier in the day – before C+ flocks. This is due toflocks becoming infected very late in the growth cycle, as well as to delays in sending and examination of samples. In addition, extensively reared flocks (organic and free range) are almost all infected by the time of slaughter (Heuer et al., 2001; Corry, Allen, Jorgensen, unpublished observations). A number of studies have indicated that C-ve flocks processed immediately after C+ve flocks become contaminated with campylobacters (Mead et al., 1995; Rivoal et al., 1999; Newell et al., 2001; Corry et al., 2003a; Herman et al., 2003; Miwa et al., 2003; Hermosilla, 2004). Hermosilla (2004) found flocks processed several flocks after C+ flocks also to be positive (by enrichment of neck skins). Newell et al. (2001) and Herman et al. (2003) found that strains on carcasses from C- flocks originated not only from preceding C+ flocks, but also from contaminated transport crates. Newell et al. (2001) also found that some strains of Campylobacter were more likely to be found on finished carcasses, indicating that they were better able to survive conditions in the processing plant. Stern & Robach (2003) and Allen et al. (2007) found varying numbers of Campylobacter on carcasses from C+ flocks, which could not be related to numbers in the caeca, but might be attributed to differences in survival of different strains during processing. Numbers of Campylobacters on C- flocks contaminated during processing or transportation have rarely been determined. Corry et al. (2003; Allen et al., 2007) found 22/40 carcasses examined from C- flocks processed immediately after C+ flocks to be positive for Campylobacter. However, all but three of these contained less than 2.5 log₁₀ Campylobacters.

Birds from Campylobacter positive flocks arrive at the processing plant with high numbers of Campylobacters, not only in their gut (caeca, colon, with lower numbers in crop, and small intestine), but also on the feathers and skin (Mead *et al.*, 1995: Berrang *et al.*, 2000). During processing, numbers of all varieties of bacteria, including Campylobacters, diminish overall (Mead *et al.*, 1994; 1995; Berrang & Dickens, 2000). However, numbers of Campylobacters fall immediately after scalding, but increase again after defeathering and again after evisceration (Oosterom *et al.*, 1983: Izat *et al.*, 1988; Mead *et al.*, 1995; Allen *et al.*, 2007). Contamination during defeathering is mostly due to leakage of gut contents (Berrang *et al.*, 2007), and other sources of faecal contamination (e.g. during evisceration) which in turn increases numbers of Campylobacters on the final product (Berrang *et al.*, 2004). Mead *et al.* (1995 and MAFF project: CSA 1985) found that numbers of Campylobacters on the final product could be reduced by eliminating unnecessary contact of the carcasses with processing machinery, as well as introduction of extra washing points and chlorine. Addition of chlorine to water in contact with the carcasses would not be an option now, but carcass contact points

can be examined and pin-pointed for removal or special attention between flocks. More effective methods of rinsing or washing could also be investigated, for example; use of better washers for carcasses, use of ultrasonics for continuous shackle decontamination, use of more effective disinfectants during CD (cleaning and disinfection) and use of steam during mid-production breaks. The most difficult machine to clean, which could significantly contaminate carcasses, is the defeathering machine (Mead *et al.*, 2000; Allen *et al.*, 2003a, b). Effective decontamination of this and the eviscerator between flocks would undoubtedly help reduce cross-contamination from C+ to C- flocks. Investigation of the time of survival of Campylobacters in scald tank water (usually at $52-54^{\circ}$ C) would also be of interest, in order to judge the time needed between flocks to avoid cross contamination from this source.

Aerial contamination with Campylobacters occurs in the abattoir, most prevalently near the hanging-on, defeathering and eviscerating areas (Whyte *et al.*, 2001; Allen *et al.*, 2003a, b). Inhalation of Campylobacters by the birds during hanging-on has been identified as a source of contamination of the air sacs and respiratory system, which spreads to the body cavity during processing (Berrang *et al.*, 2003). It is not clear how long aerial contamination persists in any of the three most important areas after a Campylobacter positive flock has passed along the line. Quantitative monitoring of aerial contamination at these three points during a working day, and correlating the results with the Campylobacter status of the flocks passing through, would enable assessment of whether measures to reduce aerial contamination would be beneficial. Cross-contamination during chilling seems to be a minor problem (Allen *et al.*, 2000a, b).

Campylobacters are not considered to be particularly resistant to disinfectants or heat (Sorqvist, 1989; Corry & Atabay, 2001), and they are not able to multiply in the environment below about 32°C, or in an aerobic environment. They are unlikely therefore to multiply anywhere in the processing plant, and should be easily killed by heat or disinfectants. They also survive poorly in dry situations and when dried on stainless steel, although they are protected to some extent by organic matter (Cox *et al.*, 2001; Kusumaningrum *et al.*, 2003). Campylobacters attached to chicken skin are also much more heat resistant than would be expected from *in vitro* studies (Corry *et al.*, 2003b; Purnell *et al.*, 2004). Campylobacters survive better at low (e.g. in chill) than higher temperatures (e.g. ambient) (Yoon *et al.*, 2004). Measures most likely to be effective during CD are therefore likely to involve removal of organic residues, use of disinfectants at relatively high temperatures, and drying of the equipment prior to resumption of processing.

This project analysed in a methodical way the routes by which poultry carcasses from C- flocks become contaminated with Campylobacters (and how Campylobacters are passed from C+ to C- flocks) during processing. This was aided by comparison of results obtained by different poultry processing plants in terms of the numbers of Campylobacters on final product, and the details of processing methods used (**Tasks 1** and **2**). Current knowledge indicates that cross-contamination occurs due to contaminated processing equipment and aerial contamination, and that it might be reduced by more effective CD. This may be particularly effective between flocks, control of airflow, and possibly by methods of decontaminating air. Possible new methods of achieving this would be investigated on rigs; by investigation of equipment available commercially, and by investigating the resistance of persistent strains of Campylobacter to disinfectants and drying (**Task 3**). **Part 4** of the project used information on variations in processing technology together with new techniques designed to reduce cross-contamination, to assist in modifying commercial lines. The best methods were further tested in commercial plants, and the results assessed to identify the best in terms of reducing cross-contamination and overall contamination with Campylobacter. Finally, a generic HACCP plan

was drafted in consultation with the FSA (**Task 5**). This project should aid the reduction of contamination in carcasses from C+ as well as C- flocks. Reduction of contamination on carcasses from C+ flocks might be achieved by improved processing techniques (e.g. better functioning of evisceration machines, more in-line water rinses) or by post-process treatments such as hot water or steam, or chemical treatments – e.g. trisodium phosphate, acidified sodium chlorite or chlorine dioxide.

The aim of the project is to reduce the proportion of raw poultry contaminated with *Campylobacter* spp. - as well as the numbers present per carcass - in order to reduce exposure in the UK population. Strict biosecurity during raising of intensively-reared poultry can reduce the proportion of infected flocks, but this strategy has not so far excluded *Campylobacter* spp. from all flocks, and it cannot be used for extensively reared (organic and free-range) flocks. In addition, 'thinning' or partial harvesting of birds increases the risk of introducing infection on the farm. There is therefore a need to devise a strategy for minimising cross-contamination of carcasses from Campylobacter infected (C+) flocks to carcasses from Campylobacter-free (C-) flocks. This could be achieved by various methods; use of separate abattoirs for infected and uninfected flocks, slaughter of infected flocks later in the day than uninfected flocks, disinfection between flocks, modifications to lines in order to reduce transfer of *Campylobacter* spp. via aerosols, and modification of machinery or introduction of novel devices to prevent transfer of contamination between carcasses. Reduction of cross-contamination could also reduce numbers of Campylobacters on carcasses from infected flocks.

The aim of this project was to quantify the degree of cross-contamination (from infected to uninfected flocks) and contamination (from infected flocks to their carcasses), and to devise strategies for minimising or eliminating these. Data from this project was also fed into FSA Project M01045 (Evaluation of data generated by meat plants for current HACCP verification purposes and future slaughterhouse hygiene purposes).

4 Survey of UK poultry processing lines

The overall aim of this project was to develop practical methods to reduce Campylobacter contamination and/or cross-contamination in UK poultry production. Knowledge of the range of current processing lines was a prerequisite for this work to frame the studies and evaluate current 'best practice'. To this end, site surveys of several UK poultry production lines were made. Although the work was mainly concerned with chicken production, turkey and duck plants were also visited to establish any potential technology transfer opportunities. Six chicken, two turkey and one duck processing lines were surveyed. The aim of this survey was to identify common features across a number of plants that are likely to result in contamination of the birds being processed. Its purpose was also to identify existing technology and plant specific features/operations that are designed to reduce cross-contamination. This survey was part of Objective 1/Task 1.1 and was Deliverable D3.

Practices and operations at eight poultry processing plants were recorded including physical parameters, such as temperatures, in order to determine typical and atypical operations in the production of poultry meat. The results indicated that plants are reasonably similar if processing the same species.

This study was carried out to establish a microbiological and physical process baseline that would then enable improvements to both existing and novel practices, which could be developed in order to reduce carcass contamination by campylobacter.

4.1 Survey method

A checklist was prepared covering 50 general points and 27 processes on which operating parameters would be collected. Visits were made, between November 2005 and August 2006, to five chicken, two turkey and one duck plant, representing most major processors in the UK. A diagram of each plant was made and measurements taken for certain process durations and conditions. The assembled information was used to determine:

- 1. Which plants offer typical processes and operating conditions (for baseline microbiological studies).
- 2. Which plants offer atypical processes expected to be worth further investigation.
- 3. How the processes interrelate.
- 4. What processes, current or novel, might be expected to control or reduce Campylobacter contamination.
- 5. To give the researchers a sound understanding of how and why these current practices have evolved.

4.2 Survey results

Full survey results are shown in Appendix 1 (Section Error! Reference source not found.).

The different species of poultry each have specific processing requirements and direct comparison is not possible. However, there are also similarities. This section generically contrasts the processes seen.

4.2.1 General

4.2.1.1 Typical line speeds

Line speeds in the chicken plants ranged between 6300 - 10500 carcasses/hour across all plants, with the mean line speed being approximately 8075 carcasses/hour. In the two turkey plants line speeds ranged between 2000 - 3000 carcasses/hour, with a mean line speed of 2500 carcasses/hour. In the duck plant the line speed was approximately 2000 carcasses/hour.

4.2.1.2 Typical carcass weights

Carcass weights varied according to species. Chicken carcasses ranged between 1.7 - 2.6 kg across all plants, with mean carcass weights being around 1.9 kg. Turkey carcasses ranged between 2 - 18 kg across both plants visited, with mean carcass weights being around 16.6 kg. In the single duck plant visited carcasses ranged between 2 - 3.8 kg.

4.2.1.3 Typical batches

Most plants irrespective of species batched by lorry-load, with reverse traceability to shed on a timed basis. This may not be precise between lorry-loads. One plant batched birds on farm basis. There is no consistent policy on spaces between batches.

4.2.2 Machines

• Shackle line

All plants had shackle cleaning equipment in place, but the effectiveness was highly variable. Carcass contact with fixed structures, that lines crossed and line crossovers where it was possible for drip to fall from one carcass to another were observed in many plants, particularly those that had undergone modification.

• Ceiling condensation

The majority of plants exhibited condensation that could conceivably fall onto carcasses. The degree of the problem was highly variable, even within the same plant.

• Cleaning methods

The general principles were similar in all plants. Short clean down in breaks with deep cleansing overnight. Precise methods, chemicals, cleaning team organisation and chemical suppliers varied substantially. Refer to individual plant sections for full details.

Many plants dosed chlorine dioxide (ClO₂) into cleaning water.

• General plant repair

Generally, plants were well maintained. Where parts were missing or damaged, product flow was not impeded. In-house modifications to lines/machines/processes were not always to the same level of food grade construction as original equipment.

• Build up of gross debris

Build up of gross debris was apparent on guarded evisceration machinery and to a lesser extent on conveyor belts, particularly in boning and portioning areas of the plants.

4.2.3 Process Line

• Bird arrival

All species used a crate and module system for bird transportation. All plants had automated crate washing systems. Some plants had separate entry and exit routes for lorries.

• Hanging and Stunning

One chicken and one turkey plant used gas stunning, where crates were fed to a nitrogen/carbon dioxide (N_2/CO_2) atmosphere, and comatose birds were hung onto the shackle line. The turkey line eased manual handling by running the shackles close to the stunned carcasses and operatives had only to place legs into shackles and not lift the entire carcass.

The remainder of plants used electric stunning where live birds were hung onto shackles then conveyed to the stunner water bath. The hanging and stunning took place in a subdued lighting zone. Many of these plants used a water spray onto shackles before hanging to lubricate birds' leg into the shackle and to aid electrical contact at stun. All chickens had rubbing contact with a "breast comforter" in order to minimise stress to the birds. Hanging of live turkeys was particularly arduous.

• Throat cutting

All chicken and the duck plants used automated throat cutting equipment using twin rotating cylindrical or plain blades. Both turkey plants used a manual throat cut.

• Bleeding

Bleed tanks for all species were similar. Trough lengths varied between 10 m and 24 m and appeared to be plant, not species, specific.

• Scalding

One chicken plant removed heads before scald tank. Another plant electrically stimulated (ES) before scald.

One turkey plant had automation to scrape debris from base of feet, to pull tail feathers and wash vent before entry to scald tank.

All plants used water bath scalding with mean scalder target temperatures of chicken: 52.5°C, turkey: 55.8°C, and duck: 60.0°C. Scald tank lengths varied between 18 minutes and 40 minutes. Line speeds determined scald duration. Scald tanks were typically refilled each day and acid cleaned weekly. Precise arrangements of tanks varied considerably. Some scald tanks exhibited a substantial defeathering effect.

• Defeathering

All plants used between 3 and 5 rubber finger type defeathering modules in series. Typically, the first module does the majority of feather removal. Some plants had installed screens to try to reduce airborne debris travel.

• Washing

Most plants had a post defeathering wash station.

• Various processes before evisceration (EV)

A variety of operations were carried out in different plants and species before the carcass entered the evisceration phase of processing. For chicken this included: electrical stimulation, foot removal, inspection, and head removal. Turkies required foot removal, whilst for duck this involved waxing and wax removal to complete the defeathering process. • Rehang to evisceration line

All chicken plants had an automated rehang transfer operation onto the evisceration line. One turkey plant had manual rehang at this stage.

• Evisceration

All species underwent a similar process to remove all internal organs, the head, and feet, although precise number and arrangement of equipment vary considerably even within species types. Additionally, turkeys have the "parson's nose" (tail) removed and ducks have beak removed for specific markets.

Chicken evisceration is carried out with carousel type rotary machines, systematically contacting every carcass. Although water sprays are often incorporated to variously lubricate, wash equipment and wash carcasses, the effectiveness is questionable and gross debris accumulates on much of the guarded equipment. Where evisceration equipment is less guarded and in process cleaning is possible, debris does not build up to such an extent.

Turkeys and ducks were eviscerated in a more manual process than chickens, although mechanisation is used for some operations.

• Chilling

All chicken plants used track chillers with impingement of cold air on the vent. Residence times varied between 50 and 80 minutes with air temperatures $-2^{\circ}C$ to $-4^{\circ}C$ where stated. One plant included a water spray of the carcasses before entry to the chiller.

Turkeys and ducks are spin-chilled (i.e. using water) with additional air maturation/chilling operations. Maturation/chilling methods varied, one turkey plant placed carcasses in ice filled Dolavs in a cold store, one turkey plant hung carcasses on racks in the air chiller, and the duck plant used spray chilling.

• Grading

Chickens are graded by weight band. Two plants used automated visual grading to augment weight grading operations. It is common to bulk chickens into bins in grade groups.

Turkeys and ducks did not appear to be graded.

• Portioning and boning

All species are portioned in many different manners according to particular customer orders and market forces.

• Packing

All species are packed in many different manners according to particular customer orders and market forces.

4.3 Conclusions

Six chicken, two turkey and one duck processing line were surveyed. In each case the project team followed the production line from lairage to portion cutting, and then interviewed production and management staff. The abattoir survey revealed that the techniques used in all chicken processing plants were similar, and that the cleaning and disinfection methods were effective against Campylobacters. However, because poultry processing is highly mechanised and is conducted at speeds up to 12,000 carcasses per hour, effective cleaning and disinfection

cannot be carried out between flocks, only between shifts – overnight or over the weekend. Also, cross-contamination between adjacent carcasses on the line is unavoidable, and occurs via the machinery and by direct contact. From the combined site visits the following general process observations relating to potential cross-contamination routes were made.

Many sites used bulk bins to store and transport carcasses after chilling and/or grading. This is a potential cross-contamination point between carcasses. Where air chilling was used (chicken) surfaces were drier, possibly reducing bacteria transfer.However, spin chilled turkey and duck will be relatively wet and cross-contamination transfer is more likely. It was concluded that whilst the influence of carcass surface condition and its effect on transfer can be debated, it is certainly prudent to locate any carcass decontamination intervention before bulk binning to lessen the risk still further.

Equipment cleanliness was certainly identified as a factor for investigation. Some plants believed that dosing equipment spray water with chlorine dioxide (ClO_2) reduced this problem. Whilst stainless steel is specified for most food processing equipment various surface roughness grades exist that will affect cleanability. In-plant modifications may not always be as food grade cleanable as original equipment.

The scald tank was considered a prime suspect for cross-contamination, as all carcasses are pulled through increasingly dirty water as the production day progresses. It was considered that additional interventions, as seen in one turkey plant to remove gross debris from the feet before scalder entry, could warrant investigation for chicken. Furthermore, it was postulated that it is probable that dirty and/or contaminated scalder water trapped in the feathers is carried from the scalder to the plucker, exacerbating cross-contamination problems in the plucker. It was concluded that 'steam' scalding as used in some pork plants could be investigated.

The plucker was identified as another prime suspect for cross-contamination – many studies have shown unwanted airborne contamination is generated and the rubber plucker fingers are in contact with every carcass as it passes through the process. Many rubber fingers exhibit small surface cracks caused by their continual flexing and these crevices could easily harbour Campylobacter and other unwanted organisms. Plucker fingers are considered to be a consumable item by many plants, with routine replacement in planned maintenance. It is unclear whether this is a hygiene measure or a quality measure to maintain plucker efficacy. Waste feathers are typically removed from the plucker zone by a water flume, feathers are filtered out and the water is typically recirculated. The microbiological state of this turbulent flow may affect bacterial levels in the plucker area.

Carousel-type evisceration machines, particularly those guarded from the workforce, are prone to accumulate viscera debris. Since every carcass passes through the machines, this could pose a cross-contamination risk. Whilst the carousel-type machines are well suited to high speed processing, additional carcass washing or continuous machine cleaning may be required.

5 Review of scientific literature

In addition to the site surveys (Section 4), as part of Objective 1/Task 1.1 published research and information from the UK and abroad was reviewed. Two specific reviews were conducted. The first specifically addressed the role of poultry processing steps in Campylobacter contamination. The second updated and expanded the review of chemical interventions carried out for a previous FSA Project (M01019: Physical methods readily adapted to existing commercial lines for reducing pathogens, particularly campylobacters, on raw poultry) and reviewed published information on physical and chemical interventions (with particular respect to their effect on Campylobacter and *Salmonella* numbers).

A summary of the findings of these reviews is discussed below. The full reviews can be found in Appendices 2 and 3.

5.1 Role of processing steps

Although there have been many studies published on microbiological numbers and contamination/cross-contamination during poultry processing, only a total of 84 papers were identified as having specific data on Campylobacter numbers during processing. Of these 84 papers, only 47 papers were found to have sufficient relevant information concerning the role of processing conditions on Campylobacter contamination. It is interesting to note that Adkin *et al.* (2006) were able to identify 159 research papers and findings when systematically reviewing sources and factors of on-farm Campylobacter contamination of chickens.

All relevant information extracted from the interesting studies was compiled in the review. All the stages were detailed with all the numbers and comments about Campylobacter contamination. Although the purpose of this review was to concentrate on chicken processing, it was noted that there was very little data available on the role of processing factors on Campylobacter on other poultry species, such as ducks and turkeys. Where data on these species was found it was included.

Table 1 summarises the data identified on the specific impact of different processing steps on Campylobacter contamination on chicken carcasses.

Table 1. Table gathering all the references used for the following review sorted by processing stages, and specifying their effect on the Campylobacter counts and/or prevalence

| Processing | Number of | Number of st campylobact | Number of studies showing an effect on ampylobacter counts and/or prevalence | | Deference | |
|--------------|-----------|-----------------------------|--|-------------------|--|--|
| stage | papers | No effect | Positive effect* | Negative effect** | Kelerences | |
| Bleeding | 2 | - | - | - | Alter et al. (2005), Abu-Ruwaida et al. (1994) | |
| Scalding | 14 | - | 8 | - | Genigeorgis (1986), Acuff <i>et al.</i> (1986), Alter <i>et al.</i> (2005), Baker <i>et al.</i> (1987), Hinton <i>et al.</i> (2004), Oosterom <i>et al.</i> (1982), Oosterom <i>et al.</i> (1983), Slavik <i>et al.</i> (1995), Burh <i>et al.</i> (2005), Laisney and Colin (1993), Abu-Ruwaida <i>et al.</i> (1994), Berndtson <i>et al.</i> (1996), Berrang & Dickens (2000), Berrang <i>et al.</i> (2003), Yang <i>et al.</i> (2000) | |
| Plucking | 16 | - | 1 | 10 | Abu-Ruwaida et al. (1994), Acuff et al. (1986), Alter et al. (2005), Baker et al. (1987), Berrang & Dickens (2000), Berrang et al. (2000), Berrang et al. (2004), Berrang et al. (2003), Berrang et al. (2006), Berrang et al. (2001), Oosterom et al. (1983), Burh et al. (2005), Cason et al. (2004), Fluckey et al. (2003), Ono & Yamamoto (1999), Rosenquist et al. (2006) | |
| Evisceration | 12 | 5 | 2 | 3 | Acuff et al. (1986), Alter et al. (2005), Allen et al. (2007), Baker et al. (1987), Ono & Yamamoto (1999), Oosterom et al. (1983), Berrang et al. (2004), Abu-Ruwaida et al. (1994), Hinton et al. (2004), Berrang & Dickens (2000), Fluckey et al. (2003), Rosenquist et al. (2006) | |
| Washing | 12 | 1 | 6 | - | Abu-Ruwaida <i>et al.</i> (1994), Acuff <i>et al.</i> (1986), Baker <i>et al.</i> (1987), Berrang & Dickens (2000), Izat <i>et al.</i> (1988), Ono & Yamamoto (1999), Purnell <i>et al.</i> (2003), Li <i>et al.</i> (2002), Corry <i>et al.</i> (2006), Northcutt <i>et al.</i> (2005), Sexton <i>et al.</i> (2007), Berrang & Dickens (2000) | |
| Chilling | 24 | 2 | 17 | 2 | Abu-Ruwaida et al. (1994), Alter et al. (2005), Allen et al. (2007), Baker et al. (1987), Acuff et al. (1986), Berrang and Dickens (2000), Berrang et al. (2004), Bashor et al. (2004), Cason et al. (1983), Logue et al. (2003), Oosterom et al. (1983), Oosetrom et al. (1983), Burh et al. (2005), Sanchez et al. (2002), Linblad et al. (2006), Wempe et al. (0983), Li et al. (2002), Li et al. (1995), James et al. (2006), Dickens et al. (2000), Berndtson et al. (1996), Stern & Robach (2003), Fluckey et al. (2003), Rosenquist et al. (2006), Son et al. (2006) | |

Positive effect means that campylobacter counts and/or prevalence decrease during the stage

** Negative effect means that campylobacter counts and/or prevalence increase during the stage

It was found, .that a number of very interesting papers had no information about the total number of samples taken, restricting the degree of confidence that can be associated with this data. Also, different studies have sampled at different points, and in a number of cases skipped processing steps, and differences in sampling techniques make comparisons difficult. The followings graphs, Figure 1 to Figure 5, attempt to compare the results of different studies, according to the sampling units expressed.



Figure 1. A comparison of published data on the number (%) of Campylobacterpositive samples measured at different processing stages on poultry carcasses reported by different studies



Figure 2. A comparison of published data on Campylobacter counts (log10 cfu /100cm²) measured at different processing stages on poultry carcasses reported by different studies



Figure 3. A comparison of published data on Campylobacter counts (log₁₀ cfu ml⁻¹) measured at different processing stages on poultry carcasses reported by different studies



Abu-Ruwaida et al. 1994 – Oosterom et al. 1982 – Rosenquist et al. 2006 – Oosterom et al. 1982

Figure 4. A comparison of published data on Campylobacter counts (log10 cfu g⁻¹) measured at different processing stages on poultry carcasses reported by different studies



Allen et al. 2007

Figure 5. Campylobacter counts (log10 cfu /carcass) measured at different processing stages on chicken carcasses (Allen *et al.* 2007).

In general, all these studies show that counts drop after scalding, rise after plucking, continue to slightly rise after evisceration, then drop after washing and chilling.

5.2 Physical interventions

Many publications on a wide range of physical interventions applicable to reducing Campylobacter on poultry carcasses were identified. Some of these interventions have been evaluated on commercial lines (such as washing systems and steam), while others have been applied experimentally to pieces of chicken or chicken-skin (such as microwaves), whilst other interventions (such as visible light) may be applicable but have not been evaluated experimentally. With perhaps the exception of cloacal plugging, there is a greater body of literature on the effects of different physical interventions on red meats than on poultry meat. This literature review generally reviewed only references to the use of an intervention on poultry meat.

5.2.1 Cloacal plugging

A number of studies (Berrang *et al.*, 2001, 2006a and b; Buhr *et al.*, 2003; Musgrove *et al.*, 1997; Russell & Kimball, 2006) have demonstrated that cloacal plugging can reduce microbial contamination during scalding and plucking. Numerous alternative plugging systems have also been patented, including gluing with a cyanoacrylate based adhesive (Neal & Cook, 1996), a tampon-like plug (Lenear & Stockam, 1996), or the use of a highly viscous food grade gel (Anderberg, 2000; Singh, 1997). Some evaluated methods, such as plugging with cotton tampons and suturing, were not considered by the authors to be feasible during industrial operations due to line speeds (Musgrove *et al.*, 1997). There appear to be no independently published evaluations of these different methods, and no specific data on the effect of such interventions on the incidence of Campylobacter on the finished carcass.

5.2.2 Dry heat

Very few studies have investigated the application of dry heat interventions. Cutter *et al.* (1997) had some success on beef. While a limited study on inoculated chicken skin samples, carried out as part of FSA Project M01019 (Physical methods readily adapted to existing commercial lines for reducing pathogens, particularly campylobacters, on raw poultry), showed large reductions in counts of added *C. jejuni* and *E. coli*. Inoculated chicken skin was subjected to 15-minute treatments with high velocity (*ca.* 15 m per second) warm air at 10, 40, 50 and 60°C. Reductions of $1 - 2 \log$ units at 20 and 40°C indicated that there was some form of non-thermal drying effect. However, these data have not been fully validated.

5.2.3 Drying during chilling

There is some evidence that drying the surface of a poultry carcass, which occurs sometimes during air-chilling, may inactivate some of the Campylobacters present (Doyle & Roman, 1982; Oosterom *et al.*, 1983; Bolder & van der Hulst, 1987; Allen *et al.*, 2000a, b). However, this does not seem to be a reliable effect, as confirmed by FSA Project M01019 (Physical methods readily adapted to existing commercial lines for reducing pathogens, particularly campylobacters, on raw poultry).

5.2.4 Freezing, crust-freezing, frozen storage

Freezing and crust-freezing have been suggested as a means of reducing the numbers of Campylobacters on poultry carcasses. Freezing was one of a number of measures taken to reduce the incidence of human Campylobacter infections in Iceland (Stern *et al.*, 2003), although its exact contribution is unclear. Freezing to ~-20°C has been reported by a number of studies to result in an initial fall in numbers of Campylobacters, followed by a slower decline during storage (Yogasundram & Shane, 1986; Lee *et al.*, 1998; Solow *et al.*, 2003; Zhao *et al.*, 2003; Bhaduri & Cotterell, 2004; Georgsson *et al.*, 2006). Studies appear to show that significant freezing (to temperatures <-20°C) needs to occur in the chicken to see a significant reduction in Campylobacter numbers. Surface freezing has been shown to have only a slight, ≤ 0.5 log reduction, on Campylobacter numbers (as evaluated in FSA Project M01019 (Physical methods readily adapted to existing commercial lines for reducing pathogens, particularly campylobacters, on raw poultry). Applying this intervention in order to still supply chilled product to the retail market would introduce a considerable bottle-neck to the current production process, since the meat would need to be frozen and then thawed, which would take a considerable number of hours.

5.2.5 Microwaves

A number of studies have studied the use of microwave energy to reduce microbial counts on poultry meat (Teotia & Miller 1975; Cunningham & Albright, 1977; Cunningham, 1978; 1980; Göksoy *et al.*, 1999; 2000) and vacuum-packed beef (Fung & Kastner, 1982; Kenney *et al.*, 1995; Paterson *et al.*, 1995). However, studies at the University of Bristol (Göksoy *et al.*, 1999, 2000) have shown microwave heating to be too uneven and unreproducible to provide an even surface heat treatment capable of producing a significant reduction in Campylobacter numbers without some degree of product cooking.

5.2.6 Infra red

Infra red heating has been used successfully to reduce microbial counts on the surface of pig carcasses after scalding and dehairing operations have been completed (Snijders & Gerats, 1977). Carcasses were exposed for 90 seconds, raising the skin temperature to 150°C. Surface

discolouration and drying occurred, but the appearance later reverted to normal. No references have been found to this method being evaluated for treating poultry carcasses.

5.2.7 Water (cold/hot water)

Spray washing of poultry carcasses with cold water after evisceration to remove faeces, blood, dirt, and other organic material from the surface of carcasses prior to chilling is standard practice in most countries. Table 2 lists all the main publications on washing methods on poultry. Temperature, pressure and time of application have been the main variables studied. In some cases, their efficacy in terms of visual cleaning has also been evaluated. Physically removing bacteria using sprays of cold water alone has been shown to be only partially effective, since attached/entrapped bacteria have been shown to be particularly difficult to remove (Firstenberg-Eden, 1981; Lillard, 1988; 1989; Abu-Ruwaida et al., 1994). Interventions that rely on unheated (< 30° C) water produce small changes (usually $\approx 1 \log$) in the level of bacterial contamination. The primary reason cited by some for the ineffectiveness of cold water is its inability to lower the water surface tension (Bashor et al., 2004; Keener et al., 2004). Surfactants have been suggested as a possible solution to this problem. Also, systems that provide a scrubbing action have been recommended. Brush washers, similar to car washes and defeathering machines, that use rubber fingers to clean the outside of carcasses have been described (Keener et al., 2004), but no reports of their effectiveness have been located.

 Table 2. Publications on the decontamination of raw poultry using hot or cold water (washing)

| Method | Reference |
|---------------------|--|
| Cold water spray | Kotula et al., 1967; Mulder & Veerkamp, 1974; Notermans et al., 1980; Abu-Ruwaida et al., 1994; Bashor et al., 2004; Keener et al., 2004; Escudero-Gilete et al., 2005 |
| Hot water immersion | Dawson <i>et al.</i> , 1963; Pickett & Miller, 1966; Avens & Miller, 1972; Teotia & Miller, 1972; Cox <i>et al.</i> , 1974a, b; Morrison & Fleet, 1985; Thomson <i>et al.</i> , 1979a; de Ledesma <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Berrang <i>et al.</i> , 2000 |
| Hot water spray | Thomson et al., 1974; Berrang et al., 2000; Li et al., 2002 |

When hot water emerges from a spray jet it spreads out and the diverse, separated droplets rapidly lose heat by evaporation. In early trials at Langford (MRI) it was found that the maximum impact temperature on the carcass of a spray placed 30 cm away and supplied with water at 90°C was approximately 63°C. Fan-jets operating at high pressures produced significantly higher impact temperatures than other jet/pressure combinations. It is primarily due to the low surface temperatures that are achieved that limited bacterial reductions are reported with hot water spraying. Surface temperatures of 70°C or over appear to be required to achieve reductions approaching 2 log. Temperatures of this magnitude can be detrimental to surface appearance.

Cold-water immersion interventions invariably involve chemicals. A number of studies have shown that immersion causes swelling of skin and tissues and absorption of more bacteria into deep tissues therefore making them more difficult to remove by washing (Notermans & Kampelmacher, 1974; McMeekin & Thomas, 1978; Thomas & McMeekin, 1982; 1984; Lillard, 1985; 1986; 1989).

Trials in a commercial poultry plant, carried out as part of FSA Project M01019 (Physical methods readily adapted to existing commercial lines for reducing pathogens, particularly campylobacters, on raw poultry), using naturally contaminated carcasses, compared treatments

for 10 seconds in steam with 20 seconds in hot water at 80°C. The appearance of the treated carcasses was assessed visually at intervals until the end of shelf-life, and checks made for Pseudomonads, Enterobacteriaceae and Campylobacters on breast skin. Initial levels of *Campylobacter* spp. were low (~1 \log_{10} cfu cm⁻²) and variable, but reductions (similar for steam and hot water) of about 2 log cycles were obtained for the other two groups. Numbers of Campylobacters were reduced but not eliminated. Visual assessment indicated that the hot water treatment caused less change in appearance than the steam treatment. Carcasses produced using either treatment could be used for production of 'skin-off' portions. It was considered that changes to appearance of skin-on carcasses or portions would be acceptable to many consumers.

5.2.8 Steam

. If steam is allowed to condense onto the surface of meat, it will rapidly raise the surface temperature. One very attractive feature of condensing steam is its ability to penetrate cavities and condense on any cold surface.

The temperature at which water boils is a function of pressure. At atmospheric pressure, steam will be created initially at 100° C. At pressures below atmospheric (sub-atmospheric), the generation temperature will be lower than 100° C, while, at pressures higher than atmospheric, it will be above 100° C. Generation at temperatures other than 100° C does not substantially reduce the heat capacity of the steam. Treatment temperatures below 100° C are less likely to cause damage to the surface of the carcass, but will require longer treatment times than treatments at 100° C and above. One key disadvantage of both low- and high-pressure treatments is that they are batch systems.

5.2.8.1 Sub-atmospheric steam (<100°C)

A number of studies (Klose & Bayne, 1970; Klose *et al.*, 1971; Evans, 1999) have shown that condensing steam at sub-atmospheric pressure is an effective method of reducing bacterial contamination on the surface of poultry carcasses. Steam temperatures of between 75°C and 85°C applied for less than 1 minute can reduce counts by 3-4 log. However, some damage to exposed muscle has been noted. No specific data has been published on the effect of such treatments on Campylobacter on whole chicken carcasses. Applying such a batch treatment on-line at the line speeds utilised in the UK poultry industry would be difficult to engineer, although not impossible.

5.2.8.2 Atmospheric steam (90-100°C)

Atmospheric steam cabinets are utilised in the USA for treating beef carcasses. Although a modified version of this system evaluated in the UK by Whyte *et al.* (2003) was not shown to be particularly effective in treating poultry carcasses without producing some degree of surface damage. Trials in a commercial poultry plant, carried out as part of FSA Project M01019 (Physical methods readily adapted to existing commercial lines for reducing pathogens, particularly campylobacters, on raw poultry), using naturally contaminated carcasses, compared treatments for 10 seconds in steam with 20 seconds in hot water at 80°C. The appearance of the treated carcasses was assessed visually at intervals until the end of shelf-life, and checks made for Pseudomonads, Enterobacteriaceae and Campylobacters on breast skin. Initial levels of *Campylobacter* spp. were low (~1 log₁₀ cfu cm⁻²) and variable, but reductions (similar for steam and hot water) of about 2 log cycles were obtained for the other two groups. Numbers of Campylobacters were reduced, but not eliminated. Visual assessment indicated that the hot water treatment caused less change in appearance than the steam treatment.

Carcasses produced using either treatment could be used for production of 'skin-off' portions. It was considered that changes to appearance of skin-on carcasses or portions would be acceptable to many consumers.

5.2.8.3 *High pressure steam* (>100°C)

As with sub-atmospheric steam treatments, applying high pressure steam treatments on-line at the line speeds utilised in the UK poultry industry is difficult to engineer, but not impossible. One such semi-continuous multi-batch system has been developed by Kozempel *et al.* (2000; 2001, 2003a, b) as the Vacuum / Steam / Vacuum (VSV) Process. Field studies of a mobile unit (Kozempel *et al.*, 2003a) are reported to have achieved a 1.4-log reduction for *E. coli* and a 1.2-log reduction for Campylobacter on naturally-contaminated carcasses. However, there was extensive mechanical damage caused by the introduction of steam into the cavity (similar problems were encountered in unpublished studies on a similar system at the University of Bristol). In further trials, the mechanical damage was eliminated and a 1.1 - 1.5-log reduction was obtained for *E. coli* K-12 (added artificially), with a total process time of 1.1 s, although this period did not include the time taken to introduce and withdraw the product.

5.2.9 Ultrasound

Sonication has been suggested as a potential way of detaching bacteria from the carcass and increasing the accessibility of chemical treatments. Although 'cavitation' caused by sonication has itself been demonstrated to kill bacteria (Sykes, 1965).

Sams & Feria (1991) found ultrasound (47000 Hz; 200 W output), and ultrasound in combination with lactic acid and/or heat, to be ineffective in reducing surface microbial counts on broiler drumsticks. The lack of antimicrobial effect was attributed to the irregular skin surface providing some degree of physical protection against cavitation. In contrast, studies by Lillard (1993; 1994b) showed ultrasound to be effective in reducing numbers of *Salmonella* attached to broiler skin. No studies on its effect on Campylobacter have been identified.

5.2.10 Ultra-violet light

The potential of ultra-violet (UV) radiation in retarding growth or even killing microorganisms has been known since the latter half of the nineteenth century (Haines & Smith, 1933). Commercial use of UV to extend the storage-life of chilled red meat has been reported from the 1930s onwards (Haines & Smith, 1933; Ewell, 1943).

The lethal effect of UV varies with the intensity of the radiation and the time of exposure. Temperature, pH, relative humidity and degree of microbial contamination influence the lethality of UV radiation (Banwart, 1989). UV has low penetrating power. Areas of shadow, dust in the air and the clumping of microbial cells all have a protective effect.

Purnell & James (2000) found that reductions of up to $1.9 \log_{10}$ cfu cm⁻² in APCs could be achieved for skin-on chicken breasts exposed to a 3.4 - 3.7 mW cm⁻² treatment for 10 seconds.

However, UV radiation alone does not appear to be a particularly suitable intervention method for poultry carcasses, because the low penetration of UV restricts its ability to destroy bacteria located in crevices and follicles. Other surface characteristics of chicken skin may also reduce the effectiveness and uniformity of UV decontamination. However, there is conflicting evidence in relation to the potential of UV for treating chicken portions. To achieve an even exposure at all points on the surface of the meat appears to be the main technical problem. The use of robotics and automation to orientate the meat with the source or move the source(s) over the surface to prevent 'shadowing' needs to be examined.

5.2.11 Other novel physical techniques

A whole range of more novel techniques, such as the use of visible light (Mertens & Knorr 1992), have been suggested for treating poultry meat, and in some cases shown to be theoretically viable alternatives in the future. However, many of these surface treatments suffer from the same 'line-of-sight' problems that occur with ultra-violet radiation treatments.

5.3 Chemical interventions

A wide range of chemicals are known that will kill or severely limit the growth of pathogenic and spoilage bacteria. However, the number of chemicals that are, or may be, approved for food use is severely limited and some may only be effective against specific bacteria. Many studies have been carried out to test groups of chemicals for antimicrobial activity against specific pathogenic and food spoilage microorganisms, for example, Carpenter (1972) and Islam *et al.* (1978). Of the various chemicals tested for effectiveness of inhibiting the growth of *Salmonella in vitro* Carpenter (1972) found that only acetic acid, stannous chloride, citric acid, phosphoric acid, calcium propionate and chlorine produced zones of inhibition (Table 3).

| Chemical | Concentration | Inhibitoryry |
|--------------------|------------------------|--------------|
| Acetic acid | рН 2.0, 2.5 | \checkmark |
| Butyric acid | рН 2.0, 2.5 | |
| Citric acid | рН 2.0, 2.5 | \checkmark |
| Lactic acid | рН 2.0, 2.5 | |
| Malic acid | рН 2.0, 2.5 | |
| Phosphoric acid | pH 2.0, 2.5 | \checkmark |
| Tannic acid | pH 2.0, 2.5 | |
| Tartaric acid | рН 2.0, 2.5 | |
| Stannous chloride | 1%, 5%, 10% | \checkmark |
| Potassium sorbate | 1%, 5%, 10% | |
| Calcium propionate | 1%, 5%, 10% | \checkmark |
| Chlorine | 15 ppm, 20 ppm, 25 ppm | \checkmark |

Table 3. Chemicals assessed for effectiveness in inhibiting the growth of SalmonellaEnteritidis (source: Carpenter, 1972)

Table 4 lists the publications on the use of various chemicals for treating poultry identified in this review. Of these chemicals, three main groups have been investigated more than any others; organic acids, chlorine and its compounds, and polyphosphates.

| Compound | Reference | | |
|---------------------------------|---|--|--|
| Acidic calcium sulfate | Dickens et al., 2004 | | |
| Acidified sodium chlorite (ASC) | Mullerat <i>et al.</i> , 1994, 1995; Ivey, 1999; Kemp <i>et al.</i> , 2000, 2001; Arritt <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Schneider <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Bashor <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Chantarapanont <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Oyarzabal <i>et al.</i> , 2004 | | |
| Cetylpyridinium chloride (CPC) | Kim & Slavik, 1996; Breen et al., 1997; Li et al., 1997; Yang et al., 1998; Xiong et al., 1998; Gueye et al., 1999; Arritt et al., 2000 | | |
| Chlorine | Thomson <i>et al.</i> , 1967; Patterson, 1968; Kotula <i>et al.</i> , 1967; Dye & Mead, 1972; Mead <i>et al.</i> , 1975; Park <i>et al.</i> , 1991; Mullerat <i>et al.</i> , 1994; Morrison & Fleet, 1995; Bautista <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Erickson, 1999; Kemp <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Park <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Li <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Fabrizio <i>et al.</i> 2002; Bashor <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Gonçalves <i>et al.</i> , 2005 | | |
| Chlorine dioxide | Thomson <i>et al.</i> , 1967; Patterson, 1968; Kotula <i>et al.</i> , 1967; Dye & Mead, 1972; Mead <i>et al.</i> , 1975; Park <i>et al.</i> , 1991; Mullerat <i>et al.</i> , 1994; Morrison & Fleet, 1995; Erickson, 1999; Kemp <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Park <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Li <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Fabrizio <i>et al.</i> 2002; Bashor <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Gonçalves <i>et al.</i> , 2005 | | |
| Eau Activée | Arpitha, 2005 | | |
| Electrolysed water | Park et al., 2002; Fabrizio et al., 2002; Ozer & Demirci, 2005 | | |
| Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid | Teotia & Miller, 1975; Mullerat et al., 1994; Samuelson et al., 1985 | | |
| Fatty acids | Hinton & Ingram, 2000; 2003; 2005; 2006; Anang et al., 2007 | | |
| Glutaraldehyde | Thomson et al., 1977; Bailey et al., 1977; Mast & MacNeil, 1978 | | |
| Herb extracts | Dickens <i>et al.</i> , 2000 | | |
| Hydrogen peroxide | Lillard & Thompson, 1983; Mulder, 1987; Izat et al., 1989; Fletcher et al., 1993; Wagenaar & Snijders, 2004 | | |
| Iodophor | Spencer et al., 1968 | | |
| Lysozyme | Teotia & Miller, 1975; Samuelson et al., 1985; Chatzopoulou, 1991 | | |
| Monochloramine | Russell & Axtell, 2005 | | |
| Organic acids | Thomson <i>et al.</i> , 1967; Juven <i>et al.</i> , 1974; Cox <i>et al.</i> , 1974b; Thomson <i>et al.</i> , 1976; Arafa & Chen, 1978; Izat <i>et al.</i> , 1989; van der Marel <i>et al.</i> , 1989; Sawaya <i>et al.</i> , 1995; Tamblyn & Conner, 1997a, b; Ellerbroek <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Li <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Zeitoun <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Bautista <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Bilgili <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Xiong <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Ellerbroek <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Sakhare <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Fabrizio <i>et al.</i> 2002; Gonçalves <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Jiménez <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Anang <i>et al.</i> , 2006, 2007 | | |
| Ozone | Yang & Chen, 1979; Sheldon & Brown, 1986; Montecalvo, 1998; Fabrizio et al. 2002; Diaz et al., 2001, 2002; Enzweiler et al., 2002 | | |
| Peroxyacids | Vadhansin et al., 2004; Chantarapanont et al., 2004 | | |
| Phosphates | Elliot <i>et al.</i> , 1964; Thomson <i>et al.</i> , 1979a; Lillard, 1994a; Mullerat <i>et al.</i> , 1994; Slavik <i>et al.</i> , 1994; Hwang & Beuchat, 1995; Rathgeber & Waldroup, 1995; Hathcox <i>et al.</i> , 1995; de Ledesma <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Ellerbroek <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Bautista <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Li <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Colin & Salvat, 1997; Xiong <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Ellerbroek <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Kim & Marshall, 1999; Capita <i>et al.</i> , 2000a, b; Arritt <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Capita <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Fabrizio <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Capita <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Hinton & Ingram, 2003; Bashor <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Bourassa <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Bourassa <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Gonçalves <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Del Río <i>et al.</i> , 2005 | | |
| РНМВ | Islam & Islam, 1979a, b; Thomson et al., 1980, 1981 | | |
| Salt Solutions | Morrison & Fleet, 1985; Li et al., 1997; Gonçalves et al., 2005 | | |
| Sodium bisulfate (SBS) | Li et al., 1997; Yang et al., 1998 | | |
| Sodium hydroxide | Capita et al., 2002 | | |
| Sorbates | Perry et al., 1964; Robach & Ivey, 1978; Cunningham, 1979; Robach, 1979; To & Robach, 1980; Cunningham, 1981; Morrison & Fleet, 1985; Gonzalez-Fandos & Dominguez, 2007 | | |
| Sumac | Gulmez et al., 2006 | | |

Table 4. Publications on the decontamination of poultry using chemicals

The chemicals, or groups of chemicals, discussed in this report that have been investigated in respect to their action on Campylobacters and/or Salmonellas on poultry, are shown in Table 5.

| | Study on the effect | of treatment on |
|--------------------------------------|---------------------|-----------------|
| Compound | Campylobacter spp. | Salmonella spp. |
| Acidic calcium sulfate | | |
| Acidified sodium chlorite (ASC) | Yes | Yes |
| Alkyldimethylbenzylammonium chloride | | |
| Cetylpyridinium chloride (CPC) | Yes | Yes |
| Chlorhexidine | | |
| Chlorine | Yes | Yes |
| Chlorine dioxide | | Yes |
| Copper sulfate pentahydrate | | |
| Eau Activée | | |
| Electrolysed water | Yes | Yes |
| Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid | | |
| Fatty acids | Yes | Yes |
| Glutaraldehyde | | Yes |
| Herb extracts | Yes | |
| Hydrogen peroxide | | |
| Iodophor | | |
| Lysozyme | | Yes |
| Monochloramine | | Yes |
| Organic acids | | Yes |
| Ozone | | Yes |
| Peroxyacids | Yes | Yes |
| Phosphates | Yes | Yes |
| PHMB | | Yes |
| Salt (NaCl) | | Yes |
| Sodium bisulfate (SBS) | | Yes |
| Sodium hydroxide | | |
| Sorbates | | Yes |
| Sumac | | |

Table 5. Chemicals investigated for their specific action on Campylobacter and
Salmonella spp. on poultry

Reductions achieved by chemical interventions, specifically on Campylobacters and Salmonellas, are shown in Table 6 and Table 7respectively. The range of "commercial antimicrobials" for processing chickens, with specific regard to *Campylobacter* spp., were reviewed by Oyarzabal (2005).

Overall it can be noted that:

Campylobacter spp. are susceptible to "chlorine based methods" which may be the most effective. Chlorine based methods seem to be more effective against Campylobacter in suspension, provided the organic load is low, rather than by direct application to the carcass surface. Thus these methods would seem to be better for preventing cross-contamination rather than for carcass decontamination.

There is little to choose between chlorine dioxide and acidified sodium chlorite in their effectiveness upon *Campylobacter* spp. as the chemical processes are similar.

Trisodium phosphate efficacy against *Campylobacter* spp. seems to be based on being a strong alkali (high pH). It is more effective at relatively high temperatures and therefore its use in

chilled/chiller sections of carcass processing would be inappropriate. As an alkali it would seem to be inappropriate to use it in conjunction in an acidic environment such as with any of the other three compounds of interest.

Peroxyacetic acid disinfectants are complex mixtures of compounds mixed in prescribed relative concentrations to give commercial products. There may be scope to vary the relative concentrations in order to attack/control specific bacteria.

Greater reductions in bacterial numbers are generally achieved at higher temperatures. In many cases, however, it is difficult to separate the effect of the temperature from any synergistic effect of the chemical. However, there are potential problems with hot chemicals, Reynolds & Carpenter (1974) found for instance that organic acids applied to hot carcasses volatised, creating an irritating atmosphere near the spray.

Some chemical interventions appear to be less effective, either because they achieve only limited reductions in microbial counts or they diminish meat quality. Ozone causes problems arising from its instability and oxidising potential. Hydrogen peroxide has been found to produce unacceptable reactions with catalase from the blood in poultry carcasses. Lysozyme on its own is only effective against Gram-positive bacteria.

The range of operational variables is extensive. These include: temperature, pH, duration of contact, application as a spray or dip and point of application on the processing line.

| Chemical | Treatment | Approximate reduction | Reference |
|---|------------------------------------|--|-----------------------------|
| Hot water | Hot water immersion or spray | <0.5 log10 cfu ml-1 carcass rinse | Berrang et al., 2000 |
| Hot water | Hot water inside-outside washer | $0.8 \log_{10}$ cfu per carcass | Li et al., 2002 |
| Hot water (50°C) | Spray (lab based) | -0.3 log ₁₀ cfu/skin | Arritt, 2002 |
| ASC | Spray (lab based) | $1.5 \log_{10}$ cfu/skin | Arritt, 2000 |
| ASC | Spray washing | $>1 \log_{10}$ cfu ml ⁻¹ | Kemp et al., 2001 |
| ASC | Spray (lab based) | 1.5 log ₁₀ cfu /skin | Arritt et al., 2002 |
| ASC | Washing | 2 log ₁₀ cfu cm ⁻² | Alcide, 2002 |
| ASC | Immersion (lab based) | 1 log | Chantarapanont et al., 2004 |
| ASC | Washing | 1.2 log ₁₀ cfu ml ⁻¹ carcass rinse | Bashor et al., 2004 |
| CPC | Spray (lab based) | 2.9 log ₁₀ cfu/skin | Arritt, 2000 |
| CPC | Spray (lab based) | 1.4-2.9 log10 cfu/skin | Arritt, 2002 |
| Chlorine | Hot water inside-outside washer | $0.8 \log_{10}$ cfu per carcass | Li et al., 2002 |
| Chlorine (electrolysed water) | Immersion (lab based) | $3 \log_{10}$ cfu g ⁻¹ | Park et al., 2002 |
| Chlorine | Washing | <0.5 log10 cfu ml-1 carcass rinse | Bashor et al., 2004 |
| Fatty acid (Potassium oleate) | Washing | 2 log ₁₀ cfu ml ⁻¹ | Hinton & Ingram, 2000 |
| Fatty acids | Immersion (lab based) | $>1 \log_{10}$ cfu ml ⁻¹ | Hinton & Ingram, 2003, 200 |
| Protecta II (herb extract on sodium chloride carrier) | Immersion chilling | $2.0 \log_{10}$ cfu ml ⁻¹ carcass rinse | Dickens et al., 2000 |
| Peroxyacetic acid | Immersion (lab based) | 1 log | Chantarapanont et al., 2004 |
| TSP | Immersion (50°C) | 1.5 log | Slavik et al., 1994 |
| TSP | Immersion (10°C) | 0.2 log | Slavik et al., 1994 |
| TSP | Immersion | | Salvat et al., 1997 |
| TSP | Spray (lab based) | 1.6 log ₁₀ cfu/skin | Arritt, 2000 |
| TSP | Spray (lab based) | 1.6 log ₁₀ cfu/skin | Arritt, 2002 |
| TSP | Washing | 1.0 log ₁₀ cfu ml ⁻¹ carcass rinse | Bashor et al., 2004 |
| Tween 80 | Spray (lab based) | 0.6 log ₁₀ cfu/skin | Arritt, 2002 |

Table 6. Specific results of chemical interventions in relation to their effect onCampylobacter spp. on poultry

Table 7. Specific results of chemical interventions in relation to their effect onSalmonella spp. on poultry

| Chemical | Treatment | Reduction | Reference |
|---|-----------------------------------|---|---|
| Water | Washing | Reduction | Kotula <i>et al.</i> 1967 |
| Hot water | Immersion (lab based) | - | Avens & Miller 1972 |
| Hot water | Immersion (lab based) | | Teotia & Miller, 1972 |
| Hot water | Immersion (lab based) | 2 log | Morrison & Elect 1985 |
| Hot water | Immersion (lab based) | 2 log | Thomson at al. 1070a |
| Hot water | Immersion (lab based) | $0.9 \log_{100}$ cfu ml ⁻¹ | De Ledesma et al. 1996 |
| | Immersion (lab based) | $0.9 \log_{10} \text{cfu} \text{ml}^{-1}$ | Mullerat et al. 1990 |
| CDC | Smark & immension (lab based) | $1.7 \log_{10}$ cru III | Winerat <i>et al.</i> , 1994 |
| CPC | Spray & minersion (lab based) | 1.7 log | Rini & Slavick, 1990 |
| CPC | Spray chamber (lab based) | $4.87 \log_{10} \text{Clu/skill}$ | Li et al. 1997 |
| CPC | Inside outside wesher (leb based) | $2 \log_{10} \operatorname{cfu}/\operatorname{carcass}$ | $Li \ el \ ul., 1997$ |
| CPC | Immersion (lab based) | $2 \log_{10} \text{clu/carcass}$ | Yiong et al., 1998 |
| CPC | Source (lab based) | 1.9 log | Amitt (2000) |
| CPC | Spray (lab based) | $2.9 \log_{10} \text{cru/skin}$ | Afritt (2000) |
| Chlorine | Immersion | 750/ | Thomson <i>et al.</i> , 1976 |
| Chlorine | Rinsed | 10% | Villarreal <i>et al.</i> , 1990 |
| Chlorine | Immersion (lab based) | 4 log | Park et al., 1991 |
| Chlorine (electrolysed water) | Spray | 1.1 log ₁₀ cfu ml ⁻¹ of rinse | Fabrizio et al., 2002 |
| Chlorine dioxide | Immersion chiller water | 14.2% incidence reduced to 1% | Lillard, 1980 |
| Chlorine dioxide | Rinsed | 75% incidence reduced to 0% | Villarreal et al., 1990 |
| EDTA | Hot water immersion (lab based) | 5 log ₁₀ cfu ml ⁻¹ | Teotia & Miller, 1975 |
| EDTA | Immersion (lab based) | $0.2 \log_{10}$ cfu cm ⁻² | Teotia & Miller, 1975 |
| Glutaraldehyde | Immersion | 250 cfu/carcass | Thomson <i>et al.</i> , 1977; Bailey <i>et al.</i> , 1977 |
| Grapefruit seed extract | Immersion (lab based) | 1.8 log | Xiong et al., 1998 |
| Lysozyme | Hot water immersion (lab based) | 5 log ₁₀ cfu ml ⁻¹ | Teotia & Miller, 1975 |
| Lysozyme | Immersion (lab based) | 0.3 log ₁₀ cfu cm ⁻² | Teotia & Miller, 1975 |
| Monochloramine | Immersion chilling | 8.7% prevalence to 4% | Russell & Axtell, 2005 |
| Organic acid (succinic) | Immersion | | Thomson et al., 1976 |
| Organic acids (citric, malic, mandelic, propionic, tartaric, lactic and acetic acids) | Immersion (lab based) | 2 log | Tamblyn & Conner, 1997a, b |
| Organic acid (lactic) | Spray chamber (lab based) | 1.6 log10 cfu/carcass | Li et al., 1997 |
| Organic acid (lactic) | Inside-outside washer (lab based) | 2 log10 cfu/carcass | Yang et al., 1998 |
| Organic acid (lactic) | Immersion (lab based) | 2.2 log | Xiong et al., 1998 |
| Organic acid (lactic) | Immersion (lab based) | 1.7 log ₁₀ cfu g ⁻¹ | Anang et al., 2007 |
| Organic acid (acetic) | Spray | 2.3 log10 cfu ml-1 of rinse | Fabrizio et al., 2002 |
| Ozone | Immersion chiller water | 0.7 log | Sheldon & Brown, 1986 |
| Ozone | Spray | 1.6 log ₁₀ cfu ml ⁻¹ of rinse | Fabrizio et al., 2002 |
| Peroxyacid | Immersion chiller water | - | Vadhansin et al., 2004 |
| TSP | Immersion (lab based) | 2 log | Lillard, 1994 |
| TSP | Hot water immersion (lab based) | | De Ledesma et al., 1996 |
| TSP | Immersion (lab based) | | Hwang & Beuchat, 1995 |
| TSP | Immersion | | Salvat et al., 1997 |
| TSP | Spray chamber (lab based) | 3.7 log ₁₀ cfu/carcass | Li et al., 1997 |
| TSP (AvGard) | Immersion | | Copen et al., 1998 |
| TSP | Inside-outside washer (lab based) | 1.78 log10 cfu/carcass | Yang et al., 1998 |
| TSP | Immersion (lab based) | 2.2 log | Xiong et al., 1998 |
| TSP | Spray | $2.2 \log_{10}$ cfu ml ⁻¹ of rinse | Fabrizio et al., 2002 |
| TSP | Immersion (lab based) | 2 log ₁₀ cfu g ⁻¹ | Del Río et al., 2005 |

| PHMB | Immersion (lab based) | | Thomson et al., 1980, 1981 |
|---------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|
| SBS | Spray chamber (lab based) | 2.4 log10 cfu/carcass | Li et al., 1997 |
| SBS | Inside-outside washer (lab based) | 2 log10 cfu/carcass | Yang et al., 1998 |
| Sorbate | Immersion (lab based) | 2 log | Robach & Ivey, 1978 |
| Sorbate | Immersion (lab based) | 2 log | To & Robach, 1980 |
| Sorbate | Immersion (lab based) | 2 log | Cunningham, 1981 |

Many chemicals have been applied to meats but not yet investigated with respect to their possible application for reducing Campylobacters and/or Salmonellas on poultry carcasses. There is also an abundance of chemicals where only preliminary laboratory trials have been carried out, and so it is difficult to fully assess their possible effectiveness.

5.3.1 Safety

For any chemical to be approved as a processing aid in the UK and EU it will need to be proved that; (1) no residues are left on treated product that present a health risk, and (2) there is no toxicological effect on the finished product.

Detailed information on the possible toxicological effects of chlorine dioxide, trisodium phosphate, or peroxyacids have been covered by the SCVPH (2003). They note that "while no residues of the antimicrobial agents have been detected it is known that chlorine dioxide and chlorite do react quickly with organic matter, such as certain amino acids including cysteine, tryptophan, histidine, tyrosine, proline, hydroxyproline and peptides and proteins. Phenols are oxidised to benzoquinones and chlorobenzoquinones... Data on oxidative changes in poultry carcasses due to decontamination with peroxyacids are not available and upon application of chlorine dioxide or ASC for decontamination purposes oxidation of lipids was not detected. The formation of oxidised amino acids or proteins was not investigated. Since possible oxidation products have not been identified a toxicological risk assessment of these products is not possible." It is clear that while the majority of those chemicals considered for treating meats do not leave residues there are possible concerns regarding possible oxidisation products. In some cases, these concerns have been addressed, however, there are still many chemicals that have been assessed for their possible application in treating meats, but have not been assessed in terms of possible toxicological effects.

In assessing the final exposure risk to the consumer, the SCVPH considered that the daily consumption of 100 grams of poultry should be considered to be a realistic worst-case scenario. In doing so they also noted that "*it must be recognised that preparing poultry for consumption* (cooking, frying, etc.) will inevitably reduce the amount of residues significantly, particularly residues of unstable substances like peroxyacetic acid, hydrogen peroxide and chlorite. In other words, poultry ready for consumption will generally contain (much) less residues of unstable decontaminants than the worst case levels" (SCVPH, 2003). They concluded overall that the risk for adverse health effects for an individual consuming approximately 100 grams of poultry per day decontaminated with chlorine dioxide, trisodium phosphate, or peroxyacids, appeared to be negligible.

The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) has recently updated the previous opinion expressed by the SCVPH with regard to the toxicological risks of chlorine dioxide, acidified sodium chlorite, trisodium phosphate and peroxyacids when applied on poultry carcasses (EFSA, 2005a). Their conclusions were:
"When examining the possibility for reaction products, no halomethanes have been reported to be formed in treatments with chlorine dioxide in water. No chlorinated organics have been found after treatments of poultry carcasses with acidified sodium chlorite. No detectable effects on the oxidation status of fatty acids in poultry carcasses were reported following treatment with peroxyacids. Furthermore, semicarbazide was not detected (limit of detection of 1 microgram/kg) in laboratory tests on poultry carcasses after treatment by immersion with acidified sodium chlorite. The Panel notes that the initial health concerns about semicarbazide are no longer relevant. As set out in previous EFSA opinion, new data showed that semicarbazide is not genotoxic in vivo.

Based on conservative estimates of poultry consumption in European adults, the Panel estimated potential exposure to residues arising from these treatments.

On the basis of available data and taking into account that processing of poultry carcasses (washing, cooking) would take place before consumption, the Panel considers that treatment with trisodium phosphate, acidified sodium chlorite, chlorine dioxide, or peroxyacid solutions, under the described conditions of use, would be of no safety concern." (EFSA, 2005a).

The EFSA Panel (EFSA, 2005a) favoured spraying as a treatment method since they concluded "that spraying of poultry carcasses with antimicrobials, by comparison to dipping and immersion treatments, will reduce the exposure to residues and by-products that might arise".

While chlorine dioxide, acidified sodium chlorite, trisodium phosphate and peroxyacids have been thoroughly accessed by the SCVPH and EFSA, for many of the other chemicals little publicly published data has been found in the scientific literature that addresses this area. Independent, unbiased and industrially relevant research work is required to aid interpretation and assess the parameters governing these criteria. This will also go some way to addressing many of the meat industry and consumer concerns regarding the use of chemicals.

5.3.2 Costs

Although chemicals are being used in the US

commercially there is very little published data on the cost-effectiveness and cost-benefits of chemical interventions for the treatment of meats, particularly poultry meat.

5.4 Effectiveness of interventions

Many hundreds of publications have been found on the application of physical and chemical interventions to decontaminate poultry and other meats. However, there is rarely any distinction made in the literature between 'decontamination methods', i.e. the whole decontamination system, and 'decontamination treatments'. This often clouds the practical issues of decontamination. There is often too much emphasis placed on the treatment rather than the method of application.

When considering all antimicrobial chemical interventions the method of application must also be considered. In many cases, these are 'drop-in' additions to the washing process rather than an integral part of the washing system. Most chemicals are applied in the form of aqueous solutions. Therefore, as with water interventions the method of application will have a significant influence on how effective a treatment will be. Interventions that rely on unheated (< 30°C) water alone produce small changes (usually $\approx 1 \log$) in the level of bacterial contamination. With hot water, surface temperatures of 70°C or over appear to be required to achieve reductions approaching 2 log. Temperatures of this magnitude can be detrimental to surface appearance.

There is also the problem that many of the antimicrobial chemicals described have been investigated in laboratory studies by dipping small samples of meat into solutions of the chemicals. Immersion is a very effective method of ensuring full coverage of a product. However, there are a number of practical problems with immersion, such as maintaining the chemical concentration. As well as being lost through spillage and absorption by the meat, the activity of the solution will change as the chemical reacts with the microorganisms and other organic material. Acid solutions lose activity as the anions are easily bound by peptides and proteins released by the meat (Smulders, 1995). Chlorine also reacts with organic material (Thomson *et al.* 1979b) and ozone (Mackey & Mead, 1990; Sofos & Busta, 1992) and hydrogen peroxide (Sofos & Busta, 1992) in solution rapidly decompose.

Animal carcasses are not ideal shapes to decontaminate. Most decontamination interventions rely on physical contact and uniform coverage of the meat surface. This is difficult, as the surface of many meat products and whole animal carcasses are very irregular. For example, the outer surface of a poultry carcass has many crevices and folds. These areas are commonly considered to be very difficult to treat and provide protection to attached bacteria. They slow down the penetration of aqueous and gas interventions and cause shadowing problems for radiation interventions such as ultra-violet (UV) light. As well as protecting bacteria, these areas often clog up with physical contamination, such as dirt and hair, and do not drain well. Pools of water or chemical solutions lying in these areas can have detrimental effects on the meat appearance and cause difficulties in controlling residence time. However, one recent study contradicts this commonly held belief. Chantarapanont *et al.* (2004) found no evidence of a greater kill at surface sites than in crevices or folds of chicken skin samples inoculated with *C. jejuni* treated with sodium hypochlorite, peracetic acid, and acidified sodium chlorite. They in fact found, "*a greater proportion of viable cells… at the surface than in crevices or folds of treated skin*".

There is much evidence that the time at which products are treated greatly affects the efficacy of decontamination processes. The longer bacteria reside on product surfaces, the more difficult removal becomes, because of the ability of bacteria to attach to tissue. Bacteria differ in their ability to attach to different surfaces and the time they require to become fully attached. The formation of bio-films may increase the resistance of bacteria to disinfectants such as chlorine. Surfactants such as 'Tween 80' have been used to increase surface wetting, in theory allowing the disinfectant to 'get at' the bacteria. 'Tween 80' is not used for food production because it causes unacceptable organoleptic changes. Two surfactants, 'Orenco Peel 40' and 'Tergitol', are used for fruits and vegetables in the USA.

Poultry carcasses typically yield Total Viable Counts (TVCs) between 10^2 and 10^4 cfu per cm² (Corry *et al.*, 2003). Obviously, a 4-log reduction would almost guarantee a sterile carcass. To date, no adequate method of achieving this has been found, without affecting the sensory quality of the meat. Also, no treatmentas yet can be relied upon to eliminate all pathogens, although smaller reductions, over and above those achieved in the basic process, would still be of value. In relation to Campylobacter, it has been predicted that a 2-log reduction would lead to a 30-fold decrease in human Campylobacteriosis (Rosenquist *et al.*, 2003).

5.5 Conclusions

Of the physical interventions, both hot water and steam have been shown to be effective in reducing Campylobacter on the surface of chicken carcasses. However, there is some concern regarding the effect of either method on the appearance of carcasses and effects on skin elasticity for trussing. Both methods can be readily applied to existing poultry lines. There is

some evidence that plugging the cloaca of carcasses prior to scalding and plucking can have a significant effect on lowering contamination during these processes. However, it is not clear what effect this intervention would have on contamination during evisceration, or how such an intervention could be applied on-line at commercial line speeds.

It is clear from the published studies that the use of chemicals has much to offer in reducing the levels of contamination on the carcass. In addition to the problem of legislation and toxicological issues, there are a number of technical questions that need to be answered before many of these chemicals could be recommended for commercial use. These are:

- 1. What are the optimum concentrations and compositions of chemical mixtures for different applications or stages in processing?
- 2. What is the best method of application including time, duration and temperature?
- 3. What will the cost be and how cost-effective will the treatment be?

This work needs to be carried out under actual, or near to actual, commercial conditions to minimise the problems of extrapolating from laboratory studies. The possible addition of chemicals to washing waters used during evisceration, particularly the inside-outside washer appears the natural place to start.

6 Review of commercial disinfectants

The aim of this review was to review commercially available disinfectants and their relevance with regard to treating Campylobacters and disinfectant-resistant Pseudomonads. This review was part of Objective 1/Task 1.2 and was Deliverable D4/5.

Eight plants were visited between November 2005 and November 2006 – five chicken plants, two turkey plants and one duck plant. Methods of cleaning and disinfection (C&D) of the primary (killing) line between production days and during breaks in production were surveyed, particularly the chemicals used and the supplying companies. Methods of checking the effectiveness of C&D were also surveyed.

Most of the plants surveyed only carried out full C&D between shifts, at other times only removing gross debris and hosing down with water. All plants obtained advice and help in drawing up cleaning schedules from either Holchem (7 plants), Ecolab (2 plants) or Johnson-Diversey (1 plant). Most plants used a similar cleaning system, involving caustic detergent (sometimes chlorinated) followed by rinsing and application of a terminal disinfectant, which was either hypochlorite or QAC (quaternary ammonium compound)-based. The QAC-based disinfectants were Terminol or Holquat (both from Holchem), Triquart-Super (Ecolab), Quatdet Clear (Johnson-Diversey) and Steriklenz 5 (Klenzan). Holquat, Triquart Super and Quatdet Clear all include EDTA as potentiator. Most plants did not rinse off the terminal disinfectant. Most plants checked surfaces after C&D using swabs, a rota of sites and plate counts, with retrospective feedback if results were unsatisfactory.

Swab samples were taken by the research team from the environment in four plants, mostly during production, for *Pseudomonas* and Campylobacter. Isolates from these swabs, and other strains, were tested against three commercially available disinfectants based on quaternary ammonium compounds and one disinfectant based on peracetic acid.

The MICs of four disinfectants (one peracetic acid-based and three QAC-based) were measured, by a doubling dilution method in broth, against a collection of 30 *Pseudomonas* and 15 Campylobacter strains – including those isolated from the poultry plants. The MICs of the Pseudomonads were similar in all four disinfectants, while the Campylobacters were more sensitive (MIC about 1/10th that of the pseudomonads) to all the disinfectants except a QAC with nitrilotriacetic acid as potentiator.

According to this test, none of the bacteria examined would have survived if treated with the disinfectants at the recommended concentration. However, the test was carried out on planktonic bacteria, and attached cells would have been more resistant.

The results confirmed the impression that *Campylobacter* spp. are less resistant than *Pseudomonas* spp. to disinfectants, and indicate that cleaning and disinfection properly carried out should inactivate *Campylobacter* spp. in the environment.

6.1 Cleaning and Disinfection and environmental testing in 8 poultry plants

6.1.1 Plant 1 - Chickens (20-Dec-2005 and 18-Aug-2006)

6.1.1.1 Between shifts

There is a team of 12 directly employed by the company. Six work in the primary area (up to the completion of chilling) and six in the cutting area. The slaughter line runs from about 06.00 to 16.00. The cutting line starts at about 4 am. Cleaning starts as soon as production finishes and continues for several hours.

Three main C&D products are used on the machinery on the primary production line, all supplied by Holchem: Holsolve detergent (at 2%), Maxichlor (chlorine-containing detergent – 3%), and Terminol disinfectant (QAT-based disinfectant – 1%). Daily cleaning involves removal of gross debris using low pressure cold water, application of Maxichlor foam, pressure wash (top-downwards) with cold water, hand removal of stubborn dirt followed by water rinse, and final spray with Terminol (left on). Holsolve is used weekly to clean underside and framework surfaces with a scourer.

6.1.1.2 In rest breaks

Gross debris is removed manually and the machinery is hosed down with cold water. No real cleaning or disinfection is attempted. There are no breaks between flocks.

6.1.1.3 Microbiological testing of environment

This is done weekly with a daily rota for a list of 41 sites in the primary production area. Contact (dip) slides are used for TVC and Enterobacteriaceae. "Acceptable" is <10 per cm² and unacceptable >10 per cm² – with increasing degrees of unacceptability (+, ++, +++). The microbiology testing is done 'in house'. The night cleaning manager takes swabs immediately after cleaning, and more are taken immediately before production starts.

6.1.2 Plant 2 - Chickens (23-Nov-2005)

6.1.2.1 Between shifts

There is a team of 21 staff permanently devoted to cleaning and disinfection overnight. Fifteen work Mon-Fri 22.30 – 06.00 and Saturday 22.30 -09.00, while six work Mon-Thurs 22.30 to 06.00, and Sunday 06.00 to 16.00. This consists of a hot-water (ca. 50° C) hose down. Spray with Holgel Plus (foam containing sodium hydroxide). Soak for 20 min, rinse (the e.v. and first venting machines are done twice with Holgel Plus). The belts are cleaned manually to remove stuck-on dirt, using white scouring pads. Finally, everything is sprayed with 5% sodium hypochlorite – not rinsed.

6.1.2.2 Cleaning during production and in breaks

There are two people employed solely to clean and disinfect in the pluck and evisceration areas. There are six more in the other production areas. These individuals replenish soap, towels, gloves etc, clean floors. During production breaks they hose down with warm water and neutral detergent, then spray with 1% Terminol (hand-held).

6.1.2.3 Microbiological testing of environment

This is done visually as well as using swabs (standard cotton wool swabs in transport medium). Swabs are taken of areas approx. 2.5 x 2.5 cm (1 sq. inch). The swabs are collected daily by Eclipse who examine them for Pseudomonads and TVCs. Counts are reported as <50, >100 up to 10^4 cfu per swab. Results are received about 5 days later. 300 or more colonies are reported to hygiene manager. Sites with 400 or more colonies are reswabbed.

6.1.3 Plant 3 - Chickens (22-Aug-2006)

6.1.3.1 Between shifts

They have their own team of 9 cleaning staff who work 16.30-01.00 Monday –Friday on both slaughter and cutting lines (first slaughter line at 16.00, then cutting line from 21.00). They get their supplies and advice from Holchem. Also, they use Virdine TFR6 (Antec) for disinfecting lorries and transport crates. Routine cleaning schedules use removal of gross debris, hand

removal of more debris, hose down, then application of Maxifoam plus (8% for hard water – caustic – 20 minute contact time) hot water rinse, visual inspection for remaining dirt, with use of scourer and sodium hypochlorite as necessary; spray with 200 ppm sodium hypochlorite and leave for a minimum of 20 minutes before production. The plucker is cleaned only with Maxifoam-plus – no hypochlorite. Checks are only visual on the slaughter line, pre-production swabs are taken in the cutting plant from 49 sites per week, picked randomly.

6.1.3.2 In breaks and between flocks

They only hose down.

6.1.3.3 Microbiological testing of the environment

Microbiological testing is only monitored in the cutting plant. 70 sites are monitored randomly at a rate of 5-6 per day for TVCs using swabs and 10 cm² templates. Limit <2000 cfu per swab. Microbiological testing is done by Eclipse.

6.1.4 Plant 4 - Chickens (09-March-2006)

6.1.4.1 Between shifts

Johnson-Diversey (01604 783505, Northampton NN3 8PD) supplies chemicals and advice at the Primary Processing site, which has recently changed its disinfection company from Ecolab. Ecolab currently still serves a secondary meat packing and processing plant.

Overnight cleaning is done (21:30-04:30) by an in-house team (64 persons, including 16 at weekends). Cleaning schedule includes use of a detergent foam (Cleangel –caustic detergent) prior to 1% Quatdet Clear (QAC with EDTA and detergent). The primary production area is divided into 14 areas, with a checksheet for each area. The sections within each area are checked visually for cleanliness (score A (good), B (acceptable) or C (unacceptable) – but in practice A is never used). Machinery is stripped down and deep cleaned using acid in rotation on a monthly cycle at weekends. Weekend cleaning continues in shifts continuously until 04.00 Monday morning, except for all day Sunday, when the engineers make repairs and alterations.

The scalder is emptied and refilled every day, but not cleaned – just flushed with water.

6.1.4.2 In rest breaks

Production staff clean their own lines before breaks. They rinse with water to remove gross debris, then spray with sanitiser spray (1% Quatdet Clear).

6.1.4.3 Microbiological testing of environment

There are 400 designated sites for swabbing environment (post C&D), but only 30 of these sites are covered each month. Numbers of *Pseudomonas* (presumptive) are determined (CFC agar surface plated, 30°C 48 hours), plus TVC (PCA, pour plate 37°C 24 hours), also coliforms, *E. coli* and *Staphylcoccus aureus* (see Table below). The sampling is carried out by QA staff with swabs and diluent supplied by Medical Wire and Equipment Ltd. An area of *ca.* 10 cm² is swabbed and the swab placed in 10 ml of diluent (with disinfectant neutraliser). The swabs are left refrigerated for about 2-4 hours before being processed in the lab. Recent results showed that some swabs fail for Pseudomonads (>100 per cm²) even though the corresponding TVC counts were much lower – whereas one would expect TVCs to be higher than the *Pseudomonas* counts. The reason for this is most likely that Pseudomonads do not grow well in pour-plates. Environmental tests are not done for Campylobacters or Salmonellas.

| Test | Method | Pass (cfu per cm ²) | Fail (cfu per cm ²) |
|---------------|----------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| TVC | PCA 37°C 24 h | <1000 | >1000 |
| Pseudomonas | CFC 30°C 24 h | <100 | >100 |
| Coliforms | VRBL 37°C 24 h | <10 | >10 |
| E. coli | VRBL 37°C 24 h | <10 | >10 |
| Staph. aureus | B-P 37°C 24 h | <20 | >20 |

6.1.5 Plant 5 - Chickens (09-Jun-2006)

6.1.5.1 Between shifts

Production continues 21 hours per day, with only 3 hours for C&D. They use their own staff for cleaning -3 hours on 5 days per week, and 10 hours on Saturdays and Sundays. They get their supplies from both Ecolab and Holchem.

Holchem:

Chlorfoam - alkaline Detergent

Contact Plus - alkaline Detergent

Holquat - QAC based detergent/disinfectant

Nipac - acid detergent

Ecolab:

Topmax 407- chelated caustic detergent

Herolith- acidic detergent

Topmax 520- acid Detergent

Triquart- QAC-based detergent sanitiser.

Topmax 310- Detergent with active chlorine

Typical cleaning schedules Plucker, no final disinfectant: rinse off gross debris with high pressure water; foam all surfaces with Contact Plus or Chlorfoam; leave at least 20 min; rinse off thoroughly with clean water. (Once per week Contact Plus and Chlorfoam are replaced by Nipac and Holfoam Acid).

Eviscerator with final disinfectant: rinse off gross debris, top downwards and flush through the systems until water is clear; foam all surfaces with Contact Plus or Chlorfoam; leave at least 20 minutes; rinse off thoroughly with clean water; spray all surfaces with Holquat disinfectant (1%). (Once per week treat all surfaces with high pressure hot water and pad all surfaces with a solution of Holfoam acid or Nipac.

Also, they use Virkon-S (Dupont) for disinfecting lorries. Perbac (Ecolab peracetic acid active agent) is used for disinfecting the transport crates.

6.1.5.2 In breaks and between flocks

Only rinsed – 'clean as you go' policy.

6.1.5.3 Microbiological testing of the environment

Seventy sites are monitored at a rate of 5-6 per day for TVCs, Pseudomonads and coliforms, using swabs, and 20 sites are monitored for TVC using contact slides on a rota basis. The

contact slides are incubated and read on site, and the swabs are examined by Alcontrol. The results are plotted to show trends. Limits are as follows:

Environmental swabs- TVC-< 100 per cm²; *Pseudomonas* - <10 per cm²; Coliforms - <10 per cm²

Contact Plates - Target - <10 cm²; Satisfactory - <100 cm²; Unacceptable - >100 cm²

6.1.6 Plant 6 - Turkeys (08-Jun-2006)

6.1.6.1 Between shifts

C&D is done by a team of 70 employed directly by the company, with 35-40 on the primary production (killing) line. Cleaning is carried out from 20.00 to 04.00, leaving the line to dry for 1.5 hours before the line starts up. Most materials are supplied by Holchem, who provide advice on cleaning schedules. Typical process: remove gross debris; wash with hot water to remove rest of debris; apply Maxifoam Plus (detergent plus sodium hydroxide) or Chlorfoam plus (detergent plus hypochlorite plus sodium hydroxide). Leave for 20 min. Remove remaining marks by hand (abrasive pad) and sodium hypochlorite solution (0.3-0.05%). Rinse with hot water and rinse residue down floor drain. Apply terminal disinfectant (hypochlorite 0.3 - 0.05%); or Holquat 0.5-2%) and leave to air-dry.

6.1.6.2 In breaks and between flocks

C&D not done – cleaning of gross debris and hose down with cold water.

6.1.6.3 Microbiological testing of environment

Ten swabs are taken daily after C&D. These are sponge swabs from TCS or alginate swabs of sticks from Biotrace, both with disinfectant neutraliser. Swabbing is done at random from a list of 120 sites using a matrix. The aim is less than 10^2 TVC per swab (~*ca*. 10 cm²), < 10^3 is considered satisfactory and > 10^3 unsatisfactory. Coliforms are sought in addition to TVC only in the secondary processing line.

6.1.7 Plant 7 - Turkeys (15-Jun-2006)

6.1.7.1 Between shifts

The killing line runs at night and the retail line in the day. The company uses its own cleaning crews 18 evening full time, 14 day full time and 8 in-break cleaners. The retail line is cleaned at night (18 people) and the slaughter line in the day (14 people). Ecolab supplies disinfectants and advises on cleaning schedules. High pressure hoses are used, with low pressure foaming. Two Ecolab QAC-based disinfectants are used: Triquart Super (QAT detergent sanitizer), Tresolin K (detergent sanitizer), and a high foaming chlorinated detergent - Topmaxx 407.

Virkon is used to disinfect transport crates. Typical cleaning schedule involves low pressure hose until all carcasses have been removed; then high pressure water hose to remove all debris; then treat with Topmaxx 407 or Topax 63 foam at 3-5%, leaving in contact for 20-30 min; rinse off thoroughly; spray on Triquart Super at 1-2% and allow to air dry.

6.1.7.2 In breaks and between flocks

They only hose down.

6.1.7.3 Microbiological testing of the environment

The slaughter line has 20 swabbing sites which are swabbed on a 5-sample, 4-week rota (not randomised) on Monday night, post C&D, to be collected on Tuesday A.M by contract

laboratory (Northern Hygiene Laboratories, Driffield) and tested for TVC, coliforms and *Pseudomonas*.

6.1.8 Plant 8 - Ducks (07-Jun-2006))

6.1.8.1 Between shifts

Cleaning and disinfection is carried out daily by contract cleaners. This involves removal of gross debris, hose down with cold water, wash with alkaline detergent and then terminal disinfection with one of the retailer's approved list of disinfectants – Klenzan (QAT-based, www.Klenzan.co.uk) or Terminol (also QAT-based – Holchem). Advice on C&D is provided by Qualitex.

6.1.8.2 In breaks and between flocks

C&D is not carried out in the primary area - only cleaning of gross debris and hosing down with cold water. Sanitiser is used on the cutting line.

6.1.8.3 Microbiological testing of environment

This is carried out using an ATP bioluminescence monitor – ten daily on a rolling basis - and also using swabs (plain cotton wool), with sites rotated on a weekly basis (seven taken each Monday, Wednesday and Friday and sent to a commercial lab). TVC and Pseudomonads are monitored.

6.2 Results of microbiological testing

During some visits swab samples were taken of the environment, sometimes before the start of production (Plant 8), but mostly during production (Plants 4, 5, 6, and 7).

6.2.1 Plant 4 – Chickens (09-Jun-2006)

Five swabs were taken during production. Pseudomonads were isolated from all, and Campylobacters from three.

6.2.2 Plant 5 – Chickens (09-Jun-2006)

Three swabs were taken – all during production: (1) Shackles near evisceration/ shackle before washer; (2) Tray at manual rehang just before chiller; (3) carcass contact point during sorting post-chill.

All were positive for Pseudomonas. Results for Campylobacter were also all positive (by direct plating, but not after enrichment):

6.2.3 Plant 6 – Turkeys (08-Jun-2006)

Four swabs were taken – all during production. All were positive for *Pseudomonas*.

Results for Campylobacter were:

(1) Neck in "dolav" and (2) Greasy deposit on spin chiller spindle: Campylobacter positive by direct plating and negative by enrichment;

(3) Cutting table: (4) Belt for transporting skin in cutting room Campylobacter negative by direct plating and enrichment.

6.2.4 Plant 7 – Turkeys (15-Jun-2006)

Seven swabs were taken, all during production: (1) outside of plucker no.1; (2) floor of empty chiller: (3) drip, post evisceration; (4) breast cone in cutting room; (5) neck-evisceration room;

(6) ACM cutting table *Pseudomonas* positive; (7) belt retail line. All were negative for Campylobacter, and all but nos. 1 and 4 were positive for Pseudomonas.

6.2.5 Plant 8 – Ducks (07-Jun-2006)

Five swabs were taken. Campylobacter was isolated from one (cutting board during production - Campylobacter positive by direct plating and negative by enrichment). Pseudomonas was isolated from 2 out of 3 samples taken pre-production (inside/outside washer, chiller floor) and from both cutting boards sampled during production.

6.3 Summary of abattoir survey results

Most of the plants surveyed only carried out full C&D between shifts, at other times only removing gross debris and hosing down with water. All plants obtained advice and help in drawing up cleaning schedules from either Holchem (7 plants). Ecolab (2 plants) or Johnson-Diversey (1 plant). Most plants used a similar cleaning system, involving caustic detergent (sometimes chlorinated) followed by rinsing and application of a terminal disinfectant which was either hypochlorite or QAC-based. The QAC-based disinfectants were Terminol or Holquat (both from Holchem), Triquart-Super (Ecolab), Quatdet Clear (Johnson-Diversey) and Steriklenz-5 (Klenzan). Holquat, Triquart Super and Quatdet Clear all include EDTA as potentiator. Most plants did not rinse off the terminal disinfectant. Most plants checked surfaces after C&D using swabs, a rota of sites and plate counts, with retrospective feedback if results were unsatisfactory. All plants checked TVCs, 5/8 checked for Pseudomonas, 3/8 checked for Enterobacteriaceae or coliforms, but none checked for Campylobacters.

6.4 Disinfectant resistance of isolates of *Pseudomonas* and Campylobacter

The MIC of four disinfectants manufactured by Ecolab was measured against a collection of 30 *Pseudomonas* and 15 Campylobacter strains – including those isolated from the poultry plants. The MICs were determined using the doubling dilution method in broth according to the recommendations of the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy (Andrews, 2001). Starting solutions of disinfectants at 1% and 4% were prepared in sterile distilled water on a volume/volume basis and always used within 60 min.

The active ingredients in the first (Topactive[®]DES) were peracetic acid and hydrogen peroxide, and the other three (Triquart AM, Triquart SUPER and Triquart GB) contained quaternary ammonium compounds (QAC). They are referred to here as A, B, C and D respectively. Disinfectants B and C contained <5% QACs with NTA (nitrilotriacetic acid) and EDTA respectively as potentiators; disinfectant D contained >5% QACs without potentiator. All three QACs had alcohol ethoxylate as preservative at 5-15% in C and D and at <5% in B. While in A, alkyl amine oxide (<5%) acted as a mixture stabilizer. The commercially recommended concentrations for disinfectants A, B, C and D, are 1.0-5.0%, 1.0-1.3%, 1.0-2.0% and 1.0-5.0%, respectively.

The results are listed in Table 8 to Table 10.

| | | Disinfectant conc | entration ($\times 10^3$ % (v/v)) |) |
|--------|--|-------------------|------------------------------------|-------------|
| Strain | Topactive [®] DES | Triquart AM | Triquart SUPER | Triquart GB |
| CAR1 | 31 | 31 | 63 | 130 |
| CAR3 | 31 | 31 | 7.8 | 16 |
| CAR11 | 31-63 | 31 | 7.8 | 16 |
| CAR12 | 31 | 31 | 7.8 | 7.8-16 |
| C3 | 3.9-7.8 | 31 | 31 | 31 |
| C21 | 31 | 7.8 | 31 | 130 |
| C23 | 16-31 | 31 | 31 | 63 |
| C22 | 31 | 16 | 7.8 | 7.8-16 |
| C24 | 16-31 | 7.8 | 31 | 130 |
| C25 | 31 | 16 | 31-63 | 130 |
| D1 | 31 | 16 | 63 | 130 |
| D5 | 63 | 31 | 31 | 130 |
| D6 | 31-63 | 31 | 16 | 31 |
| D8 | 31-63 | 31 | 31 | 63 |
| D9 | 31 | 16 | 31 | 63 |
| E1 | 16 | 16-31 | 16 | 130 |
| E5 | 63 | 16 | 16 | 31 |
| E6 | 2-3.9 | 7.8 | 31 | 63 |
| F1 | 63 | 16-31 | 16 | 16 |
| F8 | 31 | 31 | 16 | 31 |
| F9 | 16 | 31 | 7.8 | 7.8-16 |
| G1 | 63 | 63 | 31 | 31 |
| G4 | 31 | 63 | 31 | 63 |
| G7 | 7.8 | 3.9 | 31 | 63 |

Table 8. MICs of four laboratory strains of Pseudomonas fluorescens and 20presumptive Pseudomonas strains

F9: identified as Shewanella putrefaciens and C3 identified as Aeromonas sp.

| | Disinfectant concentration ($\times 10^3$ % (v/v)) | | | |
|------------|---|-------------|----------------|-------------|
| Strain | Topactive®DES | Triquart AM | Triquart SUPER | Triquart GB |
| 17 | 3.9 | 7.8 | 0.98 | 0.98 |
| NCTC 11351 | 3.9-7.8 | 16-31 | 0.98 | 0.98 |
| NCTC 11168 | 3.9-7.8 | 31 | 0.98 | 0.98 |
| NCTC 13257 | 2-3.9 | 7.8-16 | 0.49-0.98 | 0.49 |
| NCTC 13255 | 3.9 | 31 | 0.49 | 0.49-0.98 |
| L6 | 3.9 | 7.8-16 | 0.49-0.98 | 0.49 |
| EXW30 | 2 | 3.9-7.8 | 0.49 | 0.49 |
| AR6 | 0.98-2 | 16 | 0.49 | 0.49 |
| C4 | 3.9-7.8 | 63 | 7.8-16 | 2-3.9 |
| C71 | 2 | 31-63 | 2 | 0.98-2 |
| C72 | 2 | 7.8-31 | 2 | 0.49-0.98 |
| D1 | 3.9-7.8 | 3.9-7.8 | 0.49-2 | 2 |
| E1 | 3.9-7.8 | 2 | 0.49 | 0.49 |
| E2 | 0.98-3.9 | 7.8-16 | 0.98-2 | 0.24 |
| F1 | 2 | 16-31 | 0.49-0.98 | 0.49-0.98 |
| F2 | 7.8 | 16-31 | 0.98-2 | 2 |
| F3 | 3.9 | 16-31 | 2 | 0.49 |

Table 9. MICs for eight Campylobacter isolates from a laboratory collection (three
from poultry) and nine from poultry processing plants

Table 10. Comparison of MICs (minimum inhibitory concentration %v/v) of the pseudomonads and campylobacters isolated from poultry processing plants

| Top active DES | Triquart AM | Triquart Super | Triquart GB |
|------------------|---|---|---|
| 0.0078 - 0.063 | 0.0078-0.063 | 0.0078-0.063 | 0.0078-0.13 |
| (7.8-63)* | (7.8-63) | (7.8-63) | (7.8-130) |
| 0.00098 - 0.0078 | 0.0078-0.063 | 0.00049-0.002 | 0.00024-0.0039 |
| (0.98-7.8) | (7.8-63) | (0.49-2.0) | (0.24-3.9) |
| | Top active DES 0.0078 - 0.063 (7.8-63)* 0.00098 - 0.0078 (0.98-7.8) | Top active DES Triquart AM 0.0078 – 0.063 0.0078-0.063 (7.8-63)* (7.8-63) 0.00098 - 0.0078 0.0078-0.063 (0.98-7.8) (7.8-63) | Top active DES Triquart AM Triquart Super 0.0078 - 0.063 0.0078-0.063 0.0078-0.063 (7.8-63)* (7.8-63) (7.8-63) 0.00098 - 0.0078 0.0078-0.063 0.00049-0.002 (0.98-7.8) (7.8-63) (0.49-2.0) |

The MICs of the Pseudomonads were similar in all four disinfectants, while the Campylobacters were more sensitive than the Pseudomonads (MIC about 1/10th that of the Pseudomonads to all the disinfectants except Triquart AM).

According to this test, none of the bacteria examined would have survived if treated with the disinfectants at the recommended concentration. However, the test was carried out on planktonic bacteria, and attached cells would have been more resistant.

The results confirmed the impression that *Campylobacter* spp. are less resistant than *Pseudomonas* spp. to disinfectants, and indicate that cleaning and disinfection properly carried out (especially using the correct concentration of disinfectant) should inactivate *Campylobacter* spp. in the environment.

7 Contamination routes: Contamination from Campylobacter-positive to Campylobacter-negative carcasses – directly and via processing equipment

In spite of the application of biosecurity measures during the rearing of poultry, which has been fairly successful in preventing infection of the birds with *Salmonella* spp., a significant proportion of intensively reared flocks continues to become colonised with *Campylobacter* spp., particularly in the summer. Also, biosecurity measures are difficult to apply to free-range and organic poultry reared with access to the outdoors, with the result that they are almost always colonised with Campylobacters by the time of slaughter (Heuer *et al.*, 2001; Avrain *et al.*, 2001a, b).

7.1 Materials and methods

7.1.1 Part 1

This study was carried out at chicken processing plant number 4 from March to June 2004. Thirty-two flocks were targeted as potentially Campylobacter-negative (C-). A "flock" was defined as all the birds inhabiting one poultry house or shed (up to about 30,000 birds). Each flock was transported in lorry-loads of 6,000-8,000 birds. Often more than one flock was examined from the same farm.

Caeca. Ten pairs of caeca were taken at random from each flock after post mortem inspection, and divided into two groups of five. Approximately 2 g of the contents from one of each pair of caeca per group of five were mixed and streaked onto mCCDA (modified cefaperazone charcoal deoxycholate agar, Oxoid CM739 plus SR155) plates, and incubated for 48 hours at 42°C in microaerobic atmosphere using sachets (Campygen, Oxoid CN0025A).

Neck flaps. Ten neck flap samples were taken from every target flock or load after chilling. They were taken randomly over as long a time period as possible, and stored at $5\pm1^{\circ}$ C, but only examined for Campylobacters 48 hours later, if the caecal contents were C- and if the last flock from the preceding farm was C+. Presence/absence of Campylobacter was determined by enriching 10 g neck skin in 100ml Bolton broth (LabM L135, with antibiotic supplement, LabM X132, and 5% horse blood, lysed by freezing). The mixture was homogenised using a Stomacher 400 (Seward, London) for 1 minute, and then incubated at 37°C for 48 h in closed containers with small headspace, before streaking onto mCCDA. Additionally, 0.2 ml of the initial suspension was plated directly onto duplicate mCCDA plates for a colony count. All plates were incubated for 48 hours at 42°C in microaerobic atmosphere as above.

Confirmation of suspect colonies. Presence of Campylobacter was confirmed from typical colonial morphology (cream to grey, moist, slightly oily, flat and spreading), oxidase test (+) and morphology by Gram stain of at least one isolated colony per plate (small slender Gram negative curved rods).

7.1.2 Part 2

7.1.2.1 Sampling

A poultry processing plant was visited on four occasions between October 2008 and January 2009. As many flocks as possible were sampled during the production day.

Caeca: Sixteen pairs of caeca per flock were taken, each pair placed in a separate bag.

Neck flaps: Neck flaps were taken from carcasses while still on the line; after the insideoutside washer and before chilling during the processing of each flock. Five (no. 1-5) were taken from - as far as possible - the first 50 carcasses of that flock, five (no. 6-10) at around carcass no. 500 and five (no. 11-15) at around carcass 5000 (total 15 per flock). Each neck flap was numbered consecutively and put into a separate plastic (stomacher 400) bag.

The caeca and neck flaps were chilled immediately and transported chilled to the laboratory and stored at $3 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C until examination.

7.1.2.2 Microbiological examination

The following day, five of the caeca from each flock were examined by preparing a 1 in 10 suspension of caecal content in MRD (maximum recovery diluent, Oxoid) and streaking onto mCCDA. The plates were incubated in microaerobic atmosphere at 41.5° C for 24 hours. If the plates appeared to be negative for Campylobacters, all 16 caecal contents were examined by preparing further decimal dilutions and spreading 200 µl volumes onto duplicate plates of mCCDA, incubating in microaerobic atmosphere at 41.5° C for 48 h.

Neck flaps from flocks with campylobacter-negative (C-) caeca following flocks with campylobacter-positive (C+) caeca were weighed, 50 ml sterile MRD added, and the mixture was homogenised in a Stomacher-400 (Seward, London) for 1 min. Decimal dilutions were prepared in MRD and 200 μ l volumes spread onto duplicate plates of mCCDA, incubating in microaerobic atmosphere at 41.5°C for 48 hours.

Colonies suspected to be Campylobacters were checked by oxidase reaction (positive) and for positive reaction using Microscreen Campy latex agglutination (Microgen, Camberley, UK). In some cases, neck flaps from C+ flocks were also examined for comparison.

7.2 Results

7.2.1 Part 1

Table 11 summarises the results. Numbers on neck flaps from C- flocks taken at random during processing were almost always <25 cfu g⁻¹ (160/170 were <25 cfu g⁻¹, seven between 25 and 99 cfu g⁻¹ and three between 100 and 999 cfu g⁻¹). Whereas those from neck flaps from C+ flocks were significantly higher (of 105 examined, two (2%) contained <25, ten (9.5%) between 25 and 99, 49 (46.5%) between 100 and 999 and 43 (42%) 1000 or more).

| Experiment (load number) ⁽¹⁾ | | | Campylobacter spp. (cfu g ⁻¹) | | | |
|---|---------|------|---|-----------|-------|--|
| and | d date | < 25 | 25 - 99 | 100 - 999 | >1000 | |
| 2 | 22/3/04 | 20 | - | - | - | |
| 3 | 24/3/04 | 30 | - | - | - | |
| 7 (4) | 13/5/04 | 9 | 1 | - | - | |
| 7 (5) | 13/5/04 | 6 | 3 | 1 | - | |
| 8 | 20/5/04 | 10 | - | - | - | |
| 9 (7) | 21/5/04 | 5 | 3 | 2 | - | |
| 9 (8) | 21/5/04 | 10 | - | - | - | |
| 10 | 25/5/04 | 30 | - | - | - | |
| 11 | 25/5/04 | 20 | - | - | - | |
| 15 | 8/6/04 | 10 | - | - | - | |
| 18 | 9/6/04 | 20 | - | - | - | |
| Т | otals | 170 | 7 | 3 | 0 | |

Table 11. Number of Campylobacter (cfu g-1) detected on neck skins from C- flocksprocessed one or more flocks later than a C+ flock (Part 1)

⁽¹⁾ Load number is specified when colony counts were obtained by direct plating

7.2.2 Part 2

A further investigation was then carried out to determine whether the first few carcasses from the C- flocks carried higher numbers of campylobacters than those observed in the previous survey. Table 12 summarises the results. Four C- flocks processed after C+ flocks were identified and the numbers of Campylobacters per g neck skin compared with those obtained from carcasses at the same points during processing of C+ flocks. After the first ~100 carcasses, almost all the carcasses from C- flocks had <25 cfu Campylobacters g⁻¹ neck skin, while numbers on neck flaps of carcasses from C+ flocks remained high throughout 28/56 (50%) exceeding 100 cfu g⁻¹, and 10/56 (18%) exceeding 1000 cfu g⁻¹.

| Campylobacter status of flock | | S | ample numbers | 8 |
|---|---------|-----|---------------|-------|
| | | 1-5 | 6-10 | 11-15 |
| C- after C+ (>9)* 15.12.08 | ≥1,000 | 1 | 0 | 0 |
| | 100-999 | 1 | 0 | 0 |
| | 25 - 99 | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| | <25 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| C+ (8.28)* after C- 15.12.08 | ≥1000 | 2 | 1 | |
| | 100-999 | 2 | 4 | 1 |
| | 25-99 | 1 | 0 | |
| | <25 | 0 | 0 | |
| C-, status of previous flock not known 15.12.08 | <25 | 5 | 5 | 5 |
| C+ (7.96)* after C+ (6.43)* 12.01.09 | ≥1000 | 2 | 0 | 0 |
| | 100-999 | 0 | 1 | 2 |
| | 25-99 | 3 | 2 | 2 |
| | <25 | 0 | 2 | 1 |
| C-, after C+ (7.96)* 12.01.09 | ≥1,000 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | 100-999 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | 25-100 | 3 | 0 | 0 |
| | <25 | 2 | 5 | 5 |
| C+(7.13)*, after C- 12.01.09 | ≥1,000 | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| | 100-999 | 1 | 3 | 4 |
| | 25-99 | 4 | 1 | 1 |
| | <25 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| C- after C+ (7.13)* 12.01.09 | ≥1,000 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | 100-999 | 1 | 0 | 0 |
| | 25-99 | 1 | 2 | 0 |
| | <25 | 3 | 3 | 5 |
| C+ 30.01.09 first in day (2.85)* | ≥1,000 | 1 | 2 | 1 |
| | 100-999 | 4 | 2 | 4 |
| | 25-99 | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| | <10 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

Table 12. Numbers of Campylobacters on neck flaps from Campylobacter negative flocks following Campylobacter positive flocks compared to numbers on neck flaps from Campylobacter positive flocks (log₁₀ cfu g⁻¹ neck skin or g⁻¹ caecal contents) (Part 2)

* cfu Campylobacter spp. per g caecal contents

7.2.2.1 Investigation of the contamination of the environment before the start of and during production

Sampling processing machinery was not possible while the line was moving, but it was possible to take samples of water running off the machinery, and also water from the scald tank. Some swabs were also taken from the processing machinery early in the morning, after overnight cleaning and disinfection, before the line started up. All the water sampled before the start of production was negative (<10 cfu ml⁻¹) for Campylobacters and Enterobacteriaceae. The scald water continued to be negative for Campylobacters during the processing of four C+ flocks, although Enterobacteriaceae were detected. Swabs taken from visibly clean parts of machinery before the start of production normally yielded <10 cfu ml⁻¹ MRD. (Stick swabs were placed in 10 ml MRD and agitated on a vortex mixer before surface plating onto mCCDA and VRBG agar.) Swabs taken from visibly dirty areas did yield Enterobacteriaceae and sometimes also Campylobacters.

7.2.2.2 Counts on carcasses at the start of production

Numbers of cfu g^{-1} cCampylobacters, Enterobacteriaceae and aerobic plate count (plate count agar 48 hours 30°C) were determined on 8 samples of 10 neck flaps taken at approximately equal intervals during the processing of the first flock of the day (C+). Each sample was taken while about 200 carcasses passed. The results are summarised in Table 13. No significant difference was found between any of the samples, indicating that numbers had reached a plateau during the processing of the first 200 carcasses.

Table 13. Numbers of *Campylobacter* spp., Enterobacteriaceae and aerobic plate count at 30°C from eight samples of ten neck flaps taken in sequence immediately before chilling from the first flock to be processed on a Monday morning

| | | Bacterial count (log10 cfu g-1) | |
|------------|--------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Sample no. | Campylobacter spp. | Enterobacteriaceae | Total aerobic colony count at 30°C |
| 1 | 3.31 | 3.95 | 5.18 |
| 2 | 3.31 | 4.45 | 5.46 |
| 3 | 3.26 | 4.01 | 4.84 |
| 4 | 3.30 | 3.98 | 4.61 |
| 5 | 2.91 | 4.25 | 4.88 |
| 6 | 3.09 | 3.75 | 4.63 |
| 7 | 3.24 | 3.98 | 4.92 |
| 8 | 3.19 | 3.50 | 4.42 |

8 Contamination routes: Numbers of *Campylobacter* spp. transferred from campylobacter positive chickens to their carcasses during processing

The aim of this work was to examine the extent to which different processing stages contribute to contamination when processing Campylobacter-positive flocks. We also investigated to what extent contamination of carcasses during processing is related to the number of campylobacters found in the caeca of the birds at slaughter.

8.1 Materials and methods

8.1.1 Processing plants and flocks

Carcasses from flocks slaughtered in three processing plants (two belonging to the same company) in England were examined during 2006 and 2007. The plants had line speeds of 100-160 carcasses per minute, and were similar in design, with automated lines passing through the stunner, neck cutter, bleed out, scalding tanks $(53\pm1^{\circ}C)$, a bank of disc defeathering machines, eviscerater, vent opener, cropper, neck cracker and puller and lung remover. Carcasses were sampled at each point approximately ten minutes after the carcasses started passing, thus all samples were taken from carcasses processing at about the same time. Each flock sampled originated from a single lorry-load – usually one house on a farm.

8.1.2 Detection of Campylobacters

See Section 6.1.

8.1.3 Detection of Enterobacteriaceae

Suspensions prepared for enumeration of Campylobacters were plated in parallel onto VRBG agar (Oxoid) and incubated aerobically at 41.5±1°C for 18-24 hours.

8.1.4 Sampling of caecal contents and necks or neck skins

Caeca see section 6.2

Necks (with or without heads) or neck skins were removed from the carcasses as they passed on the production line. This was done using inverted sterile stomacher 400 bags to grasp the neck or neck skin with one hand, while cutting off the neck or neck skin using pruning shears or scissors with the other. Up to 20 samples were taken at each sampling point. For neck samples a piece 6 cm long was cut from each neck and placed in a new stomacher 400 bag. Fifty ml of MRD was added and the mixture pummelled for 1 minute, using a 'Lab-Blender 400' stomacher (Seward, London, UK).

The weight of each neck flap was recorded before adding 30 ml of MRD and the mixture also stomached for 1 min. The liquid phase was used as the initial suspension. The results for the necks were expressed as numbers per ml of the initial suspension. For the neck skins the results were adjusted, using the recorded weights, to be numbers per g neck skin.

8.1.5 Analysis of results

Analysis of differences in the Campylobacter numbers between sets of samples was performed using Student's t-test.

8.2 Results

8.2.1 Investigation of contamination levels in relation to levels in caeca

Comparison for flocks with caecal levels $>6.5 \log_{10}$ demonstrated that levels of campylobacters in neck skin samples correlated with numbers in caeca (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Levels of contamination in neck skin samples after final wash in relation to levels in caecal contents. This includes data from Chapter 8 as well as chapter 7. Each datapoint represents one flock.

However, while in most flocks carcass contamination reflected the level of Campylobacters found in caeca contents this relationship was not proportional for some flocks (Figure 7 to Figure 10). There was good evidence that processing a highly contaminated flock did not result in increased contamination of a subsequent flock. Campylobacters were not detected in neck skin samples from several negative flocks processed immediately after a positive flocks (Figure 9 and Figure 10). There was no obvious effect of the number of birds processed with positive caecal contents on the contamination of a subsequent flock.



Flock processed no. (no. of birds)

Figure 7. Levels of contamination in neck skin samples after final wash (grey shaded bars) in relation to levels in caecal contents (open bars) in the flock itself and in previous flocks. The flocks were processed at Plant 1 on one day (Day 1 August 2006). Error bars are SD.



Figure 8. Levels of contamination in neck skin samples after final wash (grey shaded bars) in relation to levels in caecal contents (open bars) in the flock itself and in previous

flocks. The flocks were processed at Plant 1 on one day (Day 2 August 2006). Error bars are SD.



Flock processed no. (no. of birds)

Figure 9. Levels of contamination in neck skin samples after final wash (grey shaded bars) in relation to levels in caecal contents (open bars) in the flock itself and in previous flocks. The flocks were processed at Plant 1 on one day (Day 1 September 2006). Error bars are SD.



Figure 10. Levels of contamination in neck skin samples after final wash (grey shaded bars) in relation to levels in caecal contents (open bars) in the flock itself and in previous flocks. The flocks were processed at Plant 1 on one day (Day 2 September 2006). Error bars are SD.



Figure 11. Levels of contamination in neck skin samples after final wash (grey shaded bars) in relation to levels in caecal contents (open bars) in the flock itself and in previous flocks. The flocks were processed at Plant 2 on one day (Day 1 July 2007).



Figure 12. Levels of contamination in neck skin samples after final wash (grey shaded bars) in relation to levels in caecal contents (open bars) in the flock itself and in previous flocks. The flocks were processed at Plant 2 on one day (Day 2 July 2007).



Figure 13. Levels of contamination in neck skin samples after final wash (grey shaded bars) in relation to levels in caecal contents (open bars) in the flock itself and in previous flocks. The flocks were processed at Plant 3 on one day (August 2007).

8.2.2 Investigation of contamination levels along the processing line

The levels of Campylobacters and Enterobacteriaceae contamination at five or six processing stages were investigated for the first four flocks of the day on four occasions (twice at Plant 1 and twice at Plant 2). Contamination was detected from after scald and in 3 of 4 flocks examined in Plant 1 on that day, and the numbers remained at this level at the subsequent processing stages (Figure 14 and Figure 15).



Figure 14. Numbers of Campylobacter in samples collected from carcasses at different stages of processing of four flocks processed on the same day in Plant 1. Every sample was suspended in 50 ml volumes and numbers are per ml of this volume. Four consecutive flocks were sampled with caecal contents levels of 8.4 log₁₀, SD= 0.5 (grey shaded bar), 6.9, SD= 0.8 (dotted bar); 8.2, SD = 0.5 (open bar); and 8.3 SD = 0.4 (striped bar).



Figure 15. Numbers of Enterobacteriaceae in samples collected from carcasses at different stages of processing of four flocks processed on the same day in Plant 1. Every sample was suspended in 50 ml volumes and numbers are per ml of this volume. Four consecutive flocks were sampled with Campylobacter caecal contents levels of 8.4 log₁₀, SD= 0.5 (grey shaded bar), 6.9, SD= 0.8 (dotted bar); 8.2, SD = 0.5 (open bar); and 8.3 SD = 0.4 (striped bar). The flocks were the same as those in Figure 14.

In two flocks with high levels of campylobacters in caecal contents processed on another visit to Plant 1 numbers of campylobacters increased after scald but did not change markedly thereafter (Figure 16 and Figure 17).



Figure 16. Numbers of Campylobacter in samples collected from carcasses at different stages of processing of three flocks processed on the same day in Plant 1. . Every sample was suspended in 50 ml volumes and numbers are per ml of this volume. The average number of campylobacters in caecal contents of the flocks processed were: 8.9 log₁₀, SD = 1.1 (grey shaded bar); 8.9, SD = 0.7 (dotted bar) and 6.2, SD = 2.8 (open bar).



Figure 17. Numbers of Enterobacteriaceae in samples collected from carcasses at different stages of processing of four flocks processed on the same day in Plant 1. Every sample was suspended in 50 ml volumes and numbers are per ml of this volume. The average number of Enterobacteriaceae in caecal contents of the flocks processed were: log_{10} 7.6, SD = 0.6 (grey shaded bar); 7.9, SD = 0.2 (dotted bar); 7.1, SD = 0.6 (open bar) and 6.6 SD = 0.7 (striped bar). The flocks were the same as those in Figure 16.

Numbers in samples collected at processing points in Plant 2 were similar for four flocks processed consecutively. Overall, numbers were lower for two flocks after chilling but not for the third flock processed (Figure 18 and Figure 19).



Figure 18. Numbers of Campylobacter in samples collected from carcasses at different stages of processing of four flocks processed on the same day in Plant 2. Every sample was suspended

in 50 ml volumes and numbers are per ml of this volume. The average number of campylobacters in caecal contents of the flocks processed were: log_{10} 8.8, SD = 0.8 (grey shaded

bar); 9.2, SD = 0.5 (dotted bar); 8.7, SD = 0.5 (open bar) and 9.1, SD = 0.6 (striped bar). * data not obtained.



Figure 19. Numbers of Enterobacteriaceae in samples collected from carcasses at different stages of processing of four flocks processed on the same day in Plant 2. Every sample was suspended in 50 ml volumes and numbers are per ml of this volume. The average number of enteros in caecal contents of the flocks processed were: log_{10} 7.2, SD = 1.0 (grey shaded bar); 7.7, SD = 1.2 (dotted bar); 7.6, SD = 0.9 (open bar) and 7.9, SD = 1.1 (striped bar). The flocks were the same as those in Figure 18.

One flock studied on a second visit to Plant 2 also showed increased counts after plucking but little change in numbers thereafter (Figure 20).



Figure 20. Numbers of Campylobacter in samples collected from carcasses at different stages of processing of a single flock. Every sample was suspended in fifty ml volumes

and numbers are per ml of this volume. No caecal contents were obtained from this flock. The flock was processed at Plant 2.

8.2.3 Investigation of Campylobacter contamination between plucking and final wash

The level of contamination between plucking and evisceration stages of processing was investigated in three experiments (Figure 21 to Figure 23). The level of Campylobacters was compared in samples from carcasses either heat treated immediately after pluck and rehung onto the processing line or left on the line through processing as usual.

In one flock investigated with caecal contents levels of $6.5 \log_{10}$ per gram the mean \log_{10} number of Campylobacters was 1.8 \log_{10} in neck skin samples taken just after the final wash from carcasses which were heat-treated just after pluck compared to 2.6 \log_{10} in those not heat-treated, i.e. left on the line (Figure 21).

Another flock investigated had caecal contents levels of 8.5 log_{10} and there was no significant difference in the level of Campylobacters between samples from heat-treated and not heat-treated carcasses (Figure 22). The log_{10} number of Campylobacters per ml in neck-samples collected just after plucking (point B) from heat treated carcasses was 0.7 (SD = 0.4). This was significantly (p< 0.001; students t-test) lower than in neck skin samples from heat-treated carcasses collected after the final wash stage (point E). A similar result was obtained for breast skin samples where the log_{10} number of Campylobacters per ml sample collected just after plucking (point B) from heat treated carcasses was 0.4 (SD = < 0.1). This was significantly (p< 0.001; Student's t-test) lower than in breast skin samples from heat-treated carcasses collected after the final wash stage (point E).



Sample type/unit

Figure 21. Numbers of Campylobacter after the final wash (point E) in samples from carcasses either heat-treated immediately after pluck (light grey bars) or not treated

(left on the line: dark grey bars). Error bars are SEM. The heat-treatment consisted of 2 min at 80°C. The average number of Campylobacter per g caecal content for the flock processed was $\log_{10} 6.5$ (SD = 0.7). The flock was processed at Plant 1.

Also in a third flock investigated with caecal contents levels of $9.3 \log_{10}$ there was no significant difference in the level of Campylobacters between samples from heat treated and non-heat treated carcasses taken just after evisceration (Figure 23). The heat treatment resulted in a significant (p < 0.007; Student's t-test) difference in the level of Campylobacters in neck samples examined immediately after plucking. There was a significant increase in the numbers of Campylobacters between after plucking compared to after evisceration/after final wash in samples from heat treated carcasses.

8.3 Discussion

The contamination of carcasses was related to the level in caeca, although it is possible that factors including those related to operative procedures in plants affect levels of contamination at different stages. Contamination was detected from after scald and increased on two of four occasions tested after plucking. There was little evidence for any change in contamination levels during subsequent stages of processing. In order to quantify better the extent of contamination between plucking and evisceration, carcasses, which had been heat-treated to eliminate the majority of contamination up until immediately after plucking, were rehung onto the line and examined after evisceration (point C) and after final wash (point E). These experiments demonstrated that a considerable amount of contamination was taking place after plucking and until just after the final wash (point E). It was also demonstrated in one trial that the evisceration process itself contributed a considerable amount of this contamination (Figure 22). This suggested that intervention during processing in stages before plucking is unlikely to reduce the final level of carcass contamination as there is additional considerable contamination after plucking, at evisceration, and up to before the final wash.



Sample type/unit

Figure 22. Numbers of Campylobacter in samples from either carcasses heat-treated immediately after pluck carcasses (light grey bars) and rehung onto the processing line (light grey bars at points C and E) or from carcasses not treated/left on the line (dark grey bars). Error bars are SEM. The heat-treatment consisted of 2 minutes at 80°C. The average number of Campylobacter per g caecal content for the flock processed was 9.3 log₁₀ (SD = 0.6). The flock was processed at Plant 1.



Sample type/unit

Figure 23. Numbers of Campylobacter in samples from either carcasses heat-treated immediately after pluck carcasses (light grey bars) and rehung onto the processing line (light grey bars at points C and E) or from carcasses not treated/left on the line (dark grey bars). Error bars are SEM. The heat-treatment consisted of 2 minutes at 80°C. The average number of Campylobacter per g caecal content for the flock processed was 9.3 log₁₀ (SD = 0.6). The flock was processed at Plant 1.

8.4 Conclusions

The level of Campylobacters in caecal contents was associated with the level found in neck skin samples but this relationship was also influenced by plant operational procedures. The number of Campylobacters on carcasses from Campylobacter-negative flocks, processed immediately after positive flocks, were low, even when several positive flocks had gone through the plant.

During normal processing, there is little evidence for significant differences in the level of Campylobacter contamination measured after plucking to after the final wash.

Both plucking and evisceration processes contributed significantly to contamination of carcasses as demonstrated by examining contamination of heat-treated carcasses placed in the processing line just before those stages. The later stages were therefore considered to be more effective intervention points. The number of Campylobacters on carcasses just before chill were compared to levels of Campylobacters in caeca in three processing plants. There was a significant relationship between the numbers in caeca and those found on carcasses.

9 Ranked assessment of alternative/novel methods/processes

From the various literature studies, site visits and discussions within the project team, a number of possible measures were identified to reduce Campylobacter contamination of chicken carcasses. The possible study areas split into two broad categories: new intervention processes and investigations focussed on changes to current processes or equipment.

9.1 New Interventions

9.1.1 Location

New interventions would be additional processes added to the current production line(s). A vital task is to identify the best location along the line for this/these additional process(es). When considering locations for new processes, possible treatment times, footprint of equipment and space in factory need to be considered in combination with the microbial efficacy of any treatment.

The four most likely locations are:

Post pluck – many studies have identified the plucker as a major contamination point. Interventions located here would be able to take effect before bacteria from the plucker had fully attached. There is generally some space in most plants after the plucker, as the lines move into a separate area for evisceration

Post evisceration (EV) – as with pluckers, early action is appropriate to minimise time available for attachment and reduce the risk of cross-contamination to other carcasses. There is generally some space in most plants post EV at and around the point where carcasses and their viscera are inspected.

Post Inside/Outside (I/O) wash – the I/O wash is the last process before chilling. There is little subsequent risk of contamination with Campylobacters and thus carcasses treated here should remain clean. There is also the potentially long treatment time as carcasses pass through the air chilling process that follows the I/O wash. There is usually plenty of line length to install interventions between the I/O wash and chiller entry.

Post chill – this is the last possible position and is thus closest to the point of consumption of the meat. There is commonly plenty of line length available at the chiller exit.

9.1.2 Treatment

Physical and chemical treatments are possible. A key difficulty with all these methods is the interaction between the functional parameters of the application method i.e. for a spray (pressure, flow rate, droplet size, etc.) or for immersion (agitation and flow in tank, speed of traverse, transfer times, etc), and decontamination effect.

9.1.2.1 Physical:

The prime physical mechanism for decontamination is through heat based inactivation of bacteria. This heat could be applied in a number of ways:

- a. Hot water spray
- b. Hot water immersion
- c. Atmospheric steam; including the 'Sonosteam' process with ultrasonic excitation of steam nozzles.

- d. Gas flame singeing
- e. Dry heating

Non-heat based physical methods are:

- f. High impact/volume cold water spray
- g. Exposure to ultraviolet (UV) light
- h. Exposure to microwave energy
- i. Spray washes with ultrasonic excitation of nozzles.

9.1.2.2 Chemical:

Chemical decontamination treatments by immersion or spraying with aqueous solutions of the following chemicals are worthy of investigation.

- a. Chlorine (Cl)
- b. Chlorine dioxide (ClO₂)
- c. Acidified sodium chlorite (ASC)
- d. Tri-sodium phosphate (TSP)
- e. Peroxy acetic acids (PAA)
- f. Ozone (O_3)
- g. Electrolysed water

9.2 **Process or Equipment Measures**

Changes to existing processes or equipment may also have the potential to reduce Campylobacter in chickens. The selection of appropriate areas will be informed by the results of the study to identify the contamination routes (Objective 02).

9.2.1 Major developments or changes

9.2.1.1 Remove skin with feathers attached

Scalding and plucking are considered by many to present potential cross-contamination risks due to passing every carcass through a "scald" tank (at 52-54°C) containing a 'soup' of faecal matter, feather and other debris, then passing it through a complex and difficult-to-clean plucking machine. It is possible to skin a chicken with the feathers still in place and much poultry meat is sold skinless. The reduction in numbers of Campylobacters achieved by skinning rather than plucking chicken carcasses could be evaluated and if beneficial, entirely new equipment to replace scalder and plucker could be developed.

9.2.1.2 Drying tunnels

There is a body of thought that suggests surface drying inactivates Campylobacter. Incorporation of drying tunnels using warm air and/or air knife technology to keep chickens surfaces dry may have some benefit.

9.2.1.3 Cloacal plugging

Studies suggest that faeces are squeezed out from the vent/viscera during processing. This then adds to the contamination issues. Some studies have shown that suturing the vent or introducing acid into the cloaca reduces numbers of faecal bacteria on the carcass. These techniques could be evaluated and methods of cloacal plugging of each bird at line speeds could be developed. This should reduce contaminants in scalder, plucker and evisceration process until the viscera are inspected.

9.2.1.4 Ultrasonic aided scald & defeather

Ultrasonic baths are for cleaning of mechanical parts with the vibrations aiding the dislodging of physical debris from the surface of the part. It could be the case that scalding in an ultrasonic bath aids microbial detachment and feather loosening.

9.2.1.5 Steam scalding

The tank scalder 'soup' is seen by many as a potential contaminator of the whole poultry production process. Furthermore, it is probable that dirty and/or contaminated scalder water trapped in the feathers is carried from the scalder to the plucker, exacerbating contamination and cross-contamination problems in the plucker. Some studies suggest that steam or hot moist air scalding systems would improve hygiene over typical tank based systems. These claims could be evaluated in detail for Campylobacter.

9.2.1.6 Plucking

9.2.1.7 Air flow control

Some studies indicate substantial airborne cross-contamination in the plucker room. By enclosing plucker equipment and controlling and filtering the airflows, this potential cross-contamination route could be reduced. Air curtains and/or physical screens could be investigated to confine airborne detritus to the plucker area. Alternatively, a U–shaped deviation in the line could be constructed, enclosed by a close-fitting tunnel through which birds travel, with extraction at base of the 'U' that pulls air from plucker and clean zones thus preventing air transfer from plucker zone to the cleaner downstream processes.

9.2.1.8 Improved post-pluck wash

All plants have a carcass rinse/wash after plucking to help remove remaining physical debris. Improvements to design of this current cold spray washing system could be investigated. Improvements could include; increasing washing efficacy replacing the currently used cold water, using heated water, or adding chemicals to the rinse for antibacterial effect, or a combination of these possibilities.

9.2.1.9 Waste flume

Waste feathers are typically removed from the plucker zone by a water flume, typically feathers are filtered out and the water is recirculated. The microbiological state of this spray-generating turbulent flow probably contributes to bacterial levels in the plucker area. Antimicrobial treatment of flume water before recirculation could be addressed to reduce bacterial level on chickens.

9.2.1.10 Adaptable evisceration equipment

Viscera can be ruptured in the evisceration equipment so that intestinal contents are subsequently spread onto the carcass. Improving the design of the EV equipment, especially to adapt to the changes in the size and shape of each carcass so as not to rupture the viscera could reduce Campylobacter contamination.

9.2.1.11 Flail wash

Some plants have an additional 'flail wash' before the I/O washer. The flail washer provides a mechanical washing action with sets of rotary brushes and flails operating within a spray cabinet. The efficacy of this unit could be evaluated to determine whether the process should be recommended to all poultry producers.

9.2.1.12 Chicken line 'pigging'

Most EV equipment is complex and difficult to clean because of poor accessibility to internal functional parts. If cross-contamination via machinery routes is shown to be important, development of a 'pigging' system, similar to that used to clean inside pipelines could be developed. The chicken line pig would consist of several modules the size of chicken carcasses hung on the line applying detergents, brushes, rinses, disinfectants, etc. As the line was run the pig would clean inside the machine, cleansing the difficult to reach parts that contact the chickens and transfer cross-contamination.

9.2.1.13 Continuous equipment surface cleaning

If cross contamination contact points can be identified, it may be possible to develop continuous surface cleaning technologies such as flowing detergents over the surface, wipers to remove detritus, etc.

9.2.1.14 Remove cross contamination points

Cross-contamination of bacteria can be caused by every carcass rubbing against the same parts of equipment or when carcasses touch each other during processing. It may be possible to redesign processes to remove rubbing contacts, and avoid bulking carcasses together and thus reduce Campylobacter cross-contamination.

9.2.2 Minor changes to existing processes.

9.2.2.1 Wash water additives

Many pieces of EV equipment incorporate water sprays to clean equipment, lubricate the process and clean the carcasses. The inclusion of chemicals or hot water might reduce Campylobacter contamination. Possible chemical and heat based approaches are listed in section 9.1.2.

9.2.2.2 Scheduling

If the Campylobacter status of each flock is known by producers before slaughter, C+ flocks could be scheduled to be processed after C- flocks; this should reduce the likelihood of cross-contamination.

9.2.2.3 Plucker fingers design and materials improvement

The rubber plucker fingers are in contact with every carcass as it passes through the process and are a potential cross-contamination route. Many rubber fingers exhibit small surface cracks caused by their continual flexing and these crevices could easily harbour Campylobacter and other unwanted organisms, increasing the risk. The effect and influence of plucker finger design and replacement strategy on cross contamination could be further evaluated. Plucker finger redesign could result and be a readily retrofit-able measure.

9.2.2.4 . Pre scald feet cleaning

Removal of gross debris from the feet before scalder entry (as seen in one turkey plant) may warrant investigation for chicken.

9.2.2.5 Improve existing sprays

There are many places in the current processing line where water sprays are used for machine or carcass cleaning and process lubrication. Many of these are poorly designed and ineffective. Development of spray testing regimes, engineering analysis and design/operation improvements for these existing sprays may yield carcass microbial benefits.

Initial evaluation and selection of possible approaches 9.3

The possibilities were considered by the project team and divided into high, medium, and low priorities for research activities within this M01039 project. The categories were assigned on the basis of expected effect versus required development or implementation difficulties.

Higher priorities were generally assigned to intervention methods that could readily be retrofitted or flexibly applied in many locations along the production process giving more likelihood of overall success.

Possible approaches requiring major changes to the processing line will not be readily applicable by the poultry industry and were generally considered low priority for these investigations. Similarly, approaches that require substantial developments were also considered low priority as there is a risk in whether the concept is effective and longer development time scales to implementation.

Objective 02 will identify the prime Campylobacter contamination and cross-contamination routes. These results will determine the most effective location for a new decontamination intervention.

9.3.1 High priority investigation areas

These approaches/concepts will be addressed first in this project.

| Concept/Approach | Comment |
|---------------------------------------|--|
| Acidified sodium chlorite (ASC) spray | Flexible concept applicable as new decontamination intervention stage or as additives to existing equipment washes/sprays. |
| | On EFSA shortlist of possibly permitted additives |
| Chlorine (Cl) spray | Flexible concept applicable as new decontamination intervention stage or as additives to existing equipment washes/sprays. |

| Chlorine dioxide (ClO ₂) spray | Flexible concept applicable as new decontamination intervention stage or as additives to existing equipment washes/sprays. | |
|--|--|--|
| | On EFSA shortlist of possibly permitted additives | |
| Peroxyacetic acids (PAA) spray | Flexible concept applicable as new decontamination intervention stage or as additives to existing equipment washes/sprays. | |
| | On EFSA shortlist of possibly permitted additives | |
| High impact/volume cold water sprays | Relatively easy change to existing process sprays | |
| Hot water spray | Easy change to existing process sprays | |
| Trisodium phosphate (TSP) spray | Flexible concept applicable as new decontamination intervention stage or as additives to existing equipment washes/sprays. | |
| | On EFSA shortlist of possibly permitted additives | |

9.3.2 Medium priority investigation areas

These will be investigated if possible, opportunity, time and resources permitting. If not addressed, future projects should at least conduct initial studies for basic assessment of feasibility.

| Concept/Approach | Comment |
|-----------------------------|--|
| Atmospheric steam immersion | Simple concept but space needed to fit into existing lines |
| Chicken line 'pigging' | Substantial developments required, but potential to make major impact on efficacy of machinery cleaning. Re-assess in light of objective 02 results. |
| Cloacal plugging | Scientific evidence to support concept but significant engineering development required to implement at line speeds |
| Dry heating | Simple concept but space needed to fit into existing lines |
| Electrolysed water | Easy integration with existing processes, but not currently used or on EFSA shortlist |
| Flail wash | Existing equipment used in some plants. If efficacious can readily be utilised with no technology transfer risk. |
| Gas flame singeing | Simple intervention technology transfer from pork industry |
| Hot water immersion | Simple concept but space needed to fit into existing lines |
| Improve existing sprays | Needs a plant by plant approach. Long term and extensive effort required. |
| Improved post-pluck wash | Can be addressed by high priority additives and washer design improvements |
| Ozone (O ₃) | Easy integration with existing processes, but not currently used or on EFSA shortlist |
|--|---|
| Plucker finger design and materials improvement | Re-assess in light of Objective 02 results on routes of cross- contamination. |
| Plucking air flow control | Re-assess in light of Objective 02 results on routes of cross- contamination. |
| Scheduling | Re-assess in light of Objective 02 results on routes of cross- contamination. |
| Spray washes with ultrasonic excitation of nozzles | These mechanical changes not as straightforward as changes to sprayed solution |
| Steam scalding | Scientific evidence to support concept, but not readily applicable to existing plants currently with scald tank systems installed |
| Wash water additives | Easy implementation; use direct intervention studies to select appropriate for trials |

9.3.3 Low priority investigation areas

These will not be investigated in this study, although future projects could provide initial studies for basic assessment of feasibility.

| Concept/Approach | Comment |
|---------------------------------------|---|
| Adaptable evisceration equipment | Long development timescales, major factory refit required for implementation |
| Continuous equipment surface cleaning | Low expected benefit (re-assess in light of objective 02 results) |
| Drying tunnels | Low available time for exposure |
| Exposure to microwave energy | Low available time for exposure |
| Exposure to ultraviolet (UV) light | Difficulties of shadowing effects (especially in cavity), low available time for exposure |
| Plucker waste flume | Low expected benefit (re-assess in light of objective 02 results) |
| Pre scald feet cleaning | Low expected benefit (re-assess in light of objective 02 results) |
| Remove cross-contamination points | Long development timescales, major factory refit required for implementation (re-assess in light of objective 02 results) |
| Remove skin with feathers attached | Long development timescales, major factory refit required for implementation |
| Ultrasonic aided scald & defeather | Long development timescales, major factory refit required for implementation |

Blank page; purpose?

10 Evaluation of intervention methods

An evaluation of physical interventions was previously carried out during FSA Project M01019 (Physical Methods Readily Adapted to Existing Commercial Lines for Reducing Pathogens, Particularly Campylobacters, on Raw Poultry). Although that project reviewed scientific literature on chemical interventions, no practical evaluations were carried out. Experimental work in this project compared the effectiveness of a range of possible chemicals and physical methods for reducing numbers of Campylobacters on chicken carcasses.

10.1 Materials and methods

10.1.1 Equipment

Ideally, any intervention system that would be of interest to a poultry processor has to be able to be retrofitted to an existing line, close to the inside-outside washer, and should not require a large amount of space. In this project, experimental work centred on readily implementable spray systems and atmospheric steam treatment.

Five separate types of spray system were used, each with different characteristics for specific functions (Table 14).

| Spray type | Function | Characteristics |
|----------------|--|---|
| Washing | Impact jets to dislodge surface organisms, and sufficient flow to wash away debris | Full cone nozzles: large droplets, medium flow, medium pressure. |
| Misting | 'Soft' spray to gently deposit active chemical onto surface | Flat fan nozzles, fine droplets, low flow, low pressure |
| Rinsing | Large volumes to remove chemical residues from surface | Full cone nozzles: large droplets, high flow, medium pressure. |
| Cooling | Reduce surface heat after steam treatment with cold water spray | Full cone nozzles: large droplets, high flow, low pressure. |
| High Intensity | High impact for mechanical dislodgment of detritus and organisms followed by deluge rinse for removal. | Flat fan, small droplets, medium flow, high pressure followed by Full cone nozzles: large droplets, high flow, medium pressure. |

Table 14. Spray system Characteristics

In most cases these spray configurations were implemented inside a purpose built spray rig consisting of an aluminium frame, with an overhead track to carry a shackle.

The shackle was driven along the track to replicate the moving line as seen in poultry production plants. The sides of the frame were enclosed with acrylic panels to contain over-spray. Various spray bars and nozzles were located within the enclosure for each configuration.

For cooling after steam treatment and for rinsing after a delay to allow chemicals to act, a separate static spray rig was used.

Each of the spray systems and the atmospheric steam unit are described in the following sections.

10.1.1.1 Washing spray system

The design aim of the washing spray system was to use large volumes at higher pressures to wash matter from the surface. The cabinet was configured with eight double nozzles on the

lateral sides of the chicken (Figure 24). A centrifugal pump (Ondina 100M, Sealand Ltd, Italy) generating a mean flow of 39.7 litres per minute supplied to the spray bars.



Overview of washing spray equipment



Detail of washing spray configuration

Figure 24. Washing spray configuration

10.1.1.2 Misting spray system

The design aim of the misting system was to produce small droplets at low pressure for application of chemicals in an even mist over the carcasses. Twelve 80° flat fan nozzles (8259150, Dual Pumps, UK) situated on spray bars to either side and below the carcasses (Figure 25) were supplied by a piston pump (D3735H 701 1 ARL, Flojet, UK) at a pressure of approximately 4 bars and a mean flow rate of 6.86 litres per minute.



Figure 25. Misting spray configuration

10.1.1.3 Rinsing spray system

The design aim of the rinsing system was to rinse chemical residues from chicken carcasses after misting or spraying treatments. This system comprised two spray bars placed vertically on each side of the carcass (Figure 26). Each spray bar had two or three nozzles (type ¼.G.SS.10, Full Cone Jet, Spray systems, Illinois, USA) to spray the carcass. The carcass was placed between the jets using a mobile rig in which the carcass was suspended. The water was stored in a tank of about 125 litres capacity before being delivered to the rinsing spray bars by a centrifugal pump (Ondina 100M, Sea Land, Italy) with a mean flow rate of 35.7 litres per minute.



Figure 26. Rinsing spray system

10.1.1.4 Cooling spray system

The design aim of the cooling system was to reduce surface temperatures after steam treatments. This also provided a potentially beneficial washing effect. The cooling system was identical to the rinsing system albeit located such that the carcass was sprayed immediately after steam treatment.

10.1.1.5 High pressure and deluge cold water

The design aim of this system was to use high impact pressure jets to dislodge organisms and physical debris, followed by a deluge wash to rinse the detritus from the surface. Twin 15° flat fan nozzles (Spray Systems, Illinois, USA) each supplied by a separate piston pump (Challenge Pumps, UK) provided the initial impact jets. Eight full cone nozzles supplied by a centrifugal pump (Ondina 100M, Sea Land, Italy) provided the wash-off sprays.

10.1.1.6 Atmospheric steam

The steam system (Figure 27) comprised three 2.8 kW boilers that supplied steam at atmospheric pressure (*ca*. 100° C) to a plenum above an open based treatment chamber. A baffle plate evenly distributed steam into the main chamber. The front of the treatment chamber incorporated a double glazed panel to allow carcasses to be observed during treatment. Carcasses were lifted singly into the chamber on a gambrel attached to a time delay pneumatic

cylinder. The only variable in treatment was the time for which a carcass was raised into the chamber.



Figure 27. Atmospheric steam treatment cabinet

10.1.2 Chemical treatments

Aqueous solutions of chlorine dioxide (CD), chlorine (CL), acidified sodium chlorite (ASC), peroxyacetic acids (PAA), and trisodium phosphate (TSP) were investigated in this study. Additionally, hot water (HW), steam (stm) and ozonated water (Ozone) were used. Cold water (CW) was used as a control in chemical evaluations, for rinsing, for cooling and the high intensity spray configurations.

ASC, PAA and TSP treatments had been declared as of no safety concern by EFSA (2005b). Ozone is considered as acceptable in potable water according to the directive 98/83/EC and to the Drinking Water Inspectorate (2007), and thus can also be used in food industry to wash foods.

10.1.2.1 Acidified Sodium Chlorite (ASC)

The trials used an ASC based sanitising agent (Sanova, Ecolab). Sixty-litre batches of ASC solution were made with 475 ml of Sanova base (VR-2890-146, Sanova) diluted in approximately 30 litres of mains water. Then 1.44 litres of Sanova activator (VR-2890-147, Sanova) was added and diluted with water to 60 litres. This produced a concentration of approximately 1000 ppm at a pH between 2.39 and 2.67.

10.1.2.2 Peroxy Acetic Acids (PAA)

PAA used in poultry decontamination is a mixture of peroxyacetic acid (PAA), octanoic acid (OA), acetic acid (AA), hydrogen peroxide (HP), peroxyoctanoic acid (POA) and 1-hydroxyethylidene-1, 1-diphosphonic acid (HEDP) (SCVPH, 2003).

The product used for these trials (Proxitane 5, Solvay Interox) was supplied in the form of a bottle containing 5% of peracetic acid, 20% of HP and 10% of AA. The instruction from the supplier was to dissolve 1 litre of the product in 125 litre of water. These recommendations were followed, although it resulted in a slightly higher concentration than that recommended by EFSA. The solution we used contained 400 ppm of peracetic acid, 1600 ppm of HP and 800 ppm of AA.

10.1.2.3 Trisodium Phosphate (TSP)

For trials, TSP dodecahydrate powder (VWR International Ltd, UK) was diluted in water to a concentration of 12%, giving a highly alkaline solution of pH 12.4.

At the end of the trial, some of the TSP powder was found undissolved, resting at the bottom of the tank. Thus, a small investigation was carried out to assess the solubility of the TSP powder at different water temperatures. This study showed that the temperature of the water used to dissolve the TSP has an important influence on the solubility of the TSP. Moreover, it was noted that when the TSP was not agitated it had a tendency to agglomerate very quickly and that a very concentrated solution of TSP was particularly viscous.

| | 10°C | 25°C | 45°C |
|--|--|-----------|-------|
| Quantity approximate of TSP dissolved in 200 ml of water in 1 hour (g) | 24 | 50.7 | 126.6 |
| Time approximate necessary to dissolve 12% of TSP in 200ml of water | More than 15 min (<u>Note:</u> after 4 min the major part of the TSP is dissolved) | 2 min 45s | 45s |

Table 15. Study of the solubility of the TSP

10.1.2.4 Ozonated Water (OW)

The ozonation system used for the trials (IOCS05-C22, Pacific Ozone Technology, USA) is shown in **Error! Reference source not found.** The onboard ozone generator (SGC22) feeds compressed air into a pressure swing absorption oxygen separator unit, which in turn supplies oxygen to a corona discharge ozone module converting a percentage of that oxygen into ozone.



Figure 28. Ozone generator

The system used for these trials could produce in theory, 25 g of ozone per hour at a concentration of 3 to 7%. For the trials, the generator was set to generate the maximum ozone concentration that could be achieved with the generator. The measured concentrations were between 8.2 and 14.1 ppm. James (2003) states that decomposition of ozone is so rapid in the water phase of foods that its antimicrobial action is thought to take place mainly at the surface of treated products, however excessive ozone can cause rancidity.

10.1.3 Chicken carcasses

To maximise the probability of having Campylobacter-positive carcasses, trial carcasses were collected post-pluck from a poultry plant processing free-range chickens. Carcasses were packaged, five at a time, in large bags and transported directly to the experimental site (journey time c. 1 hour). Normally five chickens were used for each kind of treatment, five controls treated only with water to evaluate the washing effect and five controls without any treatment to see the overall effect of the treatments. The treatments of groups of five were replicated across different trial days to reduce effect of any flock/process/transport idiosyncrasies.

10.1.4 Sampling and enumeration of *Campylobacter* spp., Enterobacteriaceae and *Pseudomonas* spp.

The neck skin and the whole of the breast skin were removed from each carcass after treatment using sterile scissors or scalpel blades and forceps respectively, and each piece of skin put into a separate stomacher-80 bag, labelled and weighed. Fifty ml of Maximum Recovery Diluent (MRD) were added to the neck skins, and 30 ml of MRD added to each breast skin, and the samples were treated for 30 seconds with a Pulsifier (Microgen, Fleet Hampshire, UK). Decimal dilutions were prepared and surface plated onto selective agar media. See report sections 6.1.1 and 7.1.3 for methods used for *Campylobacter* spp. and Enterobacteriaceae. Enterobacteriaceae were enumerated in addition to Campylobacters as they are found on all carcasses, whether or not the birds had been colonised with Campylobacters, and they are also normally present in higher numbers. Presumptive *Pseudomonas* spp. were enumerated on CFC (cephaloridine fusidin cetrimide) agar (Oxoid CM 559 plus SR 103). Incubation was aerobic

at 25°C for 48 hours. *Pseudomonas* spp. are important spoilage bacteria (numbers on carcasses at production are directly related to the length of aerobic shelf-life) and the effect of any carcass treatment on their numbers is therefore of particular interest to the poultry industry.

10.1.5 Statistical analysis

All bacterial counts were transformed to \log_{10} cfu g⁻¹ (of neck skin or breast skin) values for subsequent data analysis. Results were collated and analysed in MS Excel, using Student's T-test (2-tailed) at 99% confidence for all tests of significance.

10.2 Results

10.2.1 Overall Initial Anti-Microbial Efficacy Analysis

A total of 42 different treatments were applied (Table 16), with approximately 5 replicates and untreated controls for each trial condition on each trial date. The precise number of replicates analysed varied dependent on the amount of data rejected as suspect.

| ID | Treatment | Configuration | Time in | Dates |
|-----|------------------|-----------------|----------------|---------------------------------------|
| | | | seconds (s) or | |
| | | | minutes (m) | |
| §01 | ASC (Commercial) | Mist | 10 s | 2 Oct 07 |
| §02 | ASC (Commercial) | Mist | 15 s | 2, 8, 17 Oct 07, 16 Jan 08 |
| §03 | ASC (Homemade) | Mist | 30 s | 22, 24 Aug 07, 3, 5 Sep07 |
| §04 | ASC (Commercial) | Mist | 30 s | 19 Sep 07, 2 Oct 07, 16 Jan 08 |
| §05 | ASC (Commercial) | Mist+Wait+Rinse | 15s+30s+30s | 8 Oct 07 |
| §06 | ASC (Commercial) | Mist+Wait+Rinse | 15s+5m+5s | 17 Oct 07 |
| §07 | CD | Mist | 30s | 22 Aug 07, 12, 19 Sep 07 |
| §08 | CD | Wash | 2.5s | 19, 31 Jul 07 |
| §09 | CL | Wash | 2.5s | 19, 31 Jul 07 |
| §10 | CW | Mist | 15s | 8, 31 Oct 07, 27 Nov 07, 12 Dec 07, |
| | | | | 16, 29 Jan 08 |
| §11 | CW | Mist | 30s | 22, 24 Aug 07, 3, 5, 12, 19 Sep 07, 2 |
| | | | | Oct 07, 13, 21 Nov 07, 29 Jan 08, 20 |
| | ~~~~ | | | May 08 |
| §12 | CW | Mist+Wait+Rinse | 15s+5m+5s | 17 Oct 07 |
| §13 | CW | OzoneNozzles | 15s | 5 Dec 07 |
| §14 | CW | OzoneNozzles | 30s | 5 Dec 07 |
| §15 | CW | OzoneNozzles | 3m | 13 Feb 08 |
| §16 | CW | Wash | 2.5s | 19, 31Jul 07 |
| §17 | EW | Mist | 15s | 21 Nov 07 |
| §18 | EW | Mist | 30s | 21 Nov 07 |
| §19 | HW | Wash | 2.5s | 19, 31 Jul 07 |
| §20 | Ozone | OzoneNozzles | 15s | 5 Dec 07 |
| §21 | Ozone | OzoneNozzles | 30s | 5 Dec 07 |
| §22 | Ozone | OzoneNozzles | 3m | 13 Feb 08 |
| §23 | PAA | Mist | 15s | 31 Oct 07, 27 Nov 07 |
| §24 | PAA | Mist | 30s | 31 Oct 07, 27 Nov 07 |
| §25 | PAA | Mist+Wait+Rinse | 15s+5m+5s | 31 Oct 07, 27 Nov 07 |
| §26 | (Stm) | Cool | 15s | 12 Mar 08, 9, 22 Apr08 |
| §27 | Stm | Stm | 10s | 12 Mar 08 |
| §28 | Stm | Stm | 15s | 12 Mar 08, 9, 22 Apr 08 |

 Table 16.
 Treatments and Identifiers

| §29 | Stm | Stm+Cool | 15s+15s | 12 Mar 08, 9, 22 Apr 08 |
|-----|------------------|---------------------|------------|---------------------------------|
| §30 | Stm-Dry | Stm+Cool | 15s+15s | 9, 22 Apr 08 |
| §31 | TSP | Mist | 15s | 12 Dec 07, 29 Jan 08 |
| §32 | TSP | Mist | 30s | 13 Nov 07, 12 Dec 07, 29 Jan 08 |
| §33 | TSP | Mist+Rinse | 15s+30s | 12 Dec 07 |
| §34 | TSP | Mist+Rinse | 30s+30s | 12 Dec 07 |
| §35 | CW | Mist+Rinse | 10s+5s | 19 Aug 08, 9 Sep 08 |
| §36 | ASC (Commercial) | Mist+Rinse | 10s+5s | 19 Aug 08, 9 Sep 08 |
| §37 | ASC (Commercial) | Mist+Wait+Rinse | 10s+5m+5s | 19 Aug 08, 9 Sep 08 |
| §38 | ASC (Commercial) | Mist+Wait+Rinse | 10s+30m+5s | 19 Aug 08, 9 Sep 08 |
| §39 | ASC (Commercial) | Mist+Wait+Rinse | 10s+60m+5s | 19 Aug 08, 9 Sep 08 |
| §40 | CW | High Intensity Wash | 5s | 1 Oct 08 |
| §41 | CW | High Intensity Wash | 15s | 1 Oct 08 |
| §42 | CW | High Intensity Wash | 30s | 1 Oct 08 |

Key: ASC - Acidified Sodium Chlorite 1000 ppm; CD - Chlorine Dioxide; CL - Chlorine;

CW - Cold Water; EW- Electrolysed Water; HW - Hot Water; Ozone - Ozone; PAA - Peroxy Acetic Acids;

Stm – Steam; TSP- Trisodium phosphate.

The treatment mean and variance were calculated from results on all experimental days of each separate treatment. The mean and variance for the controls for each treatment were derived from the untreated controls for each of the days on which that particular treatment was performed. These collated results were then subdivided into six organism-group/skin-part combinations: (Campylobacters, Enterobacteriaceae, Pseudomonads) x (breastskin, neck skin). In addition to the log₁₀ reduction, the proportion of samples where all plate counts were below the limit of detection was also calculated. These summary data are given in Table 17 to Table 22.

The three most effective chemical and three most effective physical treatments for each organism group/skin part combination, ranked by a). log reduction achieved by the treatment, b). proportion of samples after treatment below the limit of detection and c). levels remaining after treatment are given in Table 23.

| Campy Breas | st | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Significant |
|-------------|------|-------------|---------|---|---|------|------|---------|---|---|------|------|---|-------|---|---------|---------|--------|-------------|
| | | | Treated | Log10 | | | | Control | Log10 | | | | | Redn | % <lod< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>Effect</th></lod<> | | | | Effect |
| Treatment | Туре | Repeat Days | n | # <lod< th=""><th></th><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th>n</th><th>#<lod< th=""><th></th><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th></th><th></th><th>Treated</th><th>Control</th><th>Benefit</th><th></th><th>(P<0.01)</th></lod<></th></lod<> | | mean | SD | n | # <lod< th=""><th></th><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th></th><th></th><th>Treated</th><th>Control</th><th>Benefit</th><th></th><th>(P<0.01)</th></lod<> | | mean | SD | | | Treated | Control | Benefit | | (P<0.01) |
| ID #1 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 5 | < | 0.43 | 0.26 | 5 | 0 | | 2.00 | 0.87 | > | 1.57 | 100% | 0% | 100% | ID #1 | У |
| ID #2 | Chem | 4 | 20 | 15 | < | 0.67 | 0.61 | 20 | 1 | < | 1.52 | 0.67 | ~ | 0.85 | 75% | 5% | 70% | ID #2 | У |
| ID #3 | Chem | 4 | 35 | 3 | < | 1.58 | 0.67 | 20 | 0 | | 2.39 | 0.76 | > | 0.81 | 9% | 0% | 9% | ID #3 | У |
| ID #4 | Chem | 3 | 15 | 14 | < | 0.45 | 0.17 | 15 | 0 | | 1.73 | 0.62 | > | 1.28 | 93% | 0% | 93% | ID #4 | У |
| ID #5 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 1 | < | 1.34 | 0.66 | 5 | 1 | < | 0.97 | 0.34 | ~ | -0.37 | 20% | 20% | 0% | ID #5 | n |
| ID #6 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 4 | < | 0.72 | 0.68 | 5 | 0 | | 1.24 | 0.55 | > | 0.52 | 80% | 0% | 80% | ID #6 | n |
| ID #7 | Chem | 3 | 20 | 2 | < | 1.46 | 0.53 | 15 | 0 | | 1.59 | 0.52 | > | 0.13 | 10% | 0% | 10% | ID #7 | n |
| ID #8 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 1.93 | 0.48 | 10 | 0 | | 1.85 | 0.43 | | -0.08 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #8 | n |
| ID #9 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.05 | 0.84 | 10 | 0 | | 1.85 | 0.43 | | -0.20 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #9 | n |
| ID #10 | Phys | 6 | 30 | 1 | < | 2.25 | 0.73 | 30 | 1 | < | 2.28 | 0.90 | ~ | 0.03 | 3% | 3% | 0% | ID #10 | n |
| ID #11 | Phys | 11 | 55 | 0 | | 1.93 | 0.52 | 55 | 1 | < | 2.12 | 0.79 | < | 0.19 | 0% | 2% | -2% | ID #11 | n |
| ID #12 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 1.60 | 0.42 | 5 | 0 | | 1.24 | 0.55 | | -0.36 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #12 | n |
| ID #13 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 1.60 | 0.33 | 5 | 0 | | 2.28 | 0.14 | | 0.68 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #13 | У |
| ID #14 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.02 | 0.33 | 5 | 0 | | 2.28 | 0.14 | | 0.26 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #14 | n |
| ID #15 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.02 | 0.13 | 5 | 0 | | 1.72 | 0.51 | | -0.30 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #15 | n |
| ID #16 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.07 | 0.15 | 10 | 0 | | 1.85 | 0.43 | | -0.22 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #16 | n |
| ID #17 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.04 | 0.40 | 5 | 0 | | 1.48 | 0.69 | | -0.56 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #17 | n |
| ID #18 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 1.67 | 0.56 | 5 | 0 | | 1.48 | 0.69 | | -0.19 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #18 | n |
| ID #19 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 1.78 | 0.66 | 10 | 0 | | 1.85 | 0.43 | | 0.07 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #19 | n |
| ID #20 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 1.71 | 0.28 | 5 | 0 | | 2.28 | 0.14 | | 0.57 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #20 | v |
| ID #21 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 1 | < | 1.43 | 0.79 | 5 | 0 | | 2.28 | 0.14 | > | 0.85 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID #21 | 'n |
| ID #22 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 1.80 | 0.74 | 5 | 0 | | 1.72 | 0.51 | | -0.08 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #22 | n |
| ID #23 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 2.12 | 0.83 | 10 | 0 | | 2.93 | 0.94 | | 0.81 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #23 | n |
| ID #24 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 2 | < | 1.78 | 0.75 | 10 | 0 | | 2.93 | 0.94 | > | 1.15 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID #24 | n |
| ID #25 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 2.11 | 0.45 | 10 | 0 | | 2.93 | 0.94 | | 0.82 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #25 | n |
| ID #26 | Phys | 3 | 14 | 5 | < | 1.49 | 0.95 | 15 | 1 | < | 2.15 | 0.83 | ~ | 0.66 | 36% | 7% | 29% | ID #26 | n |
| ID #27 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 1.50 | 0.45 | 5 | 0 | | 1.31 | 0.42 | | -0.19 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #27 | n |
| ID #28 | Phys | 3 | 15 | 8 | < | 0.87 | 0.63 | 15 | 1 | < | 2.15 | 0.83 | ~ | 1.28 | 53% | 7% | 47% | ID #28 | у |
| ID #29 | Phys | 3 | 15 | 9 | < | 0.91 | 0.55 | 15 | 1 | < | 2.15 | 0.83 | ~ | 1.24 | 60% | 7% | 53% | ID #29 | ý |
| ID #30 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 2 | < | 1.32 | 1.04 | 10 | 0 | | 2.13 | 0.45 | > | 0.81 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID #30 | n |
| ID #31 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 1.92 | 0.61 | 10 | 0 | | 2.50 | 0.21 | | 0.58 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #31 | n |
| ID #32 | Chem | 3 | 15 | 10 | < | 0.79 | 0.38 | 15 | 1 | < | 2.16 | 0.57 | ~ | 1.37 | 67% | 7% | 60% | ID #32 | у |
| ID #33 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 1.79 | 0.35 | 5 | 0 | | 2.37 | 0.16 | | 0.58 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #33 | n |
| ID #34 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 1.50 | 0.28 | 5 | 0 | | 2.37 | 0.16 | | 0.87 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #34 | у |
| ID #35 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 2.54 | 0.27 | 10 | 0 | | 2.65 | 0.36 | | 0.11 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #35 | n |
| ID #36 | Chem | 2 | 9 | 2 | < | 1.39 | 0.79 | 10 | 0 | | 2.65 | 0.36 | > | 1.26 | 22% | 0% | 22% | ID #36 | У |
| ID #37 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 4 | < | 0.83 | 0.62 | 10 | 0 | | 2.65 | 0.36 | > | 1.82 | 40% | 0% | 40% | ID #37 | y |
| ID #38 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 1 | < | 1.38 | 0.65 | 10 | 0 | | 2.65 | 0.36 | > | 1.27 | 10% | 0% | 10% | ID #38 | ý |
| ID #39 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 1.70 | 0.63 | 10 | 0 | | 2.65 | 0.36 | | 0.95 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #39 | ý |
| ID #40 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.13 | 0.48 | 5 | 0 | | 2.71 | 0.39 | | 0.58 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #40 | n |
| ID #41 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 1.98 | 1.09 | 5 | 0 | | 2.71 | 0.39 | | 0.73 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #41 | n |
| ID #42 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.12 | 0.15 | 5 | 0 | | 2.71 | 0.39 | | 0.59 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #42 | n |

Table 17. Summary of results for Campylobacters on breast skin

| Campy Neck | | | | | | | | | | | 1 | | | | | | Significant |
|------------|------|-------------|---------|---|--------|------|---------|--|------|------|---|-------|---|---------|---------|-------|-------------|
| | | | Treated | Log10 | | | Control | Log10 | | | | Redn | % <lod< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>Effect</th></lod<> | | | | Effect |
| Treatment | Туре | Repeat Days | n | # <lod< th=""><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th>n</th><th>#<lod< th=""><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th></th><th></th><th>Treated</th><th>Control</th><th>Benefit</th><th></th><th>(P<0.01)</th></lod<></th></lod<> | mean | SD | n | # <lod< th=""><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th></th><th></th><th>Treated</th><th>Control</th><th>Benefit</th><th></th><th>(P<0.01)</th></lod<> | mean | SD | | | Treated | Control | Benefit | | (P<0.01) |
| ID#01 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 1 | < 1.41 | 1.47 | 5 | 0 | 2.86 | 1.37 | > | 1.45 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID#01 | n |
| ID#02 | Chem | 4 | 20 | 13 | < 0.96 | 0.92 | 20 | 0 | 2.41 | 0.87 | > | 1.45 | 65% | 0% | 65% | ID#02 | у |
| ID#03 | Chem | 4 | 35 | 2 | < 1.86 | 0.69 | 20 | 0 | 2.90 | 0.92 | > | 1.04 | 6% | 0% | 6% | ID#03 | у |
| ID#04 | Chem | 3 | 15 | 7 | < 0.85 | 0.60 | 15 | 0 | 2.45 | 0.91 | > | 1.60 | 47% | 0% | 47% | ID#04 | у |
| ID#05 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 1 | < 1.48 | 0.89 | 5 | 0 | 1.87 | 0.49 | > | 0.39 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID#05 | n |
| ID#06 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 1 | < 1.55 | 0.89 | 5 | 0 | 2.40 | 0.74 | > | 0.85 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID#06 | n |
| ID#07 | Chem | 3 | 20 | 0 | 2.11 | 0.44 | 15 | 0 | 1.96 | 0.41 | | -0.15 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#07 | n |
| ID#08 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.52 | 0.83 | 20 | 0 | 2.46 | 0.67 | | -0.06 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#08 | n |
| ID#09 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.63 | 0.91 | 20 | 0 | 2.46 | 0.67 | | -0.17 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#09 | n |
| ID#10 | Phys | 6 | 30 | 0 | 2.78 | 0.84 | 30 | 0 | 3.01 | 0.85 | | 0.38 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#10 | n |
| ID#11 | Phys | 11 | 55 | 0 | 2.41 | 0.61 | 55 | 0 | 2.81 | 0.85 | | 0.03 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#11 | Y |
| ID#12 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 1 | < 2.21 | 1.17 | 5 | 0 | 2.40 | 0.74 | > | 0.19 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID#12 | n |
| ID#13 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.43 | 0.04 | 5 | 0 | 2.98 | 0.46 | | 0.55 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#13 | n |
| ID#14 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.91 | 0.60 | 5 | 0 | 2.98 | 0.46 | | 0.07 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#14 | n |
| ID#15 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.02 | 0.45 | 5 | 0 | 1.98 | 0.14 | | -1.04 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#15 | y |
| ID#16 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.72 | 0.78 | 20 | 0 | 2.46 | 0.67 | | -0.26 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#16 | n |
| ID#17 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.26 | 0.60 | 5 | 0 | 2.57 | 0.30 | | 0.31 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#17 | n |
| ID#18 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.23 | 0.48 | 5 | 0 | 2.57 | 0.30 | | 0.34 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#18 | n |
| ID#19 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.81 | 1.18 | 20 | 0 | 2.46 | 0.67 | | -0.35 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#19 | n |
| ID#20 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.48 | 0.67 | 5 | 0 | 2.98 | 0.46 | | 0.50 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#20 | n |
| ID#21 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.77 | 0.46 | 5 | 0 | 2.98 | 0.46 | | 0.21 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#21 | n |
| ID#22 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.71 | 0.86 | 5 | 0 | 1.98 | 0.14 | | -0.73 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#22 | n |
| ID#23 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.62 | 0.73 | 10 | 0 | 3.58 | 0.84 | | 0.96 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#23 | n |
| ID#24 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.61 | 0.89 | 10 | 0 | 3.58 | 0.84 | | 0.97 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#24 | n |
| ID#25 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.47 | 0.35 | 10 | 0 | 3.58 | 0.84 | | 1.11 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#25 | y |
| ID#26 | Phys | 3 | 14 | 0 | 2.49 | 1.01 | 15 | 0 | 2.58 | 1.03 | | 0.09 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#26 | n |
| ID#27 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.35 | 0.22 | 5 | 0 | 1.57 | 0.40 | | -0.78 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#27 | y |
| ID#28 | Phys | 3 | 15 | 0 | 2.05 | 0.85 | 15 | 0 | 2.58 | 1.03 | | 0.53 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#28 | n |
| ID#29 | Phys | 3 | 15 | 1 | < 2.09 | 1.03 | 15 | 0 | 2.58 | 1.03 | > | 0.49 | 7% | 0% | 7% | ID#29 | n |
| ID#30 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.64 | 0.97 | 10 | 0 | 3.19 | 0.80 | | 0.55 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#30 | n |
| ID#31 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 2 | < 1.89 | 1.22 | 10 | 0 | 3.25 | 0.28 | > | 1.36 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID#31 | Y |
| ID#32 | Chem | 3 | 15 | 11 | < 0.81 | 0.74 | 15 | 0 | 3.22 | 0.46 | > | 2.41 | 73% | 0% | 73% | ID#32 | y |
| ID#33 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.25 | 0.42 | 5 | 0 | 3.24 | 0.18 | | 0.99 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#33 | ý |
| ID#34 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.11 | 0.52 | 5 | 0 | 3.24 | 0.18 | | 1.13 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#34 | ý |
| ID#35 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.88 | 0.32 | 10 | 0 | 2.88 | 0.44 | | 0.00 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#35 | |
| ID#36 | Chem | 2 | 9 | 1 | < 1.80 | 0.73 | 10 | 0 | 2.88 | 0.44 | > | 1.08 | 11% | 0% | 11% | ID#36 | У |
| ID#37 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 1 | < 1.76 | 0.61 | 10 | 0 | 2.88 | 0.44 | > | 1.12 | 10% | 0% | 10% | ID#37 | ý |
| ID#38 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.33 | 0.54 | 10 | 0 | 2.88 | 0.44 | | 0.55 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#38 | n |
| ID#39 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 2 | < 1.89 | 1.07 | 10 | 0 | 2.88 | 0.44 | > | 0.99 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID#39 | n |
| ID#40 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.91 | 0.49 | 5 | 0 | 3.05 | 0.40 | | 0.14 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#40 | n |
| ID#41 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.68 | 0.40 | 5 | 0 | 3.05 | 0.40 | | 0.37 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#41 | n |
| ID#42 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.93 | 0.49 | 5 | 0 | 3.05 | 0.40 | | 0.12 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#42 | n |

 Table 18. Summary of results for Campylobacters on neck skin

| Entero Breas | st | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Significant |
|--------------|------|-------------|---------|--|---|------|------|---------|--|------|------|---|-------|---|---------|---------|-------|-------------|
| | | | Treated | Log10 | | | | Control | Log10 | | | | Redn | % <lod< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>Effect</th></lod<> | | | | Effect |
| Treatment | Туре | Repeat Days | n | # <lod< th=""><th></th><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th>n</th><th>#<lod< th=""><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th></th><th></th><th>Treated</th><th>Control</th><th>Benefit</th><th></th><th>(P<0.01)</th></lod<></th></lod<> | | mean | SD | n | # <lod< th=""><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th></th><th></th><th>Treated</th><th>Control</th><th>Benefit</th><th></th><th>(P<0.01)</th></lod<> | mean | SD | | | Treated | Control | Benefit | | (P<0.01) |
| ID#01 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 2 | < | 0.61 | 0.32 | 5 | 0 | 3.01 | 0.76 | > | 2.40 | 40% | 0% | 40% | ID#01 | У |
| ID#02 | Chem | 4 | 20 | 9 | < | 1.31 | 0.87 | 20 | 0 | 2.89 | 0.54 | > | 1.58 | 45% | 0% | 45% | ID#02 | У |
| ID#03 | Chem | 4 | 35 | 0 | | 4.12 | 1.18 | 20 | 0 | 4.44 | 1.12 | | 0.32 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#03 | n |
| ID#04 | Chem | 3 | 15 | 7 | < | 1.17 | 0.87 | 15 | 0 | 3.27 | 0.52 | > | 2.10 | 47% | 0% | 47% | ID#04 | у |
| ID#05 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.70 | 0.34 | 5 | 0 | 2.39 | 0.19 | | -0.31 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#05 | n |
| ID#06 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 1.99 | 0.39 | 5 | 0 | 2.79 | 0.30 | | 0.80 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#06 | N |
| ID#07 | Chem | 3 | 20 | 0 | | 3.42 | 0.45 | 15 | 0 | 3.91 | 0.75 | | 0.49 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#07 | n |
| ID#08 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.09 | 0.67 | 10 | 0 | 2.03 | 0.22 | | -0.06 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#08 | n |
| ID#09 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.27 | 0.55 | 10 | 0 | 2.03 | 0.22 | | -0.24 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#09 | n |
| ID#10 | Phys | 6 | 30 | 0 | | 3.53 | 0.73 | 30 | 0 | 3.30 | 0.75 | | 1.03 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#10 | n |
| ID#11 | Phys | 11 | 55 | 0 | | 3.66 | 0.88 | 55 | 0 | 3.79 | 1.06 | | 0.26 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#11 | n |
| ID#12 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 3.18 | 0.39 | 5 | 0 | 2.79 | 0.30 | | -0.39 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#12 | n |
| ID#13 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 3.33 | 0.21 | 5 | 0 | 2.86 | 0.46 | | -0.47 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#13 | n |
| ID#14 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 3.02 | 0.37 | 5 | 0 | 2.86 | 0.46 | | -0.16 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#14 | n |
| ID#15 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.66 | 0.52 | 5 | 0 | 3.06 | 0.60 | | 0.40 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#15 | n |
| ID#16 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.16 | 0.19 | 10 | 0 | 2.03 | 0.22 | | -0.13 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#16 | n |
| ID#17 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 3.75 | 0.29 | 5 | 0 | 4.06 | 0.52 | | 0.31 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#17 | n |
| ID#18 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 4.09 | 0.10 | 5 | 0 | 4.06 | 0.52 | | -0.03 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#18 | n |
| ID#19 | Phys | 1 | 5 | i 1 | < | 1.88 | 0.69 | 10 | 0 | 2.03 | 0.22 | > | 0.15 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID#19 | n |
| ID#20 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 3.17 | 0.24 | 5 | 0 | 2.86 | 0.46 | | -0.31 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#20 | n |
| ID#21 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 3.26 | 0.36 | 5 | 0 | 2.86 | 0.46 | | -0.40 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#21 | n |
| ID#22 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.87 | 0.25 | 5 | 0 | 3.60 | 0.60 | | 0.73 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#22 | n |
| ID#23 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 3.17 | 0.80 | 10 | 0 | 3.36 | 0.83 | | 0.19 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#23 | n |
| ID#24 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 2.76 | 0.53 | 10 | 0 | 3.36 | 0.83 | | 0.60 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#24 | n |
| ID#25 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 3.62 | 0.50 | 10 | 0 | 3.36 | 0.83 | | -0.26 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#25 | n |
| ID#26 | Phys | 3 | 14 | 3 | < | 2.53 | 0.27 | 15 | 0 | 3.28 | 0.36 | > | 0.75 | 21% | 0% | 21% | ID#26 | У |
| ID#27 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.88 | 0.31 | 5 | 0 | 3.18 | 0.39 | | 0.30 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#27 | n |
| ID#28 | Phys | 3 | 15 | 1 | < | 2.26 | 0.99 | 15 | 0 | 3.28 | 0.36 | > | 1.02 | 7% | 0% | 7% | ID#28 | у |
| ID#29 | Phys | 3 | 15 | 2 | < | 1.87 | 0.88 | 15 | 0 | 3.28 | 0.36 | > | 1.41 | 13% | 0% | 13% | ID#29 | ý |
| ID#30 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 2.12 | 0.91 | 10 | 0 | 3.10 | 0.28 | | 0.98 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#30 | Ý |
| ID#31 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 3.46 | 0.89 | 10 | 0 | 3.67 | 0.68 | | 0.21 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#31 | n |
| ID#32 | Chem | 3 | 15 | 4 | < | 2.13 | 1.26 | 15 | 0 | 3.14 | 0.99 | > | 1.01 | 27% | 0% | 27% | ID#32 | n |
| ID#33 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.73 | 0.27 | 5 | 0 | 3.07 | 0.19 | | 0.34 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#33 | n |
| ID#34 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 2.80 | 0.27 | 5 | 0 | 3.07 | 0.19 | | 0.27 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#34 | n |
| ID#35 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 3.98 | 0.78 | 10 | 0 | 3.70 | 0.53 | | -0.28 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#35 | n |
| ID#36 | Chem | 2 | 9 | 0 | | 3.14 | 0.62 | 10 | 0 | 3.70 | 0.53 | | 0.56 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#36 | n |
| ID#37 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 3.53 | 0.36 | 10 | 0 | 3.70 | 0.53 | | 0.17 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#37 | n |
| ID#38 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 2.92 | 0.69 | 10 | 0 | 3.70 | 0.53 | | 0.78 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#38 | N |
| ID#39 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | | 3.11 | 0.59 | 10 | 0 | 3.70 | 0.53 | | 0.59 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#39 | n |
| ID#40 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 3.19 | 0.17 | 5 | 0 | 3.26 | 0.19 | | 0.07 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#40 | n |
| ID#41 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 3.43 | 0.49 | 5 | 0 | 3.27 | 0.19 | | -0.16 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#41 | n |
| ID#42 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | | 3.46 | 0.25 | 5 | 0 | 3.26 | 0.19 | | -0.20 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#42 | n |

 Table 19. Summary of results for Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin

| Entero Neck | | | | | | | | | | | | | Treated | | | | Significant |
|-------------|------|-------------|---------|--|--------|------|--------|--|------|------|---|-------|---|---------|---------|-------|-------------|
| | | | Treated | Log10 | | | Contro | Log10 | | | | Redn | % <lod< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>Effect</th></lod<> | | | | Effect |
| Treatment | Type | Repeat Days | n | # <lod< th=""><th>mea</th><th>n SD</th><th>n</th><th>#<lod< th=""><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th></th><th></th><th>Treated</th><th>Control</th><th>Benefit</th><th></th><th>(P<0.01)</th></lod<></th></lod<> | mea | n SD | n | # <lod< th=""><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th></th><th></th><th>Treated</th><th>Control</th><th>Benefit</th><th></th><th>(P<0.01)</th></lod<> | mean | SD | | | Treated | Control | Benefit | | (P<0.01) |
| ID#01 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 1 | < 1.41 | 0.87 | 5 | 0 | 3.59 | 0.83 | > | 2.18 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID#01 | |
| ID#02 | Chem | 4 | 20 | 3 | < 1.81 | 1.00 | 20 | 0 | 3.58 | 0.67 | > | 1.77 | 15% | 0% | 15% | ID#02 | ý |
| ID#03 | Chem | 4 | 35 | 0 | 3.84 | 1.27 | 20 | 0 | 4.54 | 1.13 | | 0.70 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#03 | 'n |
| ID#04 | Chem | 3 | 15 | 1 | < 2.07 | 0.80 | 15 | 0 | 3.96 | 0.64 | > | 1.89 | 7% | 0% | 7% | ID#04 | v |
| ID#05 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.23 | 0.55 | 5 | 0 | 3.14 | 0.25 | | 0.91 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#05 | 'n |
| ID#06 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.78 | 0.32 | 5 | 0 | 3.20 | 0.17 | | 0.42 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#06 | n |
| ID#07 | Chem | 3 | 20 | 0 | 3.59 | 0.52 | 15 | 0 | 4.10 | 0.84 | | 0.51 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#07 | n |
| ID#08 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.70 | 0.38 | 20 | 0 | 2.84 | 0.58 | | 0.14 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#08 | n |
| ID#09 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.11 | 0.46 | 20 | 0 | 2.84 | 0.58 | | -0.27 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#09 | n |
| ID#10 | Phys | 6 | 30 | 0 | 3.94 | 0.58 | 30 | 0 | 4.01 | 0.83 | | 0.07 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#10 | n |
| ID#11 | Phys | 11 | 55 | 0 | 3.78 | 0.79 | 55 | 0 | 4.16 | 0.94 | | 0.38 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#11 | n |
| ID#12 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.11 | 0.51 | 5 | 0 | 3.20 | 0.17 | | 0.09 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#12 | n |
| ID#13 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.69 | 0.32 | 5 | 0 | 3.55 | 0.33 | | -0.14 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#13 | n |
| ID#14 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.72 | 0.40 | 5 | 0 | 3.55 | 0.33 | | -0.17 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#14 | n |
| ID#15 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.41 | 0.31 | 5 | 0 | 3.36 | 0.34 | | -0.05 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#15 | n |
| ID#16 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.91 | 0.44 | 20 | 0 | 2.84 | 0.58 | | -0.07 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#16 | n |
| ID#17 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.86 | 0.51 | 5 | 0 | 3.48 | 0.35 | | -0.38 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#17 | n |
| ID#18 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 4.05 | 0.39 | 5 | 0 | 3.48 | 0.35 | | -0.57 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#18 | n |
| ID#19 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.21 | 0.36 | 20 | 0 | 2.84 | 0.58 | | -0.37 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#19 | n |
| ID#20 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.68 | 0.50 | 5 | 0 | 3.55 | 0.33 | | -0.13 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#20 | n |
| ID#21 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.86 | 0.58 | 5 | 0 | 3.55 | 0.33 | | -0.31 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#21 | n |
| ID#22 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.72 | 0.51 | 5 | 0 | 3.36 | 0.34 | | -0.36 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#22 | n |
| ID#23 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.17 | 0.64 | 10 | 0 | 3.97 | 0.69 | | 0.80 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#23 | n |
| ID#24 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.21 | 0.46 | 10 | 0 | 3.97 | 0.69 | | 0.76 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#24 | n |
| ID#25 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.75 | 0.48 | 10 | 0 | 3.97 | 0.69 | | 0.22 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#25 | n |
| ID#26 | Phys | 3 | 14 | 0 | 3.78 | 0.61 | 15 | 0 | 3.72 | 0.48 | | -0.06 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#26 | n |
| ID#27 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.71 | 0.74 | 5 | 0 | 3.70 | 0.43 | | -0.01 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#27 | n |
| ID#28 | Phys | 3 | 15 | 0 | 3.70 | 0.57 | 15 | 0 | 3.72 | 0.48 | | 0.02 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#28 | n |
| ID#29 | Phys | 3 | 15 | 0 | 3.61 | 0.63 | 15 | 0 | 3.72 | 0.48 | | 0.11 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#29 | n |
| ID#30 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.65 | 0.79 | 10 | 0 | 3.88 | 0.46 | | 0.23 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#30 | n |
| ID#31 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.59 | 1.62 | 10 | 0 | 4.29 | 1.04 | | 1.70 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#31 | n |
| ID#32 | Chem | 3 | 15 | 10 | < 0.88 | 0.83 | 15 | 0 | 4.17 | 0.90 | > | 3.29 | 67% | 0% | 67% | ID#32 | У |
| ID#33 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.86 | 0.48 | 5 | 0 | 3.34 | 0.21 | | 0.48 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#33 | n |
| ID#34 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.89 | 0.22 | 5 | 0 | 3.34 | 0.21 | | 0.45 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#34 | n |
| ID#35 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 4.32 | 0.62 | 10 | 0 | 4.01 | 0.57 | | -0.31 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#35 | n |
| ID#36 | Chem | 2 | 9 | 0 | 3.30 | 0.45 | 10 | 0 | 4.01 | 0.57 | | 0.71 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#36 | n |
| ID#37 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.80 | 0.43 | 10 | 0 | 4.01 | 0.57 | | 0.21 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#37 | n |
| ID#38 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.37 | 0.69 | 10 | 0 | 4.01 | 0.57 | | 0.64 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#38 | n |
| ID#39 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.32 | 0.76 | 10 | 0 | 4.01 | 0.57 | | 0.69 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#39 | n |
| ID#40 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.79 | 0.60 | 5 | 0 | 3.65 | 0.37 | | -0.14 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#40 | n |
| ID#41 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.64 | 0.46 | 5 | 0 | 3.65 | 0.37 | | 0.01 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#41 | n |
| ID#42 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.85 | 0.24 | 5 | 0 | 3.65 | 0.37 | | -0.20 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#42 | n |

Table 20. Summary of results for Enterobacteriaceae on neck skin

| Pseudo Brea | ast | | | | | | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | Significant |
|-------------|------|-------------|---------|---|--------------------------------------|------------------|---------|---|--------------|--------------|-----------|---|-------|---|---------|--------------------|-------|-------------|
| _ | | | Treated | Log10 | | | Control | Log10 | | | | | Redn | % <lod< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>Effect</th></lod<> | | | | Effect |
| Treatment | Type | Repeat Days | n | # <lod< th=""><th>me</th><th>an SD</th><th>n</th><th>#<lod< th=""><th>) me</th><th>an S</th><th>SD</th><th></th><th></th><th>Treated</th><th>Control</th><th>Benefit</th><th></th><th>(P<0.01)</th></lod<></th></lod<> | me | an SD | n | # <lod< th=""><th>) me</th><th>an S</th><th>SD</th><th></th><th></th><th>Treated</th><th>Control</th><th>Benefit</th><th></th><th>(P<0.01)</th></lod<> |) me | an S | SD | | | Treated | Control | Benefit | | (P<0.01) |
| ID#01 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 2 | < 1.2 | 9 0.78 | 5 | 0 | 3.2 | 29 0 | .12 | > | 2.00 | 40% | 0% | 40% | ID#01 | V |
| ID#02 | Chem | 4 | 20 | 5 | < 1.3 | 3 0.70 | 20 | 0 | 2.4 | 9 0 | .65 | > | 1.16 | 25% | 0% | 25% | ID#02 | v |
| ID#03 | Chem | 4 | 35 | 0 | 3.1 | 5 1.03 | 20 | 0 | 3.3 | 35 0 | .90 | | 0.20 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#03 | n |
| ID#04 | Chem | 3 | 15 | 3 | < 1.5 | 7 0.71 | 15 | 0 | 2.7 | 78 0 | .48 | > | 1.21 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID#04 | v |
| ID#05 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 1.5 | 6 0.40 | 5 | Ō | 16 | <u>59</u> 0 | 41 | | 0.13 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#05 | n |
| ID#06 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 1 | < 1.5 | 9 0.81 | 5 | Ő | 25 | 55 0 | 38 | > | 0.96 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID#06 | n |
| ID#07 | Chem | 3 | 20 | 0 | 24 | 4 0.46 | 15 | õ | 2.8 | 32 0 | 55 | | 0.38 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#07 | n |
| ID#08 | Chem | 1 | 5 | Õ | 1 0 | 4 0.46 | 10 | õ | 26 | SO 0 | 50 | | 0.66 | 0% | 0% | 0% | 10#08 | n |
| ID#09 | Chem | 1 | 5 | Ő | 1.0 | 4 0.36 | 10 | õ | 2.0 | 30 0 | 50 | | 0.66 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#09 | n |
| ID#10 | Phys | 6 | 30 | 0 | 2.4 | 2 0.64 | 30 | 0 | 2.0 | | 63 | | -0.13 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#10 | n |
| ID#10 | Phys | 11 | 55 | 0 | 2.7 | 7 0.04 | 55 | 2 | < 27 | -0 0 78 0 | .00 00 | < | -0.10 | 0% | 4% | -4% | ID#10 | n |
| ID#12 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.5 | 5 0.06 | 5 | 0 | 2.1 | 5 0 | 38 | | 0.00 | 0% | | - - 7/0 | ID#11 | n |
| ID#12 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.0 | 8 0.27 | 5 | Ő | 2.0 |)5 0 | 12 | | -0.33 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#12 | n |
| ID#13 | Dhve | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.0 | 1 0.26 | 5 | 0 | 2.0 |)5 0 | 12 | | -0.05 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#13 | n |
| ID#14 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.1 | 5 0.20 | 5 | 0 | 2.0 | | 51 | | 1.54 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#14 | . II |
| ID#15 | Dhys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 3.0 | 1 0.00 | 10 | 0 | 2.0 | 50 0 | 50 | | -1.31 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#15 | y V |
| ID#10 | Chom | 1 | 5 | 0 | 0.0 | Q 0.20 | 10 | 0 | 2.0 | | 10 | | -0.32 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#10 | y |
| ID#17 | Chom | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.0 | 0 0.29 | 5 | 0 | 2.0 | | 10 | | 0.32 | 0% | 0% | 0 /0 | 10#17 | |
| ID#10 | Dhyc | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.0 | 0 0.41 | 10 | 0 | 2.0 | | .19 | | -0.17 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#10 | |
| ID#19 | Chom | 1 | 5 | 0 | 1.0 | 0 0.39 | 10 | 0 | 2.0 | | .50 | | 0.00 | 0% | 0% | 0 /0 | ID#19 | У |
| ID#20 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.0 | 0 0.10 | 5 | 0 | 2.0 | | .42 | | -0.03 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#20 | |
| | Chem | 1 | 5 | | 2.2 | 1 0.20 | 5 | 0 | 2.0 | | .42 | | -0.10 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#21 | n |
| 10#22 | Chem | 1 | 10 | 0 | 2.3 | 4 0.02 | 10 | 0 | 2.5 | | .51 | | 0.05 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#22 | |
| ID#23 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.0 | 0 0.52 | 10 | 0 | 2.0 | | .07 | | 0.57 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#23 | n |
| ID#24 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 1.0 | T 0.52 | 10 | 0 | 2.0 | | .07 | | 0.50 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#24 | |
| ID#25 | Dhue | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.0 | 0 1 5 6 | 10 | 0 | 2.3 | | .07 | | -0.10 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#25 | n |
| | Phys | 3 | 10 | 5 | Z.0 4.0 | 0 1.00 | 15 | 0 | 2.4 | | .44 | ~ | -0.12 | 33% | 0% | 33% | ID#20 | n . |
| | Phys | 1 | C 15 | 0 | 1.3 | 3 0.34 4 0.77 | 15 | 0 | 2.3 | 59 U | .30 | | 1.00 | 40% | 0% | 0% 409/ | ID#27 | У |
| 10#20 | Phys | 3 | 10 | 0 | 5 1.1 | 4 0.77 | 15 | 0 | 2.4 | | .44 | | 1.32 | 40% | 0% | 40% | ID#20 | У |
| ID#29 | Phys | 3 | 10 | 3 | < 2.2 | 0 1.11 | 10 | 0 | 2.4 | | .44 | ~ | 0.20 | 20% | 0% | 20% | ID#29 | n |
| ID#30 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.0 | 0.00 | 10 | 0 | 2.2 | | .45 | | -0.41 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#30 | n |
| ID#31 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 1 | < 2.0 | 2 0.90 | 10 | 0 | 2.4 | | .08 | > | 0.43 | 10% | 0% | 10% | ID#31 | n |
| ID#32 | Chem | 3 | 10 | 0 | < 1.2 | 3 0.70 | 10 | 2 | < 1.8 4 C | | .90 | ~ | 0.75 | 40% | 13% | 21% | ID#32 | n |
| ID#33 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 1.4 | 2 0.42 | 5 | 0 | 1.0 | 33 U | .23 | | 0.41 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#33 | n |
| ID#34 | Cnem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 1.3 | 7 0.61 | 5 | 0 | 1.8 | 33 0 | .23 | | 0.46 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#34 | n |
| ID#35 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.2 | 4 0.44 | 10 | 0 | 2.9 | 99 0 | .58 | | -0.25 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#35 | n |
| ID#36 | Chem | 2 | 9 | 0 | 2.7 | 0 0.46 | 10 | 0 | 2.9 | 99 0 | .58 | | 0.29 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#36 | n |
| ID#37 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.3 | 3 0.55 | 10 | 0 | 2.9 | 99 0 | .58 | | 0.66 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#37 | n |
| ID#38 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.0 | 0 0.70 | 10 | 0 | 2.9 | 99 0 | .58 | | 0.99 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#38 | У |
| ID#39 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.0 | 8 0.75 | 10 | 0 | 2.9 | 9 0 | .58 | | 0.91 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#39 | У |
| ID#40 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.3 | 5 0.39 | 5 | 0 | 2.2 | 21 0 | .12 | | -0.14 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#40 | n |
| ID#41 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 1.9 | 0 0.46 | 5 | 0 | 2.2 | 21 0 | .12 | | 0.31 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#41 | n |
| ID#42 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.2 | 2 0.32 | 5 | 0 | 2.2 | 21 0 | .12 | | -0.01 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID#42 | n |

 Table 21. Summary of results for Pseudomonads on breast skin

| Pseudo Neck | C | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Confidence |
|-------------|------|-------------|---------|---|--------|------|---------|--|------|------|--------|--|---------|---------|--------|------------|
| | _ | | Treated | Log10 | | | Control | Log10 | | | Redn | % <lod< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>>99%</th></lod<> | | | | >99% |
| Treatment | Туре | Repeat Days | n | # <lod< th=""><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th>n</th><th>#<lod< th=""><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th></th><th>Treated</th><th>Control</th><th>Benefit</th><th></th><th></th></lod<></th></lod<> | mean | SD | n | # <lod< th=""><th>mean</th><th>SD</th><th></th><th>Treated</th><th>Control</th><th>Benefit</th><th></th><th></th></lod<> | mean | SD | | Treated | Control | Benefit | | |
| ID #1 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.24 | 0.13 | 5 | 0 | 3.37 | 0.24 | 1.13 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #1 | у |
| ID #2 | Chem | 4 | 20 | 0 | 2.20 | 0.51 | 20 | 0 | 2.94 | 0.47 | 0.74 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #2 | ý |
| ID #3 | Chem | 4 | 35 | 0 | 3.12 | 1.12 | 20 | 0 | 3.73 | 0.95 | 0.61 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #3 | n |
| ID #4 | Chem | 3 | 15 | 0 | 2.33 | 0.60 | 15 | 0 | 3.23 | 0.37 | 0.90 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #4 | y |
| ID #5 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.16 | 0.24 | 5 | 0 | 2.43 | 0.23 | 0.27 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #5 | 'n |
| ID #6 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.76 | 0.30 | 5 | 0 | 2.78 | 0.18 | 0.02 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #6 | n |
| ID #7 | Chem | 3 | 20 | 0 | 2.88 | 0.30 | 15 | 0 | 2.94 | 0.50 | 0.06 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #7 | n |
| ID #8 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.76 | 0.55 | 20 | 0 | 3.05 | 0.50 | 0.29 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #8 | n |
| ID #9 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.13 | 0.52 | 20 | 0 | 3.05 | 0.50 | -0.08 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #9 | n |
| ID #10 | Phys | 6 | 30 | 0 | 2.92 | 0.54 | 30 | 0 | 2.91 | 0.56 | -0.01 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #10 | n |
| ID #11 | Phys | 11 | 55 | 0 | 3.35 | 0.79 | 55 | 0 | 3.22 | 0.77 | -0.13 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #11 | n |
| ID #12 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.87 | 0.35 | 5 | 0 | 2.78 | 0.18 | -0.09 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #12 | n |
| ID #13 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.73 | 0.24 | 5 | 0 | 2.76 | 0.28 | 0.03 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #13 | n |
| ID #14 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.79 | 0.27 | 5 | 0 | 2.76 | 0.28 | -0.03 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #14 | n |
| ID #15 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.25 | 0.36 | 5 | 0 | 3.38 | 0.08 | 1.13 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #15 | v |
| ID #16 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 4.09 | 0.24 | 20 | 0 | 3.05 | 0.50 | -1.04 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #16 | ý |
| ID #17 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.87 | 0.18 | 5 | 0 | 2.86 | 0.11 | -0.01 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #17 | n |
| ID #18 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.90 | 0.23 | 5 | 0 | 2.86 | 0.11 | -0.04 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #18 | n |
| ID #19 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.22 | 0.59 | 20 | 0 | 3.05 | 0.50 | -0.17 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #19 | n |
| ID #20 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.81 | 0.44 | 5 | 0 | 2.76 | 0.28 | -0.05 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #20 | n |
| ID #21 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.59 | 0.29 | 5 | 0 | 2.76 | 0.28 | 0.17 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #21 | n |
| ID #22 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.65 | 0.30 | 5 | 0 | 3.38 | 0.08 | 0.73 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #22 | y |
| ID #23 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.29 | 0.30 | 10 | 0 | 3.08 | 0.53 | 0.79 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #23 | ý |
| ID #24 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.33 | 0.22 | 10 | 0 | 3.08 | 0.53 | 0.75 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #24 | ý |
| ID #25 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.94 | 0.45 | 10 | 0 | 3.08 | 0.53 | 0.14 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #25 | n |
| ID #26 | Phys | 3 | 14 | 0 | 2.98 | 1.25 | 15 | 0 | 2.66 | 0.53 | -0.32 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #26 | n |
| ID #27 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.33 | 0.48 | 5 | 0 | 2.70 | 0.43 | 0.37 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #27 | n |
| ID #28 | Phys | 3 | 15 | 0 | 2.24 | 0.83 | 15 | 0 | 2.66 | 0.53 | 0.42 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #28 | n |
| ID #29 | Phys | 3 | 15 | 0 | 3.27 | 0.88 | 15 | 0 | 2.66 | 0.53 | -0.61 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #29 | n |
| ID #30 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.31 | 0.61 | 10 | 0 | 2.97 | 0.47 | -0.34 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #30 | n |
| ID #31 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 1 | < 1.92 | 1.06 | 10 | 0 | 2.85 | 0.62 | > 0.93 | 10% | 0% | 10% | ID #31 | n |
| ID #32 | Chem | 3 | 15 | 8 | < 0.81 | 0.56 | 15 | 0 | 2.82 | 0.51 | > 2.01 | 53% | 0% | 53% | ID #32 | У |
| ID #33 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 1.59 | 0.34 | 5 | 0 | 2.35 | 0.24 | 0.76 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #33 | У |
| ID #34 | Chem | 1 | 5 | 0 | 1.53 | 0.56 | 5 | 0 | 2.35 | 0.24 | 0.82 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #34 | n |
| ID #35 | Phys | 2 | 10 | 0 | 3.46 | 0.70 | 10 | 0 | 3.42 | 0.69 | -0.04 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #35 | n |
| ID #36 | Chem | 2 | 9 | 0 | 2.78 | 0.41 | 10 | 0 | 3.42 | 0.69 | 0.64 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #36 | n |
| ID #37 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.43 | 0.38 | 10 | 0 | 3.42 | 0.69 | 0.99 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #37 | У |
| ID #38 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 1 | < 2.30 | 0.80 | 10 | 0 | 3.42 | 0.69 | > 1.12 | 10% | 0% | 10% | ID #38 | У |
| ID #39 | Chem | 2 | 10 | 0 | 2.38 | 0.51 | 10 | 0 | 3.42 | 0.69 | 1.04 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #39 | У |
| ID #40 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.97 | 0.90 | 5 | 0 | 2.39 | 0.24 | -0.58 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #40 | n |
| ID #41 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.58 | 0.42 | 5 | 0 | 2.39 | 0.24 | -0.19 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #41 | n |
| ID #42 | Phys | 1 | 5 | 0 | 2.50 | 0.37 | 5 | 0 | 2.39 | 0.24 | -0.11 | 0% | 0% | 0% | ID #42 | n |

 Table 22. Summary of results for Pseudomonads on neck skin

| Campylobacters | Rated by proportion of samples <lod< th=""><th>Rated by Reduction</th><th>Rated by Final Levels Remaining</th></lod<> | Rated by Reduction | Rated by Final Levels Remaining |
|--------------------------|--|--|---|
| on breast skin | | | |
| Physical Treatments | #29 Stm+Cool 15s+15s | #28 Stm 15s | #28 Stm 15s |
| | (60%, n=15) | (~1.28 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=15) | (<0.87 log remaining, n=15) |
| | #28 Stm 15s | #29 Stm+Cool 15s+15s | #29 Stm+Cool 15s+15s |
| | (53%, n=15) | (~1.24 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=15) | (<0.91 log remaining, n=15) |
| | #26 (no Stm+) Cool Only (0s+)15s | #30 Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s | #30 Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s |
| | (36%, n=15) | (>0.81 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=10) | (<1.32 log remaining, n=10) |
| Chemical Treatments | #01 ASC Mist 10s | #37 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+5m+5s | #01 ASC Mist 10s |
| | (100%, n=5) | (>1.82 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=10) | (<0.43 log remaining, n=5) |
| | #04 ASC Mist 30s | #01 ASC Mist 10s | #04 ASC Mist 30s |
| | (93%, n=15) | (>1.57 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=5) | (<0.45 log remaining, n=15) |
| | #06 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | #32 TSP Mist 30s | #02 ASC Mist 15s |
| | (80%, n=5) | (~1.37 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=15) | (<0.67 log remaining, n=20) |
| Campylobacters on | Rated by proportion of samples <lod< th=""><th>Rated by Reduction</th><th>Rated by Final Levels Remaining</th></lod<> | Rated by Reduction | Rated by Final Levels Remaining |
| <u>neck skin</u> | | | |
| Physical Treatments | #12 CW Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | #13 CW OzoneNozzles 15s | #28 Stm 15s |
| | (20%, n=5) | 0.55 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=5) | (2.05 log remaining, n=15) |
| | #29 Stm+Cool 15s+15s | #30 Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s | #29 Stm+Cool 15s+15s |
| | (7%, n=15) | 0.55 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=10) | (<2.09 log remaining, n=15) |
| | No other <lod for="" physical="" samples="" th="" treatments<=""><th>#28 Stm 15s</th><th>#12 CW Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s</th></lod> | #28 Stm 15s | #12 CW Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s |
| | | 0.53 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=15) | (<2.21 log remaining, n=5) |
| Chemical Treatments | #32 TSP Mist 30s | #32 TSP Mist 30s | #32 TSP Mist 30s |
| | (73%, n=15) | (>2.41 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=15) | (<0.81 log remaining, n=15) |
| | #02 ASC Mist 15s | #04 ASC Mist 30s | #04 ASC Mist 30s |
| | (65%, n=20) | (>1.60 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=15) | (<0.85 log remaining, n=15) |

Table 23. Most effective antimicrobial treatments (see Table 16 for abbreviations. Numbers in red refer to tests listed in Tables 17 - 22)

| | #04 ASC Mist 30s (47%, n=15) | #02 ASC Mist 15s (>1.45 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=20) | #02 ASC Mist 15s (<0.96 log remaining, n=20) |
|---|---|--|---|
| Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin | Rated by proportion of samples <lod< th=""><th>Rated by Reduction</th><th>Rated by Final Levels Remaining</th></lod<> | Rated by Reduction | Rated by Final Levels Remaining |
| Physical Treatments | #26 (no Stm+) Cool Only (0s+)15s (21%, n=15) | #29 Stm+Cool 15s+15s (>1.41 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=15) | #29 Stm+Cool 15s+15s (<1.87 log remaining, n=15) |
| | #19 HW Wash 2.5s (20%, n=5) | #28 Stm 15s (>1.02 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=15) | #19 HW Wash 2.5s (<1.88 log remaining, n=5) |
| | #29 Stm+Cool 15s+15s (13%, n=15) | #30 Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s (0.98 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=10) | #30 Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s (2.12 log remaining, n=10) |
| Chemical Treatments | #04 ASC Mist 30s (47%, n=15) | #01 ASC Mist 10s (>2.40 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=5) | #01 ASC Mist 10s (<0.61 log remaining, n=5) |
| | #02 ASC Mist 15s (45%, n=20) | #04 ASC Mist 30s (>2.10 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=15) | #04 ASC Mist 30s (<1.17 log remaining, n=15) |
| | #01 ASC Mist 10s (40%, n=5) | #02 ASC Mist 15s (>1.58 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=20) | #02 ASC Mist 15s (<1.31 log remaining, n=20) |
| <u>Enterobacteriaceae</u> on neck skin | Rated by proportion of samples <lod< th=""><th>Rated by Reduction</th><th>Rated by Final Levels Remaining</th></lod<> | Rated by Reduction | Rated by Final Levels Remaining |
| Physical Treatments | No samples < LoD | #11 CW Mist 30s (0.38 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=55) | #16 CW Wash 2.5s (2.91 log remaining, n=10) |
| | | #30 Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s (0.23 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=10) | #12 CW Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s (3.11 log remaining, n=5) |
| | | #29 Stm+Cool 15s+15s (0.11 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=15) | #19 HW Wash 2.5s (3.21 log remaining, n=5) |
| Chemical Treatments | #32 TSP Mist 30s (67%, n=15) | #32 TSP Mist 30s (>3.29 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=15) | #32 TSP Mist 30s (<0.88 log remaining, n=15) |

| | #01 ASC Mist 10s (20%, n=5) | #01 ASC Mist 10s (>2.18 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=5) | #01 ASC Mist 10s (<1.41 log remaining, n=5) |
|--------------------------------|---|---|---|
| | #02 ASC Mist 15s (15%, n=20) | #04 ASC Mist 30s (>1.89 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=15) | #02 ASC Mist 15s (<1.81 log remaining, n=20) |
| Pseudomonads on breast skin | Rated by proportion of samples <lod< th=""><th>Rated by Reduction</th><th>Rated by Final Levels Remaining</th></lod<> | Rated by Reduction | Rated by Final Levels Remaining |
| Physical Treatments | #28 Stm 15s (40%, n=15) | #15 CW OzoneNozzles 3m (1.54 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=5 | #28 Stm 15s (<1.14 log remaining, n=15) |
| | #26 (no Stm+) Cool Only (0s+)15s (33%, n=15) | #28 Stm 15s (>1.32 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=15) | #27 Stm 10s (1.33 log remaining, n=5) |
| | #29 Stm+Cool 15s+15s (20%, n=15), | #27 Stm 10s (1.06 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=5) | #15 CW OzoneNozzles 3m (1.45 log remaining, n=5 |
| Chemical Treatments | #01 ASC Mist 10s (40%, n=5) | #01 ASC Mist 10s (>2.00 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=5) | #32 TSP Mist 30s (<1.23 log remaining, n=15) |
| | #32 TSP Mist 30s (40%, n=15) | #04 ASC Mist 30s (>1.21 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=15) | #01 ASC Mist 10s (<1.29 log remaining, n=5) |
| | #02 ASC Mist 15s (25%, n=20) | #02 ASC Mist 15s (>1.16 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=20) | #02 ASC Mist 15s (<1.33 log remaining, n=20) |
| Pseudomonads on neck skin | Rated by proportion of samples <lod< th=""><th>Rated by Reduction</th><th>Rated by Final Levels Remaining</th></lod<> | Rated by Reduction | Rated by Final Levels Remaining |
| Physical Treatments | No physical treatment samples <lod< th=""><th>#15 CW OzoneNozzles 3m (1.13 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=5)</th><th>#28 Stm 15s (2.24 log remaining, n=15)</th></lod<> | #15 CW OzoneNozzles 3m (1.13 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=5) | #28 Stm 15s (2.24 log remaining, n=15) |
| | | #28 Stm 15s (0.42 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=15) | #15 CW OzoneNozzles 3m (2.25 log remaining, n=5 |
| | | #27 Stm 10s (0.37 log reduction at <99% confidence, n=5) | #27 Stm 10s (2.33 log remaining, n=5) |

| Chemical Treatments | #32 TSP Mist 30s (53%, n=15) | #32 TSP Mist 30s (>2.01 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=15) | #32 TSP Mist 30s (<0.81 log remaining, n=15) |
|---------------------|---|--|--|
| | #31 TSP Mist 15s (10%, n=10) | #01 ASC Mist 10s (1.13 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=5) | #34 TSP Mist+Rinse 30s+30s (1.53 log remaining, n=5) |
| | #38 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+30m+5s (10%, n=10) | #38 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+30m+5s (>1.12 log reduction at >99% confidence, n=10) | #33 TSP Mist+Rinse 15s+30s (1.59 log remaining, n=5) |

Applying a scoring scheme where most effective treatment in a carcass part / organism / ranking method category scores 3 points, second most effective 2 points and third most effective 1 point, the overall ranking of treatments is shown in Table 24.

| Table 24. | Overall ranking of antimicrobial efficacy across all carcass part / organism |
|-----------|--|
| | categories (pts = points, other abbreviations are in Table 16) |

| Physical | Chemical |
|--|---|
| #28 Stm Stm 15s (27 pts) | #32 TSP Mist 30s (32pts) |
| #29 Stm Stm+Cool 15s+15s (20 pts) | #01 ASC Mist 10s (31pts) |
| #15 CW OzoneNozzles 3m (9 pts) | #04 ASC Mist 30s (19pts) |
| #30 Stm-Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s (8 pts) | #02 ASC Mist 15s (14pts) |
| #12 CW Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s (6 pts) | #37 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+5m+5s (3pts) |
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 15s Only (6 pts) | #34 TSP Mist+Rinse 30s+30s (2 pts) |
| #19 HW Wash 2.5s (5 pts) | #38 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+30m+5s (2pts) |
| #27 Stm Stm 10s (5 pts) | #06 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s (1pt) |
| #11 CW Mist 30s (3 pts) | #31 TSP Mist 15s (1pt) |
| #13 CW OzoneNozzles 15s (3 pts) | #33 TSP Mist+Rinse 15s+30s (1 pt) |
| #16 CW Wash 2.5s (3 pts) | |

Further data analysis in this report is therefore focussed on steam and cold-water sprays for physical treatments, and ASC and TSP for chemical treatments.

Two durations are pertinent for chemical treatments; the time for which the carcass is in the chemical application spray, and for rinsed carcasses, the wait (dwell) time for chemical action to occur between end of chemical application spray and rinsing spray.

10.3 Results: Evaluation by Carcass Part / Organism

10.3.1 Campylobacter on breast skin (see Table 17)

10.3.1.1 ASC

A summary of all ASC treatments for Campylobacter on breast skin is given in Table 25.

| Treatment (s = seconds) | Mean final level after treatment (log ₁₀ cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|---|---|------|--|---|--|
| #01 ASC Mist 10 s | < 0.43 | 0.26 | >1.57 | Y | #36, #38, #39 |
| #02 ASC Mist 15 s | <0.67 | 0.61 | ~0.85 | Y | #39 |
| #04 ASC Mist 30 s | <0.45 | 0.17 | >1.28 | Y | #36, #38, #39 |
| #05 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+30s+30 s | <1.34 | 0.66 | ~-0.37 | n | |
| #06 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | <0.72 | 0.68 | >0.52 | n | |
| #36 ASC Mist+Rinse 10s+5s | <1.39 | 0.79 | >1.26 | Y | #01, #04 |
| #37 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+5m+5s | <0.86 | 0.62 | >1.82 | Y | #39 |
| #38 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+30m+5s | <1.38 | 0.65 | >1.27 | Y | #01, #04 |
| #39 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+60m+5s | 1.70 | 0.63 | 0.95 | Y | #01, #02, #04, #37 |

Table 25. Summary of effect of ASC treatment on Campylobacter on breast skin (seeTable 16 for abbreviations)

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

10.3.1.1.1 Application Time

Treatments #01, #02 and #04 for 10, 15 and 30 seconds misting spray with no rinsing gave reductions of >1.57, ~0.85, and >1.28 \log_{10} cfu g⁻¹ respectively. All gave significant reductions from control levels, however, the results showed no trend with increasing treatment time and were not statistically different from each other.

10.3.1.1.2 Effects of Rinsing

Treatment #05 was a repeat of the treatment #02 (15 seconds mist) with 30 seconds chemical action time and 30 seconds rinse designed to give good wash off performance. An increase of ~0.37 \log_{10} cfu g⁻¹ was observed and final levels were 0.67 \log_{10} cfu g⁻¹ higher than the 30 seconds CW mist rinse control (treatment #11). There was no significant effect from control levels.

Treatment #06 with a longer action time and shorter rinse gave a reduction of $>0.52 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹, but no significant change from untreated control levels. Thus, rinsing appeared to negate the decontamination effect.

10.3.1.1.3 Chemical Action (Wait) Time

Treatments #36 to #39 investigated the effect of increasing the chemical action wait (dwell) time. All treatments gave significant reductions from control levels, however, were not statistically different from each other. Reductions were broadly equivalent to the unrinsed 10 seconds treatment (#01). There is possibly a slight trend towards an increased final level after treatment and decreased reduction with increasing chemical action time, but correlations are low (Figure 29).



Trends for Campylobacter on Brestskin with increasing ASC chemical dwell time before rinse

Figure 29. Trends for Campylobacter on breast skin for increasing ASC dwell time before rinse

10.3.1.2 TSP

A summary of all TSP treatments for Campylobacter on breast skin is given in Table 26.

Table 26. Summary of effects of TSP treatments of campylobacters on breast skin

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|---|--|------|--|---|--|
| #31 TSP Mist 15 seconds | 1.92 | 0.61 | 0.58 | Y | #32 |
| #32 TSP Mist 30 seconds | <0.79 | 0.38 | ~1.37 | Y | #31, #33, #34 |
| #33 TSP Mist+Rinse 15 seconds+30 seconds | 1.79 | 0.35 | 0.58 | Y | #32 |
| #34 TSP Mist+Rinse 30 seconds+30 seconds | 1.50 | 0.28 | 0.87 | Y | #32 |

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

10.3.1.2.1 Effects of Application Time

Treatments #31 and #32 for 15 and 30 seconds misting spray with no rinsing gave reductions of 0.58, and \sim 1.37 log₁₀ cfu g⁻¹ respectively. These treatments both gave significantly different reductions from control levels and were significantly different from each other, with a trend for increasing reduction with longer spraying times.

Treatments #33 and #34 for 15 and 30 seconds misting spray with rinsing gave lower reductions of 0.58, and 0.87 \log_{10} cfu g⁻¹, respectively. These treatments also both gave significant reductions from control levels, with a trend for increasing reduction with longer spraying times, but unlike the non-rinsed treatments were not significantly different from each other.

In both rinsed and non-rinsed treatment groups there was a trend for increasing efficacy with longer spray application durations.

10.3.1.2.2 Effects of Rinsing

Rinsing treatments #33 and #34 gave significant reductions from control levels, and were not different from each other. When compared to the non-rinsed treatments #31 and #32 it is seen that rinsing reduces effects of TSC. The trend for increased reductions with increased spray time as seen for non-rinsed treatments was preserved but at a lower magnitude.

10.3.1.3 Steam

A summary of all steam treatments for Campylobacter on breast skin is given in Table 27.

| Table 27. Su | immary of effect of st | eam treatments on Can | npylobacters on breast skin |
|--------------|------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------|
|--------------|------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------|

| Treatment(s = seconds) | Mean final level after treatment (log ₁₀ cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|------------------------------|---|------|--|---|--|
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 15s Only | <1.49 | 0.95 | ~0.66 | n | |
| #27 Stm Stm 10s | 1.50 | 0.45 | -0.19 | n | |
| #28 Stm Stm 15s | <0.87 | 0.63 | ~1.28 | Y | |
| #29 Stm Stm+Cool 15s+15s | <0.91 | 0.55 | ~1.24 | Y | |
| #30 Stm-Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s | <1.32 | 1.04 | >0.81 | n | |

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different.

10.3.1.3.1 Application Time

Increasing the steam treatment from 10 seconds (#27) to 15 seconds (#28), increased reductions to a significant level, although there were no significant differences in the final levels between both treatment groups.

10.3.1.3.2 Effects of Cooling Spray

Adding a 15 seconds cooling spray after the 15 seconds steam treatment (#29) made no further improvement to final levels nor reductions seen from steam alone.

10.3.1.4 Cold Water Spray Configuration

A summary of all cold water treatments with various spray configurations for Campylobacter on breast skin is given in Table 28

| Treatment (s = seconds; m = minutes) | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|---|--|------|--|---|--|
| #10 CW Mist 15s | <2.25 | 0.73 | ~0.03 | n | #13 |
| #11 CW Mist 30s | 1.93 | 0.52 | < 0.19 | n | |
| #12 CW Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | 1.60 | 0.42 | -0.36 | n | |
| #13 CW OzoneNozzles 15s | 1.60 | 0.33 | 0.68 | Y | #10 |
| #14 CW OzoneNozzles 30s | 2.02 | 0.33 | 0.26 | n | |
| #15 CW OzoneNozzles 3m | 2.02 | 0.13 | -0.30 | n | |
| #16 CW Wash 2.5s | 2.07 | 0.15 | -0.22 | n | |
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 15s Only | <1.49 | 0.95 | ~0.66 | n | |
| #40 CW HighIntensity 5s | 2.13 | 0.48 | 0.58 | n | |
| #41 CW HighIntensity 15s | 1.98 | 1.09 | 0.73 | n | |
| #42 CW HighIntensity 30s | 2.12 | 0.15 | 0.59 | n | |

Table 28. Summary of effect of Cold Water Spray Configurations on Campylobacters on breast skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairing indicated.

Only treatment #13 had a significant effect over control levels, however final levels were only significantly different to treatment #10. Cold water treatments were therefore mostly not effective.

10.3.2 Campylobacter on neck skin (see Table 18)

10.3.2.1 ASC

A summary of all ASC treatments for Campylobacter on neck skin is given in Table 29

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|--|--|------|--|---|--|
| #01 ASC Mist 10s | <1.41 | 1.47 | >1.45 | n | |
| #02 ASC Mist 15s | <0.96 | 0.92 | >1.45 | Y | #38 |
| #04 ASC Mist 30s | <0.85 | 0.60 | >1.60 | Y | #36, #37, #38 |
| #05 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+30s+30s | <1.48 | 0.89 | >0.39 | n | |
| #06 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | <1.55 | 0.89 | >0.85 | n | #38 |
| #36 ASC Mist+Rinse 10s+5s | <1.80 | 0.73 | >1.08 | Y | #04 |
| #37 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+5m+5s | <1.76 | 0.61 | >1.12 | Y | #04 |
| #38 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+30m+5s | 2.33 | 0.54 | 0.55 | n | #02, #04, #06 |
| #39 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+60m+5s | <1.89 | 1.07 | >0.99 | n | |

| Table 29. | Summary of | effect of ASC | treatments on | campylobacte | r on neck skin |
|-----------|------------|---------------|---------------|----------------|----------------|
| | | | | cump jio succe | |

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

10.3.2.1.1 Application Time

Treatments #01, #02 and #04 for 10, 15 and 30 seconds misting spray with no rinsing gave final levels of <1.41, <0.96 and $<0.85 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹, respectively. This showed a trend of

decreasing final levels with increasing application duration. However, this trend was only partially carried over into the reductions. The variability of results as indicated by the standard deviations was reduced by increasing the treatment time (Figure 30).



Trends of ACS for Campylobacter on Neckskin

Figure 30. Effect of increasing ASC application time on reductions achieved and on standard deviation for Campylobacter on neck skin

The higher SD for the 10 seconds (#01) treatment probably accounts for it not producing significant reductions from control levels, however, all non-rinsed treated results were not statistically different from each other.

10.3.2.1.2 Effects of Rinsing

Treatment #05 was a repeat of the treatment #02 (15 second mist) with 30 seconds chemical action time before a 30 seconds rinse designed to give a good wash-off performance. A decreased reduction to $0.39 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹ was observed and final levels rose by $0.52 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹. Adding the rinse made the 15 seconds ASC treatment not significantly different from the control levels.

Treatment #06 with a longer action time and shorter rinse gave even higher final levels, yet an improved reduction of $>0.85 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹, but was still not a significant change from untreated control levels.

10.3.2.1.3 Chemical Action (Wait) Time

Treatments #36 to #39 investigated the effect of increasing the chemical action wait time. The shorter wait treatments gave significant reductions from control levels; however, there were no obvious trends with increasing chemical action dwell time.

10.3.2.2 TSP

A summary of all TSP treatments for Campylobacter on neck skin is given in Table 30.

| Treatment (s = seconds) Mean final level after treatment $(\log_{10} \text{ cfu g}^{-1})$ | | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|---|-------|------|--|---|--|
| #31 TSP Mist 15s | <1.89 | 1.22 | >1.36 | Y | |
| #32 TSP Mist 30s | <0.81 | 0.74 | >2.41 | Y | #33, #34 |
| #33 TSP Mist+Rinse 15s+30s | 2.25 | 0.42 | 0.99 | Y | #32 |
| #34 TSP Mist+Rinse 30s+30s | 2.11 | 0.52 | 1.13 | Y | #32 |

Table 30. Summary of effect of TSP treatments on Campylobacter on neck skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

10.3.2.2.1 Effects of Application Time

Treatments #31 and #32 for 15 and 30 seconds misting spray with no rinsing gave good reductions of >1.36, and $>2.41 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹, respectively. The two treatments showed a trend for increasing reduction and decreasing final levels with longer spraying times, and gave significant changes from control levels, however they were not significantly different from each other.

10.3.2.2.2 Effects of Rinsing

Rinsed treatments #33 and #34 both gave significant reductions from control levels, and were not different from each other. When compared to the non-rinsed treatments #31 and #32 it is seen that rinsing reduces the effectiveness of TSP. The trend for increased reductions with increased spray time as seen for non-rinsed treatments was not evident for results when rinsing was used.

10.3.2.3 Steam

A summary of all steam treatments for Campylobacter on neck skin is given in Table 31.

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|------------------------------|--|------|--|---|--|
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 15s Only | 2.49 | 1.01 | 0.09 | n | |
| #27 Stm Stm 10s | 2.35 | 0.22 | -0.78 | Y | |
| #28 Stm Stm 15s | 2.05 | 0.85 | 0.53 | n | |
| #29 Stm Stm+Cool 15s+15s | <2.09 | 1.03 | >0.49 | n | |
| #30 Stm-Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s | 2.64 | 0.97 | 0.55 | n | |

Table 31. Summary of effect of steam treatments on Campylobacter on neck skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different.

10.3.2.3.1 Application Time

There were no significant differences in the final levels of Campylobacter on the neck skin for all steam treatments. Increasing the steam treatment from 10 seconds (#27) to 15 seconds (#28) decreased final levels, and improved reductions. However, the 10 second treatment (#27) showed a significant increase of Campylobacters between control and treated.

10.3.2.3.2 Effects of Cooling Spray

Adding a 15 seconds cooling spray after the 15 seconds steam treatment (#29) made no substantial further improvement to final levels nor reductions seen from steam alone.

10.3.2.4 Cold Water Spray Configuration

A summary of all cold water treatments with various spray configurations for Campylobacter on neck skin is given in Table 32.

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction $(\log_{10} \text{ cfu g}^{-1})$ | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|-------------------------------------|--|------|--|---|--|
| #10 CW Mist 15s | 2.78 | 0.84 | 0.38 | n | |
| #11 CW Mist 30s | 2.41 | 0.61 | 0.03 | Y | |
| #12 CW Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | <2.21 | 1.17 | >0.19 | n | |
| #13 CW OzoneNozzles 15s | 2.43 | 0.04 | 0.55 | n | |
| #14 CW OzoneNozzles 30s | 2.91 | 0.60 | 0.07 | n | |
| #15 CW OzoneNozzles 3m | 3.02 | 0.45 | -1.04 | Y | |
| #16 CW Wash 2.5s | 2.72 | 0.78 | -0.26 | n | |
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 15s Only | 2.49 | 1.01 | 0.09 | n | |
| #40 CW HighIntensity 5s | 2.91 | 0.49 | 0.14 | n | |
| #41 CW HighIntensity 15s | 2.68 | 0.40 | 0.37 | n | |
| #42 CW HighIntensity 30s | 2.93 | 0.49 | 0.12 | n | |

| Table 32. | Summary of effect of Cold Water Spray Configurations on Campylobacter |
|-----------|---|
| | on neck skin |

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different.

Only treatments #11 and #15 showed significant changes from control levels. Although small, the large number of replicates (n=55) produced the significant difference seen for #11, and #15 actually gave a significant *increase* in levels between controls and treated. There were no significant differences in final levels across all cold water spray configurations evaluated.

10.3.3 Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin (see Table 19)

10.3.3.1 ASC

A summary of all ASC treatments for Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin is given in Table 33.

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log ₁₀ cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|--|---|------|--|---|--|
| #01 ASC Mist 10s | <0.61 | 0.32 | >2.40 | Y | #05, #06, #36, #37, #38, #39 |
| #02 ASC Mist 15s | <1.31 | 0.87 | >1.58 | Y | #05, #36, #37, #38, #39 |
| #04 ASC Mist 30s | <1.17 | 0.87 | >2.10 | Y | #05, #36, #37, #38, #39 |
| #05 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+30s+30s | 2.47 | 0.34 | -0.08 | n | #01, #02, #04, #37 |
| #06 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | 1.99 | 0.39 | 0.80 | n | #01, #36, #37, #38, #39 |
| #36 ASC Mist+Rinse 10s+5s | 3.14 | 0.62 | 0.56 | n | #01, #02, #04, #06 |
| #37 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+5m+5s | 3.53 | 0.36 | 0.17 | n | #01, #02, #04, #05, #06 |
| #38 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+30m+5s | 2.92 | 0.69 | 0.78 | n | #01, #02, #04, #06 |
| #39 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+60m+5s | 3.11 | 0.59 | 0.59 | n | #01, #02, #04, #06 |

Table 33. Summary of effect of ASC treatment for Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

10.3.3.1.1 Application Time

Treatments #01, #02 and #04 for 10, 15 and 30 seconds (misting spray with no rinsing) gave reductions of >2.40, >2.10, and >1.58 log $_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹ respectively. All gave significant reductions from control levels, however, the treated results showed no trend with increasing duration and were not statistically different from each other.

10.3.3.1.2 Effects of Rinsing

Treatment #05 was a repeat of the treatment #02 (15 seconds mist) with 30 seconds chemical action time and 30 seconds rinse, designed to give good wash off performance. A slight increase of 0.08 log $_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹ was observed. This negligible effect was in keeping with the small 0.13 log₁₀ cfu g⁻¹ reduction seen for the 30 seconds CW mist rinse control (treatment #11).

Treatment #06 with a longer action time and shorter rinse gave a reduction of $0.8 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹, but no significant change from untreated control levels.

10.3.3.1.3 Chemical Action (Wait) Time

Treatments #36 to #39 investigated the effect of increasing the chemical action wait (dwell) time to 30 or 60 minutes before rinsing. There were no apparent trends with increasing wait time, nor were reductions increased over those observed after 5 minutes dwell time and results #36 to #39 were not significantly different.

10.3.3.2 TSP

A summary of all TSP treatments for Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin is given in Table 34.

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) | |
|----------------------------|--|------|--|---|--|--|
| #31 TSP Mist 15s | 3.49 | 0.89 | 0.89 | n | #32 | |
| #32 TSP Mist 30s | <2.13 | 1.26 | >1.26 | n | #31 | |
| #33 TSP Mist+Rinse 15s+30s | 2.73 | 0.27 | 0.27 | n | | |
| #34 TSP Mist+Rinse 30s+30s | 2.80 | 0.27 | 0.27 | n | | |

Table 34. Summary of effect of TSP treatments on Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairing indicated.

10.3.3.2.1 Effects of Application Time

Treatments #31 and #32 for 15 and 30 seconds misting spray with no rinsing gave reductions of 0.89, and >1.26 log $_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹, respectively. Whilst these values were significantly different from each other, with a trend for increasing reduction with longer spraying times neither treatment gave significantly different reduction from control levels.

10.3.3.2.2 Effects of Rinsing

Rinsed treatments #33 and #34 gave low, non-significant reductions from control levels, and were not different from each other. Rinsing negated the effect of TSP, irrespective of spray time. The trend for increased reductions with increased spray time was not preserved.

10.3.3.3 Steam

A summary of all steam treatments for Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin is given in Table 35.

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|------------------------------|--|------|--|---|--|
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 15s Only | <2.53 | 1.27 | >0.75 | n | |
| #27 Stm Stm 10s | 2.88 | 0.31 | 0.30 | n | #29 |
| #28 Stm Stm 15s | <2.26 | 0.99 | >1.02 | Y | |
| #29 Stm Stm+Cool 15s+15s | <1.87 | 0.88 | >1.41 | Y | #27 |
| #30 Stm-Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s | 2.12 | 0.91 | 0.98 | n | |

 Table 35. Summary of Steam treatments of Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairing indicated.

10.3.3.3.1 Application Time

Increasing steam duration from 10 seconds (#27) to 15 seconds (#28) improved reductions from <0.30 to 1.02 log $_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹ with the latter being a significant effect.

10.3.3.3.2 Effects of Cooling Spray

Adding a 15 seconds cooling spray after the 15 seconds steam treatment (#29) gave an increased significant reduction of $<1.41 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹.

10.3.3.4 Cold Water Spray Configuration

A summary of all cold water treatments with various spray configurations for Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin is given in Table 36

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|-------------------------------------|--|------|--|---|--|
| #10 CW Mist 15s | 3.53 | 0.73 | -0.23 | n | #15, #16 |
| #11 CW Mist 30s | 3.66 | 0.88 | 0.13 | n | #14, #15, #16, #26, #40 |
| #12 CW Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | 3.18 | 0.39 | -0.39 | n | #16 |
| #13 CW OzoneNozzles 15s | 3.33 | 0.21 | -0.47 | n | #16 |
| #14 CW OzoneNozzles 30s | 3.02 | 0.37 | -0.16 | n | #11, #16 |
| #15 CW OzoneNozzles 3m | 2.66 | 0.52 | 0.40 | n | #10, #11 |
| #16 CW Wash 2.5s | 2.16 | 0.19 | -0.13 | n | #10, #11, #12, #13, #14, #40, #41, #42 |
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 15s Only | <2.53 | 1.27 | >0.75 | n | #11 |
| #40 CW HighIntensity 5s | 3.19 | 0.17 | 0.07 | n | #11, #16 |
| #41 CW HighIntensity 15s | 3.43 | 0.49 | -0.17 | n | #16 |
| #42 CW HighIntensity 30s | 3.46 | 0.25 | -0.20 | n | #16 |

Table 36. Summary of effect of Cold Water Spray Configurations onEnterobacteriaceae on breast skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

None of the cold water spray configurations had a significant effect as treatments, and all reductions (except #26) are relatively small. Since most treatment effects are small, this accounts for the high degree of similarity between the various spray configurations, and no detectable trends with increasing spray durations.

10.3.4 Enterobacteriaceae on neck skin (see Table 20)

10.3.4.1 ASC

A summary of all ASC treatments for Enterobacteriaceae on neck skin is given in Table 37

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log ₁₀ cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|--|---|------|--|---|--|
| #01 ASC Mist 10s | <1.41 | 0.87 | >2.18 | Y | #36, #37, #38, #39 |
| #02 ASC Mist 15s | <1.81 | 1.00 | >1.77 | Y | #06, #36, #37, #38, #39 |
| #04 ASC Mist 30s | <2.07 | 0.80 | >1.89 | Y | #36, #37, #38, #39 |
| #05 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+30s+30s | 2.23 | 0.55 | 0.91 | n | #36, #37, #38 |
| #06 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | 2.78 | 0.32 | 0.42 | n | #02, #37 |
| #36 ASC Mist+Rinse 10s+5s | 3.30 | 0.45 | 0.71 | n | #01, #02, #04, #05 |
| #37 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+5m+5s | 3.80 | 0.43 | 0.21 | n | #01, #02, #04, #05, #06 |
| #38 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+30m+5s | 3.37 | 0.69 | 0.64 | n | #01, #02, #04, #05 |
| #39 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+60m+5s | 3.32 | 0.76 | 0.69 | n | #01, #02, #04 |

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

10.3.4.1.1 Application Time

Treatments #01, #02 and #04 for 10, 15 and 30 seconds misting spray with no rinsing gave final levels of <1.41, <1.81 and <2.07 log $_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹, respectively. This trend was the reverse of that intuitive expectation of reducing final levels with increasing treatment time. The trend is not explained by either numbers of counts below LoD or control levels (Table 38).

| | Treateted samples | | | Control samples | | | |
|------------------|---|------|--|--|------|-----------------------|--|
| Treatment | Mean after $(\log_{10} \text{ cfu } \text{g}^{-1})$ | SD | % <lod< td=""><td>Mean before $(\log_{10} \text{ cfu } \text{g}^{-1})$</td><td>SD</td><td>% <lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<> | Mean before $(\log_{10} \text{ cfu } \text{g}^{-1})$ | SD | % <lod< td=""></lod<> | |
| #01 ASC Mist 10s | <1.41 | 0.87 | 20% | 3.59 | 0.83 | 0% | |
| #02 ASC Mist 15s | <1.81 | 1.00 | 15% | 3.58 | 0.67 | 0% | |
| #04 ASC Mist 30s | <2.07 | 0.80 | 7% | 3.96 | 0.64 | 0% | |

Table 38. Controls and <LoD for treatments #01, #02 and #04</th>

However, since all values are '<' inequalities the true relationship is not discernable. Despite this trend, all treatments were significant and gave good reductions of around $2 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹.

10.3.4.1.2 Effects of Rinsing

Treatment #05 was a repeat of the treatment #02 (15 second mist) with 30 seconds chemical action time before a 30 seconds rinse designed to give good wash-off performance. A decreased reduction to $0.91 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹ was observed and final levels rose by $0.42 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹. Adding the rinse made the 15 seconds ASC treatment not significantly different from the control levels.

Treatment #06 with a longer action time and shorter rinse gave even higher final levels, and reduced reduction of $0.42 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹, that was not a significant change from untreated control levels.

10.3.4.1.3 Chemical Action (Wait) Time

Treatments #36 to #39 investigated the effect of increasing the chemical action wait time. No treatments gave significant reductions from control levels; and there were no obvious trends with increasing chemical action wait time.

10.3.4.2 TSP

A summary of all TSP treatments for Enterobacteriaceae on neck skin is given in Table 39.

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log ₁₀ cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction $(\log_{10} \text{ cfu g}^{-1})$ | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|----------------------------|---|------|--|---|--|
| #31 TSP Mist 15s | 2.59 | 1.62 | 1.70 | n | #32 |
| #32 TSP Mist 30s | <0.88 | 0.83 | >3.29 | Y | #31, #33, #34 |
| #33 TSP Mist+Rinse 15s+30s | 2.86 | 0.48 | 0.48 | n | #32 |
| #34 TSP Mist+Rinse 30s+30s | 2.89 | 0.22 | 0.45 | n | #32 |

Table 39. Summary of TSP treatments of Enterobacteriaceae on neck skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

10.3.4.2.1 Effects of Application Time

Treatments #31 and #32 for 15 and 30 seconds misting spray with no rinsing gave good reductions of >1.70, and >3.29 \log_{10} cfu g⁻¹, respectively. The two treatments showed a trend for increasing reduction and decreasing final levels with longer spraying times. However only treatment #32 (30seconds) gave a significant reduction from control levels.

10.3.4.2.2 Effects of Rinsing

When rinsed treatments #33 and #34 are compared to the non-rinsed treatments #31 and #32 it is seen that rinsing substantially reduces the effects of TSP to around 0.5 \log_{10} cfu g⁻¹ irrespective of spray application time.

10.3.4.3 Steam

A summary of all steam treatments for Enterobacteriaceae on neck skin is given in Table 40.

| Table 40, Summary of check of Steam freatments on Enteropacteriaceae on neck ski | Table 40. | Summary of | of effect of S | Steam treatments of | on Enterobacteriaceae | on neck skin |
|--|-----------|------------|----------------|---------------------|-----------------------|--------------|
|--|-----------|------------|----------------|---------------------|-----------------------|--------------|

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log ₁₀ cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log ₁₀ cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|------------------------------|---|------|---|---|--|
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 15s Only | 3.78 | 0.61 | -0.06 | n | |
| #27 Stm Stm 10s | 3.71 | 0.74 | -0.01 | n | |
| #28 Stm Stm 15s | 3.70 | 0.57 | 0.02 | n | |
| #29 Stm Stm+Cool 15s+15s | 3.61 | 0.63 | 0.11 | n | |
| #30 Stm-Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s | 3.65 | 0.79 | 0.23 | n | |

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different.

10.3.4.3.1 Application Time

All steam treatments gave negligible reductions compared to control levels for Enterobacteriaceae on the neck skin. There were no significant effects of any treatment, and no significant differences between the final levels of for all treatments.

10.3.4.3.2 Effects of Cooling Spray.

Adding a 15 seconds cooling spray after the 15 seconds steam treatment (#29) made a slight improvement (not significant) to reductions, however effects are still very small.

10.3.4.4 Cold Water Spray Configuration

A summary of all cold water treatments with various spray configurations for Enterobacteriaceae on neck skin is given in Table 41.

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|-------------------------------------|--|------|--|---|--|
| #10 CW Mist 15s | 3.94 | 0.58 | 0.07 | n | #12, #15, #16 |
| #11 CW Mist 30s | 3.78 | 0.79 | 0.38 | n | #16 |
| #12 CW Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | 3.11 | 0.51 | 0.09 | n | #10 |
| #13 CW OzoneNozzles 15s | 3.69 | 0.32 | -0.14 | n | #16 |
| #14 CW OzoneNozzles 30s | 3.72 | 0.40 | -0.17 | n | #16 |
| #15 CW OzoneNozzles 3m | 3.41 | 0.31 | -0.05 | n | #10 |
| #16 CW Wash 2.5s | 2.91 | 0.44 | -0.07 | Ν | #10, #11, #13, #14, #26, #42 |
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 15s Only | 3.78 | 0.61 | -0.06 | Ν | #16 |
| #40 CW HighIntensity 5s | 3.79 | 0.60 | -0.14 | Ν | |
| #41 CW HighIntensity 15s | 3.64 | 0.46 | 0.01 | Ν | |
| #42 CW HighIntensity 30s | 3.85 | 0.24 | -0.20 | Ν | #16 |

Table 41. Summary of effect of Cold Water Spray Configurations onEnterobacteriaceae on neck skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

No coldwater treatments gave significant reductions in Enterobacteriaceae on neck skin compared to control levels. In all cases reductions were low or showed apparent increases in Enterobacteriaceae levels after treatment.

10.3.5 Pseudomonads on breast skin (see Table 21)

10.3.5.1 ASC

A summary of all ASC treatments for Pseudomonads on breast skin is given in Table 42.

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log ₁₀ cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* P<0.01) |
|--|---|------|--|---|---|
| #01 ASC Mist 10s | <1.29 | 0.78 | >2.00 | Y | #36 |
| #02 ASC Mist 15s | <1.33 | 0.70 | >1.16 | Y | #36, #37 |
| #04 ASC Mist 30s | <1.57 | 0.71 | >1.21 | Y | #36, #37 |
| #05 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+30s+30s | 1.56 | 0.40 | 0.13 | Ν | #36 |
| #06 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | <1.59 | 0.81 | >0.96 | Ν | |
| #36 ASC Mist+Rinse 10s+5s | 2.70 | 0.46 | 0.29 | Ν | #01, #02, #04, #05 |
| #37 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+5m+5s | 2.33 | 0.55 | 0.66 | Ν | #02, #04 |
| #38 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+30m+5s | 2.00 | 0.70 | 0.99 | Ν | |
| #39 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+60m+5s | 2.08 | 0.75 | 0.91 | Ν | |

Table 42. Summary of effect of ASC treatments on Pseudomonas on breast skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

10.3.5.1.1 Application Time

All non-rinsed treatments gave significant reductions over control levels, but were not significantly different from each other (Figure 31).



Trends of ACS for Pseudomonas on Breast skin

Figure 31. Trends of ASC for Pseudomonas on breast skin

10.3.5.1.2 Effects of Rinsing

Treatment #05 was a repeat of the treatment #02 (15 seconds mist) with 30 seconds chemical action time before a 30 seconds rinse designed to give good wash off performance. Adding the rinse substantially decreased the effectiveness of the 15 seconds ASC treatment, and gave final levels not significantly different from the control levels.

Treatment #06 with a longer action time and shorter rinse gave even higher final levels, yet an improved reduction of $>0.96 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹ over treatment #05, but was still not a significant improvement over untreated control levels.

10.3.5.1.3 Chemical Action (Wait) Time

Treatments #36 to #39 investigated the effect of increasing the chemical action wait time. None gave significant reductions from control levels and there were no obvious trends with increasing chemical action dwell time.

10.3.5.2 TSP

A summary of all TSP treatments for Pseudomonads on breast skin is given in Table 43.

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|----------------------------|--|------|--|---|--|
| #31 TSP Mist 15s | <2.02 | 0.90 | >0.43 | n | |
| #32 TSP Mist 30s | <1.23 | 0.76 | ~0.75 | n | |
| #33 TSP Mist+Rinse 15s+30s | 1.42 | 0.42 | 0.41 | n | |
| #34 TSP Mist+Rinse 30s+30s | 1.37 | 0.61 | 0.46 | n | |

Table 43. Summary of effect of TSP treatments on pseudomonas on breast skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different.

10.3.5.2.1 Effects of Application Time

Treatments #31 and #32 for 15 and 30 seconds misting spray with no rinsing gave nonsignificant reductions of >0.43, and ~0.75 \log_{10} cfu g⁻¹ respectively. The two treatments showed a trend for increasing reduction and decreasing final levels with longer spraying times, but were not significantly different from each other.

10.3.5.2.2 Effects of Rinsing

Rinsed treatments #33 and #34 both gave non-significant reductions by comparison with control levels, and were not different from each other. When compared to the non-rinsed treatments #31 and #32 it is seen that rinsing reduces the effect of TSP.

10.3.5.3 Steam

A summary of all steam treatments for Pseudomonads on breast skin is given in Table 44.

| 1 able 44. Summary of effect of Steam treatments on pseudomonads on breast sk |
|---|
|---|

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|------------------------------|--|------|--|---|--|
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 15s Only | <2.58 | 1.56 | ~-0.12 | n | #28 |
| #27 Stm Stm 10s | 1.33 | 0.34 | 1.06 | Y | #30 |
| #28 Stm Stm 15s | <1.14 | 0.77 | >1.32 | Y | #26, #29, #30 |
| #29 Stm Stm+Cool 15s+15s | <2.20 | 1.11 | >0.26 | n | #28 |
| #30 Stm-Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s | 2.68 | 0.60 | -0.41 | n | #27, #28 |

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

10.3.5.3.1 Application Time

Both 10 seconds (#27) and 15 seconds (#28) steam treatments gave significant reductions of Pseudomonads on breast skin. However, despite a trend for decreased final levels and improved reductions for increasing treatment duration, the two treatments were not significantly different from each other.

10.3.5.3.2 Effects of Cooling Spray

Adding a 15 second cooling spray after the 15 second steam treatment (#29) reduced the reduction seen from steam alone (#28), and was not significantly different from the cooling spray alone (#26).

10.3.5.4 Cold Water Spray Configuration

A summary of all cold water treatments with various spray configurations for Pseudomonads on breast skin is given in Table 45.
| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|-------------------------------------|--|------|--|---|--|
| #10 CW Mist 15s | 2.42 | 0.64 | -0.13 | n | #11, #15, #16 |
| #11 CW Mist 30s | 3.07 | 0.95 | <-0.29 | n | #10, #12, #13, #14, #15, #16, #40, #41, #42 |
| #12 CW Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | 2.55 | 0.06 | 0.00 | n | #11, #15, #16 |
| #13 CW OzoneNozzles 15s | 2.38 | 0.27 | -0.33 | n | #11, #15, #16 |
| #14 CW OzoneNozzles 30s | 2.11 | 0.26 | -0.06 | n | #11, #16 |
| #15 CW OzoneNozzles 3m | 1.45 | 0.30 | 1.54 | Y | #10, #11, #12, #13, #16, #40, #42 |
| #16 CW Wash 2.5s | 3 01 | 0.48 | 1 31 | Y | #10, #11, #12, #13, #14, #15, #40, #41, #42 |
| #10 CW wash 2.55 | -2.59 | 1.56 | -1.51 | | #42 |
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 158 Only | <2.58 | 1.50 | ~-0.12 | n | |
| #40 CW HighIntensity 5s | 2.35 | 0.39 | -0.14 | n | #11, #15, #16 |
| #41 CW HighIntensity 15s | 1.90 | 0.46 | 0.31 | n | #11, #16 |
| #42 CW HighIntensity 30s | 2.22 | 0.32 | -0.01 | n | #11, #15, #16 |

Table 45. Summary of Cold Water Spray Configurations of pseudomonads on breast skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

Only treatment #15 showed a significant reduction of $1.54 \log_{10} \text{cfu g}^{-1}$ from control levels. Although significant, treatment #16 showed an increase in levels, and all other cold water configurations exhibited negligible effects on Pseudomonads on breast skin.

10.3.6 Pseudomonads on neck skin (see Table 22)

10.3.6.1 ASC

A summary of all ASC treatments for Pseudomonads on neck skin is given in Table 46.

Table 46. Summary of effect of ASC treatments on pseudomonads on neck skin

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|--|--|------|--|---|--|
| #01 ASC Mist 10s | 2.24 | 0.13 | 1.13 | Y | #36 |
| #02 ASC Mist 15s | 2.20 | 0.51 | 0.74 | Y | #06, #36 |
| #04 ASC Mist 30s | 2.33 | 0.60 | 0.90 | Y | |
| #05 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+30s+30s | 2.16 | 0.24 | 0.27 | n | #36 |
| #06 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 15s+5m+5s | 2.76 | 0.30 | 0.02 | n | #02 |
| #36 ASC Mist+Rinse 10s+5s | 2.78 | 0.41 | 0.64 | n | #01, #02, #05 |
| #37 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+5m+5s | 2.43 | 0.38 | 0.99 | Y | |
| #38 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+30m+5s | <2.30 | 0.80 | >1.12 | Y | |
| #39 ASC Mist+Wait+Rinse 10s+60m+5s | 2.38 | 0.51 | 1.04 | Y | |

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

10.3.6.1.1 Application Time

Treatments #01, #02 and #04 for 10, 15 and 30 seconds misting spray with no rinsing gave significant reductions of 1.13, 0.74 and 0.90 log $_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹, respectively. No trend was apparent with increasing treatment duration.

10.3.6.1.2 Effects of Rinsing

Treatment #05 was a repeat of the treatment #02 (15 seconds mist) with 30 seconds chemical action time before a 30 seconds rinse designed to give good wash off performance. A decreased reduction from 0.90 to 0.27 \log_{10} cfu g⁻¹ was observed. A 15 seconds ASC treatment followed by rinsing gave a result not significantly different from the control.

Treatment #06 with a longer action time and shorter rinse gave higher final levels, and reduced the reduction to negligible levels ($0.02 \log_{10} \text{ cfu g}^{-1}$). Treatment #06 did not produce a significant change from untreated control levels.

10.3.6.1.3 Chemical Action (Wait) Time

Treatments #36 to #39 investigated the effect of increasing the chemical action wait time. All wait durations gave significant reductions from control levels; however, there were no obvious trends with increasing chemical action dwell time.

10.3.6.2 TSP

A summary of all TSP treatments for Pseudomonads on neck skin is given in **Error! Reference** source not found.

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|----------------------------|--|------|--|---|--|
| #31 TSP Mist 15s | <1.92 | 1.06 | >0.93 | n | #32 |
| #32 TSP Mist 30s | <0.81 | 0.56 | >2.01 | Y | #31, #33 |
| #33 TSP Mist+Rinse 15s+30s | 1.59 | 0.34 | 0.76 | Y | #32 |
| #34 TSP Mist+Rinse 30s+30s | 1.53 | 0.56 | 0.82 | n | |

Table 47. Summary of effect of TSP treatments on pseudomonads on neck skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

10.3.6.2.1 Effects of Application Time

Treatments #31 and #32 for 15 and 30 seconds misting spray with no rinsing gave good reductions of >0.93, and >2.01 \log_{10} cfu g⁻¹ respectively. The two treatments showed a trend for increasing reduction and decreasing final levels with longer spraying times, however the treatments were not significantly different from each other. Only treatment #32 (30 seconds) gave a significant change from control levels.

10.3.6.2.2 Effects of Rinsing

Rinse treatments #33 and #34 were not significantly different from each other, yet #33 (15 seconds spray plus 30 seconds rinse) gave significant reduction from control levels. When compared to the non-rinsed treatments #31 and #32 it is seen that rinsing reduces the effect of TSP. The trend for increased reductions and lower final levels with increased spray time as seen for non-rinsed treatments was preserved on rinsed results but to a lesser extent.

10.3.6.3 Steam

A summary of all steam treatments for Pseudomonads on neck skin is given in Error! Reference source not found.

| Table 48. Sum | mary of the effect | of Steam treatments or | pseudomonads on | neck skin |
|---------------|--------------------|------------------------|-----------------|-----------|
|---------------|--------------------|------------------------|-----------------|-----------|

| Treatment | Mean final level after treatment (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | SD | Reduction (log 10 cfu g ⁻¹) | Significant effect of treatment (P<0.01) | Significantly different final levels* (P<0.01) |
|------------------------------|--|------|--|---|--|
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 15s Only | 2.98 | 1.25 | -0.32 | n | |
| #27 Stm Stm 10s | 2.33 | 0.48 | 0.37 | n | #30 |
| #28 Stm Stm 15s | 2.24 | 0.83 | 0.42 | n | #29, #30 |
| #29 Stm Stm+Cool 15s+15s | 3.27 | 0.88 | -0.61 | n | #28 |
| #30 Stm-Dry Stm+Cool 15s+15s | 3.31 | 0.61 | -0.34 | n | #27, #28 |

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

10.3.6.3.1 Application Time

Increasing the steam treatment from 10 seconds (#27) to 15 seconds (#28) slightly decreased final levels and improved reductions. However, no stream treatment showed a significant reduction of Pseudomonads on the neck skin between control and treated samples.

10.3.6.3.2 Effects of Cooling Spray

Adding a 15 seconds cooling spray after the 15 seconds steam treatment (#29) was no better than steam alone (#28).

10.3.6.4 Cold Water Spray Configuration

A summary of all cold water treatments with various spray configurations for Pseudomonads on neck skin is given in **Error! Reference source not found.**

| | | ~~~ | | ~ | |
|----------------------------|----------------------------------|------|--|--------------------------|---------------------|
| Treatment | Mean final level after | SD | Reduction $(\log x \circ f (\log^{-1}))$ | Significant effect of | Significantly |
| | $(\log_{10} \text{ cfu g}^{-1})$ | | $(\log_{10} \operatorname{cru} g)$ | treatment | (P<0.01) |
| | (810 8 7 | | | (P<0.01) | |
| #10 CW Mist 15s | 2.92 | 0.54 | -0.01 | n | #11, #15, #16 |
| | | | | | #10, #13, #14, #15, |
| #11 CW Mist 30s | 3.35 | 0.79 | -0.13 | n | #16, #41, #42 |
| #12 CW Mist+Wait+Rinse | 2.87 | 0.35 | -0.09 | n | #16 |
| 15s+5m+5s | | | | | |
| #13 CW OzoneNozzles 15s | 2.73 | 0.24 | 0.03 | n | #11, #16 |
| #14 CW OzoneNozzles 30s | 2.79 | 0.27 | -0.33 | n | #11, #16 |
| #15 CW OzoneNozzles 3m | 2.25 | 0.36 | 1.13 | Y | #10, #11, #16 |
| | | | | | #10, #11, #12, #13, |
| "16 CW W 1.05 | 1.00 | 0.24 | 1.04 | | #14, #15, #26, #41, |
| #16 CW Wash 2.5s | 4.09 | 0.24 | -1.04 | Ŷ | #42 |
| #26 (no Stm) Cool 15s Only | 2.98 | 1.25 | -0.32 | n | #16 |
| #40 CW HighIntensity 5s | 2.97 | 0.90 | -0.58 | n | |
| #41 CW HighIntensity 15s | 2.58 | 0.42 | -0.19 | n | #11, #16 |
| #42 CW HighIntensity 30s | 2.50 | 0.37 | -0.11 | n | #11, #16 |

Table 49. Summary of Cold Water Spray Configurations of Pseudomonads on neck skin

*All permutations of final levels are not significantly different except pairings indicated.

Only treatment #15 showed a significant reduction of $1.13 \log_{10}$ cfu g⁻¹ from control levels. Although significant, treatment #16 showed an increase in levels, and all other cold water configurations had negligible effects on Pseudomonads on the neck skin.

10.4 Trends within Results

10.4.1 Summary of treatment duration effects

Summaries of the effects of treatments that were evaluated for two or more durations are given in **Error! Reference source not found.** to **Error! Reference source not found.** Each table shows the summary for a particular organism-type/skin-part combination, and assessed for benefit with mean comparison data of: a). mean \log_{10} microbial levels before treatment, b). mean \log_{10} reductions achieved by the treatment compared to water alone; c). proportion of samples after treatment below the limit of detection (LoD) and d). the numbers of microbes remaining after treatment.

| Treatment | Criteria | | | Treatment Durat | tion | | Benefit with |
|-----------|---|-------------|--------------|-----------------|--------------|-------------|-------------------------|
| | | 5s | 10s | 15s | 30s | 3m | increasing duration* |
| ASC Mist | n | | 5 | 20 | 15 | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Cntrl (SD) | | 2.00 (0.87) | <1.52 (0.67) | 1.73 (0.62) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | < 0.43(0.26) | <0.67 (0.61) | <0.45 (0.17) | | V |
| | log10 Reductn | | >1.57 | ~0.85 | >1.28 | | ? |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td>100%</td><td>70%</td><td>93%</td><td></td><td>V</td></lod> | | 100% | 70% | 93% | | V |
| CW Mist | n | | | 30 | 55 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | <2.28 (0.90) | <2.12 (0.79) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | <2.25 (0.73) | 1.93 (0.52) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | ~0.03 | < 0.19 | | ? |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>-2%</td><td></td><td>Ν</td></lod> | | | 0% | -2% | | Ν |
| CW Deluge | n | | | 5 | 5 | 5 | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 2.28 (0.14) | 2.28 (0.14) | 1.72 (0.51) | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 1.60 (0.33) | 2.02 (0.33) | 2.02 (0.13) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.68 | 0.26 | -0.30 | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | 0% | ? |
| PAA Mist | n | | | 10 | 10 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 2.93 (0.94) | 2.93 (0.94) | | - |
| | log10 Treatd (SD) | | | 2.12 (0.83) | <1.78 (0.75) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.81 | >1.15 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>20%</td><td></td><td>Y</td></lod> | | | 0% | 20% | | Y |
| Steam | n | | 5 | 15 | | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | 1.31 (0.42) | <2.15 (0.83) | | | - |
| | log10 Treatd (SD) | | 1.50 (0.45) | <0.87 (0.63) | | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | -0.19 | ~1.28 | | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td>0%</td><td>47%</td><td></td><td></td><td>Y</td></lod> | | 0% | 47% | | | Y |
| TSP Mist | n | | | 10 | 15 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 2.50 (0.21) | <2.16 (0.57) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 1.92 (0.61) | <0.79 (0.38) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.58 | ~1.37 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>60%</td><td></td><td>Y</td></lod> | | | 0% | 60% | | Y |
| CW High | n | 5 | | 5 | 5 | | - |
| Intensity | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 2.71 (0.39) | | 2.71 (0.39) | 2.71 (0.39) | | - |
| Wash | log10 Treatd (SD) | 2.13 (0.48) | | 1.98 (1.09) | 2.12 (0.15) | | V |
| | log10 Reductn | 0.58 | | 0.73 | 0.59 | | V |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>0%</td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | 0% | | 0% | 0% | | ? |

| kin |
|-----|
| |

*KEY:

Y = Yes (improvement with every increase in treatment duration)

V = Variable (both improvements and declines with increasing duration)

? = Indeterminate (no change in values or inequalities)

N = No (worsening with every increase in treatment duration)

For Campylobacters on breast skin it can be seen that generally increasing treatment duration does improve performance for most assessment methods.

| Treatment | Criteria | | | Treatment Durati | on | | Benefit with |
|-----------|--|-------------|--------------|------------------|---------------|-------------|-------------------------|
| | | 5s | 10s | 15s | 30s | 3m | increasing duration* |
| ASC Mist | n | | 5 | 20 | 15 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | 2.86 (1.37) | 2.41 (0.87) | 2.45 (0.91) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | <1.41 (1.47) | <0.96 (0.92) | < 0.85 (0.60) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | >1.45 | >1.45 | >1.60 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td>20%</td><td>65%</td><td>47%</td><td></td><td>V</td></lod> | | 20% | 65% | 47% | | V |
| CW Mist | n | | | 30 | 55 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 3.01 (0.85) | 2.81 (0.85) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 2.78 (0.84) | 2.41 (0.61) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.23 | 0.40 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | | ? |
| CW Deluge | n | | | 5 | 5 | 5 | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 2.98 (0.46) | 2.98 (0.46) | 1.98 (0.14) | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 2.43 (0.04) | 2.91 (0.60) | 3.02 (0.45) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.55 | 0.07 | -1.04 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | 0% | ? |
| PAA Mist | n | | | 10 | 10 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 3.58 (0.84) | 3.58 (0.84) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 2.62 (0.73) | 2.61 (0.89) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.96 | 0.97 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | | ? |
| Steam | n | | 5 | 15 | | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | 1.57 (0.40) | 2.58 (1.03) | | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | 2.35 (0.22) | 2.05 (0.85) | | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | -0.78 | 0.53 | | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | 0% | 0% | | | ? |
| TSP Mist | n | | | 10 | 15 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 3.25 (0.28) | 3.22 (0.46) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | <1.89 (0.1.22) | < 0.81 (0.74) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | >1.36 | >2.41 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>20%</td><td>73%</td><td></td><td>Y</td></lod> | | | 20% | 73% | | Y |
| CW High | n | 5 | | 5 | 5 | | - |
| Intensity | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.05 (0.40) | | 3.05 (0.40) | 3.05 (0.40) | | - |
| Wash | log10 Treatd (SD) | 2.91 (0.49) | | 2.68 (0.40) | 2.93 (0.49) | | V |
| | log10 Reductn | 0.14 | | 0.37 | 0.12 | | V |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>0%</td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | 0% | | 0% | 0% | | ? |

| Table 51. Summary of increasing treatment duration for Campylobacters on neck sl | kin |
|--|-----|
|--|-----|

*KEY:

Y = Yes (improvement with every increase in treatment duration)

V = Variable (both improvements and declines with increasing duration)

? = Indeterminate (no change in values or inequalities)

N = No (worsening with every increase in treatment duration)

Predominantly for Campylobacters on neck skin it can be seen that increasing treatment duration does generally improve performance for most assessment methods. It is interesting to note that the deluge treatments appeared to have a consistent contaminating effect with increased duration for both assessment methods that showed a difference.

| Treatment | Criteria | | | | Benefit with | | |
|-----------|--|-------------|---------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|----------------------|
| | | 5s | 10s | 15s | 30s | 3m | increasing duration* |
| ASC Mist | n | | 5 | 20 | 15 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | 3.01 (0.76) | 2.89 (0.54) | 3.27 (0.52) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | < 0.61 (0.32) | <1.31 (0.87) | <1.17 (0.87) | | V |
| | log ₁₀ Reductn | | >2.40 | >1.58 | >2.10 | | V |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td>40%</td><td>45%</td><td>47%</td><td></td><td>Y</td></lod> | | 40% | 45% | 47% | | Y |
| CW Mist | n | | | 30 | 55 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 3.30 (0.75) | 3.79 (1.06) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 3.53 (0.73) | 3.66 (0.88) | | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | | | -0.23 | 0.13 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | | ? |
| CW Deluge | n | | | 5 | 5 | 5 | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 2.86 (0.46) | 2.86 (0.46) | 3.06 (0.60) | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 3.33 (0.21) | 3.02 (0.37) | 2.66 (0.52) | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | >0.47 | >0.16 | 0.40 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | 0% | ? |
| PAA Mist | n | | | 10 | 10 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 3.36 (0.83) | 3.36 (0.83) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 3.17 (0.80) | 2.76 (0.53) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.19 | 0.60 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | | ? |
| Steam | n | | 5 | 15 | | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | 3.18 (0.39) | 3.28 (0.36) | | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | 2.88 (0.31) | <2.26 (0.99) | | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | 0.30 | >1.02 | | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td>0%</td><td>7%</td><td></td><td></td><td>Y</td></lod> | | 0% | 7% | | | Y |
| TSP Mist | n | | | 10 | 15 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 3.67 (0.68) | 3.14 (0.99) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 3.49 (0.89) | <2.13 (1.26) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.89 | >1.26 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>27%</td><td></td><td>Y</td></lod> | | | 0% | 27% | | Y |
| CW High | n | 5 | | 5 | 5 | | - |
| Intensity | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.26 (0.19) | | 3.26 (0.19) | 3.26 (0.19) | | - |
| Wash | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | 3.19 (0.17) | | 3.43 (0.49) | 3.46 (0.25) | | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | 0.07 | | -0.17 | -0.20 | | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>0%</td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | 0% | | 0% | 0% | | ? |

Table 52. Summary of increasing treatment duration for Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin

*KEY:

Y = Yes (improvement with every increase in treatment duration)

V = Variable (both improvements and declines with increasing duration)

? = Indeterminate (no change in values or inequalities)

N = No (worsening with every increase in treatment duration)

For Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin only steam and TSP treatment showed consistent improvements in performance with increasing treatment duration.

| Treatment | Criteria | | | | Benefit with | | |
|-----------|---|-------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|----------------------|
| | | 5s | 10s | 15s | 30s | 3m | increasing duration* |
| ASC Mist | n | | 5 | 20 | 15 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | 3.59 (0.83) | 3.58 (0.67) | 3.96 (0.64) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | <1.41 (0.87) | <1.81 (1.00) | <2.07 (0.80) | | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | | >2.18 | >1.77 | >1.89 | | V |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td>20%</td><td>15%</td><td>7%</td><td></td><td>Ν</td></lod> | | 20% | 15% | 7% | | Ν |
| CW Mist | n | | | 30 | 55 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 4.01 (0.83) | 4.16 (0.94) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 3.94 (0.58) | 3.78 (0.79) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.07 | 0.38 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | | ? |
| CW Deluge | n | | | 5 | 5 | 5 | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 3.55 (0.33) | 3.55 (0.33) | 3.36 (0.34) | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 3.69 (0.32) | 3.72 (0.40) | 3.41 (0.31) | V |
| | log10 Reductn | | | -0.14 | -0.17 | -0.05 | V |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | 0% | ? |
| PAA Mist | n | | | 10 | 10 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 3.97 (0.69) | 3.97 (0.69) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 3.17 (0.64) | 3.21 (0.46) | | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.80 | 0.76 | | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | | ? |
| Steam | n | | 5 | 15 | | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Cntrl (SD) | | 3.70 (0.43) | 3.72 (0.48) | | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | 3.71 (0.74) | 3.70 (0.57) | | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | -0.01 | 0.02 | | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | 0% | 0% | | | ? |
| TSP Mist | n | | | 10 | 15 | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Cntrl (SD) | | | 4.29 (1.04) | 4.17 (0.90) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 2.59 (1.62) | <0.88 (0.83) | | Y |
| | log ₁₀ Reductn | | | 1.70 | >3.29 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>67%</td><td></td><td>Y</td></lod> | | | 0% | 67% | | Y |
| CW High | n | 5 | | 5 | 5 | | - |
| Intensity | log ₁₀ Cntrl (SD) | 3.65 (0.37) | | 3.65 (0.37) | 3.65 (0.37) | | - |
| Wash | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | 3.79 (0.60) | | 3.64 (0.46) | 3.85 (0.24) | | V |
| | log10 Reductn | -0.14 | | 0.01 | -0.20 | | V |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>0%</td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | 0% | | 0% | 0% | | ? |

Table 53. Summary of increasing treatment duration for Enterobacteriaceae on neck skin

*KEY:

Y = Yes (improvement with every increase in treatment duration)

V = Variable (both improvements and declines with increasing duration)

? = Indeterminate (no change in values or inequalities)

N = No (worsening with every increase in treatment duration)

For Enterobacteriaceae on neck skin it can be seen that increasing treatment duration does not necessarily improve performance. For PAA misting there appears to be a small contaminating effect in these data of increasing treatment duration.

| Treatment | Criteria | | | Treatment Durati | ion | | Benefit with |
|-----------|--|-------------|-------------|------------------|--------------|-------------|-------------------------|
| | | 5s | 10s | 15s | 30s | 3m | increasing duration* |
| ASC Mist | n | | 5 | 20 | 15 | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Cntrl (SD) | | 3.29 (0.12) | 2.49 (0.65) | 2.78 (0.48) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | <1.29 (0.78 | <1.33 (0.70) | <1.57 (0.71) | | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | | >2.00 | >1.16 | >1.21 | | V |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td>40%</td><td>25%</td><td>20%</td><td></td><td>Ν</td></lod> | | 40% | 25% | 20% | | Ν |
| CW Mist | n | | | 30 | 55 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 2.29 (0.63) | <2.78 (0.90) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 2.42 (0.64) | 3.07 (0.95) | | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | | | -0.13 | <-0.29 | | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>-4%</td><td></td><td>Ν</td></lod> | | | 0% | -4% | | Ν |
| CW Deluge | n | | | 5 | 5 | 5 | - |
| - | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 2.05 (0.42) | 2.05 (0.42) | 2.99 (0.51) | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 2.38 (0.27) | 2.11 (0.26) | 1.45 (0.30) | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | -0.33 | -0.06 | 1.54 | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | 0% | ? |
| PAA Mist | n | | | 10 | 10 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 2.37 (0.67) | 2.37 (0.67) | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | | | 2.00 (0.52) | 1.81 (0.52) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.37 | 0.56 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | | ? |
| Steam | n | | 5 | 15 | | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | 2.39 (0.36) | 2.46 (0.44) | | | - |
| | log10 Treatd (SD) | | 1.33 (0.34) | <1.44 (0.77) | | | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | | 1.06 | >1.32 | | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td>0%</td><td>40%</td><td></td><td></td><td>Y</td></lod> | | 0% | 40% | | | Y |
| TSP Mist | n | | | 10 | 15 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 2.45 (0.68) | <1.98 (0.90) | | - |
| | log10 Treatd (SD) | | | <2.02 (0.90) | <1.23 (0.76) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | | >0.43 | ~0.75 | | ? |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>10%</td><td>27%</td><td></td><td>Y</td></lod> | | | 10% | 27% | | Y |
| CW High | n | 5 | | 5 | 5 | | - |
| Intensity | log ₁₀ Cntrl (SD) | 2.21 (0.12) | | 2.21 (0.12) | 2.21 (0.12) | | - |
| Wash | log10 Treatd (SD) | 2.35 (0.39) | | 1.90 (0.46) | 2.22 (0.32) | | V |
| | log10 Reductn | -0.14 | | 0.31 | -0.01 | | V |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>0%</td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | 0% | | 0% | 0% | | ? |

| kin |
|-----|
|] |

*KEY:

Y = Yes (improvement with every increase in treatment duration)

V = Variable (both improvements and declines with increasing duration)

? = Indeterminate (no change in values or inequalities)

N = No (worsening with every increase in treatment duration)

For Pseudomonads on breast skin it can be seen that increasing treatment duration does not necessarily improve performance. For cold water misting there appears to be a contaminating effect of increasing treatment duration.

| Treatment | Criteria | | | Treatment Durati | ion | | Benefit with |
|-----------|---|-------------|-------------|------------------|--------------|-------------|-------------------------|
| | | 5s | 10s | 15s | 30s | 3m | increasing duration* |
| ASC Mist | n | | 5 | 20 | 15 | | - |
| | log ₁₀ Cntrl (SD) | | 3.37 (0.24) | 2.94 (0.47) | 3.23 (0.37) | | - |
| | log10 Treatd (SD) | | 2.24 (0.13) | 2.20 (0.51) | 2.33 (0.60) | | V |
| | log10 Reductn | | 1.13 | 0.74 | 0.90 | | V |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | 0% | 0% | 0% | | ? |
| CW Mist | n | | | 30 | 55 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 2.91 (0.56) | 3.22 (0.77) | | - |
| | log10 Treatd (SD) | | | 2.92 (0.54) | 3.35 (0.79) | | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | | | -0.01 | -0.13 | | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | | ? |
| CW Deluge | n | | | 5 | 5 | 5 | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 2.76 (0.28) | 2.46 (0.28) | 3.38 (0.08) | - |
| | log10 Treatd (SD) | | | 2.73 (0.24) | 2.79 (0.27) | 2.25 (0.36) | V |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.03 | -0.33 | 1.13 | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | 0% | ? |
| PAA Mist | n | | | 10 | 10 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 3.08 (0.53) | 3.08 (0.53) | | - |
| | log10 Treatd (SD) | | | 2.29 (0.30) | 2.33 (0.22) | | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | | | 0.79 | 0.75 | | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | | 0% | 0% | | ? |
| Steam | n | | 5 | 15 | | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | 2.70 (0.43) | 2.66 (0.53) | | | - |
| | log10 Treatd (SD) | | 2.33 (0.48) | 2.24 (0.83) | | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | | 0.37 | 0.42 | | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | | 0% | 0% | | | ? |
| TSP Mist | n | | | 10 | 15 | | - |
| | log10 Cntrl (SD) | | | 2.85 (0.62) | 2.82 (0.51) | | - |
| | log10 Treatd (SD) | | | <1.92 (1.06) | <0.81 (0.56) | | Y |
| | log ₁₀ Reductn | | | >0.93 | >2.01 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td>10%</td><td>53%</td><td></td><td>Y</td></lod> | | | 10% | 53% | | Y |
| CW High | n | 5 | | 5 | 5 | | - |
| Intensity | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 2.39 (0.24) | | 2.39 (0.24) | 2.39 (0.24) | | - |
| Wash | log10 Treatd (SD) | 2.97 (0.90) | | 2.58 (0.42) | 2.50 (0.37) | | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | -0.58 | | -0.19 | -0.11 | | Y |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>0%</td><td></td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td></td><td>?</td></lod> | 0% | | 0% | 0% | | ? |

*KEY:

Y = Yes (improvement with every increase in treatment duration)

V = Variable (both improvements and declines with increasing duration)

? = Indeterminate (no change in values or inequalities)

N = No (worsening with every increase in treatment duration)

For Pseudomonads on neck skin it can be seen that increasing treatment duration does not necessarily improve performance. For cold water and PAA misting there appears to be a contaminating effect of increasing treatment duration.

10.4.1.1 Effect of treatment duration - conclusions

Overall, increasing treatment duration does not necessarily improve performance. Additionally, it should be borne in mind that these chemical treatments are unrinsed (rinsing would be required under EFSA guidelines) and rinsing has a substantial detrimental effect on the performance of chemical treatments (**Error! Reference source not found.** to **Error! Reference source not found.**).

For some cold water only treatments (deluge for Campylobacters on neck skin, high-intensity for Enterobacteriaceae on breast skin, mist for Pseudomonads on breast skin and neck skin), there appears to be a contaminating effect with increasing duration for assessment methods that showed a difference.

Due to the greater number of duration datasets, treatments with three instances of different durations showed clear benefits less often than treatments with only two duration instances.

10.4.2 Summary of rinsing effects.

The effects of rinsing after chemical treatment were assessed for the two best performing chemicals (ASC and TSP). Samples treated with ASC for 10 seconds were rinsed for 5 seconds, and samples treated with TSP for 15 and 30 seconds were rinsed for 30 seconds. These data were then compared to unrinsed treatments of the same duration (**Error! Reference source not found.**).

| Organism / | Criteria | No rinse [§01] | 5s Rinse [§36] | Benefit with |
|--------------|---|----------------|----------------|--------------|
| Carcass part | | (n=5) | (n=10) | rinse* |
| Campy | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 2.00 (0.87) | 2.65 (0.36) | - |
| Breast skin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | < 0.43(0.26) | <1.39 (0.79) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | >1.57 | >1.26 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>100%</td><td>22%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 100% | 22% | Ν |
| Campy | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 2.86 (1.37) | 2.88 (0.44) | - |
| Neck skin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | <1.41 (1.47) | <1.80 (0.73) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | >1.45 | >1.08 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>20%</td><td>11%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 20% | 11% | Ν |
| Entero | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.01 (0.76) | 3.70 (0.53) | - |
| Breast skin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | <0.61 (0.32) | 3.14 (0.62) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | >2.40 | 0.56 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>40%</td><td>0%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 40% | 0% | Ν |
| Entero | log ₁₀ Cntrl (SD) | 3.59 (0.83) | 4.01 (0.57) | - |
| Neck skin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | <1.41 (0.87) | 3.30 (0.45) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | >2.18 | 0.71 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>20%</td><td>0%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 20% | 0% | Ν |
| Pseudo | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.29 (0.12) | 2.99 (0.58) | - |
| Breast skin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | <1.29 (0.78 | 2.70 (0.46) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | >2.00 | 0.29 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>40%</td><td>0%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 40% | 0% | Ν |
| Pseudo | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.37 (0.24) | 3.42 (0.69) | - |
| Neck skin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | 2.24 (0.13) | 2.78 (0.41) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | 1.13 | -0.64 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>?</td></lod> | 0% | 0% | ? |

Table 56 . Effects of rinsing after 10 seconds ASC mist treatment

| Table 57 | . Effects of | rinsing | after 1 | 5 seconds | TSP | mist | treatment |
|----------|--------------|---------|---------|-----------|-----|------|----------------------|
| Table 57 | · Encers of | rmanig | and | sconus | IDI | mat | <i>ii</i> catificiti |

| Organism / | Criteria | No rinse [§31] | 30 s Rinse [§33] | Benefit with |
|--------------|---|----------------|------------------|--------------|
| Carcass part | | (n=10) | (n=5) | rinse* |
| Campy | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 2.50 (0.21) | 2.37 (0.16) | - |
| Breastskin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | 1.92 (0.61) | 1.79 (0.35) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | 0.58 | 0.58 | ? |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>?</td></lod> | 0% | 0% | ? |
| Campy | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.25 (0.28) | 3.24 (0.18) | - |
| Neck skin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | <1.89 (0.1.22) | 2.25 (0.42) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | >1.36 | 0.99 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>20%</td><td>0%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 20% | 0% | Ν |
| Entero | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.67 (0.68) | 3.07 (0.19) | - |
| Breastskin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | 3.49 (0.89) | 2.73 (0.27 | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | 0.89 | 0.27 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>?</td></lod> | 0% | 0% | ? |
| Entero | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 4.29 (1.04) | 3.34 (0.21) | - |
| Neck skin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | 2.59 (1.62) | 2.86 (0.48) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | 1.70 | 0.48 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>?</td></lod> | 0% | 0% | ? |
| Pseudo | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 2.45 (0.68) | 1.83 (0.23) | - |
| Breastskin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | <2.02 (0.90) | 1.42 (0.42) | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | >0.43 | 0.41 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>10%</td><td>0%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 10% | 0% | Ν |
| Pseudo | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 2.85 (0.62) | 2.35 (0.24) | - |
| Neck skin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | <1.92 (1.06) | 1.59 (0.34) | Y |
| | log10 Reductn | >0.93 | 0.76 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>10%</td><td>0%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 10% | 0% | Ν |

| Organism / | Criteria | No rinse [§32] | 30 s Rinse [§34] | Benefit with |
|------------|---|----------------|------------------|--------------|
| Carcass | | (n=15) | (n=5) | rinse* |
| part | | | | |
| Campy | log10 Cntrl (SD) | <2.16 (0.57) | 2.37 (0.16) | - |
| Breastskin | log10 Treatd (SD) | <0.79 (0.38) | 1.50 (0.28) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | ~1.37 | 0.87 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>60%</td><td>0%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 60% | 0% | Ν |
| Campy | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.22 (0.46) | 3.24 (0.18) | - |
| Neck skin | log10 Treatd (SD) | < 0.81 (0.74) | 2.11 (0.52) | Ν |
| | log ₁₀ Reductn | >2.41 | 1.13 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>73%</td><td>0%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 73% | 0% | Ν |
| Entero | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.14 (0.99) | 3.07 (0.19) | - |
| Breastskin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | <2.13 (1.26) | 2.80 (0.27 | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | >1.26 | 0.27 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>27%</td><td>0%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 27% | 0% | Ν |
| Entero | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 4.17 (0.90) | 3.34 (0.21) | - |
| Neck skin | log10 Treatd (SD) | < 0.88 (0.83) | 2.89 (0.22) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | >3.29 | 0.45 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>67%</td><td>0%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 67% | 0% | Ν |
| Pseudo | log10 Cntrl (SD) | <1.98 (0.90) | 1.83 (0.23) | - |
| Breastskin | log10 Treatd (SD) | <1.23 (0.76) | 1.37 (0.61) | Ν |
| | log ₁₀ Reductn | ~0.75 | 0.46 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>27%</td><td>0%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 27% | 0% | Ν |
| Pseudo | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 2.82 (0.51) | 2.35 (0.24) | - |
| Neck skin | log10 Treatd (SD) | <0.81 (0.56) | 1.53 (0.56) | Ν |
| | log10 Reductn | >2.01 | 0.82 | Ν |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>53%</td><td>0%</td><td>Ν</td></lod> | 53% | 0% | Ν |

Table 58. Effects of rinsing after 30 seconds TSP mist treatment

10.4.2.1 Effect of rinsing - conclusions

Adding a 5 second rinse after a 10 second ASC treatment or a 30 second rinse after 30 seconds TSP treatment reduced efficacy of overall treatment for all organism-type/bird-part combinations by all assessment methods. Adding a 30 seconds rinse after a 15 seconds TSP treatment reduced the overall efficacy for most organism-type/bird-part combinations under most assessment methods. However, final treated levels after rinse for Enterobacteriaceae on the breast skin, and Pseudomonads on breast and neck skin showed a small benefit of rinsing.

Predominantly, rinsing substantially reduces efficacy of chemical decontaminants.

10.4.3 Summary of chemical action time (dwell) effects.

The effects of varying the chemical action time (dwell) were assessed for the best performing chemical (ASC). Samples were treated with ASC for 10 seconds and then rinsed for 5 seconds after delays of 0, 5, 30 and 60 minutes (**Error! Reference source not found.**, **Error! Reference source not found.**).

| Organism | | No rinse | Dwell 0m | Dwell 5m | Dwell 30m | Dwell 60m |
|-----------|--|--------------|--------------|---------------|--------------|--------------|
| / Carcass | Criteria | [§01] | [§36] | [§37] | [§38] | [§39] |
| part | | (n=5) | (n=10) | (n=10) | (n=10) | (n=10) |
| Campy | log ₁₀ Cntrl (SD) | 2.00 (0.87) | 2.65 (0.36) | 2.65 (0.36) | 2.65 (0.36) | 2.65 (0.36) |
| Breast | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | <0.43(0.26) | <1.39 (0.79) | < 0.83 (0.62) | <1.38 (0.65) | 1.70 (0.63) |
| skin | log ₁₀ Reductn | >1.57 | >1.26 | >1.82 | >1.27 | 0.95 |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>100%</td><td>22%</td><td>40%</td><td>10%</td><td>0%</td></lod> | 100% | 22% | 40% | 10% | 0% |
| Campy | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 2.86 (1.37) | 2.88 (0.44) | 2.88 (0.44) | 2.88 (0.44) | 2.88 (0.44) |
| Neck skin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | <1.41 (1.47) | <1.80 (0.73) | <1.76 (0.61) | 2.33 (0.54) | <1.89 (1.07) |
| | log10 Reductn | >1.45 | >1.08 | >1.12 | 0.55 | >0.99 |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>20%</td><td>11%</td><td>10%</td><td>0%</td><td>20%</td></lod> | 20% | 11% | 10% | 0% | 20% |
| Entero | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.01 (0.76) | 3.70 (0.53) | 3.70 (0.53) | 3.70 (0.53) | 3.70 (0.53) |
| Breast | log10 Treatd (SD) | <0.61 (0.32) | 3.14 (0.62) | 3.53 (0.36) | 2.92 (0.69) | 3.11 (0.59) |
| skin | log ₁₀ Reductn | >2.40 | 0.56 | 0.17 | 0.78 | 0.59 |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>40%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td></lod> | 40% | 0% | 0% | 0% | 0% |
| Entero | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.59 (0.83) | 4.01 (0.57) | 4.01 (0.57) | 4.01 (0.57) | 4.01 (0.57) |
| Neck skin | log ₁₀ Treatd (SD) | <1.41 (0.87) | 3.30 (0.45) | 3.80 (0.43) | 3.37 (0.69) | 3.32 (0.76) |
| | log10 Reductn | >2.18 | 0.71 | 0.21 | 0.64 | 0.69 |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>20%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td></lod> | 20% | 0% | 0% | 0% | 0% |
| Pseudo | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.29 (0.12) | 2.99 (0.58) | 2.99 (0.58) | 2.99 (0.58) | 2.99 (0.58) |
| Breast | log10 Treatd (SD) | <1.29 (0.78 | 2.70 (0.46) | 2.33 (0.55) | 2.00 (0.70) | 2.08 (0.75) |
| skin | log10 Reductn | >2.00 | 0.29 | 0.66 | 0.99 | 0.91 |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>40%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td></lod> | 40% | 0% | 0% | 0% | 0% |
| Pseudo | log10 Cntrl (SD) | 3.37 (0.24) | 3.42 (0.69) | 3.42 (0.69) | 3.42 (0.69) | 3.42 (0.69) |
| Neck skin | log10 Treatd (SD) | 2.24 (0.13) | 2.78 (0.41) | 2.43 (0.38) | <2.30 (0.80) | 2.38 (0.51) |
| | log ₁₀ Reductn | 1.13 | -0.64 | 0.99 | >1.12 | 1.04 |
| | % <lod incrse<="" td=""><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>0%</td><td>10%</td><td>0%</td></lod> | 0% | 0% | 0% | 10% | 0% |

Table 59. Effects of dwell time before 5 second rinse after 10 seconds ASC treatment







It can be seen from **Error! Reference source not found.** and **Error! Reference source not found.** that whilst any rinsing substantially reduces the efficacy of the treatment, there is generally a benefit in increasing the dwell time before rinsing.

10.4.4 Conclusions from experimental work

• ASC (unrinsed) is the most effective chemical treatment.

- Steam is the most effective physical treatment.
- Increasing the treatment duration does not necessarily increase anti-microbial efficacy (not withstanding any surface change limitations with increased treatment durations)
- Rinsing substantially reduces the anti-microbial efficacy of chemical treatments.
- Allowing a longer dwell time before rinsing tends to increase the efficacy of rinsed treatments.

11 Investigation to see whether a flail washer reduced Campylobacter contamination of chicken carcasses in Plant number 4

These experiments were carried out on 14th November and 12th December 2006 in plant no. 4 in order to assess whether the flail washers in plant numbers 2 and 4 were effective in reducing carcass contamination with Campylobacter, Enterobacteriaceae and Pseudomonads. The two machines were of the same design.

11.1 Methods

The flail washer was situated immediately before the inside-outside washer. During a meal break, 60 carcasses were retained on the line. Twenty carcasses were sampled immediately before passing through the flail washer. Twenty carcasses were sampled immediately after passing through the flail washer and 20 carcasses were sampled after passing through the flail washer and 20 carcasses were sampled after passing through the flail washer. Neck skin and breast skin were sampled. Samples were stored chilled, and examined the following day.

Neck flaps Approximately 30 g of skin (avoiding fat) were added to 70 ml MRD and homogenised using the Pulverizer (30 seconds).

Breast skin Two 10 cm^2 samples per carcass, were taken from diametrically opposite ends of the breast, added to 20 ml MRD (to yield one suspension per carcass), and homogenised using the Pulverizer (30 seconds).

Caecal contents were examined from 13 and 17 carcasses on 14th November and 12th December respectively.

Microbiological examination. Decimal dilutions were prepared and plate counts of Campylobacter, Enterobacteriaceae and pseudomonads carried out as described in Section 6.1.1. Results were assessed using ANOVA.

11.2 Results

The results are shown in Table 60. Numbers of all bacterial groups were lower on the breastthan the neck skin on both days. All 13 caecal contents were positive for Campylobacter on 14^{th} November (mean 7.3 log₁₀ cfu g⁻¹), while on 12^{th} December only 1/17 was positive (7.01 log₁₀ cfu g⁻¹).

Results from 14th November. For the Enterobacteriaceae there was a significant difference between the numbers on the breast skin (p<0.001), with the counts after the flail washer and after the inside/outside washer being significantly lower than those before the flail washer. For the Pseudomonads, no significant effect was observed. Numbers of Campylobacters were low and many results were below the limit of detection (10 cfu g⁻¹). Mean numbers on the positive samples were not significantly lower after the flail washer.

Results from 12th December. For both neck and breast skin there was a significantly lower count of Enterobacteriaceae after the inside/outside washer compared to other points in the sequence. For Pseudomonads, there was a significantly lower count on the neck skin after the flail washer compared to other points in the sequence. On the breast skin, there were overlapping significancies between Pseudomonad counts at the three positions, but counts were significantly lower after the flail washer than before it. Numbers of Campylobacters were low and many results were below the limit of detection (10 cfu g⁻¹). Mean numbers on the positive samples were not significantly lower after the flail washer.



Figure 33. Flail washer during cleaning, Plant number 4

11.3 Discussion and Conclusions

A clear effect of the flail washer in reducing numbers of any of the three groups of bacteria on chicken carcasses was not observed. Although similar numbers of Campylobacters were detected on the carcasses on the two occasions, numbers in the caeca were much lower on 12^{th} December. It is sometimes difficult to be sure that carcasses and caeca both originate from the same flock – and on 12^{th} December this might not have been the case. It was clear that numbers of all bacterial groups were lower on breast- than neck skin.

Further work was not carried out on flail washers because of the lack of a clear beneficial effect, and also because the plants that used them were both closed within the next few years. Also, the machines were both built by the company that constructed the plants, and not available commercially.

| | | 14 th November 200 | 6 | |
|---------------------|--------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| | Enterobacteriaceae | Pseudomonads | Campylobacter (no. +ve/20) | Campylobacter mean of +ves |
| Neck | | | | |
| Before flail | 5.18 | 5.10 | 10/20 | 2.48 |
| After flail | 4.73 | 5.17 | 12/20 | 2.52 |
| After I/O washer | 4.94 | 5.33 | 4/19 | 2.56 |
| Breast | | | | |
| Before flail | 3.04 | 2.59 | 12/20 | 1.78 |
| After flail | 1.83* | 2.34 | 1/20 | 2.1 |
| After I/O washer | 2.21* | 2.42 | 1/19 | 1.81 |

| Table 60. | Summary of | f results from | flail washer | (mean lo | 210 cfu 2 ⁻¹ (| or $cm^2 n=20$) |
|-----------|------------|----------------|--------------|----------|---------------------------|------------------|
| | | | | | <u></u> | / |

| | Enterobacteriaceae | Pseudomonads | Campylobacter (no.+ve/20) | Campylobacter mear of +ves |
|---------------------|--------------------|--------------|------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Neck | | | | |
| Before flail | 6.58 | 5.88 | 11/20 | 2.72 |
| After flail | 5.93 | 5.42* | 13/20 | 2.68 |
| After I/O washer | 5.37* | 5.89* | 12/20 | 2.22 |
| Breast | | | | |
| Before flail | 2.11 | 3.28 | 9/20 | 1.73 |
| After flail | 1.91 | 2.59* | 6/20 | 1.71 |
| After I/O washer | 1.50* | 2.90 | 6/20 | 1.59 |

* significant difference (p = <0.05) from previous count

12 Recommendations for a best practice guide on-line

The research team collaborated with the team, led by Dr Michael Hutchison, working on FSA Project number MO1045 "Evaluation of data generated by meat plants for current HACCP verification purposes and future slaughterhouse hygiene purposes" (FSA MO1045 Report, 2008). Part of the work carried out in this project identified hazards to product integrity/hygiene for each stage of processing for each of the four meat species (cattle, sheep, pigs and poultry) processed in the UK. Each identified hazard had a basis that was backed by work undertaken by independent third parties and which had been peer reviewed. This data was used during the development of an on-line best practice guide with a scoring system that rewarded good and best processing practices and could be used by abattoir staff and/or inspection officers to evaluate particular slaughter processes. The system asked a series of questions concerning the processing practices, and scored the answers depending on the perceived influence on the hygienic quality of the meat product. Published information concerning each point in the slaughter process was available on-line to the users of the Guide.

The Project Leader and three other senior members of the research team attended a conference on 6th December 2007 at Chartridge Conference Centre, Chartridge, Chesham, Bucks HP5 2TU to discuss the draft Best Practice Guide developed in FSA project number MO1045, applied to poultry (and pig) slaughter lines. The meeting included other research workers from Bristol University and from other institutions, as well as the Project Officer from both MO1039 and MO1045, (Mrs Mary Howell) and her colleagure Ms Vicky Inness, both from the Food Standards Agency. Each step was considered and its weighting with respect to its effect on the hygiene of the final product was agreed by consensus, based on the available data. At that time, the data concerning decontamination of poultry meat using physical and/or chemical methods had not been published, and could not therefore be used as evidence to support the Best Practice Guide. In addition, chemical decontaminants had not been approved for commercial use. Use of a decontamination step immediately before or after chilling was considered the most effective method of improving the safety of poultry meat. Data provided by the research team concerning the effect of steam or hot water treatment of poultry meat was included to support a question asking whether an 80°C hot water wash was employed by the users of the Best Practice guide.

The M01039 research team assisted with the provision of project outputs prior to publication. In addition, and in combination with the other assembled researchers, the MO1039 project team donated technical expertise by helping score the relative weights assigned to each step in the slaughter line, published information concerning poultry and pig processing, and with the relative weight assigned to each step in the slaughter line by the scoring system.

13 Overall project conclusions

This project was carried out to help the FSA meet its aim of reducing *Campylobacter* contamination of poultry.

The key scientific objectives of the project were to:

1. Identify a 'typical' poultry processing system and any features present in current lines that are not typical but are likely to influence contamination.

2. Quantify and identify the main contamination paths in current processing.

3. Develop methods of reducing contamination and cross-contamination.

4. Evaluate various intervention steps for reducing contamination and cross-contamination.

5. Identify the key scientific data that could be used to develop a best practice guide.

Data from this project was regularly fed into FSA Project M01045 (Evaluation of data generated by meat plants for current HACCP verification purposes and future slaughterhouse hygiene purposes).

Our results were as follows:

13.1 Objective 1: Identify a 'typical' poultry processing system and any features present in current lines that are not typical but are likely to influence contamination

Six chicken, two turkey and one duck processing line were surveyed and a report written. In each case the project team followed the production line from lairage to portion cutting, and then interviewed production and management staff. The information gained was used to inform continuing studies of current industrial practice and allow targeting of more detailed experimental evaluative measurements. The results from all chicken plants were further combined into an anonymous description of a 'typical' UK chicken processing plant. There were deemed to be too few turkey and duck plants to form a representative sample. Where applicable the 'typical' chicken plant was contrasted to the turkey and duck lines. The survey also included an assessment of hygiene, disinfection and cleaning regimes, on which a separate report was written. The effectiveness of the most commonly-used commercial disinfectants was tested against a panel of Campylobacter isolates and other bacteria.

The abattoir survey revealed that the techniques used in all chicken processing plants were similar, and that the cleaning the disinfection methods were effective against Campylobacters. However, because poultry processing is highly mechanised and is conducted at speeds up to 12,000 carcasses per hour, effective cleaning and disinfection cannot be carried out between flocks, only between shifts – overnight or over the weekend. Also, cross-contamination between adjacent carcasses on the line is unavoidable, and occurs via the machinery and also by direct contact.

13.2 Objective 2: Quantify and identify the main contamination paths in current processing

Extent of cross-contamination from C+ to C- carcasses. This was first investigated by examining neck skins and caecal contents taken at random from all flocks processed over a number of days in two poultry processing plants. The caecal contents were examined in order to know whether the flocks were C+ or C-. The neck flaps from C- flocks processed after C+ flocks were then examined for numbers of campylobacters. Numbers of Campylobacter on neck flaps from some C+ flocks were also determined for comparison. Results showed that numbers on neck flaps from C- flocks were almost always <25 cfu g⁻¹, (160/170 were <25 cfu

 g^{-1} , seven between 25 and 99 cfu g^{-1} and three between 100 and 999 cfu g^{-1}) whereas those from neck flaps from C+ flocks were significantly higher (of 105 examined, two (2%) contained <25, ten (9.5%) between 25 and 99, 49 (46.5%) between 100 and 999 and 43 (42%) 1000 or more).

A further investigation was then carried out to determine whether the first few carcasses from the C- flocks carried higher numbers of campylobacters than those observed in the previous survey. The experiment was therefore repeated, taking five neck skins from the first ~100 carcasses processed, five from carcasses ~500-600 and five from carcasses ~5000-5100 of all flocks processed over several days and from two different poultry plants. Four C- flocks processed after C+ flocks were identified and the numbers of campylobacters per g neck skin compared with those obtained from carcasses at the same points during processing of C+ flocks. After the first ~100 carcasses, almost all the carcasses from C- flocks had <25 cfu campylobacters g⁻¹ neck skin, while numbers on neck flaps of carcasses from C+ flocks remained high throughout 28/56 (50%) exceeding 100 cfu g⁻¹, and 10/56 (18%) exceeding 1000 cfu g⁻¹.

Numbers of *Campylobacter* **spp. transferred from Campylobacter positive chickens to their carcasses during processing.** Visits were made by a team of eight to chicken processing plants on five occasions. Ten samples of necks or neck skins were taken at each of six points on the line during the processing of four flocks at each visit, and numbers of campylobacters, Enterobacteriaceae capable of multiplying at 41.5°C, and pseudomonads were enumerated. Enterobacteriaceae were included as indicators of campylobacter contamination, as they were found in similar numbers in the intestine, and not all flocks were colonised with campylobacters. Pseudomonads were an index of contamination that occurred from the processing environment. Most carcass contamination with *Campylobacter* spp. and Enterobacteriaceae were detected after scalding with little obvious increase after plucking, or after evisceration. Contamination with pseudomonads increased steadily all down the line after scalding.

In order to clarify whether process was the most important source of carcass contamination with campylobacters, batches of chicken carcasses were removed from the line immediately after plucking and dipped in water at 80°C for 20 seconds before replacement on the evisceration line. Control carcasses (processed normally) were taken after evisceration, as well as carcasses that had been decontaminated with hot water after plucking. All were sampled by examination of neck flaps or necks and the carcass rinse method. Results showed that plucking and evisceration contributed to a similar degree to numbers of *Campylobacter* spp. and Enterobacteriaceae on the fully processed carcasses.

13.3 Objective 3: Develop methods of reducing contamination and crosscontamination

Brain-storming sessions and discussions were held in order to identify the methods most likely to be successful in reducing numbers of campylobacters on carcasses from Campylobacter-positive (C+) and Campylobacter-negative (C-) flocks.

With C+ flocks the problem is to try to minimise transfer to the finished carcass, of campylobacters present in high numbers in the intestinal contents and on the feathers of the birds. Practical investigations in processing plants showed that similar proportions of contamination was occurring at two main points - during the scald and pluck stage, and subsequently during the evisceration steps. It was therefore concluded that reducing significantly the numbers of campylobacters reaching the carcasses during scalding and plucking would be of little benefit if subsequent processing steps during evisceration

contributed almost as many. However, a better system for scalding and plucking and/or cleaning and disinfection all along the line between flocks might be effective in reducing cross-contamination from C+ to C- flocks. It was therefore decided to investigate in more detail how many campylobacters were transferred to C- carcasses when processed immediately after C+ carcasses. If this was significant, it would justify introducing a cleaning step between flocks, or scheduling C+ flocks to be slaughtered after C- flocks.

The other clear possibility was to investigate the effect of end-product treatment of the fullyprocessed carcasses, either immediately before, during or after chilling. The possibilities were to use physical (e.g. steam at atmospheric pressure or dipping in hot water) or chemical (e.g. chlorine, chlorine dioxide, acidified sodium chlorite, ozone, trisodium phosphate, mixtures of peroxy acids).

13.4 Objective 4: Evaluate various intervention steps for reducing contamination and cross-contamination

Cross-contamination from campylobacter positive to campylobacter-negative carcasses only occurred on the first few hundred carcasses, and in relatively low numbers. Cleaning and disinfection of the machinery between flocks would reduce cross-contamination to a negligible level, but would not be practicable, and would have no effect on carcasses from campylobacter-positive flocks.

The plucking and subsequent evisceration process both contribute significantly to the numbers of campylobacters on carcasses, but decontamination of carcasses immediately post pluck did not result in clearly lower numbers of campylobacters when examined after evisceration. This indicated that evisceration negated the beneficial effect of post-puck decontamination. Therefore, most effective measure would be to use a physical or chemical treatment immediately before chilling. Heat treatment using steam or hot water had previously been found to reduce numbers of campylobacters significantly on the outside of poultry carcasses (Corry *et al.*, 2007; James *et al.*, 2007) so several chemicals were evaluated. It was decided that investigations should be carried out as far as possible on typical carcasses during normal production. Only naturally contaminated carcasses taken off the line before chilling and used as soon as possible would be used in any laboratory experiments. The effect of acidified sodium chlorite (ASC), chlorine dioxide (CD), peroxyacetic acid (PAA) and tri-sodium phosphate (TSP) on naturally occurring *Campylobacter, Enterobacteriaceae* and *Pseudomonas* spp. on the breast and neck skin of chicken carcasses was compared.

For analysis, the results were subdivided into six microbe-type/skin-location combinations with each subdivision ranked by: a) cfu remaining after treatment, b) mean reductions, and c) the proportional change in numbers of samples below the limit of detection (LoD).

The three groups of bacteria responded similarly to the chemicals applied. *Campylobacter* spp. were no more susceptible than the other two groups. No single chemical treatment gave the best effect across all subdivisions and ranking methods. Generally, ASC and TSP performed better than PAA with CD and water washing alone having little effect. A 30 second chemical treatment was usually more effective than a 15 second treatment. Where only a short (15 second) spray time was possible, ASC was the most effective. If longer treatments were possible, TSP was the most effective choice. Rinsing with water reduced the effectiveness of the chemicals.

13.5 Objective 5: Identify the key scientific data that could be used to develop a best practice guide

While some improvements could be achieved in terms of numbers of Campylobacters on the final product by improving hygiene at various points on the line (e.g. **scalding**: temperature, serial scald tanks, point of addition of fresh water; **plucking**: hot water sprays, post pluck wash; **evisceration**: careful adjustment of machinery, spray washes, minimal contact of carcasses with machinery; **Inside/outside wash**: design of sprays, volume of water per carcass; (**Air**) **chilling**: air temperature, provision of sprays, speed and direction of cold air, arrangement of carcass conveyors), the most effective measure would be to use a physical or chemical treatment immediately before, during or after chilling. The plucking process causes carcasses from Campylobacter-positive flocks to become highly contaminated with Campylobacters. Decontamination after plucking and before evisceration would not be useful because evisceration also contaminates the carcasses.

14 References

Abu-Ruwaida, A. S., Sawaya, W. N., Dashti, B. H., Murad, M., and Al-Othman, H. A. (1994) Microbiological quality of broilers during processing in a modern commercial slaughterhouse in Kuwait. *Journal of food Protection*. Vol. 57, pp887-892.

ACMSF (2004) ACMSF report on campylobacter. http://food.gov.uk. Industry/consultations/completed consultations in UK.

Acuff, G. r., Vanderzant, C., Hanna, M. O., Ehlers, J. G., Golan, F. A., and Gardner, F. A. (1986) Prevalence of campylobacter *jejuni* in turkey carcass processing and further processing of turkey products. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 49, pp712-717.

Adak, G. K., Long, S. M. and O'Brien, S. J (2002) Trends in indigenous foodborne disease and deaths, England and Wales: 1992 to 2000. *Gut.* Vol. 51, pp832-41.

Adams, M. R. and Moss, M. O. (1995) *Food Microbiology*. The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, ISBN 0-85404-509-0.

Adkin, A., Hartnett, E., Jordan, L., Newell, D., and Davison, H. (2006) Use of a systematic review to assist the development of campylobacter control strategies in broilers. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*. Vol. 100, pp306-315.

Ahmed, F. I. K., and Russell, C. (1975) Synergism between ultrasonic waves and hydrogen peroxide in the killing of microorganisms. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*. Vol. 39, pp31-40.

Al-Haddad, K. S. H., Al-Qassemi, R. A. S., and Robinson, R. K. (2005) The use of gaseous ozone and gas packaging to control populations of salmonella infantis and pseudomonas aeruginosa on the skin of chicken portions. *Food Control.* Vol. 16:5, pp405-410.

Alcide (2002) International Registration Dossier – Summary of acidified sodium chlorite studies, submitted by Alcide Corporation to Science Applications International corporation, Germantown (Maryland), USA. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Allen V. M., Tinker, D. B., Hinton, M. H., and Wathes, C. M. (2003a) Dispersal of micro-organisms in commercial defeathering systems. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 44, pp53-59.

Allen, V. M., Bull, S. A., Corry, J. E. L., Domingue, G., Jørgensen, F., Frost, J. A., Whyte, R., Gonzalez, A., Elviss, N., and Humphrey, T. J. (2007) *Campylobacter* spp. contamination of chicken carcasses during processing in relation to flock colonisation. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 113, pp54-61.

Allen, V. M., Burton, C. H, Corry, J. E. L., Mead, G. C., and Tinker, D. B. (2000a) Investigation of hygiene aspects during air chilling of poultry carcasses using a model rig. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 41, pp575-583.

Allen, V. M., Corry, J. E. L, Burton, C. H., Whyte, R. T., and Mead, G. C. (2000a) Hygiene aspects of modern poultry chilling. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 58, pp39-48.

Allen, V. M., Hinton, M. H., Tinker, D. B., Gibson, C., Mead, G. C., and Wathes, C. M. (2003a) Microbial crosscontamination by airborne dispersion and contagion during defeathering of poultry. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 44, pp567-576.

Allen, V. M., Hinton, M. H., Tinker, D. B., Gibson, C., Mead, G. C., and Wathes, C. M. (2003b) Microbial crosscontamination by airborne dispersion and contagion during defeathering of poultry. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 44, pp567-576.

Allen, V. M., Tinker, D. B., Hinton, M. H., and Wathes, C. M. (2003b) Dispersal of micro-organisms in commercial defeathering systems. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 44, pp53-59.

Alter, T., Gaull, F., Froed, A., and Fehlhaber, K. (2005) Distribution of campylobacter *jejuni* strains at different stages of a turkey slaughter line. *Food Microbiology*. Vol. 22, pp345-351.

Altmeyer M., Krabisch P., and Dorn P. (1985) Occurrence and distribution of campylobacter *jejuni/coli* in young poultry fattening production. *Deutsche Tieraerztliche Wochenschrift*. Vol. 92, pp456-459.

Anang, D. M., Rusul, G., Bakar, J., and Ling, F. H. (2007) Effects of lactic acid and lauricidin on the survival of *Listeria monocytogenes*, *Salmonella enteritidis* and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in chicken breast stored at 4°C. *Food Control*. Vol. 18:8, pp961-969.

Anang, D. M., Rusul, G., Radu, S., Bakar, J., and Beuchat, L. R. (2006) Inhibitory effect of oxalic acid on bacterial spoilage of raw chilled chicken. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 69:8, pp1913-1919.

Anderberg, S. L. (2000) Rectal plug and method of introducing same into a slaughtered animal. *United States Patent Re. 36,994* (reissue of 5,494,481).

Anderson, M. E., and Marshall, R. T. (1989) Interaction of concentration and temperature of acetic acid solution on reduction of various species of microorganisms on beef surfaces. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 52:5, pp312-315.

Andrews, J. M. (2001) Determination of minimum inhibitory concentrations. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*. Vol. 48, pp5–16.

Anon (1970) Storage of meat under ultraviolet light (UV). CSIRO Meat Research Newsletter, 70/2.

Anon (1996) In: Specification and instruction manual FRACTAL Integrated bacteria management systems, Norman Pendred and Co Ltd, London, SE6 4NU.

Anon (2003) Non official translation of Opinion of the French Food Safety Agency, AFSSA 2003-SA-0015. Accessed at http://www.catallix.com/image/z_afssae.pdf on 4th September, 2005.

Appl, C. P., and Marshall, R. T. (1984) Detachment of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* P26 from beef rinsed in salt and acid solutions. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 47:7, pp537-541.

Arafa, A. S., and Chen, T. C. (1978) Ascorbic acid dipping as a means of extending shelf-life and improving meat quality of cut-up broiler parts. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 57, pp99-103.

Arpitha, C. M. (2005) *Evaluation of the Catallix*® *lactoperoxidase system as a method of decontaminating raw poultry*. MSc Thesis, University of Bristol.

Arritt, F. M. (2000) *Efficacy of Selected Chemicals on the Attachment and Survival of* campylobacter *jejuni on Chicken Breast Skin.* MSc thesis, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, Virginia, US.

Arritt, F. M., Eifert, J. D., Pierson, M. D., and Sumner, S. S. (2002) Efficacy of antimicrobials against campylobacter *jejuni* on chicken breast skin. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*. Vol. 11:4, pp358-366.

ATSDR (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry), 2002. Toxicological profile for chlorine and chlorite - draft for public comment. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, US Public Health Service, Atlanta (GA), USA. Internet: www.atsdr.cdc.gov/ (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Aune, T. M., and Thomas, E. L. (1977) Accumulation of hypothiocyantie ion during peroxidase-catalyzed oxidation of thiocyanate ion. *European Journal of Biochemistry*. Vol. 80, pp209-214.

Avens, J. S., and Miller, B. F. (1972) Pasteurisation of turkey carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 51, p1781.

Avens, J. S., Albright, S. N., Morton, A. S., Prewitt, B. E., Kendall, P. A., and Sofos, J. N. (2002) Destruction of microorganisms on chicken carcasses by steam and boiling water immersion. *Food Control*. Vol. 13, pp445-450.

Avrain, L., Humbert, F., L'Hospitalier, R., Sanders, P., and Kempf, I. (2001a) Etude de l'antibiorésistance des campylobacter de la filière avicole. *Proceedings des 4èmes journées de la recherche avicole*, Nantes, France, 27-29 Mars, 2001, pp281-284.

Avrain, L., Humbert, F., Sanders, P., and Kempf, I. (2001b) Prévalence et antibiorésistance des campylobacters thermotolérants isolés des filières avicoles et porcines françaises. *Proceedings de la 21ème Réunion Interdisciplinaire de chimiothérapie anti-infectieuse*, Paris, France, 6-7 Décembre 2001.

Bailey, C. (1971) Spray washing of lamb carcasses. *Proceedings of the 17th European. Meeting of Meat Research Workers*, Bristol. Paper B16, pp175-181.

Bailey, C. (1972) Spray washing of lamb carcasses. Institute of Meat Bulletin. Vol. 75, pp3-12.

Bailey, J. S., Thomson, J. E., and Cox, N. A. (1977) Elimination of *Salmonella* and extension of shelf-life with a glutaraldehyde product on broiler carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 56, pp1346. (Abstract)

Bailey, J. S., Thomson, J. E., and Cox, N. A. (1987) Contamination of poultry during processing. In *The Microbiology of Poultry Meat Products* (Ed F.E.Cunningham and N.A Cox), Academic Press, London, pp193-211.

Bailey, J. S., Thomson, J. E., Cox, N. A., and Schackelford, A. D. (1986) Chlorine spray washing to reduce bacterial contamination of poultry processing equipment. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 65, pp1120-1123.

Baker, K. H., Hegarty, J. P., Redmond, B., Reed, N. A., and Herson. D. S. (2002) Effect of oxidizing disinfectants (chlorine, monochloramine, and ozone) on *Helicobacter pylori*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. Vol. 68:2, pp981-984.

Baker, R. C., Paredes, M. D. C., and Qureshi, R. A. (1987) Prevalence of campylobacter *jejuni* in eggs and poultry meat in New York State. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 66, pp1766-1770.

Banwart, G. J. (1989) Basic Food Microbiology. An AVI Book. Van Nostrand Reinhold. New York.

Bashor, M. P., Curtis, P. A., Keener, K. M., Sheldon, B. W., Kathariou, S., and Osborne, J. A. (2004) Effect of carcass washers on campylobacter contamination in large broiler processing plant. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 83, pp1232-1239.

Bautista, D. A., Sylvester, N., Barbut, S., and Griffiths, M. W. (1997) The determination of efficacy of antimicrobial rinses on turkey carcasses using response surface designs. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 34:3, pp279-292.

Berndston, E., Danielssson-Tham, M., and Engvall, A. (1996) campylobacter incidence on a chicken farm and the spread of campylobacter during the slaughter process. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 32, pp35-47.

Berndtson E., Tivemo M., and Engvall A. (1992) Distribution and numbers of campylobacter in newly slaughtered broiler chickens and hens. *International Journal of Food Microbioly*. Vol. 15, pp45-50.

Berrang, M. E., and Dickens, J. A. (2000) Presence and level of *Campylobacter* spp. on broiler carcases throughout the processing plant. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*. Vol. 9, pp43-47.

Berrang, M. E., Buhr, R. J., Cason, J. A., and Dickens, J. A. (2001) Broiler carcass contamination with campylobacter from feces during defeathering. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 64, pp2063-2066.

Berrang, M. E., Buhr, R. J., Cason, J. A., and Dickens, J. A. (2002) Microbiological consequences of skin removal prior to evisceration of broiler carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 81, pp134-139.

Berrang, M. E., and Dickens, J. A. (2000) Prevalence and level of *Campylobacter* spp. on broilers carcasses throughout the processing plant. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*. Vol. 9, pp43-47.

Berrang, M. E., and Dickens, J. A. (2004) The contribution of soiled surfaces within feather picking machines to campylobacter counts on broiler carcasses. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*. Vol. 13, pp588-592.

Berrang, M. E., Dickens, J. A., and Musgrove, M. T. (2000) Effect of hot water application after defeathering on the levels of campylobacter, coliform bacteria, and *Escherichia coli* on broilers carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 79, pp1689-1693.

Berrang, M. E., Meinersmann, R. J., Buhr, R. J., Reimer, N. A., Philips, R. W., and Harrison, M. A. (2003) Prevalence of campylobacter in the respiratory tract of broiler carcasses before and after commercial scalding. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 82, pp1995-1999.

Berrang, M. E., Northcutt, J. K., and Dickens, J. A. (2004) The contribution of airborne contamination to campylobacter counts on defeathered broiler carcasses. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*. Vol. 13, pp1-4.

Berrang, M. E., Smith, D. P., and Hinton, A. (2006a) Organic acids placed into the cloaca to reduce campylobacter contamination of broiler skin during defeathering. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*. Vol. 15:2, pp287-291.

Berrang, M. E., Smith, D. P., and Hinton, A. (2006b) Application of distilled white vinegar in the cloaca to counter the increase in campylobacter numbers on broiler skin during feather removal. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 69, pp425-427.

Berrang, M. E., Smith, D. P., Windham, W. R., and Feldner, P. W. (2004) Effect of intestinal content contamination on broiler carcass campylobacter counts. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 67, pp235-238.

Beuchat, L. R. (1992) Surface Disinfection of Raw Produce. *Dairy, Food and Environmental Sanitation*. Vol. 12:1, pp6-9.

Bhaduri, S., and Cottrell, B. (2004) Survival of cold-stressed *Campylobacter jejuni* on ground chicken and chicken skin during frozen storage. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. Vol. 70, pp7103-7109.

Bilgili, S. F., Conner, D. E., Pinion, J. L., and Tamblyn, K. C. (1998) Broiler skin color as affected by organic acids: Influence of concentration and method of application. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 77:5, pp752-757.

Bolder, N. M., and Van Der Hulst, M. C. (1987) Influence of chilling procedures on isolation of campylobacter from broiler carcasses and livers. *Proceedings of the 8th European WPSA Symposium on Poultry Meat Quality*, Budapest, Hungary, pp100-107.

Bolton, F.J, Wareing, D.R.A., Skirrow, M.B., and Hutchinson, D.N. (1992). Identification and biotyping of campylobacters. *In: Identification Methods in Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. Eds. R. G. Board, D. Jones, and F. A. Skinner. pp151-161. London: Academic Press.

Bolton, K. J., Dodd, C. E. R., Mead, G. C., and Waites, W. M. (1988) Chlorine resistance of strains of *staphylococcus aureus* isolated from poultry processing plants. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*. Vol. 6, pp31-34.

Bourassa, D. V., Fletcher, D. L., Buhr, R. J., Berrang, M. E., and Cason, J. A. (2004) Recovery of Salmonellae from trisodium phosphate-treated commercially processed broiler carcasses after chilling and after seven-day storage. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 83, pp2079-2082.

Bourassa, D. V., Fletcher, D. L., Buhr, R. J., Cason, J. A., and Berrang, M. E. (2005) Recovery of Salmonellae following pH adjusted pre-enrichment of broiler carcasses treated with trisodium phosphate. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 84, pp475-478.

Breen, P. J., Salari, H., and Compadre, C. M. (1997) Elimination of *Salmonella* contamination from poultry tissues by cetylpyridinium chloride solutions. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 60:9, pp1019-1021.

Broadwater, W. T., Hoehn, R. C., and King, P. H. (1973) Sensitivity of three selected bacterial species to ozone. *Applied Microbiology*. Vol. 26:3, pp391-393.

Brown M. H., and Booth, I., R. (1991) Acidulants and low pH. In Food Preservatives. (Ed A.D. Russell and G.W. Gould), Blackie Publications, Glasgow and London, pp22-43.

Buck, K. M. (2001) The effects of germicides on microorganisms. Infection Control Today. September, 2001.

Buhr, R. J., Berrang, M. E., and Cason, J. A. (2003) Bacterial recovery from breast skin of genetically feathered and featherless broiler carcasses immediately following scalding and picking. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 82(10), pp1641-1647.

Buhr, R. J., Bourassa, D. V., Northcutt, J. K., Hinton, A., Ingram, K. D., and Cason, J. A. (2005) Bacteria recovery from genetically feathered and featherless broiler carcasses after immersion chilling. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 84, pp1499-1504.

Bulgarelli, M. A., and Shelef, L. A. (1985) Effect of Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid (EDTA) on Growth from Spores of *Bacillus cereus. Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 50, pp661-664.

Bull, S. A., Allen, V. M., Domingue, G., Jørgensen, F., Frost, J. A., Ure, R., Whyte, R., Tinker, D., Corry, J. E. L., Gillard-King, J., and Humphrey, T. J. (2006) Sources of *Campylobacter* spp. colonising housed broiler flocks during rearing. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. Vol. 72, pp645-652.

Burleson, G. R., Murray, T. M., and Pollard, M. (1975) Inactivation of viruses and bacteria by ozone, with and without Sonication. *Applied Microbiology*. Vol. 29, pp340-344.

Butler, R. C., Lund, V., and Carlson, D. A. (1987) Susceptibility of campylobacter *jejuni* and *Yersinia* enterocolitica to UV radiation. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. Vol. 53, pp375-378.

Calicioglu, M., Kaspar, C. W., Buege, D. R., and Luchansky, J. B. (2002) Effectiveness of spraying with tween 20 and lactic acid in decontaminating inoculated *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7 and indigenous *Escherichia coli* biotype i on beef. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 65:1, pp26-32.

Capita, R., Alonso-Calleja, C., Arias, M. T. G., Moreno, B., and Garcia-Fernandez, M. C. (2000a) Note. Effect of trisodium phosphate on mesophilic and psychrotrophic bacterial flora attached to the skin of chicken carcasses during refrigerated storage. *Food Science and Technology International*. Vol. 6:4, pp345-350.

Capita, R., Alonso-Calleja, C., del Camino García-Fernández, M., and Moreno, B. (2002b) Activity of trisodium phosphate compared with sodium hydroxide wash solutions against *Listeria monocytogenes* attached to chicken skin during refrigerated storage. *Food Microbiology*. Vol. 19, pp57-63.

Capita, R., Alonso-Calleja, C., Garcia-Fernandez, M. C., and Moreno, B. (2002c) Review: Trisodium Phosphate (TSP) Treatment for Decontamination of Poultry. *Food Science Technology International*. Vol. 8:1, pp11-24.

Capita, R., Alonso-Calleja, C., García-Fernández, M. C., and Moreno, B. (2001) Influence of strain and trisodium phosphate concentration on growth parameters of *Listeria monocytogenes* in vitro. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*. Vol. 32, pp428-432.

Capita, R., Alonso-Calleja, C., Prieto, M., del Camino García-Fernández, M., and Moreno, B. (2003) Effectiveness of trisodium phosphate against *Listeria monocytogenes* on excised and nonexcised chicken skin. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 66:1, pp61-64.

Capita, R., Alonso-Calleja, C., Sierra, M., Moreno, B., and del Camino García-Fernández, M. (2000b) Effect of trisodium phosphate solutions washing on the sensory evaluation of poultry meat. *Meat Science*. Vol. 55, pp471-474.

Carpenter, J. A. (1972) Decontamination of Pork Carcasses. *Proceedings of the Meat Industry Research Conference*. pp35-43.

Cason, J. A., Bailey, J. S., Whittemore, A. D., and Cox, N. A. (1997) Relationship between aerobic bacteria, *Salmonellae*, and campylobacter on broiler carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 76, pp1037-1041.

Castillo, A., Lucia, L. M., Kemp, G. K., and Acuff, G. R. (1999) Reduction of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella* Typhimurium on beef carcass surfaces using acidified sodium chlorite. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 62:6, pp580-584.

Chang, J. C. H., Ossoff, S. F., Lobe, D. C., Dorfman, M. H., Dumais, C. M., Qualls, R. G., and Johnson, J. D. (1985) UV inactivation of pathogenic and indicator microorganisms. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. Vol. 49, pp1361-1365.

Chantarapanont, W., Berrang, M. E., and Frank, J. F. (2004) Direct microscopic observation of viability of campylobacter *jejuni* on chicken skin treated with selected chemical sanitizing agents. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 67:6, pp1146-1152.

Chatzopoulou, A. (1991) Destruction of Gram-negative Bacteria by Lysozyme. Ph.D. thesis, University of London, King's College London.

Chen, H. C., Huang, S. H., Moody, M. W., and Jiang, S. T. (1992) Bacteriocidal and mutagenic effects of ozone on shrimp (*Penaeus-monodon*) meat. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 57:4, pp923-927.

Chouliara, E., Karatapanis, A., Savvaidis, I. N., and Kontominas, M. G. (2007) Combined effect of oregano essential oil and modified atmosphere packaging on shelf-life extension of fresh chicken breast meat, stored at 4°C. *Food Microbiology*. Vol. 24:6, pp607-617.

Cogan, T. A., Bloomfield, S. F., and Humphrey, T. J. (1999) The effectiveness of hygiene procedures for prevention of cross-contamination from chicken carcasses in the domestic kitchen. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*. Vol. 29, pp354-358.

Colin, P., and Salvat, G. (1997) Decontamination of poultry carcasses using trisodium phosphate treatment. pp227-237. In *Factors Affecting the Microbial Quality of Meat.* 4. *Microbial Methods for the Meat Industry*. Edited by M. H. Hinton and C. Rowlings. EU Concerted Action CT94-1456: Microbial Control in the Meat Industry. University of Bristol Press. ISBN 0 86292 438 3.

Coppen, P., Fenner, S., and Salvat, G. (1998) Antimicrobial efficacy of AvGard® carcase wash under industrial processing conditions. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 39:2, pp229-234.

Corry, J. E. L., and Mead, G. C. (1996) *Microbial Control in the Meat Industry: 3. Decontamination of Meat,* Concerted Action CT94-1456, Bristol, UK, University of Bristol Press.

Corry, J. E. L., and Atabay, H. I. (2001) Poultry as a source of campylobacter and related organisms. *Journal of Applied Microbiology Symposium Supplement*. Vol. 90, pp96S-114S.

Corry, J. E. L., Bull, S. A., Allen, V. M., Domingue, G., Jørgensen, F., Aydin, F., and Humphrey, T. J. (2003a) Poultry processing and the numbers of *Campylobacter* spp. on carcasses: a study performed in three UK poultry companies between 2000 and 2002. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*. Vol. 293, p143.

Corry, J. E. L., James, C., O'Neill, D., Yaman, H., Kendall, A., and Howell, M. (2003b) Physical methods, readily adapted to existing commercial processing plants, for reducing numbers of campylobacters, on raw poultry. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*. Vol. 293, p32.

Corry, J. E. L., James, S. J., Purnell, G., Barbedo-Pinto, C. S., Chochois, Y., Howell, M., and James, C. (2007) Surface pasteurisation of chicken carcasses using hot water. *Journal of Food Engineering*. Vol. 79, pp913-919.

Corry, J. E. L., Post, D. E., Colin P, and Laisney, M. J. (1995) Culture media for the isolation of campylobacters. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 26, pp43-76.

Corry, J. E., James, C., O'Neill, D., Yaman, H., Kendall, A., and Howell, M. (2003) Physical methods, readily adapted to existing commercial processing plants, for reducing numbers of campylobacters, on raw poultry. Proceedings of the 12th international Workshop on campylobacter, Helicobacter and Related Organisms, Aarhus, Denmark. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*. Vol. 293, p32.

Cox, N. A., Berrang, M. E., Stern, N. J., and Musgrove, M. T. (2001) Difficulty in recovering inoculated campylobacter *jejuni* from dry poultry-associated samples. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 64, pp252-254.

Cox, N. A., Mercuri, A. J., Juven, B. J., Thomson, J. E., and Chow, V. (1974b) Evaluation of succinic acid and heat to improve the microbiological quality of poultry meat. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 39, pp985-987.

Cox, N. A., Mercuri, A. J., Thomson, J. E., and Gregory, D. W. Jr. (1974a) Quality of broiler carcasses as affected by hot water treatments. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 53: pp1566-1571.

Cumming, R. B. (1975) The Potential for Increased Mutagenic Risk to the Human Population Due to the Products of Water Chlorination. *Proc. Conf. on the Environmental Impact of Water Chlorination*. Oak Ridge, TN, Oct. 22-24, 1975. (Cited by Cunningham and Lawrence, 1977b).

Cunningham, F. E. (1978) Effect of brief microwave treatment on numbers of bacteria in fresh chicken patties. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 57, pp296-297.

Cunningham, F. E. (1979) Shelf-life of quality characteristics of poultry parts dipped in potassium sorbate. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 44, pp863-864.

Cunningham, F. E. (1980) Influence of microwave-radiation on psychrotrophic bacteria. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 43, pp651-655.

Cunningham, F. E. (1981) Microbiology of poultry parts dipped in potassium sorbate. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 60, pp965-971.

Cunningham, F. E. (1987) Methods of preservation of poultry products. In *The Microbiology of Poultry Meat Products* (Ed F. E. Cunningham and N. A. Cox), Academic press, London, pp 275-292.

Cunningham, F. E., and Albright, K. M. (1977) Using microwaves to reduce bacterial numbers on fresh chicken. *Microwave Energy Applications Newsletter*. Vol. 10, pp3-4.

Cunningham, H. M., and Lawrence, G. A. (1976) A comparison of the distribution and elimination of oleic and chlorinated oleic acid and their metabolites in rats. *Fd and Cosmet. Toxicol.* Vol. 14, pp283- (Cited by Cunningham and Lawrence, 1977b).

Cunningham, H. M., and Lawrence, G. A. (1977a) Placental and mammary transfer of chlorinated fatty acids in rats. *Food and Cosmetics Toxicology*. Vol. 15, pp1161- (Cited by Cunningham and Lawrence, 1977b).

Cunningham, H. M. and Lawrence, G. A., (1977b) Effect of exposure of meat and poultry to chlorinated water on retention of chlorinated compounds and water. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 42:6, pp1505-1595, 1509

Cunningham, H. M., Lawrence, G. A. and Tryphonas, L. (1977) Toxic effects of chlorinated fatty acids in Rats. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health.* Vol. 2, pp1161- (Cited by Cunningham and Lawrence, 1977b).

Cutter, C. N. (2000) Antimicrobial effect of herb extracts against *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, *Listeria monocytogenes*, and *Salmonella* Typhimurium associated with beef. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 63:5, pp601-607.

Cutter, C. N., Dorsa, W. J., and Siragusa, G. R. (1996) Application of Carnatrol[™] and Timsen[™] to Decontaminate Beef. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 59:12, pp1339-1342.

Cutter, C. N., Dorsa, W. J., and Siragusa, G. R. (1997) Rapid desiccation with heat in combination with water washing for reducing bacteria beef carcass surfaces. *Food Microbiology*. Vol. 14, pp493-503.

Damez, F., Langlais, B., Rakness, K. L., and Robson, C. M. (1990) Operating an ozonation facility. Pp469-490. In *Ozone in water treatment: Application and engineering*, ed. Langlais, G., Reckhow, D. A. and Brink, D. R. Lewis Publishers, Inc, Chelsea, Mich., USA. (cited by Khadre *et al.*, 2001)

Dave, S. A. (1999) Efficacy of ozone against *Salmonella enteritidis* in aqueous suspensions and on poultry meat (Msc thesis). Ohio State University: Columbus, Ohio, USA. (cited by Khadre *et al.*, 2001)

Dawson, L.E. Mallmann, W L., Bigbee, D.G.; Walker, R., and Zabik, M.E. (1963) Influence of surface pasteurisation and chlortetracycline on bacterial incidence on fryers. *Food Technology*. Vol. 17, pp100-104.

de Koos, J. T. (1992) Lactic acid and lactates. Preservation of food products with natural ingredients. *Food Marketing and Technology*. March, pp1-5.

de Ledesma, A. M. R., Riemann, H. P., and Farver, T. B. (1996) Short-time treatment with alkali and/or hot water to remove common pathogenic and spoilage bacteria from chicken wing Skin. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 59:7, pp746-750.

De Zutter, L., Herman, L., and Heyndryckx, M. (2002). Impact of slaughterhouse environment on the salmonella contamination of broiler carcasses. In: eds. Colin C. and Clement, G *Proceedings Salmonella and Salmonellosis*, May 29-31, 2002.Saint-Brieuc, ISPAIA - ZOOPOLE Developpment, BP 7 - 22440 Ploufragan, France, pp. 365-366.

Del Río, E., Alonso-Calleja, C., and Capita, R. (2005) Effectiveness of trisodium phosphate treatment against pathogenic and spoilage bacteria on poultry during refrigerated storage. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 68:4, pp866-869.

Deumier, F. (2004) Pulsed-vacuum immersion of chicken meat and skin in acid solutions. Effects on mass transfers, colour and microbial quality. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*. Vol. 39:3, pp277-286.

Deumier, F. (2006) Decontamination of deboned chicken legs by vacuum-tumbling in lactic acid solution. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*. Vol. 41:1, pp23-32.

Diaz, M. E., Law, S. E. and Birt, D. M. (2002) Microbiological benefits of removing foam formed after UVenhanced ozonation of poultry-processing chiller water for recycling. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 67:3, pp1036-1042.

Diaz, M. E., Law, S. E., and Frank, J. F. (2001) Control of pathogenic microorganisms and turbidity in poultry-processing chiller water using UV-enhanced ozonation. *Ozone-Science & Engineering*. Vol. 23:1, pp53-64. (Abstract)

Dickens, J. A., and Whittemore, A. D. (1992) The effect of acetic acid with or without air injection on moisture pick up and microbiological quality of pre-chilled broiler carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 71(supp1), p91.

Dickens, J. A., and Whittemore, A. D. (1993) The effect of dipping processed broiler carcasses in a trisodium phosphate solution on total anaerobes Enterobacteriaceae and inoculated *Salmonella*. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 72:1, p162.

Dickens, J. A. and Whittemore, A. D. (1997) Effects of acetic acid and hydrogen peroxide application during defeathering on the microbiological quality of broiler carcasses prior to evisceration. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 76:4, pp657-660.

Dickens, J. A., Berrang M. E., and Cox, N. A., 2000. Efficacy of an herbal extract on the microbiological quality of broilers carcasses during a simulated chill. Poultry Science. 79, 1200-1203.

Dickens, J. A., Ingram, K. D., and Hinton, A. (2004) Effects of applying Safe₂O poultry wash to broiler wings on shelf life, *Listeria monocytogenes*, pseudomonads, *Staphylococcus* species, and psychrotrophic bacteria levels after three, seven, and ten days of storage. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 83, pp1047-1050.

Dickens, J. A., Lyon, B. G., Whittemore, A. D., and Lyon, C. A. (1994). The effect of an acetic acid dip on carcass appearance, microbiological quality and cooked breast meat texture and flavour. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 73, pp576-581.

Dickson, J. S. (1988) Reduction of Bacteria Attached to Meat Surfaces by Washing with Selected Compounds. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 51:11, pp869-873.

Dickson, J. S. (1990) Surface Moisture and Osmotic Stress as Factors That Affect the Sanitising of Beef Tissue Surfaces. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 53:8, pp674-679.

Domingue, E. L., Tyndall, R. L., Mayberry, W. R., and Pancorbo, O. C. (1988) Effects of three oxidizing biocides on *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup 1. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. Vol. 54, pp741-747. (cited by Khadre *et al.*, 2001)

Doyle, M. P., and Roman, D. J. (1982) Sensitivity of campylobacter *jejuni* to drying. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 45, pp507-510.

Dufrenne, J., Ritmeester, W., Delfgou-van Asch, E., van Leusden, F., and de Jonge, R. (2001) Quantification of the contamination of chicken and chicken products in The Netherlands with *Salmonella* and campylobacter. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 64, pp538-541.

ECCEAMST (European Consortium for Continuing Education in Advanced Meat Science and Technology) (1994) The use of additives throughout Europe, tentative report. Bundesanstalt fur Fleishforschung, Kulmbach, Germany, 1.

ECETOC (2001a) European Centre for Ecotoxicology and Toxicology of Chemicals, Joint Assessment of Commodity Chemicals, Report no. 40: Peracetic acid (Cas no. 79-21-0) and its equilibrium solutions. Brussels, Belgium, January 2001. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

ECETOC (2001b) European Centre for Ecotoxicology and Toxicology of Chemicals, Technical report no. 79: Exposure Factors Sourcebook for European Populations (with focus on UK data). Brussels, Belgium, June 2001. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Eckroade, R. J., Davison, S., and Benson, C. E. (1991) Environmental contamination of pullet and layer houses with *Salmonella enteritidis*. In: *Proceedings of the symposium on Diagnosis and Control of Salmonella*, San Diego, California, USA, 29 October 1991, pp14-17.

Ecolab (2001) Secondary Direct Food Additive Petition. The use of peroxyacid, octanoic acid, acetic acid, hydrogen peroxide, peroxyoctanoic acid, and 1- hydroxyethylidine-1,1-diphosponic acid as an antimicrobial treatment on poultry carcasses, poultry carcasses parts, and poultry organs. Submitted to the Petitions Control Branch, US Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Washington, DC, USA; February 14, 2001. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Edelstein, P. H., Whittaker, R. E., Kreiling, R. L., and Howell, C. L. (1982) Efficacy of ozone in eradication of *Legionella pneumophila* from hospital plumbing fixtures. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. Vol. 44, pp1330-1334. (cited by Khadre *et al.*, 2001)

EFSA (European Food Safety Authority) (2005a) Opinion of the Scientific Panel on food additives, flavourings, processing aids and materials in contact with food (AFC) on a request from the Commission related to: Treatment of poultry carcasses with chlorine dioxide, acidified sodium chlorite, trisodium phosphate and peroxyacids. *The EFSA Journal*. Vol. 297, pp1-27.

EFSA (European Food Safety Authority) (2005b) Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Biological Hazards on the "Evaluation of the efficacy of peroxyacids for use as an antimicrobial substance applied on poultry carcasses". *The EFSA Journal*. Vol. 306, pp1-10.

EFSA (2004) Opinion of the Scientific Panel on biological hazards on the request from the Commission related to campylobacter in animals and foodstuffs. Question N° EFSA Q-2004-081. *The EFSA Journal*. 177, 1-10.

Eklund, T. (1983) The antimicrobial effect of dissociated and undissociated sorbic acid. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*. Vol. 54, pp383-389.

El-Khateib, T., Yousef, A. E., and Ockerman, H. W. (1993) Inactivation and attachment of *Listeria monocytogenes* on beef muscle treated with lactic acid and selected bacteriocins. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 56:1, pp29-33.

Ellebracht, J. W., King, D. A., Castillo, A., Lucia, L. M., Acuff, G. R., Harris, K. B. & Savell, J. W. (2005) Evaluation of peroxyacetic acid as a potential pre-grinding treatment for control of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella Typhimurium* on beef trimmings. *Meat Science*. Vol. 70, pp197–203.

Ellerbroek, L., Okolocha, E. M. and Weise, E. (1997) Lactic acid and trisodium phosphate for decontamination of poultry meat. pp187-196. In *Factors Affecting the Microbial Quality of Meat.* 4. *Microbial Methods for the Meat Industry*. Edited by M. H. Hinton and C. Rowlings. EU Concerted Action CT94-1456: Microbial Control in the Meat Industry. University of Bristol Press. ISBN 0 86292 438 3.

Ellerbroek, L., Okolocha, E. M., and Weise, E. (1999) Decontamination of poultry meat with trisodium phosphate and lactic acid. Pp22-30. In *COST Action 97 - Pathogenic micro-organisms in poultry and eggs. 8. New Technology for Safe and Shelf-stable Products*, edited by L. Ellerbroek. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, ISBN 92-828-7442-7.

Emswiler, B. S., Kotula, A. W., and Rough, D. K. (1976) Bacterial effectiveness of three chlorine sources used in beef carcasses. *Journal of Animal Science*. Vol. 42:6, pp1445-1450.

Enzweiler, R. J., Graham, D. M., Strasser, J. and Mannapperuma, J. D. (2002) *Application of ozonation and membrane treatment in poultry processing*. Public Interest Energy Research Program, California Energy Commission, Sacramento, California, USA.

EPA (Environmental Protection Agency) (2000) Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS): summary for chlorite (sodium salt); summary for chlorine dioxide. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington DC, USA. Internet: www.epa.gov/iris/ (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Erickson, M. C. (1999) Flavour quality implications in chlorination of poultry chiller water. *Food Research International*. Vol. 32:9, pp635-641.

Escudero-Gilete, M. L., Gonzalez-Miret, M.L. and Heredia, F.J. (2005) Multivariate study of the decontamination process as function of time, pressure and quantity of water used in washing stage after evisceration in poultry meat production. *Journal of Food Engineering*. Vol. 69, pp245–251.

Evans S. J., and Sayers A. R. (2000) A longitudinal study of campylobacter infection of broiler flocks in Great Britain. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*. Vol. 46, pp209-223.

Evans, J. A. (1999) Novel decontamination treatments for meat. In *COST Action 97 - Pathogenic Micro*organisms in *Poultry and Eggs. 8. New Technology for Safe and Shelf-stable Products*, ed. Ellerbroek L, Luxembourg, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, ISBN 92-828-7442-7, pp14-21.

Evans, S. J. (1992) Introduction and spread of thermophilic campylobacters in broiler flocks. *Veterinary Record*. Vol. 131, pp574-576.

Ewell, A. W. (1943) Allies of refrigeration in food preservation. *Refrigerating Engineering* Vol. 43, pp159-162.

Fabrizio, K. A., Sharma, R. R., Demirci, A., and Cutter, C. N. (2002) Comparison of electrolyzed oxidizing water with various antimicrobial interventions to reduce salmonella species on poultry. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 81, pp1598-1605.

FAO/WHO (2005) *The Lactoperoxidase system of raw milk preservation. Joint FAO/WHO activities contributing to the provision of scientific advice to Codex (CCFH).* Accessed at http://www.fao.org/ag/againfo/home/documents/dataLPS.pdf on 4th September, 2005.

FAO/WHO (2001) Activities on risk assessment of microbiological hazards in foods. Preliminary report. Identification, exposure assessment and hazard characterization of *Campylobacter* spp. in broiler chickens.

Farooq, S., and Akhlaque, S. (1983) Comparative response of mixed cultures of bacteria and viruses to ozonation. *Water Research*. Vol. 17, pp809-812. (cited by Khadre *et al.*, 2001)

Fetner, R. H., and Ingols, R. S. (1983) A comparison of the bacterial activity of ozone and chlorine against *Escherichia coli* at 1°C. *Journal of General Microbiology*. Vol. 15, pp381-385. (cited by Khadre *et al.*, 2001)

Filippi, A. (1998) Ozone in room air when using water ozonating equipment in the dental treatment area. *Ozone-Science & Engineering*. Vol. 20:3, pp251-257. (Abstract)

Finch, G. R., Smith, D. W., and Stiles, M. E. (1988) Dose-response of *Escherichia coli* in ozone demand-free phosphate buffer. *Water Research*. Vol. 22, pp1563-1570. (cited by Khadre *et al.*, 2001)

Firstenberg-Eden, R. (1981) Attachment of bacteria to meat surfaces: A review. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 44:8, pp602-607.

Fletcher, D. L., Russell, S. M., Walker, J. M., and Bailey, J. S. (1993) An evaluation of a rinse procedure using sodium bicarbonate and hydrogen peroxide on the recovery of bacteria from broiler carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 72, pp2152-2156.

Fluckey, W. M., Sanchez, M. X., McKee, S. R., Smith, D., Pendleton, E., and Brashears, M. M. (2003) Establishment of a microbiological profile for an air-chilling poultry operation in United States. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 66, pp272-279.

Food and Agriculture Organization and World Health Organization, 2001. *Codex Alimentarius* – Food hygiene – Basic texts.

Food Standards Agency (2003) *UK wide survey of Salmonella and* campylobacter *contamination of fresh and frozen chicken on retail sale*. http://www.foodstandards.gov.uk/multimedia/pdfs/campsalmsurv.pdf Accessed 27 November 2003.

Fournaud, J., and Lauret, R. (1972) Influence of ozone on the surface microbial flora of frozen beef and during thawing. *Industries Alimentaires et Agricaoles*. Vol. 89:5, pp585-589. (cited by Kim *et al.*, 1999).

Friedman, C. R., Hoekstra, R. M., Samuel, M., Marcus, R., Bender, J., Shiferaw, B., Reddy, S., Desai Ahuja, S., Helfrick, D. L., Hardnett, F., Carter, M., Anderson, B., and Tauxe, R. V. (2004) The Emerging Infections Program FoodNet Working Group. Risk Factors for Sporadic campylobacter Infection in the United States: A Case-Control Study in FoodNet Sites. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. Vol. 38 Suppl 3, ppS285-S296.

Friedman, C. R., Niemam, J., Wegener, H. C., and Tauxe, R. V. (2000) Epidemiology of campylobacter *jejuni* infections in the United States and other Industrialised Nations. *In*, Nachamkin, I., Blaser, M.J. (Eds.), campylobacter, 2nd Edition. ASM Press, Washington DC, pp121-138.

Frost, J. A., Kramer, J. M., and Gillanders, S. A. (1999) Phage typing of campylobacter *jejuni* and campylobacter *coli* and its use as an adjunct to serotyping. *Epidemiology and Infection*. Vol. 123, pp47-55.

Frost, J. A., Oza, A. N., Thwaites, R. T., and Rowe, B. (1998) Serotyping scheme for campylobacter *jejuni* and campylobacter *coli* based on direct agglutination of heat stable antigens. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. Vol. 36, pp335-339.

FSA [Food Standards Agency] (2003) UK- wide survey of *Salmonella* and campylobacter contamination of fresh and frozen chicken on retail sale, accessed online 02.02.05. http://www.food.gov.uk/multimedia/pdfs/campsalmsurvey.pdf http://www.food.gov.uk/multimedia/pdfs/chickenannex.pdf

FSA [Food Standards Agency] (2008) Evaluation of data generated by meat plants for current HACCP verification purposes and future slaughterhouse hygiene purposes. MO1045 Final Report.

FSANZ (2002)Final Assessment Report, Application A404, Lactoperoxidase system, 06/03. Food Standards
AustraliaAustraliaNewZealand.Accessedathttp://www.foodstandards.gov.au/_srcfiles/A404%20FAR%20lactoperoxidase.pdf on 4th September, 2005.

ftp://ftp.fao.org/es/esn/food/campy.pdf . Accessed July 2007

Fung, D. Y. C., and Cunningham, F. E. (1980) Effect of microwaves on microorganisms in foods. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 43, pp641-650.

Fung, D. Y. C., and Kastner, C. L. (1982) Microwave cooking and meat microbiology. *Proceedings of the 35th* Annual Reciprocal Meat Conference. Vol. 35, pp81-85.

Gehrs, C. W., and Southworth, G. R. (1975) Investigating the Effects of Chlorinated Organics. *Proc. Conf. on the Environmental Impact of Water Chlorination*. Oak Ridge, TN, Oct. 22-24, 1975. (Cited by Cunningham and Lawrence, 1977b).

Gellynck, X., Messens, W., Halet, D., Grijspeerdt, K., Hartnett, E., and Viaenei, J. (2008) Economics of reducing campylobacter at different levels within the Belgian poultry meat. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 71:3, pp479-485.

Genigeorgis C. (1986) Problems associated with perishable processed meats. *Food Technology*. Vol. 40, pp140-154.

Georgsson, F., Porkelsson, A. E., Geirsdottir, M., Reiersen, J., and Stern, N. J. (2006) The influence of freezing and duration of storage on campylobacter and indicator bacteria in broiler carcasses. *Food Microbiology*. Vol. 23, pp677-683.

Giese, J. (1992) Experimental Process Reduces Salmonella on Poultry. Food Technology. Vol. 46:4, p112.

Gill, C. O. (1979) A review: Intrinsic bacteria in meat. Journal of Applied Bacteriology. Vol. 47, pp367-378.

Gill, C. O., and Badoni, M. (2004) Effects of peroxyacetic acid, acidified sodium chlorite or lactic acid solutions on the microflora of chilled beef carcasses. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 91:1, pp43-50.

Gill, C. O., and Landers, C. (2003) Microbiological effects of carcass decontaminating treatments at four beef packing plants. *Meat Science*. Vol. 65:3, pp1005-1011.

Göksoy, E. O., James, C., and Corry, J. E. L. (2000) The effect of short-time microwave exposures on inoculated pathogens on chicken and the shelf-life of uninoculated chicken meat. *Journal of Food Engineering*. Vol. 45, pp153-160.

Göksoy, E. O., James, C., and James, S. J. (1999) Non-uniformity of surface temperatures after microwave heating of poultry meat. *Journal of Microwave Power and Electromagnetic Energy*. Vol. 34, pp149-160.

Göksoy, E. O., James, C., Corry, J. E. L., and James, S. J. (2001) The effect of hot water immersions on the appearance and microbiological quality of skin-on chicken breast pieces. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*. Vol. 36:1, pp 61-69.

Gonçalves, A. C., Almeida, R. C. C., Alves, M. A. O., and Almeida, P. F. (2005) Quantitative investigation on the effects of chemical treatments in reducing *Listeria monocytogenes* populations on chicken breast meat. *Food Control*. Vol. 16, pp617–622.

Gonzalez-Fandos, E., and Dominguez, J. L. (2007) Effect of potassium sorbate washing on the growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* on fresh poultry. *Food Control*. Vol. 18:7, pp842-846.

Graham, D. M. (1997) Use of Ozone for Food Processing. Food Technology. Vol. 51:6, pp72-75.

Gueye, L. A., Slavat, G., Allo, J. C., and Ermel, G. (1999) Antimicrobial efficacy of CPC carcass spray treatment under laboratory and industrial processing conditions. Pp72-83. In *COST Action 97 - Pathogenic micro*organisms in poultry and eggs. 8. New Technology for Safe and Shelf-stable Products, edited by L. Ellerbroek. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, ISBN 92-828-7442-7.

Gulmez, M., Oral, N., and Vatansever, L. (2006) The effect of water extract of sumac (rhus coriaria l.) and lactic acid on decontamination and shelf life of raw broiler wings. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 85:8, pp1466-1471.

Gunten, U. von (2003a) Ozonation of drinking water: Part I. Oxidation kinetics and product formation. *Water Research*. Vol. 37, pp1443-1467.

Gunten, U. von (2003b) Ozonation of drinking water: Part II. Disinfection and by-product formation in presence of bromide, iodide or chlorine. *Water Research*. Vol. 37, pp1469-1487.

Haines, R. B., and Smith, E. C. (1933) The Storage of Meat in Small Refrigerators. *Food Investigation Special Report* No. 43. HMSO, London.

Harrison, J. F., and Blazek, P. (1997) Ozone for point-of-use, point-of-entry, and small water system water treatment applications: A reference manual. The Water Quality Association, Illinois, USA.

Hartnett E., Kelly L., Newell D., Wooldridge M., and Gettinby G. (2001) A quantitative risk assessment for the occurrence of campylobacter in chickens at the point of slaughter. *Epidemiolology and Infection*. Vol. 127, pp195-206.

Hathcox, A. K., Hwang, C. A., Resurreccion, A. V. A., and Beuchat, L. R. (1995) Consumer evaluation of raw and fried chicken after washing in trisodium phosphate or lactic acid/sodium benzoate solutions. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 60, pp604-605, 610.

Heddleson, R. A., and Doores, S. (1994) Factors affecting microwave heating of foods and microwave induced destruction of foodborne pathogens: A review. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 57, pp1025-1037.

Heindel, T. H., Streib, R., and Botzenhart, K. (1993) Effect of ozone on airborne microorganisms. *Zentralblatt Fur Hygiene Und Umweltmedizin*. Vol. 194(5-6), pp464-480. (Abstract)

Herman, L., Heyndrickx, M., Grijsspeerdt, K., Vandekerchove, D., Rollier, I., and De Zutter, L. (2003) Routes for campylobacter contamination of poultry meat: epidemiological study from hatchery to slaughterhouse. *Epidemiology and Infection*. Vol. 131, pp1169-1180.

Heuer, O. E, Pedersen, K., Andersen, J. S., and Madsen, M. (2001) Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility of thermophilic campylobacter in organic and conventional broiler flocks. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*. Vol. 33, pp269-274

Hinton, A., and Ingram, K. D. (2000) Use of oleic acid to reduce the population of the bacterial flora of poultry skin. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 63:9, pp1282-1286.

Hinton, A., and Ingram, K. D. (2003) Bactericidal activity of tripotassium phosphate and potassium oleate on the native flora of poultry skin. *Food Microbiology*. Vol. 20, pp405–410.

Hinton, A., and Ingram, K. D. (2005) Microbicidal activity of tripotassium phosphate and fatty acids toward spoilage and pathogenic bacteria associated with poultry. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 68:7, pp1462-1466.

Hinton, A., Cason, J. A., Hume, M. E., and Ingram, K. D. (2004) Use of a midi-fatty acid methyl ester analysis to monitor the transmission of campylobacter during commercial poultry processing. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 67, pp1610-1616.

HPA [Health Protection Agency] (2004) Health Protection Agency accessed online 02.02.05. http://www.hpa.org.uk/infections/topics_az/list.htm http://www.fao.org/DOCREP/005/Y1579E/y1579e00.htm#Contents. Accessed July 2007.

Hudson, W. R., and Roberts, T. A. (1982) The occurrence of campylobacter on commercial red-meat carcasses from one abattoir p. 273. *In* DC Newell (ed.) Campylobactyer, epidemiology, pathogenesis and biochemistry. MTP Press Ltd., Lancaster.

Humphrey T. J., Henley A., and Lanning D. G. (1993) The colonization of broilers chickens with campylobacter *jejuni*: some epidemiological investigations. *Epidemiology and Infection*. Vol. 110, pp601-607.

Humphrey, T. J., Baskerville, A., Chart, H., Rowe, B., and Whitehead, A. (1992) Infection of laying hens with *Salmonella enteritidis* PT4 by conjunctival challenge. *Veterinary Record*. Vol. 131, pp386-388.

Hunt, J. M., Abeyta, C., and Tran, T. (1998) Isolation of campylobacter species from food and water. In: *Bacteriological Analytical Manual*, 8th edn. pp7.01-7.24. Gaithersburg, MD: AOAC International.

Hwang, C., and Beutchat, L. R. (1995) Efficiency of selected chemicals for killing pathogenic and spoilage microorganisms on chicken. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 58:1, pp19-23.

Ingram, M., Ottawa, F. J. H., and Coppice, J. B. M. (1956) The Preservative Action of Acid Substances in Food. *Chemistry and Industry*. Vol. 42, pp1154-1163.

InnovaTek (1999) [www document] URL http://www.tekkie.com/pds.htm.

Islam, M. N., and Islam, N. B. (1979a) Extension of poultry shelf-life by poly(hexamethylenebiguanide hydrochloride). *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 42:5, pp416-419.

Islam, M. N., and Islam, N. B. (1979b) Comparison of the efficacy of three potential poultry preservatives; glutaraldehyde, iodacetamide, and poly (hexamethylenebiguanide hydrochloride). *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*. Vol. 3, pp1-. (Cited by Cunningham, 1987)

Islam, M. N., Gray, R. J. H., and Geiser, J. N. (1978) Development of antimicrobial agents for the extension of poultry shelf-life. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 57, pp1266-1271.

Ivey, F. J. (1999) Sanova quality food system for microbial reduction. Pp31-35. In *COST Action 97 - Pathogenic micro-organisms in poultry and eggs. 8. New Technology for Safe and Shelf-stable Products*, edited by L. Ellerbroek. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, ISBN 92-828-7442-7.

Izat, A. L., Colberg, M., Adams, M. H., Reiber, M. A., and Waldroup, P. W. (1989) Production and processing studies to reduce the incidence of salmonellae on commercial broilers. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 52:9, pp670-673.

Izat, E. L., Gardner, F. A., Denton, J. H., and Golan, F. A. (1988) Incidence and level of *Campylobacter jejuni* in broiler processing. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 67, pp1568-1572.

James, C. and James, S. J. (1997), *Meat Decontamination - the State of the Art*. MAFF Advanced Fellowship in Food Process Engineering, University of Bristol, UK, EU Concerted Action Programme CT94 1881, ISBN 0 86292 460 X.

James, C., Göksoy, E. O., Corry, J. E. L., and James, S. J. (2000) Surface pasteurisation of poultry meat using steam at atmospheric pressure. *Journal of Food Engineering*. Vol. 45, pp 111-117.

James, C., James, S. J., Hannay, N., Purnell, G., Barbedo-Pinto, C., Yaman, H., Araujo, M., Gonzalez, M. L., Calvo, J., Howell, M., and Corry, J. E. L. (2007) Decontamination of poultry carcasses using steam or hot water in combination with rapid cooling, chilling or freezing of carcass surfaces. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 114:2, pp195-203.

James, C., Purnell, G., and James, S. J. (2003) *Review of the use of ozone in red meat and poultry processing*. Food Standards Agency (FSA) project no. ZM0104.

James, C., Purnell, G., Hannay, N., James, S. J., Allen, V. M., Barbedo-Pinto, C., Howell, M., and Corry, J. E. L. (2005) Surface pasteurisation of chicken carcasses using hot water or steam at atmospheric pressure in order to reduce levels of *Campylobacter* spp. and other bacteria. *Proceedings of 13th International Workshop on* campylobacter, *Helicobacter and Related Organisms (CHRO 2005), Gold Coast, Queensland, Australia, 4-8th September, 2005.*

James, C., Vincent, C., Andrare Lima, T. I., and James, S. J. (2006) The primary chilling of poultry carcasses – a review. *International Journal of Refrigeration*. Vol. 29, pp847-862.

James, S. J., and James, C. (2003) Thermal decontamination of food. *Proceedings of the Institute of Refrigeration*. Vol. 100 (2003/04), pp1-12.

James, S. J., Brown, T., Evans, J. A., James, C., Ketteringham, L., and Schofield, I. (1998) Decontamination of meat, meat products and other foods using steam condensation and organic acids. *Proceedings of 3rd Karlsruhe Nutrition Symposium "European Research towards Safer and Better Food", Karlsruhe, Germany,* ISSN 0933-5463. Part 1, pp175-185.

JECFA (1974) Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives and Contaminants: Toxicological evaluation of certain food additives including anticaking agents, antimicrobials, antioxidants, emulsifiers, and thickening agents. FAO Nutrition Meetings report Series No. 53A and WHO Food Additives Series No. 5, pp. 469-485. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

JECFA (1982) Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives and Contaminants: Toxicological evaluation of certain food additives. WHO Food Additives Series No. 17, pp. 151-176. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

JECFA (1997) Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives and Contaminants: Summaries of evaluations - acetic acid - octanoic acid. Internet: www.inchem.org/documents/jecfa/jeceval/jec_7.htm (acetic acid) www.inchem.org/documents/jecfa/jeceval/jec_1252.htm (octanoic acid) (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Jeyamkondan, S., Jayas, D. S., and Holley, R. A. (1999) Pulsed electric field processing of foods: A review. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 62, pp1088-1096.

Jimenez, S. M., Destefanis, P., Salsi, M. S., Tiburzi, M. C., & Pirovani, M. E. (2005) Predictive model for reduction of *Escherichia coli* during acetic acid decontamination of chicken skin. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*. Vol. 99:4, pp829-835.

Jørgensen, F., Bailey, R., Williams, S., Henderson, P., Wareing, D., Bolton, F. J., Frost, J. A., Ward, L., and Humphrey, T. J. (2002) Prevalence and numbers of *Salmonella* and campylobacter on raw whole chickens at retail sale in England. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 76, pp151-164.

Juven, B. J., Cox, N. A., Mercuri, A. J., and Thomson, J. E. (1974) A hot acid treatment of eliminating salmonella from chicken meat. *Journal of Milk and Food Technology*. Vol. 37, pp237-239.

Kabara, J. J. (1991) Phenols and chelators. In *Food Preservatives* (Eds A.D. Russell and G.W Gould), Blackie and Son Ltd, New York, pp200.

Kabara, J. J., and Eklund, T. (1991) Organic acids and Esters. In Food Preservatives (Eds A.D. Russell and G.W. Gould), Blackie and son Ltd. New York, pp44-72.

Kaess, G., and Weidemann, J. F. (1968a) Ozone treatment of chilled beef I. effect of low concentrations of ozone on microbial spoilage and surface colour of beef. *Journal of Food. Technology*. Vol. 3, pp325-334.

Kaess, G., and Weidemann, J. F. (1968b) Ozone treatment of chilled beef II. interactions between ozone and muscle. *Journal of Food Technology*. Vol. 3, pp335-343.

Kanellos, T. S., and Burriel, A. R. (2005) The in vitro bactericidal effects of the food decontaminants lactic acid and trisodium phosphate *Food Microbiology*. Vol. 22, pp591–594.

Katzenelson, E., Kletter, B., and Shuval, H. F. (1974) Inactivation kinetics of viruses and bacteria in water by use of ozone. *Journal of American Water Works Association*. Vol. 66, pp725-729. (cited by Khadre *et al.*, 2001)

Keener, K. M., Bashor, M. P., Curtis, P. A., Sheldon, B. W., and Kathariou, S. (2004) Comprehensive review of campylobacter and poultry processing. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*. Vol. 3, pp105-116.

Kemp, G. K., Aldricht, M. L., Guerra, M. L. and Schneider K. R. (2001) Continuous online processing of faecal and ingesta contaminated poultry carcasses using an acidified sodium chlorite antimicrobial intervention. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 64:6, pp807-812.

Kemp, G., Aldrich, M. L., and Waldroup, A. L. (2000) Acidified sodium chlorite antimicrobial treatment of broiler carcasses. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 63:8, pp1087-1092.

Kennedy, C., and Miller, J. (2004) A new chilling technique for processing chicken. *Food Science and Technology*. Vol. 18, pp30-33.

Kenney, P. B., Prasai, R. K., Campbell, R. E., Kastner, C. L., and Fung, D. Y. C. (1995) Microbiological quality of beef carcasses and vacuum-packaged subprimals: process intervention during slaughter and fabrication. *Journal of Food Protection.* Vol. 58, pp633-638.

Khadre, M. A., Yousef, A. E., and Kim, J. G. (2001) Microbiological aspects of ozone applications in food: A review. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 66:9, pp1242-1252.

Kim, C. R., and Marshall, D. L. (1999) Microbiological, colour and sensory changes of refrigerated chicken legs treated with selected phosphates. *Food Research International*. Vol. 32, pp209-215.

Kim, D., and Day, D. F. (2007) A biocidal combination capable of sanitizing raw chicken skin. *Food Control*. Vol. 18, pp1272-1276.

Kim, J-G., Yousef, A. E., and Dave, S. (1999) Application of ozone for enhancing the microbiological safety and quality of foods: A review. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 62:9, pp1071-1087.

Kim, J. W., and Slavik, M. F. (1996) Cetylpyridinium chloride (CPC) treatment on poultry skin to reduce attached salmonella. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 59:3, pp322-326.

Kim, T. J., and Yousef, A. E. (2000) Inactivation kinetics of foodborne spoilage and pathogenic bacteria by ozone. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 65, pp521-528.

Kim, T. J., Silva, J. L., Chamul, R. S., and Chen, T. C. (2000) Influence of ozone, hydrogen peroxide, or salt on microbial profile, thars and color of channel catfish fillets. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 65:7, pp1210-1213.

King, D. A., Lucia, L. M., Castillo, A., Acuff, G. R., Harris, K. B., & Savell, J. W. (2005) Evaluation of peroxyacetic acid as a post-chilling intervention for control of *Escherichia coli* O157 : H7 and *Salmonella* Typhimurium on beef carcass surfaces. *Meat Science*. Vol. 69:3, pp401-407.

Klose, A. A., and Bayne, H. G. (1970) Experimental approaches to poultry meat surface pasteurisation by condensing vapours. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 49, pp504-511.

Klose, A. A., Kaufman, V. F., Bayne, H. G., and Pool, M. F. (1971) Pasteurisation of poultry meat by steam under reduced pressure. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 50, pp1156-1160.

Koenraad, P., Jacobs-Reitsma, W. F., Beumer, R. R., and Rombouts, F. M. (1996). Short-term evidence of campylobacter in a treatment plant and drain water of a connected poultry abattoir. *Water Environment Research*. Vol. 68, pp188-193.

Kolsarici, N., and Candogan, K. (1995) The effects of potassium sorbate and lactic acid on the shelf-life of vacuum-packed chicken meats. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 74, pp1884-1893.

Korber, D. R., Greer, G. G., Wolfaardt, G. M., and Kohlman, S. (2002) Efficacy enhancement of trisodium phosphate against spoilage and pathogenic bacteria in model biofilms and on adipose tissue. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 65:4, pp627-635.

Kotula, A. W. (1987) Control of extrinsic and intrinsic contamination of pork. pp181-201. In *Elimination of Pathogenic Organisms from Meat and Poultry* edited by F. J. M. Smulders. Elsevier: Amsterdam-New York-Oxford.

Kotula, A. W., Banwart, G. J., and Kinner, J. A. (1967) Effect of postchill washing on bacterial counts of broiler chickens. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 46, pp1210-1216.

Kotula, A. W., Emswiler, B. S., and Pierson, C. J. (1977) Inhibition of Bacterial Growth with Aqueous Chlorine. *Proceedings of the 23rd European Meat Research Workers Meeting, Moscow.* L2, pp8-15.

Kotula, K. L., Kotula, A. W., Rose, B. E., Pierson, C. J., and Camp, M. (1997) Reduction of Aqueous Chlorine by Organic Material. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 60:3, pp276-282.

Kowalski, W. J., Buhnfleth, W. P., and Whittam, T. S. (1998) Bactericidal effects of high airborne ozone concentrations on *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Ozone Science and Engineering*. Vol. 20, pp205-221.

Kozempel, M., Goldberg, N., and Craig, J. C. (2003a) The vacuum/steam/vacuum process. *Food Technology*. Vol. 57, pp30-33.

Kozempel, M., Goldberg, N., Dickens, J. A., Ingram, K. D., and Graig, J. C. (2003b) Scale-up and field test of the vacuum/steam/vacuum surface intervention process for poultry. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*. Vol. 26, pp447-468.

Kozempel, M., Goldberg, N., Radewonuk, E. R., and Scullen, O. J. (2000) Commercial testing and optimization studies of the surface pasteurization process of chicken. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*. Vol. 23, pp387-402.

Kozempel, M., Goldberg, N., Radewonuk, E. R., and Scullen, O. J. (2001) Modification of the VSV surface pasteurizer to treat the visceral cavity and surfaces of chicken carcasses. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 66, pp954-959.
Kusumaningrum, H. D., Riboldi, G., Hazeleger, W. C., and Beumer, R. R. (2003) Survival of foodborne pathogens on stainless steel surfaces and cross-contamination to foods. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 85, pp227-236.

Laisney, M. J., and Colin, P. (1993) Evaluation du niveau de contamination des carcasses de volailles par *Campylobacter* spp. Huitième colloque de la Société Française de Microbiologie.

Lammerding, A. M., Garcia, M. M., Mann, E. D., Robinson, Y., Dorward, W. J., Truscott, R. B., and Tittiger, F. (1988) Prevalence of Salmonella and thermophilic campylobacter in fresh pork, beef, veal and poultry in Canada. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 51, pp47-52.

Lawson, A. J., Logan, J. M. J., O'Niell, G. L., Desai, M., and Stanley, J. (1999) Large-scale survey of campylobacter species in human gastroenteritis by PCR and PCR-enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. Vol. 71, pp3860-3864.

Lee, A., Smith, S. C. and Coloe, P. J. (1998) Survival and growth of campylobacter *jejuni* after artificial inoculation onto chicken skin as a function of temperature and packaging conditions. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 61, pp1609-1614.

Lee, D., Martin, S. E., Yoon, H., Park, Y., and Kim, C. (1998) Metabolic sites of ozone injury in *Listeria* monocytogenes. Food Science and Biotechnology. Vol. 7:3, pp201-204. (cited by Khadre et al., 2001)

Lee, R. M., Hartman, P. A., Olson, D. G., and Williams, F. D. (1994) Bactericidal and bacteriolytic effects of selected food-grade phosphates, using *Staphylococcus aureus* as a model system. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 57:6, pp276-283.

Lenear, T., and Stockam, J. C. (1996) Method for reducing fecal leakage and contamination during meat processing. *World Patent WO 96/36231*.

Lezcano, I., Perez, R. R., Gutierrez, M., Sanchez, E., and Baluja, C. (1998) Ozone inactivation of *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Streptococcus faecalis* in water as models of gram positive bacteria. *Rev. cenic cierc Quim.* Vol. 29:2, pp109-111. (cited by Khadre *et al.*, 2001)

Li, Y., Kim, J., Slavik, M. F., Griffis, C. L., Walker, J. T., and Wang, H. (1994) *Salmonella Typhimurium* attached to chicken skin reduced using electrical stimulation and inorganic salts. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 59:1, pp23-25, 29.

Li, Y., Kim, J., Walker, J. T., Slavik, M.F. and Wang, H. (1993) Electrical treatment of poultry chiller water to destroy *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol.58:12, pp1330-1334.

Li, Y., Slavik, M.F., Walker, J. T. and Xiong, H. (1997) Pre-chill spray of chicken carcasses to reduce *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol.62:3, pp605-607.

Li, Y., Walker, J. T., Slavik, M. F., and Wang, H. (1995) Electrical treatment of poultry chiller water to destroy campylobacter *jejuni*. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 58, pp1330-1334.

Li, Y., Yang, H., and Swem, B. L. (2002) Effect of high-temperature inside-outside spray on survival of campylobacter *jejuni* attached to prechill chicken carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 81, pp1371-1377.

Lillard, H. S. (1979) Levels of chlorine and chlorine dioxide of equivalent bactericidal effect in poultry processing water. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 44, pp1594-1597.

Lillard, H. S. (1980) Effect of Broiler Carcasses and water of treating chiller water with chlorine or chlorine dioxide. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 59, pp1761-1766.

Lillard, H. S. (1985) Bacterial cell characteristics and conditions influencing their adhesion to poultry skin. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 48, pp803-807.

Lillard, H. S. (1986) Distribution of "attached" *Salmonella* Typhimurium cells between poultry skin and a surface film following water immersion. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 49, pp449-454.

Lillard, H. S. (1988) Effect of surfactant or changes in ionic strength on the attachment of *Salmonella* Typhimurium to poultry skin and muscle. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 53, pp727-730.

Lillard, H. S. (1989) Factors affecting the persistence of Salmonella during processing of poultry. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 52, pp829-832.

Lillard, H. S. (1993) bactericidal effect of chlorine on attached salmonellae with and without sonification. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 56:8, pp716-717.

Lillard, H. S. (1994a) Effect of trisodium phosphate on Salmonella attached to chicken skin. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 57:6, pp465-469.

Lillard, H. S. (1994b) Decontamination of Poultry Skin by Sonification. Food Technology. Vol. 48:12, pp72-73.

Lillard, H. S., and Thomson, J. E. (1983) Efficiency of hydrogen peroxide as bactericide in poultry chiller water. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 48, pp125-126.

Lin, C. K., Kennick, W. H., Sandine, W. E. and Koohmaraie, M. (1984) Effect of electrical stimulation on meat microflora: Observations on agar media, in suspensions and on beef carcasses. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 47:4, pp279-283.

Lindblad, M., Hansson, I., Vagsholm, I., and Lindqvist, R. (2006) Postchill campylobacter prevalence on broiler carcasses in relation to slaughter group colonization level and chilling system. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 69, pp495-499.

Logue, C. M., Sherwood, J. S., Elijah, L. M., Olah, P. A., and Dockter, M. R. (2003) The incidence of campylobacter spp. on processed turkey from processing plants in the Midwestern United States. Journal of Applied Microbiology. 95, 234-241.

Lund, B. M. (2000) Freezing. In: Lund, B., Baird-Parker, A.C., Gould, G.W. (Eds.), *The Microbiological Safety and Quality of Food*, Volume 1. Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 122-145.

Mackey, B. (2000) Injured bacteria. In: Lund, B., Baird-Parker, A.C., Gould, G.W. (Eds.), *The Microbiological Safety and Quality of Food*, Volume 1. Chapman and Hall, London, London, Chapman and Hall, pp. 315-341.

Mackey, B. M., and Mead, G. C. (1990) *Decontamination of Red-Meat Carcasses*. Confidential Report for the MLC. Unpublished.

Mast, M. G., and MacNeil, J. H. (1978) Use of glutaraldehyde as a disinfectant in immersion chilling of poultry. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 57, pp681-684.

McBride, G. B., Skura, B. J., Yada, R. Y., and Bowmer, E. J. (1980) Relationship between incidence of salmonella contamination among pre-scalded, eviscerated and post-chilled chickens in poultry processing plant. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 43, pp538-542.

McKee, L. H., Neish, L., Pottenger, A., Flores, N., Weinbrenner, K., and Remmenga, M. (2005) Evaluation of consumable household products for decontaminating retail skinless, boneless chicken breasts. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 68:3, pp534-537.

McMeekin, T. A., and Thomas, C. T. (1978) Retention of bacteria on chicken skin after immersion in bacterial suspension. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*. Vol. 46, pp383-387.

Mead, G. C., and Adams, B. W. (1986) Chlorine resistance of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from turkeys and turkey product. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*. Vol. 3, pp131-133.

Mead, G. C., and Thomas, N. L. (1973a) Factors affecting the use of chlorine in the spin chilling of eviscerated poultry. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 14, pp99-117.

Mead, G. C., and Thomas, N. L. (1973b) The bacteriological conditions of eviscerated chickens processed under controlled conditions in spin chilling system and sampled by two different methods. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 14, pp413-419.

Mead, G. C. (2004) Current trends in the microbiological safety of poultry meat. *World's Poultry Science Journal*. Vol. 60, pp112-118.

Mead, G. C., Adams, B. W., and Parry, R. T. (1975) The effectiveness of in-plant chlorination in poultry processing. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 16, pp517-526.

Mead, G. C., Allen, V. M., Burton, C. H., and Corry, J. E. (2000) Microbial cross-contamination during air chilling of poultry. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 41, pp158-162.

Mead, G. C., Hudson, W. R., and Hinton, M. H. (1994) Use of a marker organism in poultry processing to identify sites of cross-contamination and evaluate possible control measures. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 35, pp345-354.

Mead, G. C., Hudson, W. R., and Hinton, M. H. (1995. Effect of changes in processing to improve hygiene control in contamination of poultry carcasses with campylobacter. *Epidemiology and Infection*. Vol. 115, pp495-500.

Meldrum, R. J., Tucker, D., and Edwards, C. (2004). Baseline rates of campylobacter and *Salmonella* in raw chicken in Wales, United Kingdom, in 2002. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 67:6, pp1226-1228.

Menzel, D. B. (1984) Ozone - an overview of its toxicity in man and animals. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*. Vol. 13:2-3, pp183-204. (cited by Chen *et al.*, 1992).

Mertens, B., and Knorr, D. (1992) Developments of non-thermal processes for food preservation. *Food Technology*. Vol. 46, pp124-133.

Miwa, N., Takegahara, Y., Terai, K., Kato, H., and Takeuchi, T. (2003) campylobacter *jejuni* contamination on broiler carcasses of *C. jejuni*-negative flocks during processing in a Japanese slaughterhouse. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 84, pp105-109.

Monarca, S., Richardson, S.D., Feretti, D., Grottolo, M., Thruston, A.D. Jr., Zani, C., Navazio, G., Ragazzo, P., Zerbini, I., and Alberti, A. (2002) Mutagenicity and disinfection by-products in surface drinking water disinfected with peracetic acid. Environ. Toxicol. Chem., 21, 309-318. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Montecalvo, J. (1998) California Polytechnic State University ozone research results summary, www.trupure.com

Morgan, A. I., Goldberg, N., Radewonuk, E. R., and Scullen, O. J. (1996b) Surface pasteurization of raw poultry meat by steam. *Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft & Technologie*. Vol. 29, pp447-451.

Morgan, A. I., Radewonuk, E. R., and Scullen, O. J. (1996a) Ultra high temperature, ultra short time surface pasteurisation of meat. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 61, pp1216-1218.

Morley, M. J. (1972) *Thermal properties of meat: Tabulated data*. Meat Research Institute Special Report No: 1, ISBN 0 902290 69 X.

Morrison, G. J., and Fleet, G. H. (1985) Reduction of Salmonella on chicken carcasses by immersion treatments. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 48, pp939-943.

Mountney, G. J., and O' Malley, J. (1965) Acids as poultry meat preservatives. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 44, pp582-586.

Mulder, R. W. A. W., and Veerkamp, C. H. (1974) Improvements in slaughterhouse hygiene as a result of cleaning before cooling. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 53, pp1690-1694.

Mulder, R. W. A. W., van der Hulst, M. C., and Bolder, N. W. (1987) Salmonella decontamination of broiler carcasses with lactic acid, l-cysteine, and hydrogen peroxide. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 66, pp1555-1557.

Mullerat, J. A., Klapes, A., and Sheldon B. (1994) Efficacy of Salmide, a chlorite- based oxyhalogen disinfectant, to inactivate bacterial pathogens and extend shelf- life of broiler carcasses. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 57:7, pp596-603.

Mullerat, J. A., Sheldon, B., and Klapes, A. (1995) Inactivation of Salmonella species and other food-borne pathogens with Salmide, a sodium chlorite-based oxyhalogen disinfectant. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 58:5, pp535-540.

Musgrove, M. T., Cason, J. A., Fletcher, D. L., Stern, N. J., Cox, N. A., and Bailey, J. S. (1997) Effect of cloacal plugging on microbial recovery from partially processed broilers. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 76, pp530-533.

National Chicken Council (2002) Data submitted by NCC, October and November.

Nauta, M., Van der Fels-Klerx, I., and Havelaar, A. (2005) A poultry-processing model for quantitative microbiological risk assessment. *Risk Analysis*. Vol. 25, pp85-98.

Neal, N. D., and Cook, F. (1996) Fecal leakage and contamination control during poultry processing. *United States Patent* 5,489,236.

Neimann, J., Engberg, J., Mølbak, K., and Wegener, H. C. (2003). A case-control study of risk factors for sporadic campylobacter infections in Denmark. *Epidemiology and Infection*. Vol. 130, pp353-66.

Newell, D. G., Shreeve, J. E., Toszeghy, M., Domingue, G., Bull, S., Humphrey, T., and Mead, G. (2001) Changes in the carriage of campylobacter strains by poultry carcasses during processing in abattoirs. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. Vol. 67, pp2636-2640.

Nieto, J. C., Jiménez-Colmenero, F., and Peláez, C. (1984) Effect of ozone on bacterial flora in poultry during refrigerated storage. *International Journal of Refrigeration*. Vol. 7:6, pp389-392.

Nikoida, H. and Vaara, M. (1987) Outer membrane. In *Escherichia coli*, and *Salmonella* Typhimurium: Cellular and Molecular Biology (1), (Ed F. C. Neidhardt), American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C., pp7-22.

Nixon, G. A., Buehler, E. V., and Newmann, E. A. (1971) Preliminary safety assessment of disodium etidronate as an additive to experimental oral hygiene products. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*. Vol. 22, pp661-671. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Nolen, G. A., and Buehler, E. V. (1970) The effects of disodium etidronate on the reproductive functions and embryogeny of albino rats and New Zealand rabbits. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*. Vol. 18, pp548-561. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Northcutt, J. K., Smith, D. P., Musgrove, M. T., Ingram, K. D., and Hinton, A. (2005) Microbiological impact of spray washing broiler carcasses using different chlorine concentrations and water temperatures. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 84, pp1648-1652.

Notermans, S. F., and Kampelmacher, E. H. (1974) Attachment of some bacterial strains to the skin of broiler chickens. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 15, pp573-585.

Notermans, S. F., and Kampelmacher, E. H. (1975) Heat destruction of some bacterial strains attached to broiler skin. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 16, pp351-361.

Notermans, S. F., Terbijhe, R. J., and van Schothorst M. (1980) Removing faecal contamination of broilers by spray cleaning during evisceration. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 21, pp115-121.

NTP (1990) National Toxicology Program USA, Chemical repository peracetic acid, 40% solution. Internet: http://ntpdb.niehs.nih.gov/NTP_Reports/NTP_Chem_HS_HTML/NTP_Chem7/Radian79-21-0.html (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

NTP (2001) US National Toxicology Program, Chemical Health and Safety Information, NTP Health and Safety Reports, Sodium phosphate, dibasic; Research Triangle Park, NC 27709, U.S.A. Internet: http://ntpdb.niehs.nih.gov/NTP_Reports/NTP_Chem_HS_HTML/NTP_Chem7/Radian7558-79-4.html (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Nutsch, A. L., Phebus, R. K., Riemann, M. J., Schafer, D. E., Boyer, J. E., Wilson, R. C., Leising, J. D., and Kastner, C. L. (1997) Evaluation of a steam pasteurisation process in a commercial beef processing facility. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 60, pp485-492.

Ono, K., and Yamamoto, K. (1999) Contamination of meat with campylobacter *jejuni* in Saitama, Japan. International *Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 47, pp211-219.

Oosterom, J., De Noterman, S., De Boer, E., De Blaauw, I. H., and Karmanm H. (1982) Survival of *Campulobacter jejuni* during poultry processing. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 46, pp702-706.

Oosterom, J., Notermans, S., Karman, H., and Engels, G. B. (1983) Origin and prevalence of campylobacter *jejuni* in poultry processing. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 46, 339-344.

Oosterom, J., Notermans, S., Karman, S., and Engels, G. B. (1983) Origin and prevalence of campylobacter *jejuni* in poultry processing. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 69, pp27-33.

Oosterom, J., Wilde, G. J. A., de Boer, E., de Blaauw, L. H., and Karman, H. (1983) Survival of campylobacter *jejuni* during poultry processing and pig slaughtering. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 46, pp702-706.

Oshold, W., Shin, H.K., Drasel, J. and Leistner, L. (1984) Improving storage life of carcasses by treating their surfaces with an acid spray. *Fleischwirtschaft*. Vol. 64, pp828-830.

Ouattara, B., Simard, R. E., Holley, R. A., Piette, G. J. -P., and Bégin, A. (1996) Sensitivity of common meat spoilage bacteria to selected organic acids, fatty acids, and essential oils. *Meat for the Consumer, Poster Proceedings*, 42nd International Congress of Meat Science and Technology, Lillehammer (Norway), MATFORSK, Norwegian Food Research Institute. pp172-173.

Owusu-Yaw, J., Wheeler, W. B., and Wei, C. I. (1991) Genotoxicity studies of the reaction of chlorine or chlorine dioxide with L-tryptophane. *Toxicology Letters*. Vol. 56, pp213-227. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Oyarzabal, O. A. (2005) Reduction of *Campylobacter* spp. by commercial antimicrobials applied during the processing of broiler chickens: A review from the United States perspective. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 68:8, pp1752-1760.

Oyarzabal, O. A., Hawk, C., Bilgili, S. F., Warf, C. C., and Kemp, G. K. (2004) Effects of post-chill application of acidified sodium chlorite to control *Campylobacter* spp. and *Escherichia coli* on commercial broiler carcasses. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 67:10, pp2288-2291.

Ozer, N. P., and Demirci, A. (2005) Electrolyzed oxidizing water treatment for decontamination of raw salmon inoculated with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Listeria monocytogenes* Scott A and response surface modelling. *Journal of Food Engineering*. Vol. 72:3, pp234-241.

Park, D. L., Rua, S. M. jr., and Acker, R. F. (1991) Direct application of a new hypochlorite sanitizer for reducing bacterial contamination on foods. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 54:12, pp960-965.

Park, H., Hung, Y-C., and Brackett, R. E. (2002). Antimicrobial effect of electrolyzed water for inactivating campylobacter *jejuni* during poultry washing. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 72, pp77–83.

Paterson, J. L., Cranston, P. M., and Loh, W. H. (1995) Extending the storage life of chilling beef: microwave processing. *Journal of Microwave Power and Electromagnetic Energy*. Vol. 30, pp97-101.

Patterson, J. T. (1968) Hygiene in Meat Processing Plants 3. Methods of Reducing Carcass Contamination. *Record of Agricultural Research (Ministry of Agriculture Northern Ireland)*. Vol. 17, Part 1, pp 7-12.

Pearson, A. D., Greenwood, M. H., Feltham, R. K. A., Healing, T. D., Donaldson, J., Jones, D. M., and Colwell, R. R. (1996) Microbial ecology of campylobacter *jejuni* in a United Kingdom chicken supply chain: intermittent common source, vertical transmission and amplification by flock propagation. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. Vol. 62, pp4614-4620.

Pearson, A. D., Greenwood, M., Healing, T.D., Rollins, D., Shahamat, M., Donaldson, J., and Colwell, R. R. (1993) Colonization of broiler chickens by waterborne campylobacter *jejuni*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. Vol. 59, pp987-996.

Perry, G. A., Lawrence, R. L., and Melnick, D. (1964) Extension of poultry shelf-life by processing with sorbic acid. *Food Technology*. Vol. 18:6, pp101-108.

Phebus, R. K., Nutsch, A. L., Schafer, D. E., Wilson, R. C., Riemann, M. J., Leising, J. D., Kastner, C. L., Wolf, J. R., and Prasai, R. K. (1997) Comparison of steam pasteurisation and other methods for reduction of pathogens on freshly slaughtered beef surfaces. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 60, pp476-484.

Pickett, L. D., and Miller, B. F. (1966) The effect of high temperature immersion on the microbial population of whole turkey carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 45, pp1116. (Abstract)

Podolak, R. K., Zayas, J. F., Kastner, C. L., and Fung, D. Y. C. (1996) Inhibition of *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on beef by application of organic acids. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 59:4, pp370-373.

Pordesimo, L. O., Wilkerson, E. G., Womac, A. R., and Cutter, C. N. (2002) Process engineering variables in the spray washing of meat and produce. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 65:1, pp222-237.

Purnell, G., and James, S. J. (2000) UV surface decontamination of wrapped and unwrapped meat joints, poultry and lettuce. *IChemE Food and Drink 2000: Processing Solutions for Innovative Products, Institution of Chemical Engineers, UK, ISBN 0 85295 438 7*, pp135-138.

Purnell, G., Mattick, K., and Humphrey, T. (2004) The use of 'hot wash' treatments to reduce the number of pathogenic and spoilage bacteria on raw retail poultry. *Journal of Food Engineering*. Vol. 62 (1), pp29-36.

Quinn, P.J. (1987) Evaluation of veterinary disinfectants and disinfection process. In Disinfection in Veterinary and Farm Animal Practice (Eds A., H Linton, W., B., Hugo, and A., D Russell.), Blackwell Scientific Publications, pp66-116.

Ranken, M. D., Clewlow, G., Shrimpton, D. H., and Stevens, B. J. H. (1965) Chlorination in poultry processing. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 6, pp331-337.

Rasschaert, G., Houf, K., Van Hende, J., and De Zutter, L. (2006) Campylobacter contamination during poultry slaughter in Belgium. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 69, pp27-33.

Rathgeber, B. M., and Waldroup, A. L. (1995) Antibacterial activity of a sodium acid pyrophosphate product in chiller water against selected bacteria on broiler carcasses. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 58:5, pp530-534.

Redmond, E. C., Griffith, C. J., Slader, J., and Humphrey, T. J. (2004) Microbiological and observational analysis of cross contamination risks during domestic food preparation. *British Food Journal*. Vol. 106, pp581-597.

Reiter, B., and Harnulv, G. (1984) Lactoperoxidase antibacterial system: natural occurrence, biological functions and practical applications. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 47, pp724-732.

Restaino, L., Frampton, E. W., Hemphill, J. B., and Palnikar, P. (1995) Efficacy of ozonated water against various food-related microorganisms. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. Vol. 61:9, pp3471-3475.

Reynolds, A. E., and Carpenter, J. A. (1974) Bactericidal properties of acetic and propionic acids on pork carcasses. *Journal of Animal Science*. Vol. 38:3, pp515-519.

Rhodia (2001) Response to Federal Register Docket No. 98-062P; Performance standards for on-line antimicrobial reprocessing of pre-chill poultry carcasses. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Rhone-Poulenc (1994) Petition for Rulemaking: Use of Trisodium Phosphate on raw, unchilled poultry carcasses. Submitted to USDA Food Safety and Inspection Service by Rhone-Poulenc Inc. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Rice, R. G. and Graham, D. M. (2001) EPRI files food additive petition for ozone as an antimicrobial agent. *Ozone News.* Vol. 29:1. (http://www.o3water.com/Articles/Milestone%20Event%20-%20Ozone%20for%20Food%20Processing.htm)

Rice, R. G., Farquhar, J. W. and Bollyky, L. J. (1982) Review of the applications of ozone for increasing storage times of perishable foods, *Ozone: science and engineering*, Vol. 4, pp. 147-163.

Rice, R. G., Otwell, W. S., Blake, N., Sweat, D. E., Marschalk, R. L., and Farquhar, J. W. (1985) Ozonized water and ice to preserve fresh fish. *Storage lives of chilled and frozen fish and fish products*. Proceedings of the conference of: IIR Commission C2, D3, Aberdeen, UK, pp187-193. International Institute of Refrigeration, Paris, France.

Richardson, S. D., Thruston, A. D., Caughran, T. V., Collette, T. W., Patterson, K. S., and Lykins, B. W. (1998) Chemical by-products of chlorine and alternative disinfectants. *Food Technology*. Vol. 52:4, pp58-61.

Ritz, M., Nauta, M. J., Teunis, P. F. M., van Leusden, F., Federighi, M., and Havelaar, A. H. (2007) Modelling of campylobacter survival in frozen chicken meat. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*. Vol. 103:3, pp594-600.

Rivoal, K., Denis, M., Salvat, G., Colin, P., and Ermel, G. (1999) Molecular characterisation of the diversity of *Campylobacter* spp. isolates collected from a poultry slaughterhouse: analysis of cross-contamination. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*. Vol. 29, pp370-374.

Robach, M. C. (1979) Extension of shelf-life of fresh, whole broilers, using a potassium sorbate dip. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 42:11, pp855-857.

Robach, M. C., and Ivey, F. J. (1978) Anti-microbial efficiency of a potassium sorbate dip on freshly processed poultry. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 41:4, pp284-288.

Robach, M. C., and Sofos, J. N. (1982) Use of sorbates in meat products, fresh poultry, and poultry products: A review. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 45:4, pp374-378.

Rosef O., Gondrosen B., and Kapperud G. (1984) campylobacter jejuni and campylobacter coli as surface contaminants of fresh and frozen poultry carcasses. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 1, pp205-215.

Rosenquist, H., Nielsen, N. L., Sommer, H. M., Nørrung, B., and Christensen, B. B. (2003) Quantitative risk assessment of human campylobacteriosis associated with thermophilic campylobacter species in chickens. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, Vol. 83, pp87-103.

Rosenquist, H., Sommer, H. M., Nielsen, N. L., and Christensen, B. B. (2006) The effect of slaughter operations on the contamination of chicken carcasses with thermotolerant campylobacter. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 108, pp226-232.

Russell, S. M., and Axtell, S. P. (2005) Monochloramine versus sodium hypochlorite as antimicrobial agents for reducing populations of bacteria on broiler chicken carcasses. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 68:4, pp758-763.

Russell, S. M., and Kimball, B. (2006) Assessing intervention strategies in a processing plant. *Watt Poultry* USA, August, pp28-30.

Sakhare, P. Z., Sachindra, N. M., Yashoda, K. P., and Narasimha Rao, D. (1999) Efficacy of intermittent decontamination treatments during processing in reducing the microbial load on broiler chicken carcass. *Food Control.* Vol. 10, pp189-194.

Salvat, G., Coppen, P., Allo, J. C., Fenner, S., Laisney, M. J., Toquin, M. T., Humbert, F., and Colin, P. (1997) Effects of AvGardTM treatment on the microbiological flora of poultry carcasses. *British Poultry Science*. Vol. 38, pp489-498.

Sampathkumar, B., Khachatourians, G. G., and Korber, D. R. (2003) High pH during trisodium phosphate treatment causes membrane damage and destruction of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Enteritidis. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*. Vol. 69:1, pp122-129.

Sams, A. R., and Feria, R. (1991) Microbial effects of ultrasonication of broiler drumstick skin. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 56:1, pp247-248.

Samuelson, K. J., Rupnow, J. H., and Froning, G. W. (1985) The effect of lysozyme and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid on salmonella on broiler parts. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 64, pp1488-1490.

Sanchez, M. X., Fluckey, W. M., Brashears, M. M., and McKee, S. R. (2002) Microbial profile and antibiotic susceptibility of *Campylobacter* spp. and *Salmonella* spp. in broilers processed in air-chilled and immersion-chilled environments. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 65, pp948-956.

Sawaya, W. N., Elnawawy, A. S., Al-Zenki, S., Al-Otaibi, J., Al-Omirah, H. and Al-Amiri, H. (1995) Storage stability of chicken as affected by MAP and lactic acid treatment. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 60:3, pp611-614.

Schmidt, R. H. (2003) *Basic elements of equipment cleaning and sanitizing in food processing and handling operations*. FS14, Food Science and Human Nutrition Department, Florida Cooperative Extension Service, Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida, USA.

Schneider K. R., Kemp, G. K., and Aldricht, M. L. (2002) Antimicrobial treatment of air chilled broiler carcasses. *Dairy, Food and Environmental Sanitation*. Vol. 22:2, pp102-108.

Scientific Committee on Toxicity, Ecotoxicity and the Environment (SCTEE) (2001) Opinion on the results of the Risk Assessment of Hydrogen Peroxide - human health effects (draft report, version 24 April 2001), Brussels, Belgium, 11 September 2001. (http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/sc//sct/out119_en.pdf) (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Scientific Committee on Veterinary measures relating to Public Health (SCVPH) (1998) *Benefits and Limitations of Antimicrobial Treatments for Poultry Carcasses*. European Commission Scientific committee.

Scientific Committee on Veterinary measures relating to Public Health (SCVPH) (2003) *The evaluation of antimicrobial treatments for poultry carcasses*. European Commission Scientific committee.

Sexton, M., Raven, G., Holds, G., Pointon, A., Kiermeier, A., and Sumner, J. (2007) Effect of acidified sodium chlorite treatment on chicken carcasses processed in South Australia. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 115, pp252-255.

Shaw, B. G., Mackey, B. M., and Roberts, T. A. (1986) Microbiological aspects of meat chilling - an update. *Recent Advances and Developments in the Refrigeration of Meat Chilling*, Meeting of the International Institute of Refrigeration Commission C2, Bristol (UK) Section 1, pp25-30.

Shefet, S.M., Sheldon, B.W., and Klaenhammer, T.R. (1995) Efficacy of optimized nisin-based treatments to inhibit *Salmonella* Typhimurium and extent the shelf-life of broiler carcasses. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 58, pp1077-1082.

Sheldon, B. W., and Brown, A. L. (1986) Efficacy of ozone as a disinfectant for poultry carcasses and chill water. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 51:2, pp305-309.

Singh, P. S. (1997) Method for reducing fecal leakage and contamination during meat processing. *World Patent WO* 97/31541.

Skovgaard, N. (1997) Decontamination: Justification for food safety and legal implications. pp173-178. In *Factors Affecting the Microbial Quality of Meat.* 4. *Microbial Methods for the Meat Industry*. Edited by M. H. Hinton and C. Rowlings. EU Concerted Action CT94-1456: Microbial Control in the Meat Industry. University of Bristol Press. ISBN 0 86292 438 3.

Slader, J., Domingue, G., Jorgensen, F., McAlpine, K., Owen, R. J., Bolton, F. J., and Humphrey, T. J. (2002) Impact of transport crate reuse and of catching and processing on campylobacter and *Salmonella* contamination of broiler chickens. *Applied and Environment Microbiology*. Vol. 68, pp713-719.

Slavik, M. F., Kim, J. W., Pharr, M. D., Raben, D. P., Tsai, S., and Lobsinger, C. M. (1994) Effect of trisodium phosphate on campylobacter attached to post chill chicken carcasses. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 57:4, pp324-326.

Slavik, M. F., Kim, J. W., and Walker, J. T. (1995) Reduction of *Salmonella* and campylobacter on chicken carcasses by changing scalding temperature. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 58, pp689-691.

Smith, G. (1996) Poultry Industry Looks to Chlorine Dioxide for Pathogen Control. *Meat Processing*. Vol. 35:10, p47.

Smulders, F. J. M., and Woolthuis, C. H. J (1985) Immediate and delayed microbiological effects of lactic acid decontamination of calf carcasses- influence on conventionally versus hot-boned and vacuum-packaged cuts. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 48, pp838-847.

Smulders, F. J. M. (1995) Preservation by Microbial Decontamination; the Surface Treatment of Meats by Organic Acids. Chapter 12, pp 253-282. In *New Methods of Food Preservation* edited by Gould. Elsevier: Amsterdam-New York-Oxford.

Snijders, J. M. A., and Gerats, G. E. (1977) Hygiene bei der Schlachtung von Schweinen VI. Die Verwendung eines Infrarottunnels in der Schlachtstraße (Hygiene in Pig Slaughtering. 6. Using an Infra-red Tunnel on the Killing Line). *Die Fleischwirtschaft*. Vol. 57, pp2216-2219.

Sofos, J. N., and Busta, F. F. (1992) Chemical Food Preservatives. pp351-397. In *Principles and Practice of Disinfection, Preservation and Sterilisation* (2nd Edition) edited by A. D. Russell, W. B. Hugo, W. B., and Ayliffe, G. A. J.. Blackwell Scientific Publications: Oxford.

Solow, B. T., Cloak, O. M., and Fratamico, P. M. (2003) Effect of temperature on viability of campylobacter *jejuni* and campylobacter *coli* on raw chicken or pork skin. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 66, pp2023-2031.

Son, I, Englen, M. D., Berrang, M. E., Fedorka-Cray, P. J., and Harrison, M. A. (2007) Prevalence of *Arcobacter* and campylobacter on broiler carcasses during processing. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 113, pp16-22.

Sorqvist, S. (1989). Heat resistance of campylobacter and *Yersinia* strains by three methods. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*. Vol. 67, pp543-549.

Spencer, J. V., Streeter, E. M., and George, M. H. (1968) Effect of an iodophor on shelf life of poultry. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 47, pp1721. (Abstract)

Steinhauer, J. E., and Banwart, G. J. (1964) The effect of food grade polyphosphates on the microbial population of chicken meat. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 43, pp1736-. (Cited by Cunningham, 1987)

Stern, N. J., and Robach, M. C. (2003) Enumeration of *Campylobacter* spp. in broiler feces and in corresponding processed carcasses. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 66, pp1557-1563.

Stern, N. J., Fedorka-Cray, P. J., Bailey, J. S., Cox, N. A., Cravern, S. E., Hiett, K. L., Musgrove, M. T., Ladley, S., Cosby, D., and Mead, G. C. (2001) Distribution of *Campylobacter* spp. in selected U.S. poultry production and processing operations. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 64, pp1705-1710.

Stern, N. J., Hiett, K. L., Alfredsson, G. A., Kristinsson, K. G., Reiersen, J., Hardardottir, H., Briem, H., Gunnarsson, E., Georgsson, F., Lowman, R., Berndtson, E., Lammerding, A. M., Paoli, G. M. and Musgrove, M. T. (2003) *Campylobacter* spp. in Icelandic poultry operations and human disease. *Epidemiology and Infection*. Vol. 130, pp23-32.

Stern, N. J., and Robach, M. C. (2003) Enumeration of *Campylobacter* spp. in broiler feces and in corresponding processed carcasses. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 66, pp1557-1563.

Stout, V., and Carter, G. (1983) Ames test for mutagenicity on Pacific whiting treated with hydrogen peroxide. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 48, pp492-.

Sumner, S. S., Wallner-Pendleton, E. A., Froning, G. W. and Stetson, L. V. E. (1996) Inhibition of *Salmonella* Typhimurium on agar medium and poultry skin by ultraviolet energy. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 59, pp319-321.

Sykes, G. (1965) Disinfection and Sterilisation, Theory and Practice. (2nd Edition). Chapman and Hall: London.

Tamblyn, K. C., and Conner, D. E. (1997a) Bactericidal activity of organic acids against *Salmonella* Typhimurium attached to broiler chicken skin. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 60:6, pp629-633.

Tamblyn, K. C., and Conner, D. E. (1997b) Bactericidal activity of organic acids in combination with transdermal compounds against *Salmonella* Typhimurium attached to broiler skin. *Food Microbiology*. Vol. 14, pp477-484.

Tamblyn, K. C., Conner, D. E., and Bilgili, S. F. (1997) Utilisation of the Skin Attachment Model to determine the antibacterial activity of potential carcass treatments. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 76, pp1318-1323.

Tamblyn, K. C., Conner, D. E., Bilgili, S. F., and Hill, G. S. (1993) Utilisation of the Skin Attachment Model (SAM) to determine the antibacterial activity of potential carcass treatments. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 72:1, p298. (Abstract)

Tan, H. K., Wheeler, W. B., and Wei, C. I. (1987) Reaction of Chlorine dioxide with amino acids and peptides: Kinetics and Mutagenicity Studies. Mutat. Res., 188: 259-266. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Tenovuo, J. (2002) Clinical applications of antimicrobial host proteins, lactoperoxidase, lysozyme and lactoferrin in xerostomia: efficacy and safety. *Oral Diseases*. Vol. 8, pp23-29.

Teotia, J. S., and Miller, B. F. (1972) Destruction of salmonella on turkey carcass skin with chemicals and hot water. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 51, p1878.

Teotia, J. S., and Miller, B. F. (1975) Destruction of Salmonellae on Poultry Meat With Lysozyme, EDTA, X-Ray, Microwave and Chlorine. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 54, pp1388-1394.

Thiessen, G. P., Usborne, W. R., and Orr, H. L. (1984) The efficacy of chlorine dioxide in controlling Salmonella contamination and its effect on product quality of chicken broiler carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 63, pp647-653.

Thomas, C. J., and McMeekin, T. A. (1982) Effect of water immersion on the microtopography of the skin of chicken carcasses. *Journal of the Science Food and Agriculture*. Vol. 33, pp549-554.

Thomas, C. J., and McMeekin, T. A. (1984) Effect of water uptake by poultry tissues on contamination by bacteria during immersion in bacterial suspensions. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 47, pp398-402.

Thomson, J. E., Bailey, J. S., and Cox, N. A. (1979a) Phosphate and heat treatments to control salmonella and reduce spoilage and rancidity on broiler carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 58, pp139-143.

Thomson, J. E., Bailey, J. S., Cox, N. A., and Islam, M. V. (1981) Minimizing salmonella contamination on broiler carcasses with poly (hexamethylenebiguanide hydrochloride). *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 44, pp440-441.

Thomson, J. E., Bailey, J. S., Cox, N. A., Posey, D. A., and Carson, M. O. (1979b) Salmonella on broiler carcasses as affected by fresh water input rate and chlorination of chiller water. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 42:12, pp954-955.

Thomson, J. E., Banwart, G. J., Sanders, D. H., and Mercuri, A. J. (1967) Effect of chlorine, antibiotics, β -propiolactone, and washing on *Salmonella* Typhimurium on eviscerated fryer chickens. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 46, pp46-151.

Thomson, J. E., Cox, N. A., and Bailey, J. S. (1976) Chlorine, acid, and heat treatments to eliminate *Salmonella* on broiler carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 55, pp1513-1517.

Thomson, J. E., Cox, N. A., and Bailey, J. S. (1977) Control of *Salmonella* and extension of shelf-life of broiler carcasses with a glutaraldehyde product. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 42:5, pp1353-1355.

Thomson, J. E., Cox, N. A., Bailey, J. S., and Islam, M. N. (1980) Elimination of *Salmonella* from processed broiler meat with PHMB(Poly hexamethylenebiguanide hydrochloride). *Poultry Science*. Vol. 59, pp1573. (Abstract)

Thomson, J. E., Cox, N. A., Whitehead, W. K., and Mercuri, A. J. (1974) Effect of hot spray washing on broiler carcass quality. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 53, pp946-952.

TMI Europe (2005) *Catallix technology trials on chicken*. TMI Europe, 3-11 Rue de la Perlerie, 69120 Vaulx en Velin, France.

To, E. C., and Robach, M. C. (1980) Potassium sorbate dip as a method of extending shelf-life and inhibiting the growth of *Salmonella* and *Staphylococcus aureus* on fresh, whole broilers. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 59, pp726-730.

Tompkin, R. B. (1978) The role of mechanism of the inhibition of *C. botulinum* by nitrite - is a replacement available? *Proceedings of the 31st Annual Reciprocal Meat Conference*. Vol. 31, pp135-147.

Tsai, L., Schade, J. E., and Molyneux, B. T. (1992) Chlorination of poultry chiller water: chlorine demands and disinfection efficiency. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 71, pp188-196.

Unda, J. R., Molins, R. A., and Zamojcin, C. A. (1989) Sanitation of Fresh Rib Eye Steaks with Chlorine Dioxide - Generating Binary Systems. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 54:1, pp7-10, 14.

US Environmental Protection Agency (1992) *Monochloramine (CASRN 10599-90-3)*. Integrated Risk Information System, http://www.epa.gov/cgi-bin/epaprintonly.cgi.

US Federal Register (1982) Rules and Regulations (Part 184) 47(123).

US-FDA [United States Food and Drug Administration] (2001) US Food and Drug Administration, Secondary Direct Food Additives Permitted in Food for Human Consumption. Federal Register 65/228, 70660-70661 (2001). (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

US-FDA [United States Food and Drug Administration] (2002) Department of Health and Human Services: Regulation 21CFR182.1778 title 21: Food and Drugs, Chapter 1, Subchapter B: Food for human consumption, Subpart B: Multiple Purpose GRAS Food Substances – Sodium Phosphate; p.458.

US-FDA [United States Food and Drug Administration] (2002) US Food and Drug Administration, Department of Health and Human Services: Regulation 21CFR182.1778 title 21: Food and Drugs, Chapter 1, Subchapter B: Food for Human Consumption, Subpart B: Multiple Purpose GRAS Food Substances - Sodium Phosphate; p. 458. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

US-FDA [United States Food and Drug Administration] (2005) Part 173 -- Secondary direct food additives permitted in food for human consumption. 21CFR173.375.

USDA [United States Department of Agriculture] (2002a) The use of chlorine dioxide as an antimicrobial agent on poultry processing in the United States. United States Department of Agriculture, Foreign Agricultural Service, and Food Safety and Inspection Service, Office of International Affairs; November 2002. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

USDA [United States Department of Agriculture] (2002b) The use of acidified sodium chlorite as an antimicrobial agent on poultry processing in the United States. United States Department of Agriculture, Foreign Agricultural Service, and Food Safety and Inspection Service, Office of International Affairs; December 2002. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

USDA [United States Department of Agriculture] (2002c) The use of peroxyacids as an antimicrobial agent on poultry processing in the United States. United States Department of Agriculture, Foreign Agricultural Service, and Food Safety and Inspection Service, Office of International Affairs; December 2002. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

USDA [United States Department of Agriculture] (2002d) The use of acidified sodium chlorite as an antimicrobial agent on poultry processing in the United States. United States Department of Agriculture, Foreign Agricultural Service, and Food Safety and Inspection Service, Office of International Affairs; December 2002. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Uyttendaele, M., deTroy, P., and Debevere, J. (1999) Incidence of *Salmonella*, campylobacter *jejuni*, campylobacter *coli*, and *Listeria monocytogenes* in poultry carcasses and different types of poultry products for sale on the Belgian retail market. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 62, pp735-740.

Vacinek, A. A., and Toledo, R. T. (1973) Heat transfer, organoleptic quality changes and moisture exchange in air-blast chilled poultry carcasses. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 38, pp924-928.

Vadhansin, S., Bangtrakulnonth, A., and Chidkrau, T. (2004) Critical control points for monitoring salmonellae reduction in Thai commercial frozen broiler processing. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 67:7, pp1480-1483.

Van de Giessen, A. W., Bloemberg, B. P. M., Ritmeester, W. S., and Tilbury, J. J. H. (1996) Epidemiological study on risk factors and risk reducing measures for campylobacter infections in Dutch broiler flocks. *Epidemiology and Infection*. Vol. 117, pp245-250.

van der Marel, G. M., De Vries, A. W., van Logtestijn, J. G., and Mossel, D. A. A. (1989) Effect of lactic acid treatment during processing on the sensory quality and lactic acid content of fresh broiler chickens. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*. Vol. 24, pp1-16.

van der Marel, G. M., van Logtestijn, J. G., and Mossel, D. A. A. (1988) Bacteriological quality of broiler carcasses as affected by in plant lactic acid decontamination. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 6, pp31-42.

van Netten, P., Huis in 't Veld, J., and Mossel, D. A. A. (1994b) The immediate bactericidal effect of lactic acid on meat-borne pathogens. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*. Vol. 76, pp490-496.

van Netten, P., Huis in't Veld, J., and Mossel, D. A. A. (1994a) An *in-vitro* meat model for the immediate bactericidal effect of lactic acid decontamination on meat surfaces. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*. Vol. 76, pp49-54.

van Netten, P., Valentijn, A., Mossel, D. A. A., and Huis in't Veld, J. (1997) Fate of Low Temperature and Acid-Adapted *Yersinia enterocolitica* and *Listeria monocytogenes* That Contaminate Lactic Acid Decontaminated Meat During Chill Storage. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*. Vol. 82, pp769-779. Vareltzis, K., Soultos, N., Koidis, P., Ambrosiadis, J., and Genigeorgis, C. (1997) Antimicrobial effects of sodium tripolyphosphate against bacteria attached to the surface of chicken carcasses. *Lebensmittel -Wissenschaft und – Technologie*. Vol. 30, pp665-669.

Veger, J., Svihovcova, P., Benesova, O., and Nejedly, K. (1977) Toxicité subchronique du Persteril par voie buccale. *Ceskoslovenska Hygiena*. Vol. 22, pp59-63. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Vellinga, A., and Van Loock, F. (2002) The dioxin crisis as experiment to determine poultry-related campylobacter enteritis. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*. Vol. 8, pp19-22.

Villarreal, M. E., Baker, R. C., and Regenstein, J. M. (1990) The incidence of Salmonella on poultry carcasses following the use of slow release chlorine dioxide (Alcide). *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 53, pp465-467.

Wabeck, C. J. (1994) Methods to reduce microorganisms on poultry. Broiler Industry. Vol. 57:11, pp34-42.

Wagenaar, C. L., and Snijders, J. M. A. (2004) Decontamination of broilers with hydrogen peroxide stabilised with glycerol during processing. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 91, pp205–208.

Waldman, J. M., and Phillips, T. (1998) Health hazards of ozone-generating air cleaning devices. *Dairy, Food and Environmental Sanitation*. Vol. 18:7, pp442-444.

Wallner-Pendleton, E. A., Sumner, S. S., Froning, G. W., and Stetson, L. E. (1994) The use of ultraviolet-radiation to reduce salmonella and psychrotrophic bacterial-contamination on poultry carcasses. *Poultry Science*. Vol. 73, pp1327-1333.

Walton, M. F., and Cumming, R. B. (1976) 5-Halogenated uracil base analog mutagenesis. *Mutation Res.* Vol. 38, pp371- (Cited by Cunningham and Lawrence, 1977b).

Wempe, J. M., Genigeorgis, C. A., Farver, T. B., and Yusufu, H. I. (1983) Prevalence of *Campylobacter jejuni* in two Californian chicken processing plants. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. Vol. 45, pp355-359.

White Jr., W. E., Pruitt, K. M., and Mansson-Rahemtulla, B. (1983) Peroxide-thiocyanate-peroxide antibacterial system does not damage DNA. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. Vol. 23, pp267-272.

WHO [World Health Organisation] (1996) Guidelines for drinking-water quality, 2nd ed. Vol. 2. Health criteria and other supporting information. Geneva, World Health Organisation, pp803-816. (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

WHO [World Health Organisation] (2002) Chlorine dioxide - Concise International Chemical Assessment Document 37, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland. Internet: www.inchem.org/documents/cicads/cicad37.htm (cited by SCVPH, 2003)

Whyte, P., Collins, J. D., McGill, K., Monahan, C., and O'Mahony, H. (2001) Distribution and prevalence of airborne microorganisms in three commercial processing plants. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 64, pp388-391.

Whyte, P., Collins, J. D., McGill, K., Monahan, C., and O'Mahony, H. (2001) Quantitative investigation of the effects of chemical decontamination procedures on the microbiological status of broiler carcasses during processing. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 64, pp179-83.

Whyte, P., McGill, K., and Collins, J. D. (2003) An assessment of steam pasteurization and hot water immersion treatments for the microbiological decontamination of broiler carcasses. *Food Microbiology*. Vol. 20, pp111-117.

Whyte, P., McGill, K., Cowley, D., Madden, R. H., Moran, L., Scates, P., Carroll, C., O'Leary, A., Fanning, S., Collins, J. D., McNamara, E., Moore, J. E., and Cormican, M. (2004) Occurrence of campylobacter in retail foods in Ireland. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. Vol. 95:2, pp111-118.

Wilson, I. G. (2002) *Salmonella* and campylobacter contamination of raw retail chickens from different producers: a six year survey. *Epidemiology and Infection*. Dec; Vol. 129:3, pp635-45.

Winarno, F. G., Stumbo, C. R., and Hayes, K. M. (1971) Effect of EDTA on the germination and outgrowth from spores of *Clostridium botulinum* 62-A. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 36, pp781-785.

Xiong, H., Li, Y., Slavik, M. F., and Walker, J. T. (1998) Spraying chicken skin with selected chemicals to reduce attached *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 61:3, pp272-275.

Yang, H., Li, Y., and Jonhson, M. G. (2000) Survival and death of *Salmonella Typhimurium* and campylobacter *jejuni* in processing water and on chicken skin during poultry scalding and chilling. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 64, pp770-776.

Yang, H., Wang, S., Li, Y., and Johnson, M. G. (2002) Predictive models for the survival/death of campylobacter *jejuni* and *Salmonella Typhimurium* in poultry scalding and chilling.

Yang, P. P. W., and Chen, T. C. (1979) Effects of ozone treatment on microflora of poultry meat. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*. Vol. 3, pp177. (Cited by Cunningham, 1987)

Yang, P. P. W., and Chen, T. C. (1979) Stability of ozone and its germicidal properties on poultry meat microorganisms in liquid phase. *Journal of Food Science*. Vol. 44:2, pp501-504.

Yang, Z., Li, Y. B., and Slavik, M. (1998) Use of antimicrobial spray applied with inside-outside bird washer to reduce bacterial contamination on pre-chilled chicken carcasses. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 61, pp829-832.

Yndentad, M., Underdal, B., and Nordal, J. (1972) The effect of ultra-violet radiation on the bacterial counts and shelf-life of poultry carcasses. *Acta Agriculture Scandinavica*. Vol. 22, pp169-172.

Yogasundram, K., and Shane, S. M. (1986) The viability of campylobacter *jejuni* on refrigerated chicken drumsticks. *Veterinary Research Communications*. Vol. 10, pp479-86.

Yoon, K. S., Burnette, C. N., and Oscar, T. P. (2004) Development of predictive models for the survival of campylobacter *jejuni* (ATCC 43051) on cooked chicken breast patties and in broth as a function of temperature. *Journal of Food Protection.* Vol. 67, pp64-70.

Zeitoun, A., Devlieghere, F., and Debevere, J. (1997) Increasing the shelf-life of poultry meat using acid decontamination and modified atmosphere packaging. pp215-226. In *Factors Affecting the Microbial Quality of Meat.* 4. *Microbial Methods for the Meat Industry*. Edited by M. H. Hinton and C. Rowlings. EU Concerted Action CT94-1456: Microbial Control in the Meat Industry. University of Bristol Press. ISBN 0 86292 438 3.

Zhang, Q., Chang, F.-J., Barbosa-Cánovas, G. V., and Swanson, B. G. (1994) Inactivation of microorganisms in a semisolid model food using high voltage pulsed electric fields. *Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft & Technologie*. Vol. 27, pp538-543.

Zhao, T., Ezeike, G. O. I., Doyle, M. P., Hung, Y. C., and Howell, R. S. (2003) Reduction of campylobacter *jejuni* on poultry by low-temperature treatment. *Journal of Food Protection*. Vol. 66, pp652-655.

15 Project publications

15.1 Published papers

H. S. Musavian, N. H. Krebs, U. Nonboe, **J E.L. Corry** and **G. Purnell** 2014 Combined steam and ultrasound treatment of broilers at slaughter: A promising intervention to significantly reduce numbers of naturally occurring campylobacters on carcasses. International Journal of Food Microbiology, **176** 23 – 28.

Purnell, G, James C, James SJ, Howell, M. and **Corry, J E L** 2013 Comparison of acidified sodium chlorite, chlorine dioxide, peroxyacetic acid and tri-sodium phosphate spray washes for decontamination of chicken carcasses. Food and Bioprocess Technology, doi: 10.1007/s11947-013-1079-7

J.J. Sun 2006 "Investigation of disinfectant resistance of thermophilic campylobacters and *Pseudomonas* spp. found in poultry processing plants." MSc thesis, University of Bristol.

Ana Hermosilla 2004 "Transfer of contamination of *Campylobacter* spp. from positive broiler flocks to negative flocks during processing." MSc thesis, University of Bristol.

15.2 Poster papers

J.E.L. Corry, G. Purnell, C. James, R. Pinho, A. Hedges, F. Jorgensen³, S. J. James, M. Howell, 2008 Evaluation of chemicals for the inactivation of naturally occurring thermophilic *Campylobacter* spp. on poultry carcasses. FoodMicro 2008, Aberdeen, Scotland.

J.E.L. Corry, C. S. Barbedo-Pinto, J. Cestra, F. Jorgensen, L. Williams, C. James³, S. J. James, G. Purnell, M. Howell 2007 Investigation of optimum intervention points to minimise transfer of *Campylobacter* spp. from the live chicken to the carcass during processing. CHRO 2007, Rotterdam, The Netherlands.

A.M. Hermosilla, N. Fincham, V.M. Allen J.E.L. Corry 2005 Transfer of contamination. from Campylobacter-positive broiler flocks to Campylobacter-negative flocks during processing. CHRO 2005, Goldcoast, Australia.

16 Glossary

AA: Acetic acid.

ASC: Acidified sodium chlorite.

ATSDR: Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, USA.

APC: Aerobic Plate Count.

bw: Body weight.

CAS: Chemical Abstracts Service.

CD: Chlorine dioxide.

CPC: Cetylpyridinium chloride, or 1-hexa-decyl pyridinium chloride.

CTC: Chlortetracycline.

EFSA: European Food Safety Authority

US-EPA: United States Environmental Protection Agency.

HEDP: 1-Hydroxyethylidene-1,1-diphosphonic acid.

HP: Hydrogen peroxide.

EA: Eau Activée®, active product of Catallix® lactoperoxidase system.

IARC: International Agency for Research on Cancer.

IPCS: International Programme on Chemical Safety of the World Health Organization.

LOD: Limit of detection.

LPS: Lactoperoxidase systems.

FSANZ: Food Standards Australia New Zealand.

LOAEL: Lowest observed (adverse) effect level - the lowest dose level in a study with experimental animals at which a(n) (adverse) health effect was observed.

MOS: Margin of safety.

NOAEL: No observed (adverse) effect level - the highest dose level in a study with experimental animals at which no (adverse) health effects were observed.

OA: Octanoic acid.

PA: Peroxyacid.

PAA: Peroxyacetic acid.

POA: Peroxyoctanoic acid.

RfC: Reference concentration - An estimate of the daily inhalation exposure to the human population (including sensitive subgroups) that is likely to be without an appreciable risk of deleterious effects during a lifetime (definition of the EPA).

RfD: Reference dose - An estimate of the daily oral exposure to the human population (including sensitive subgroups) that is likely to be without an appreciable risk of deleterious effects during a lifetime (definition of the EPA).

SCTEE: Scientific Committee on Toxicity, Ecotoxicity and the Environment of the EC.

SCVPH: EC Scientific Committee on Veterinary measures relating to Public Health.

TCA: Tolerable concentration in air - An estimate of the concentration in air to which one can be exposed daily during lifetime without adverse health effects.

TDI: Tolerable daily intake - An estimate of the daily dose that can be taken daily during lifetime by the oral route without adverse health effects.

TSP: Trisodium phosphate.

UDS: Unscheduled DNA synthesis.

USDA: United States Department of Agriculture.

US-FDA: United States Food and Drug Administration.

WHO: World Health Organization.

JECFA: Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives and Contaminants.

THM: Trihalomenthane.

HAA: Haloacetic Acid.

ORP: Oxidation-reduction potential.

EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid.

LPS: Lipopolysaccharide.

GRAS: Generally Recognised As Safe.

LAB: Lactic acid bacteria.

FAO: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.

WHO: World Health Organization.